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1

INTRODUCTION

Scholarly studies of the Muslims’ role in the Indian independence move-
ment have tended to concentrate on their problems as a religious minority.
In light of the eventual partition of the subcontinent, communalism amply
warrants the attention it has received,' but only so long as it does not ob-
scure the existence of other, often conflicting issues, ambitions, and identi-
ties which also influenced the Muslims’ political development. Religious po-
larization was not the natural state of affairs in Indian politics.
Communalism represented only one theme in the Muslims’ nationalist ex-
perience, and it was not necessarily the dominant one until the last years
before independence. Like other Indians, Muslims were divided by region,
class, caste, and a host of other differences, all of which helped to shape
their responses to the broader questions of Islamic separatism and Indian
nationalism. Thus, Muslim solidarity cannot be assumed. The process by
which a distinctive identity, forged around the symbol of Islam, became the
overriding determinant of Muslim political behavior requires explicit ex-
amination.

No part of India so dramatically underscores the existence of the divisions
within the Muslim community, and the problems created by ignoring them,
than the North-West Frontier Province (NWFP). Although the NWFP con-
tained a higher percentage of Muslims than any other province except Balu-
chistan, its inhabitants consistently stood apart from what has been taken to
be the communal mainstream of Muslim politics. The Frontier remained a
Congress bastion for seventeen years, long after most other Indian Muslims
had come to regard that party as the archenemy of their community. It did
not abandon the Congress for the Pakistan movement until the final months
before partition. Even then, in the midst of the feverish atmosphere gener-
ated by the promise of independence and the worst Muslim-Hindu rioting
in India’s history, an influential segment of the province remained unper-
suaded by the arguments of the Muslim League.

In view of the resistance of its people to the League’s ideology, the Fron-
tier Province constitutes a useful regional case study in how and to what ex-

1. By definition, “communalism” refers to a sense of community solidarity regardless of

whether it is based on ethnic, religious, or other sentiments. In this work, it will be used
exclusively to refer to India’s Hindu-Muslim problem.

3



4  Ethnicsty, Nationalism, and the Pakhtuns

tent a separate nationalist identity was built up among India’s Muslims. Its
nationalist history also deserves attention in its own right, for the province
acquired a political significance out of proportion to its small size. In addi-
tion to being the only province in which the Congress seriously competed
for Muslims’ loyalties, the NWFP was located along the most strategically
important and unstable border of the Indian empire. Together, these factors
strengthened the Congress’ bargaining position vis-a-vis the British. They
also turned the North-West Frontier Province into a major obstacle in the
way of a resolution of the Muslim-Hindu conflict and the transfer of power
to Indian hands.

As long as politics in the Frontier are judged exclusively by communal cri-
teria, the preferences of its inhabitants make little sense. To date, in fact,
the tendency has been to regard the province as little more than a dramatic
anomaly 1n the larger Muslim-Hindu conflict or, as an advisor to the last
Viceroy is reputed to have remarked in exasperation, as a ‘‘bastard situa-
tion.”? The difficulty in assessing the Frontier’s nationalist history does not
rest in the eccentricities of its inhabitants. The problem lies in scholars’ pre-
dilection toward the view that Muslim political choices were dictated pri-
marily by religious affiliation.

The key to the Frontier’s politics was ethnicity, not religion, and the cru-
cial group was the Pakhtuns,’ not the Indian Muslim community. An indig-
enous Pakhtun movement, the Khudai Khidmatgars,* undercut the Muslim
League’s appeal to communal nationalism by espousing an ideology of eth-
nic regionalism within the framework of the Indian National Congress’ all-
India secular nationalism. Why this should have been the case and how the
province was ultimately converted to the cause of Pakistan form the central
concerns of this study. While it covers the entire pre-independence lifetime
of the NWFP, it concentrates particularly upon two pivotal periods of fer-
ment in the province’s history, 1929-32 and 1945-47. The first period saw the
emergence of the Khudai Khidmatgars as the authoritative spokesmen of
Pakhtun interests and their alliance with the Indian National Congress. The
second witnessed a steady rise in the influence of the Muslim League until
it overcame the Pakhtuns’ ethnic loyalties and wrested control of the prov-
ince from the Congress.

Ethnicity has spawned a vast body of literature whose theoretical con-
cerns and controversies go beyond the scope of this study. An imprecise con-

2. D. G. Tendulkar, Abdu/ Ghaffar Khan (Bombay: Popular Prakashan, 1967), p. 427.

3. Most scholarly works on the North-West Frontier follow the Indian practice of referring
to the group as “‘Pathans.’ “‘Pathan” is a corruption of the name by which the people call
themselves. This study will follow local usage. It will, moreover, conform to the northern
dialect of Pashtu and use *“‘Pakhtun’’ rather than “‘Pashtun,”’ the southern pronunciation.

4. Technically, the Khudai Khidmatgars were a volunteer body, subordinate first to the
Afghan Jirga, an indigenous Frontier party, and later to the Frontier Congress. Due to their
popularity, however, their name has commonly been applied to the entire Frontier move-
ment, a practice which will be followed in this study.
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cept, ethnicity has been defined and used in widely varying ways. Here, it
will be taken to mean a form of group identity, the sense of belonging to a
unique community on the basis of common cultural traditions, social insti-
tutions, historical experiences, and sometimes real or imagined blood ties.’
The exact characteristics will vary from one ethnic group to another. In all
cases, however, certain shared attributes unite group members and mark
them off in their own minds, if not in others’, as different from the people
living around them.

Ethnicity, then, is determined by a complex of distinctive characteristics.
No one feature acts as the exclusive basis for an ethnic group’s identity, al-
though one or more are usually treated as the primary indicators of group
membership. The attributes on which ethnicity can hinge are as diverse as
human behavior. They can include anything from language, religion, and
ancestry to eating habits, style of dress, and aesthetic tastes. Whatever the
traits, they reinforce one another to build up a composite definition of who
belongs to the community and who does not. A mere laundry list of differ-
ences, however, is insufficient to set off a body of people as a separate group.
As George DeVos has observed: ‘‘As a subjective sense of belonging, eth-
nicity is determined by what a person feels about himself, not by how he is
observed to behave.’® What counts, in other words, is not the sum of the
objective differences between groups but those which people invest with
symbolic meaning and thereby turn into indices of ethnicity. Moreover, as
Fredrik Barth has written, members of an ethnic community consciously or
unconsciously differentiate among their common attributes in terms of im-
portance to their collective personality.” Some attributes, which are deemed
critical in distinguishing them from other people, are singled out as symbol-
izing the essence of their separateness. Others, which are viewed as more
peripheral in importance, are assigned a subordinate role in their group def-
inition. Still others may be ignored or may actually have their existence de-
nied.

Leaders of the All-India Muslim League emphasized the centrality of re-
ligion in defining India’s Muslims as a community and dismissed those fac-
tors which internally differentiated Muslims as insignificant, or meaning-
less, in the face of the overriding unity created by their common faith. This
constituted a reversal of the manner in which Pakhtuns normally viewed

5. I have relied for my understanding of ethnicity and its political implications primarily
on Paul Brass, *‘Ethnicity and Nationality Formation.”’ EtAniciry, Vol. 3, no. 3, 9/76, pp. 225-
40; and Language, Religion and Politics in North India (New York: Cambridge University
Press, 1974). Also see Frederik Barth, ed., Ethnic Groups and Boundaryes (Boston: Little,
Brown and Company, 1969); and George DeVos & Lola Romanucci-Ross, eds.. Esknic Iden-
1ty and Change (Palo Alto: Mayfield Publishing Company, 1975).

6. George DeVos, “Ethnic Pluralism: Conflict and Accommodation,” in DeVos and Ro-
manucci-Ross, op. cfr., p. 17

7. Frederik Barch, “‘Introduction,” in Barth, gp. cst., p. 14.
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themselves. While Islam formed an integral component of the Pakhtuns’
collective self-definition, it was not the critical element. They attached pri-
mary significance to a combination of more restrictive criteria, the most im-
portant of which was the belief in a common descent.® This was reinforced
by their system of values (called Pakktunwali), tribal institutions, language,
history, mythology, aesthetic traditions, and identification with a specific
territory. The identity these characteristics fostered distinguished Pakhtuns
from other Indian Muslims almost as much as from Hindus.

Politics among the Pakhtuns revolved predominantly around their ethnic
concerns before 1947. The overwhelming Islamic composition of their own
country, and of the territory surrounding it, insulated them from the com-
munal fears of other Indian Muslims until 1946-47. Hence, they had no in-
trinsic bias toward an alliance with their Indian co-religionists. As their his-
tory shows, Pakhtuns were ready to join any party that helped them achieve
their own distinctive objectives and allowed them autonomy within the all-
India context. The Indian National Congress met these criteria to the sat-
isfaction of the Pakhtun nationalists, whereas the Muslim League did not.
Other Muslims may have viewed the Congress as a threat to their religious
and cultural integrity, but so far as the Khudai Khidmatgars were concerned,
it gave them valuable political support on terms that did not compromise
their ethnic identity. They saw much less scope for the expression of Pakh-
tun regionalism within the Muslim League, for its ideology demanded that
they abandon their separate ethnic ambitions in the interest of communal
unity.

The Pakhtuns’ ethnic exclusiveness created divisions within NWFP pol-
itics as well as giving them a character which ran counter to the general trend
in India. The province’s boundaries ignored the pattern of ethnic settlement
in the region. Its outer districts—Hazara and Dera Ismail Khan-—and its
towns were inhabited primarily by a non-Pakhtun Muslim population of het-
erogeneous origins.’ Numerically too few and too divided to challenge the
Pakhtuns’ dominance of provincial public life, non-Pakhtuns still played an
important role in the NWFP’s nationalist history. Their presence contrib-
uted an additional element of ethnic tension to Frontier politics which fed
into the larger conflict between the forces favoring Pakhtun regionalism and
Muslim separatism.

Due to their unequivocal commitment to Pakhtun interests, the Khudai
Khidmatgars and Congress never attracted a sizeable following in the prov-
ince’s non-Pakhtun zones. The Frontier Muslim League, on the other hand,
elicited an immediate response in those areas precisely because it was not
identified with the NWFP’s dominant community. Non-Pakhtuns, espe-

8. Sce Chapter 2 for a discussion of Pakhtun identity. For a further discussion, see Fred-
erik Barth, *‘Pathan Identity and Its Maintenance,” in Barth, op. cir., pp. 117-34.

9. See Census of India, 193/, Vol. 15, Part I, pp. 187 and 201. For a further discussion, sce
Chapter 2.
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cially in Hazara District and Peshawar city, provided the party with its first
major sources of support in the province. In the long run, however, this com-
pounded the League’s problems, for the key to provincial power lay in the
Pakhtun countryside, and the League’s non-Pakhtun support tended to
reinforce its image as being unsympathetic to Pakhtun needs and ambi-
tions.

While the concept of ethnicity helps explain in ideological terms why the
Muslim League encountered such difficulty in convincing Pakhtuns to sup-
port Pakistan, it does not provide a complete answer to why they consciously
chose Hindus as their political partners rather than Muslims. There was
nothing inherent in the League’s ideology which prevented it from coupling
its call for Muslim solidarity with an appea! to Pakhtun interests. Superfi-
cially, in fact, that combination would appear more probable than the accom-
modation which did occur between Pakhtun regionalism and secular Indian
nationalism, since Pakhtuns had a sense of identification with Islam which
surpassed any loyalty to a territorially defined Indian nation until well into
the twentieth century. To understand why the League could not harness
Pakhtun ethnic sentiments to its own cause and why the Khudai Khidmat-
gars allied themselves so closely to the Congress, one must look at the man-
ner in which political ideologies interacted with the patterns of elite com-
petition and class conflict in Pakhtun society.

Pakhtuns possessed a vigorous polity which gave underlying structure to
the province’s nationalist experience. Beginning as early as the 15th cen-
tury, they had organized a society in which they owned the land while non-
Pakhtuns, with a few exceptions, were relegated to a position of economic
and political dependency. Politics revolved, in the first instance, around vil-
lage factions which usually reflected the agnatic rivalries inherent in Pakh-
tun society.'® These factions, in turn, often formed wider political groupings
by allying with one another across village boundaries. Factions were domi-
nated by prominent individuals called Khans and ma/iés. Their position
rested in part on land ownership and the economic resources it provided,
but wealth alone could not ensure them of political power due to the Pakh-
tuns’ egalitarian ethos. They also had to exhibit the personal qualities and
behavior which the Pakhtuns expected of their leaders and the lower class
non-Pakhtuns of their patrons.

Pakhtun factions served as the bedrock on which the Congress and Mus-
lim League built throughout much of the Frontier, while the Pakhtuns’
Khans and ma/iks provided them with one of their main sources of leader-
ship. In the province’s Pakhtun regions, each party was commonly identi-
fied at the local level with a single faction or with a combination of factions

10. For traditional Pakhtun politics, see Frederik Barth. Political Leadership Among Swat
Pathans (London: The Athlone Press, 1968). A model of Pakhtun politics on the eve of Brit-
ish rule is included in Chapter 2.
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that were traditional allies. This was unavoidable because nationalist issues
were distant abstractions to the common villagers while factional disputes
were the everyday realities of their political lives. As a result, many Pakh-
tuns joined political parties not out of an ideological commitment but to gain
support in their factional conflicts. Even those men who made the transition
to modern political organizers did not divest themselves entirely of their fac-
tional heritage. Rivals tended to join opposing parties even at the highest
levels of the Congress and Muslim League.

The manner in which Pakhtun factions aligned themselves with political
parties was influenced by the ways in which the British used and changed
Pakhtun society before 1930. Therein also lies the explanation of why the
Khudai Khidmatgars joined the Congress in the first place and why, at a later
date, they did not switch to the Muslim League. The British had used se-
lected members of the Pakhtuns’ Khani elite as an informal extension of
their administration. In return for government patronage, those Khans
maintained order in the countryside, thereby relieving the authorities of a
responsibility they could not handle with their limited resources. The men
usually chosen for this privileged relationship belonged to the senior
branches of the Pakhtuns’ Khani lineages and tended to be the wealthier,
more prominent individuals in their respective tribes and localities.

At the same time, colonial rule caused profound economic and social
changes which undermined the influence of the very men the government
chose as its associates.'' Land settlements, irrigation projects, roads and
railways, and the intrusion of market forces vastly enhanced the wealth of
the Khani elite and economically differentiated it from other Pakhtuns to a
degree previously unknown on the Frontier. By 1930, the government’s al-
lies, who benefited most from those changes, had largely transformed them-
selves into men whose status and power depended on their wealth and the
support of the authorities. Freed from the restraint of social tradition, they
tended to act in ways which alienated the other elements of Frontier society.

The Khans antagonized the lower class non-Pakhtuns by abandoning the
role of patron in favor of a contractual economic relationship which increased
their dependents’ obligations while eliminating the reciprocal, paternalistic
services they had once provided. An additional element of class tension was
generated by the growth of a large body of Pakhtun tenants and laborers
whose inferior status ran counter to their egalitarian traditions and history of
landownership. The senior Khans also alienated the small landholding
Pakhtuns and the other members of their own class by no longer conforming

11. My analysis of the changes which occurred in Frontier society is influenced by the
work of James Scott, especially The Moral Economy of the Peasans (New Haven: Yale Univer-
sity Press, 1976); and Scott and Benedict Kerkvliet, ‘*‘How Traditional Rural Patrons Lose
Legitimacy: A Theory with Special Reference to Southeast Asia,” in Steffen Schmidt,
James Scott, Carl Lande, Laura Guasti, eds., Friends, Followers and Factions. A Reader in
Political Clientelism (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1977), pp. 439-58.
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to the behavioral norms expected of Pakhtun leaders. As men of wealth, they
could coerce or buy support from reluctant followers; but by ceasing to act
like Khans, they increasingly lacked the social legitimacy needed to sustain
their leadership in Pakhtun society.

The erosion in their traditional standing became evident after World War
I and accelerated with the onset of the world economic depression. As it oc-
curred, popular sentiment shifted in favor of the factions opposing them.
These were led by men whom Sir Olaf Caroe calls the small or junior
Khans.'? The label is appropriate, but only in a relative sense, because
many of them were great landlords and men of high tribal status in their own
right. As a generalization, these Khans tended to be less wealthy than their
rivals and less traditionally prominent. Often, they were members of the ca-
det branches of the Pakhtuns’ leading families and, as such, their rivals’ jun-
ior cousins. These men had also profited from colonial rule but had adhered
much more closely to the ideal of a Khan. Additionally, they had not been
drawn as deeply into the government’s network of patronage and, conse-
quently, did not strongly identify themselves with the British.

By necessity, the challenge the junior Khans mounted against their rivals
involved an assault on the government’s authority. While the British recog-
nized that their rule had altered Frontier society, they refused to modify
their reliance on their local allies. Rather than introduce political reforms or
broaden their informal base of support, they consciously chose in the 1920s
to shore up the authority of the senior Khans.'’ This decision froze Frontier
politics, leaving the junior Khans and their factional supporters without a
legitimate means of pursuing their ambitions and grievances. In retaliation,
they joined the Khudai Khidmatgar movement in 1930-31. Thus, factional
and class disputes had fused with nationalist issues by 1930 in a pattern
which identified the smaller, junior Khans as the champions of Pakhtun in-
terests and the protectors of the lower classes, while their rivals bore the
stigma of having betrayed their people to the British.

The Khudai Khidmatgars joined the Indian National Congress during the
1930 civil disobedience movement because of their common determination
to achieve immediate independence through extralegal means. Once
formed, their alliance endured because the Congress provided the Khudai
Khidmatgars with indispensable assistance while tolerating their regional
brand of nationalism. When the Muslim League turned its attention to the
Frontier in 1936-37, therefore, it found itself cut off from the best organized,
most dynamic political force in the province. This left the party with no
choice but to build upon those elements which opposed the Khudai Khid-
matgars for ethnic or factional reasons. In the Pakhtun countryside, the

12. Olaf Caroe, The Pathans (London: MacMillan & Co., 1958), p. 433; and “The End of

British India,” Round Table, No. 237, 1/70, p. 63.
13. PJ9/30. File 1344/21. Letter D.O. No. 941-R. 4/4/21. Sir John Maffey to Dennys Bray.
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League had to depend upon the senior Khans despite the fact that they were
no longer the dominant individuals in Pakhtun society and were stigmatized
by their past association with the British. With these supporters, the party
could not compete for the ethnic appeal in the Frontier. On the contrary, its
Khani members left the League vulnerable to the Khudai Khidmatgars’ re-
peated accusation that it was a party of traitors to the Pakhtun nation. Thus,
the League made little effort after 1937 to represent itself as responsive to
Pakhtun rights, preferring instead to challenge the Khudai Khidmatgars’
ethnic nationalism with a strictly communal ideology.

As a result of its supporters and choice of tactics, the League could not
compete with the Congress in the Frontier before 1946. It could not even
capitalize on its control of the provincial government between 1943 and
1945, a situation made possible by the suppression of the Frontier Congress
in the Quit India Movement. The party’s fortunes in the province did not
improve until the all-India communal deadlock deteriorated into wholesale
violence in late 1946, producing a crisis which qualitatively altered the po-
litical environment in the Frontier and evoked a response reminiscent of a
pattern which had occurred in earlier periods of Pakhtun history.

While nationalist politics in the Frontier revolved primarily around the
question of ethnicity, religious sentiment cannot be entirely ignored. How-
ever weak their attachment to the broader Islamic community may normally
have been in the face of their feelings of ethnic separateness, it did represent
an alternative focus for Pakhtuns’ loyalties. Islam was inextricably woven
into the Pakhtun’s culture. It provided them with moral and metaphysical
precepts to guide their lives, ideals to which they could aspire, and holy men
to revere. Ordinarily, religion did not enter into the Pakhtuns’ factional con-
flicts, and the interpreters of Islam remained apart from their worldly feuds
except when called on to use their moral authority as mediators. In periods
of turmoil, however, Pakhtun politics often fused with religion.

With their deep-seated enmities, Pakhtuns needed some means of
achieving unity when their collective interests were threatened. Islam pro-
vided the most effective cause around which they could rally whenever the
threat could be plausibly construed in religious terms, for it represented a
higher, spiritual order whose defense took precedence in their eyes over
their mundane, material squabbles. Whenever the enemy could be identified
as non-Muslims, or even as ‘‘bad’’ Muslims, Pakhtuns could be convinced
to suspend their mutual hostilities and unite to fight for their faith. Histor-
ically, this had been the case even when the real issues at stake were political
or economic rather than religious. The pivotal figure at such times was not
the tribal leader, who was bound up in the Pakhtuns’ worldly disputes, but
the man of piety and religious learning who transcended tribal and factional
considerations. His commanding power typically lasted only as long as the
Pakhtuns’ perception that a crisis existed; but while it did, it was sufficient
to overcome the Pakhtuns’ internal divisions and even their sense of sepa-
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rateness from other Muslims.

A comparable sequence of events occurred in 1946-47, when the Muslim
League was transformed in the Frontier from an ineffectual political party
into a religiously inspired mass movement through the catalyst of India’s
communal conflict." In the last year before independence, the Frontier
Muslim League exhibited two characteristics strikingly similar to the pat-
tern outlined above. First, it became an umbrella organization for a wide
range of groups and individuals who were normally at odds with one another
but who managed to unite behind the millenial dream of Pakistan. Among
these were many Pakhtuns who were bitter enemies. Sccond, the over-
whelming majority of the province’s religious leaders, many of whom had
previously taken no part in politics, rallied behind the League. In particu-
lar, the party profited from the active support of men who were deemed to
have acquired holiness either through their own pious devotions or by hered-
ity from saintly ancestors. Some of these men rose to high offices in the
League, but even those who did not, played a critical role in the party’s suc-
cess by helping to persuade Pakhtuns to give their universalistic religious
identity temporary priority over their parochial ethnic and factional lovalties.

14. See Chapters 8-9.
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THE NORTH-WEST FRONTIER
PROVINCE AND ITS PEOPLE

The North-West Frontier forms part of the transitional zone between In-
dia and Central Asia which extends from the Indus River to the Hindu Kush
Mountains. From archaeological times, the region has been the primary
route for the flow of people and ideas into the subcontinent, for India is sur-
rounded on its other sides by relativelv impenetrable natural barriers. Ge-
ography also guaranteed that the region became the focus of British imperial
attention after its annexation in 1849. During the next one hundred vears,
the Frontier was the most volatile of India’s borderlands. Across the Frontier,
Afghanistan was the least tractable of India’s neighbors, and bevond the Af-
ghan buffer loomed the spectre of an expansionist Russia.

The British organized the lowland plains in the eastern third of the Fron-
tier into settled districts with a regular administration but left the remaining
mountainous tracts as autonomous tribal territory. At first, the Indian gov-
ernment treated the hill tribes as independent groups, nominally under the
suzerainty of the Afghan amir. In time, it exerted an imperfect, de facto au-
thority over them by means of political persuasion, economic incentives,
and, when all else failed, military force. Its paramountcy over the area re-
ceived formal recognition in 1893 with a treaty delimiting the Afghan king-
dom’s eastern border. The Frontier’s settled districts were part of the Punjab
in the 19th century. The Government of India formulated policy for the au-
tonomous tribal areas but left its implementation primarily to the Punjab
government. Lord Curzon ended this cumbersome division of responsibility
on November 9, 1901, by consolidating the districts of Hazara, Peshawar, Ko-
hat, Bannu, and Dera Ismail Khan into the North-West Frontier Province.
The new province was administered by a Chief Commissioner, who was si-
multaneously made the Governor-General’s agent for the tribal territory.

The Geography of the Province

The North-West Frontier Province has a total area of 13,518 square miles.'
Apart from Hazara, it lies west of the Indus River, and with the exception

1. The tribal territory covered another 25,147 square miles. Census of India, 193] (Pesha-

13
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of the Isa Khel tract adjacent to Bannu and Kohat, it encompasses all the
settled trans-Indus lands south to Dera Ghazi Khan. The administrative
border between the NWFP and tribal territory skirts the foothills, or daman
as it 1s locally known, of the Safed Koh and Suleiman Mountains. West of
the Indus, the province consists of four basins separated by mountain sys-
tems of moderate heights. From north to south, they are the Peshawar Valley,
Kohat basin, Bannu basin, and Derajat plain. East of the Indus, Hazara
forms a transitional zone between northern Punjab and the mountains to its
north and northwest.

The most important of these five physical divisions is the Vale of Pesha-
war. Except for the Sam Ranizai tribal area in the extreme north, the British
first organized the Valley into a single district of 2,637 square miles and sub-
divided it into Peshawar, Charsadda, Nowshera, Mardan, and Swabi T2hss/s.
In 1937, the latter two, with an area of 1,094 square miles, were detached to
form Mardan District, leaving Peshawar District with an area of 1,543 square
miles.?

The core of Peshawar Valley consists of an alluvial plain watered by the
Kabul River and its tributaries, which range in size from the Swat River
down to #4wars (drainage channels) which are dry much of the year. A small
portion of this plain lies south of the Kabul River; the land between the Ka-
bul and Swat Rivers forms a fertile doaba; and beyond the Swat River, the
Hashtnagar-Yusafzai plain stretches over the greater part of the Valley. On
its eastern side, the central plain ends at a ridge known locally as sar-i-
maira,’ beyond which the land drops to a narrow riverine plain along the In-
dus. In the other three directions, the central plain is bordered by foothills
which give way to the barren, mountainous terrain of the tribal area. The
foothill zone is not wide in the north and west, but in the south, it forms a
broad outer band to the Valley, especially in Nowshera 724s:/ where the des-
olate Khattak hills cover more than 350 square miles.

By any criteria, Peshawar Valley is the heartland of the North-West Fron-
tier. Its river system and broad alluvial expanse give it an agricultural poten-
tial unmatched by any other part of the region, as can be seen from the fig-
ures in Table 1. Even before its annexation in 1849, the Valley had an
extensive network of canals which compensated for its sparse annual rainfall
of 13.2 inches.* The Government of India doubled its irrigated acreage with

war: Government Stationery and Printing, 1933), Vol. XV, Part I1, Table 1. All references are
to the NWFP as it existed prior to independence. The physical description of the province
in this chapter is drawn from /mperial Gazetteer. Provincial Series. North-West Frontier Province
(Calcutta: Superintendent of Government Printing, 1908), and David Dichter, The North-
West Frontier of West Pakistan (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1967). _

2. Census of India, 1931, Part 11, Table 1. Future references to Peshawar District in this
chapter are to the district in its pre-1937 form unless otherwise specified.

3. The term, maira, is used for dry, unproductive land. Sar-i-maira means ‘‘ridge of bar-
ren land.”

4. In 1868, 259,676 acres of the Valley were irrigated by private canals and wells. NWFP



Table 1: Land Under Cultivation in the North-West Frontier Province in 19315

Dera Ismail

Hazara Peshawar Kohar Bannu Khan Province
Total area (in acres) 1,925,760 1,665,503 1,729,920 1,086,720 2,221,440 8,651,520
Cultivated acreage 591,955 853,065 328,685 543,360 599,789 2,844,855
% of total area cultivated 27.0% 51.2% 19.9% 50.0% 27.08% 32.9%
Irrigated acreage 173,318 472,164 34,598 119,539 88,858 888,477
% of total area irrigated 9.0% 28.4% 2.0% 11.0% 4.0% 10.3%
% of cultivated area irrigated 33.3% 55.4% 10.5% 22.0% 14.8% 31.2%

5. Based on figures in NWFP Gazetter. Peshawar District. 1931, and Census of India, 1931,
Part I, pp. 6-7.
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three major irrigation schemes. Their impact was most dramatically felt in
the Hashtnagar-Yusafzai plain, where large tracts of semi-barren land were
converted into rich, productive farm acreage.® Out of 853,065 acres under
cultivation in Peshawar in 1931, 472,164, or 55.4 percent, were irrigated.’ All
told, 51.2 percent of Peshawar’s total area and 70.8 percent of its cultivable
area was farmed in 1931, figures which none of the other districts in the prov-
ince could match. Peshawar, in fact, contained 29 percent of the cultivated
acreage of the NWFP and 52 percent of its irrigated land, even though it
accounted for only 18.5 percent of its total area.

Peshawar’s network of canals turned it into the granary of the NWFP be-
fore 1947 It accounted for the bulk of the province’s main food staples, es-
pecially wheat and maize, and produced 90 percent of its primary cash crops
(See Table 2).

Adding to its prosperity, the Valley lay along the main route from India to
Afghanistan and Central Asia, with Peshawar city serving as the entrepot for
both the legal trade and smuggling which took place across the border.

This economic base supported a larger population than any other region
in the Frontier. In 1931, the 974,321 inhabitants of Peshawar District consti-
tuted 40.2 percent of the province’s total population of 2,425,075.° Popula-
tion density in the district was 369 per square mile, as compared to 179 for
the NWFP as a whole; and among the province’s sixteen sehsi/s, Peshawar
and Charsadda ranked first and second in density with 613 and 464 per
square mile respectively.” Peshawar also had a much larger urban component
than the other districts. By the definition employed in the 1931 Census, the
district contained the province’s only city, Peshawar, and ten of its twenty-
five towns.'°

Peshawar enjoyed other advantages before 1947 Historically, the Valley
had always been the political and administrative center of the Frontier. The
British continued the trend by making it the center of their military estab-
lishment on the Frontier and by making Peshawar city the capital of the new
North-West Frontier Province in 1901. To control the Valley, the British built
a more elaborate administrative apparatus there than in the other districts of
the province. They also invested more heavily in its infrastructure. By 1931,
Peshawar contained three of the four government irrigation schemes in the
NWFP, over 1,000 miles of road (a quarter of it paved), the province’s main
railroad link to the rest of India, and a good communication system by the

Gazetteer. Peshawar District. 1897-98 (Compiled and Published under the Authority of the
Punjab Government, 1898), Part II, Table II.

6. See Chapter 3 for a discussion of the changes produced by irrigation.

7. NWFP Gazetteer. Peshawar District. 1931 (Lahore: Civil and Military Gazette, 1934),
Part B, Table 18. The percentages have been computed.

8. Census of India, 1931. Part 11, Table 1. Percentage computed.

9. [bid. Swabi, Mardan, and Nowshera ranked fifth, sixth, and eighth in population den-
sity.

10. /bid., Part I1. Table 1V.
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Table 2: Harvest (in Tons) in the North-West Frontier Province and
Peshawar District, 1930-31"

Total Yield Yield in Peshawar Yield as a %
Crop in the NWFP Peshawar of the Provincial Yield
Wheat 206,139 102,471 49.7
Maize 217,095 139,386 64.2
Rice 11,582 4,708 40.7
Barley 59,059 46,307 78.4
Jowar 10,261 7,610 74.2
Sugarcane 58,237 54,442 93.5
Cotton 1,936 1,686 87.1

standards of the time.'? Finally, the Valley was the traditional cultural center
of the Pakhtuns, while Peshawar city was the intellectual capital of the Fron-
tier, the region’s primary point of contact with Western influences, and the
site of a disproportionate share of its educational institutions.

Kohat District contains 2,703 square miles of broken terrain divided
among Hangu, Kohat, and Teri TeAst/s."> Much of it is a tangle of barren
ridges and ravines. Ranges of low hills run through the district in an east-
west direction, creating a series of small, narrow valleys. The largest, the
Kohat basin, is the smallest of the province’s main plains. Drained by the
Kohat 701 (River), the basin extends from the town of Hangu to the Indus
but is no more than seven miles across at its widest. While most of it lies in
Kohat 74si/, it extends into Hangu 724ss/ where it is called the Lower Mir-
anzai Valley. The Upper Miranzai Valley slopes westward, with its streams
draining into the Kurram River. Thal, its main town, is the gateway to the
Kurram Agency and the strategic Peiwar Kotal Pass into Afghanistan.

Kohat’s inhospitable terrain sustained less agriculture than any other dis-
trict in the province before independence. Over 71 percent of its area was
barren wasteland, and cultivation was limited in the remainder by poor soil
conditions and a paucity of water. Only 10.5 percent of the cultivated land
(or 2 percent of its total area) was irrigated, leaving most agricultural pro-
duction vulnerable to an uneven and uncertain rainfall which averaged 16.2
inches annually.'* This meant not only smaller harvests and more frequent
crop failures but also a greater dependence than other districts on hardier,
less desirable food grains.”” Due to its precarious agricultural conditions,

11. Taken from Report of the Season and Crops of the North-West Frontier Province for the Year,
1930-31 (Calcutta: Government of India Central Publication Branch, 1932), pp. xii-xx. Ex-
act figures for tobacco vields are not available, but almost all of the Frontier’s production
came from Peshawar as well.

12. See Chapter 3 for a further discussion.

13. Census of India, 1931, Part 11, Table I.

14. See supra, Table 1, p. 15.
15. The district, for example, accounted for three-fourths of the province’s dajra crop in
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Kohat had only 236,732 inhabitants in 1931 and a population density of 89
per square mile, well below the provincial average of 179.'® Even this was
too much for the district to support, forcing many of its adult males to leave
the district seasonally or for longer periods of time in search of work.

Bannu District forms a basin which is surrounded by mountains on all four
sides. It covers 1,698 square miles and is divided into Bannu and Marwat
Tehsils. It has only one major town, also called Bannu, which is the commer-
cial and administrative center for the district and the adjoining tribal terri-
tory of Waziristan. In 1931, Bannu District contained a population of
270,301. Population density was only 159 per square mile, but in Bannu
Tehsil, it was 350, the fourth highest among the NWFP’s sesils."”

With 50 percent of its land under crops and 22 percent irrigated, Bannu
was the second most intensively cultivated area in the province.'® Agricul-
ture was disproportionately concentrated within Bannu 724s#/ in the central
flood plain between the Kurram and Gambila Rivers. Although the doaba
has an area of only 270 square miles, or about one-sixth of the district, it
contained more than two-thirds of the district’s inhabitants and accounted
for 60 percent of its land revenue before independence.'® The prosperity of
the doaba rested upon an extensive network of canals which largely predated
British rule. The flow of the Kurram and Gambila, however, was too small
to satisfy all irrigation demands in the area. Thus, the most prosperous and
densely populated parts of the doaba lay in its extreme northwest around
Bannu city, where the rivers could be tapped immediately on entering the
basin.

In contrast to the fertile doaba, the remaining five-sixths of Bannu Dis-
trict—the outer half of Bannu %24si/ and all but a small portion of Marwat
Téhsi/—consists of sandy, poorly watered land. Agriculture in these areas
was precarious and population light and dispersed. Except for some hill tor-
rent trrigation (called rodkoki), which was limited by the unpredictability of
the flood waters, cultivation depended on a rainfalli which averaged 10.8
inches a year. Less than half of the region was farmed; harvest yields were
low; and crop failures were common.*°

Dera Ismail Khan, the southernmost district in the NWFP, is defined by
the Derajat plain which is a natural part of the larger Indus Valley basin.

1931 and one-fourth of its gram but only one-eighth of its wheat and virtually none of its
cash crops. Computed from Report on the Seasons and Crops . . ., loc. cit.

16. Census of India, 1931, Part 11, Table 1.

17. 1bid.

18. Sece Table 1, supra, p. 15.

19. R.1.R. Glancy, Final Report of the Second Regular Settlement of the Bannu District (Pesh-
awar: Commercial Press, 1908), p. 1 of the review by M.F. O’'Dwyer. These figures could
not have changed significantly after 1908 since the government undertook no major irrigation
schemes.

20. Imperial Gazetter, p. 188, and Herbert Edwardes, A Year on the Punjab Frontier in 1848-
49 (Lahore: Printed under the authority of the Government of West Pakistan, 1963), Vol. 1,
p. 259.
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Thus, it is geographically oriented toward the Punjab and cut off from the
rest of the NWFP. The district is the largest in the Frontier Province, with
3,471 square miles divided among Tank, Kulachi, and Dera Ismail Khan
Tehstls. Physically, it consists of the Kachchs (the Indus River flood plain) in
its eastern 20 percent and the Daman which includes the rest of its area. The
district had a small population for its size. In 1931, it contained only 274,604
inhabitants and a population density of 79 per square mile, the lowest in the
province.”'

The Derajat is characterized by extreme heat and aridity. Average rainfall
for the district as a whole is 9.8 inches. Tank, in the northwest, receives a
little more, while the rest of the district receives much less. Before inde-
pendence, the Kachchi was least affected by these conditions since it drew
on the Indus for irrigation. In Tank, there was some irrigation from two per-
ennial streams and some rain-fed agriculture. The rest of the Daman de-
pended on rodkohs irrigation, which limited cultivation to the area immedi-
ately adjacent to the hill torrents and left three-fourths of the region
unusable.?’ Due to these adverse natural conditions Dera Ismail Khan ac-
counted for less of the province’s total agricultural production than any other
district except Kohat. Its main crops were wheat, which was grown in the
Kachchi, and barley, gram and jowar, which were the basic crops of the Da-
man.”

Hazara, with its 3,009 square miles divided among Mansehra, Abbotta-
bad, and Haripur ZeAsi/s, is also geographically distinct from the rest of the
NWEFP. Although it lies east of the Indus, it was included in the province
because it borders on tribal territory and Lord Curzon wanted to administer
all relations with the hill tribes through one unit. The district contains three
main plains arranged in a steplike manner north from the Punjab. The low-
est and largest is the Haripur plain, which merges into the Potwar Plateau
in the Punjab. It is followed by the Rash plain in Abbottabad 7ési/ and the
Pakhli plain in Mansehra. The rest of the district consists of mountainous
tracts punctuated by narrow river valleys. Northern Mansehra forms an ex-
tension of the lesser Himalayas, while the eastern and western sides of the
district consist of mountain systems which merge into Kashmir and the
tribal territory respectively.

In spite of its mountainous nature, Hazara contained 670,227 inhabitants
in 1931 and had a density of 223 per square mile. Abbottabad ranked second
in total population and third in density among the province's tehsi/s.** The

21. Census of India, 1931, Part 11, Table 1. Its tedsils ranked twelfth, fourteenth and six-
teenth in density in the NWFP. Kulachi, with the lowest density in the province, contatned
only 48 people per square mile.

22. Dichter, op. cit., p. 164.

23. Report on the Seasons and Crops . . ., loc. cit.

24. Census of India, 1931, Part 11, Table 1. Haripur and Mansehra 7e4ss/s ranked seventh
and ninth in density respectively.
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district depended mainly on rain-fed agriculture since the terrain limited
irrigation to 9 percent of its total area. Hazara received an average of 43.8
inches of rain a year, enough to grow large crops of maize, rice, wheat, and
barley.? The district, however, was not self-sufficient. With only 29 percent
of its total area under cultivation, Hazara had to import food grain from
Peshawar and the Punjab to meet the needs of its people.

The Province’s Population

The North-West Frontier is invariably thought of as the land of the Pakh-
tuns, from which follows the proposition that politics in the area were the
singular expression of that ethnic group. These assumptions were accurate
for the tribal area, but the NWFP did not have a homogeneous population,
a demographic fact with a decisive influence on its nationalist history. Before
1947, the province contained a mixed population which will be simplified in
this study into the three-way division of Pakhtuns, non-Pakhtun Muslims,
and non-Muslims. Of the three, only the first is actually an ethnic commu-
nity. The other two represent useful categories in a discussion of Frontier
politics, but they were not cohesive groups. Instead, they consisted of a va-
riety of tribes, castes, and in the case of the non-Muslims, religions.

Pakhtuns accounted for 37.32 percent of the population, non-Pakhtun
Muslims 54.52 percent, and non-Muslims the remaining 8.16 percent.”
These three groups were not evenly distributed throughout the NWFP.
Pakhtun/non-Pakhtun differences set Hazara and Dera Ismail Khan apart
from the other districts, as Table 3 indicates. By themselves, these figures
do not fully demonstrate the division between Hazara and Dera Ismail Khan
and the rest of the province. The distinction between Pakhtuns and other
Muslims in Peshawar, Kohat, and Bannu was blurred by the large number of
non-Pakhtuns who had been absorbed into Pakhtun society as tenants and
artisans. The reverse had occurred in Hazara, with many Pakhtuns discard-
ing their old ways for those of their non-Pakhtun neighbors. Deculturation
was a less pronounced phenomenon in Dera Ismail Khan; however, patterns
of migration had produced an internal boundary which demarcated Tank
Tehsil in the northwest as distinctly Pakhtun and the rest of the district as
heavily non-Pakhtun.?’

Due to these cultural adjustments, language serves as a better indicator
of the divisions in the NWFP than tribal or religious background. Pakhtuns
and their dependents speak Pashtu, an East Iranian language which is an

25. Hazara produced 62.7 percent of the Frontier’s rice, 34.3 percent of its maize, and
13.7 percent of its wheat. Report on the Seasons and Crops . . ., Joc. cit.

26. Census of India, 1931, Part 1, pp. 181 and 201. Christians formed .5 percent of the pop-
ulation. I4id., Part 1, p. 187. Since they did not play a significant part in the independence
movement, ‘‘non-Muslim"’ shall henceforth stand for the province's Hindus and Sikhs.

27. Gazetteer of the Dera Ismail Khan District (Lahore: Arya Press, 1884), p. 23.



Table 3: Distribution of Pakhtuns and Non-Pakhtuns by District in 19312

District Total Percent Non-Pakhtun Percent Percent
Population Pakhtuns  of Total Muslims of Total Non-Muslims of Total
Hazara 670,117 54,544 8.14 582,250 86.89 33,323 4.95
Peshawar 974,321 473,738  48.62 424,945 44.64 75,638 6.74
Kohat 236,273 148,089 62.68 70,347 29.77 17,728 8.55
Bannu 270,301 159,737 59.10 77,937 28.83 32,627 12.07
Dera Ismail
Khan 274,064 69,005 25.18 166,702 60.82 38,356 14.00
Total 2,425,076 905,122 37.32 1,322,181 54.52 196,733 8.16

28. Compiled from statistics in Census of India, 1931, Part I, pp. 187 and 201.



24 Ethniciry, Nationalism, and the Pakhtuns

Table 4: Language Distribution by District in 19312°
District FPashtu Speakers % of Population Hindko Speakers % of Population

Hazara 29,735 4.44 624,268 93.31
Peshawar 781,773 80.24 127,189 13.05
Kohat 186,290 78.85 35,755 15.13
Bannu 288,381 84.49 33,547 12.41
D. I. Khan 53,643 19.60 213,115 71.76
Total 1,339,882 55.25 1,033,874 42.63

integral part of their self-definition.>® The great majority of those who do not
speak Pashtu use dialects which can be grouped together under the rubric
of Hindko. While differing among themselves, these dialects share a com-
mon derivation from Punjabi, an Indic language. Prior to 1947, Pashtu was
the mother tongue of the overwhelming majority of the province’s three cen-
tral districts, while Hindko predominated in the other two. The religious
minorities generally spoke Hindko as a first language, which meant that
Pakhtun culture was even more pronounced among the Muslims of Pesha-
war, Kohat, and Bannu than the figures in Table 4 suggest.*'

Ethnic differences cut across the North-West Frontier Province in a sec-
ond direction, separating town from countryside. The province’s major ur-
ban centers shared two common features—a disproportionate concentration
of Hindus and Sikhs and, more generally, a strong non-Pakhtun character.
As traders and merchants, non-Muslims naturally congregated in the Fron-
tier’s towns. Almost three-fourths of the NWFP’s Hindus and over seven-
tenths of its Sikhs resided in urban areas, accounting for 32.6 percent of the
NWFP’s urban inhabitants, or four times their percentage of its total pop-
ulation.’ Their urban strength was even more pronounced in the southern
districts where they formed 71 percent of Bannu city and 48 percent of Dera
Ismail Khan city.”’

29. Compiled from Ibid., Part [, pp. 176 and 178. A small percentage of each district
spoke other languages such as Baluchi, English, Hindi, Kashmiri, and Persian.

30. Qayyamuddin, Peéhtunwali (Kabul: n.p., 1331 A H.), p. 10. There are two dialects
of Pashtu, a hard variant in the north and a soft variant in the south. One chief difference
between them is whether a particular sound is pronounced ‘kh’ or ‘sh.” This creates confu-
sion in terminology. ‘‘Pakhtun’’ and ‘‘Pakhtunistan’’ become ‘‘Pashtun’” and “Pashtunis-
tan’ in the south. “‘Pashtu’ and ‘‘Peshawar’” become “‘Pakhtu” and ‘‘Pekhawar” in the
north. The terms used here are those most commonly found in the written literature on the
Frontier.

31. No statistics exist for language distribution by religion. If one subtracts the figures
for non-Muslims in each district from those for Hindko, a rough estimate can be obtained
of Muslims whose mother tongue was Hindko.

32. Census of India, 1941 (Delhi: Government of India Press, 1942), Vol. X, p. 20.

33. Computed from #éid., p. 19.
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Pakhtuns did not settle in towns even in the districts of their greatest con-
centration. In 1931, the Census officer reported:

Many towns owe their existence and a great deal of their growth as well
to immigrants not from neighbouring towns and villages but from out-
side the province altogether. To the vast majority of the inhabitants of
the NWFP, town life presents few attractions. The link with the agri-
cultural and rural elements in tribal life is a strong one and no general
inclination towards the settled condition of town life has yet begun to
develop.™

Peshawar city, for example, had been a largely non-Pakhtun enclave ever
since the Pakhtuns conquered the surrounding valley. Mountstuart Elphin-
stone, the first European to describe it, wrote in 1808 that ‘‘the inhabitants
of Peshawar are of Indian origin but speak Pushtoo as well as Hindkee.
There are, however, many other inhabitants of all nations.”** British rule
sharpened the city’s differences from the countryside by creating adminis-
trative, professional, and commercial opportunities which attracted addi-
tional non-Pakhtuns from other Indian provinces, especially the Punjab.

The Pakhtuns’ poor representation in urban areas reflected their insis-
tence that only agriculture and fighting were honorable occupations. As El-
phinstone observed, they thought ““‘it degrading to pursue the trades which
assemble men in towns.””*® Commerce, crafts, and even government service
were still frequently scorned 140 years later, sometimes in highly abusive
language.®” Pakhtuns believed that urban life styles were inherently inferior
to their own and that anyone who settled in towns invariably adopted cus-
toms and mores which fell far short of the standards set by their own social
code. These prejudices have diminished since independence, but many
Pakhtuns still exhibit a contempt for city life which is apparent from the
Pashtu term for urban dweller. KAgre literally means a townsman, but it has
been overlaid with strong pejorative connotations.

The Pakhtuns

While ethnic and religious cleavages created enduring subdivisions in the
NWFP’s social life, the province did have an ascendant ethnic group. The
Pakhtuns may have formed only two-fifths of its population, but they pos-
sessed a homogeneity which the province’s larger non-Pakhtun population
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lacked. More significantly, they had controlled public affairs in the Frontier
for more than four centuries. The allegiance of most Pakhtuns traditionally
did not extend beyond family, clan, and tribe. Yet, however dimly per-
ceived, they possessed a collective self-awareness of being distinct from
other people and a feeling, as one Pashtu writer has put it, that they were
“better than any other race.”*® Their chauvinistic pride was evident as early
as the 17th century in the poems of Khushhal Khan Khattak. It made a
strong impression on 19th-century Englishmen such as Elphinstone, who
wrote: ‘“Their clannish spirit diminishes their general patriotism but they
all take a lively interest in the ‘Nung du Pooshtanueh, or honour of the Af-
ghaun name. ... ** In the 20th century, that spirit was manifested in the
Pakhtun nationalism (or parochialism, depending on the observer’s point of
view) which became the central issue of the independence movement in the
NWFP.

Theorists on ethnicity stress that members of an ethnic group single out
one or a few of their common attributes as the decisive symbols of their sep-
arateness. For the Pakhtuns, the critical element has been kinship, the be-
lief in a common descent through the male line. This conviction is embod-
ied in comprehensive genealogical tables, called s4ajras, which trace their
bloodline back to a single ancestor. Residing across one of the busiest cross-
roads in Asia’s history, Pakhtuns do not actually come from a single stock;
but the skajras affirm to their satisfaction, if not the scholar’s, their essential
ethnic purity. Once compiled some 400 years ago, the genealogies helped
guarantee that end. For the most part, Pakhtuns have not grafted fictive
branches on to their family tree.*® This rule was much more closely ob-
served in pre-British times, but it is still generally applicable today. Thus,
the shajras define an essentially closed ethnic community. Other criteria are
important, but in the first instance, a person must have a Pakhtun father to
qualify as a true Pakhtun. As Elphinstone observed: ‘“They are all very
proud of their descent. . . they will hardly acknowledge a man for an Af-
ghaun who cannot make his proofs by going back six or seven genera-
tions. ... """

Elaborate legends project the Pakhtuns’ pedigree from their apical ances-
tor, Qais, back to Hebraic origins.*? According to these myths, King Saul had
a grandson, Afghana, whom David raised as a child and Solomon made the
general of his armies. Nebuchadnezzar took his descendants to Babylon with
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the other Jewish people. When Cyrus liberated them, most migrated to Ghor
but a few went to Mecca. A millennium later, one of the latter, the famous
Arab general Khalid bin Walid, convinced Qais to travel to Medina to meet
the Prophet. Qais adopted Islam, assumed the name of Abdur Rashid, and
returned to Ghor to convert his people. While apocryphal at best, these sto-
ries reinforce the Pakhtuns’ sense of distinctiveness by giving them a core
of historical continuity extending into the distant past. Moreover, by asso-
ciating them with the founder of Islam and great figures in the Jewish tra-
dition, the legends mark them out as a historically special people. By their
own reckoning, as Barth has written, ‘‘Pathans have no infidel past, nor do
they carry in their history the blemish of defeat and forcible conversion.””**

Before the British, the shgsras held a much greater interest for Pakhtuns
than as merely a semi-mythical charter of descent. Pakhtuns, as traditionally
organized, had no permanent state institutions. Instead, their organization
was derived from their principles of kinship as set forth in the s4gsras. These
tables defined membership in a series of segmentary lineage groups which
determined where one lived, who had rights in the land, what sort of com-
munity institutions evolved, and how people engaged in politics. In sum,
descent provided the framework within which Pakhtuns conducted their
lives, so the right to a place in the family tree was jealously guarded. Once
the British constructed a formal government in the settled districts, the im-
portance of kinship diminished, and with it the Pakhtuns’ preoccupation
with their shasras. Yet, even though genealogical assimilation became more
acceptable, the principle, for the most part, remained that one must have a
patrilineal connection with the community to be a Pakhtun.

Thus, the genealogies and myths have sustained the Pakhtuns’ strong par-
ochial sentiments down through the centuries because they were bound up
with their social organization, economy, and politics. Further reinforcement
was lent by the Pakhtuns’ language, history, and values. Their language,
which differs from those of their Indian neighbors, has nurtured a separate
literary tradition with luminaries and literary forms uniquely its own. Their
historical lore—the events they single out as important, and the men they
honor as heroes—differs from, and sometimes is in conflict with that of In-
dia. For instance, the Mughals are viewed as ancient foes who overthrew the
Pakhtuns’ Lodhi and Suri dynasties and whose expansionary designs in the
Frontier were vigorously resisted. Similarly, Ahmad Shah Abdali, a scourge
in Indian history, is revered as the founder of their greatest empire.

Pakhtuns commonly encapsulate what differentiates them from others by
referring to their system of values— Pakhtunwali, or simply Pakhto. Some ob-
servers have explained Paéhtunwali as a code of honor or chivalry, reducing
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it to the injunctions of badal/ (revenge), melmastia (hospitality), and nanawari
(mediation). These are only the most striking of its prescriptions. Pakhtun-
wali is an all-embracing social code which embodies the Pakhtuns’ custom-
ary laws, defines their ideals of conduct, and provides a normative yardstick
for determining if an individual has the one attribute they most highly
prize—nang, or honor. One Pakhtun writer has represented the code in the
following sweeping terms: *‘ Pakhtunwali is that #a/ma in which are embodied
all those things—their national soul, historical greatness, and national tra-
ditions—which are considered basic and essential to their way of life.’*

The significance of Pakhtunwali stemmed originally from the ‘‘stateless”
nature of the Pakhtun society. In the absence of a formal government, Paks-
tunwali assumed critical importance as an unwritten mechanism for regulat-
ing social behavior. It provided a relatively uniform ethos for the entire eth-
nic group and a set of norms which each of its members internalized as
guides for his individual behavior. Even after the British gave the NWFP an
elaborate legal system, Pakhtunwali still retained a vital role in the Pakh-
tuns’ lives as a measure of whether a person was acting like a true Pakhtun.
Anyone who flagrantly broke its rules forfeited his honor as a Pakhtun. As
Barth notes:

... Pathans have an explicit saying: ‘““He is a Pathan who does Pashto,
not (merely) who speaks Pashto’’; and ‘‘doing’’ Pashto in this sense
means living by a rather exacting code in terms of which some Pashto
speakers consistently fall short.*

Finally, the Pakhtuns’ separate consciousness is territorially rooted in a
region they call Pabhtunkhwa. While it lacks boundaries in the modern sense
of the term, Pakhtunkhwa’s core region has never been in doubt. It stretches
from Qandahar in the south and west to the Indus in the east and Dir and
Swat in the north. For centuries, leaving that area has carried the implication
of moving into foreign lands, and from at least the 17th century, Pakhtuns
have been exhorted by their political leaders and poets to defend its inde-
pendence and integrity.*

Today, many Pakhtuns argue that their tribal background, social organi-
zation, culture, history, and sense of territoriality are proof of an age-old
Pakhtun ‘‘nation.”” In many ways, this is a projection of modern concepts
into the past. Nonetheless, Pakhtuns have undeniably had a pool of charac-
teristics which encouraged the development of a separate identity well be-
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fore the 20th century and gave rise to an assertive ideology of Pakhtun na-
tionalism during the independence movement.

Pakhtun Social Organization

While the Pakhtuns’ ethnocentrism shaped the major issues of the nation-
alist movement in the NWFP, their social organization and polity gave it
structure. The remainder of this chapter, therefore, will examine the nature
of Pakhtun society on the eve of British rule. It makes no pretense to deal
with all Pakhtuns, only those living in the settled districts,*” and even
glosses over the substantial diversity which exists among them as a result of
differing ecological influences and historical experiences. This, however, is
unavoidable since its purpose is not to provide a comprehensive picture of
how Pakhtuns lived but merely a model of their primary mode of organiza-
tion in what became the NWFP. Most recent accounts of Pakhtuns draw
heavily upon the example of the former tribal region of Swat, located north
of Peshawar. This is an implicit acknowledgement of the influence of Fred-
erik Barth’s work, which is regarded even by his critics as a classic in mod-
ern anthropology. The following discussion is no exception to the general
rule. Modifications, however, have been necessary to make Barth's analysis
of a peripheral region of the Frontier, as it existed under unique historical
conditions, relevant to the settled districts.*®

Pakhtuns are not indigenous to the Frontier Province. They moved into it
from the mountainous country of present-day Afghanistan, starting in the
15th century. The details of when, how, and why they came are obscure.
Their own traditions portray them as conquerors, but Sir Olaf Caroe, for
one, theorizes that they probably replaced the previous inhabitants peace-
fully over generations, absorbing many of them in the process.* Whether
they established themselves by quick military victory or gradual encroach-
ment, the results were the same. They gained control of the land and orga-
nized a political system which was virtually their exclusive preserve.

Pakhtuns belong to the category of peoples who have a segmentary tribal
system. Centralized authority is absent in such a system. Instead, kinship
provides the basic ordering mechanism for society. In the Pakhtuns’ case,
their shajras delimit a hierarchy of patrilineal descent groups, or lineages,
each of which claims derivation from a single progenitor. Each is related to
the others through blood ties, either real or fictive, as determined by the
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position of its putative ancestor in the genealogical pyramid which spreads
out from Qais, the presumed patriarch of all Pakhtuns. This form of orga-
nization can be visualized in family terms. Equivalent segments at one level
in the hierarchy are part of a single unit at the next if their progenitors are
sons of a common father. At the next higher level, the segment defined by
the father fuses with those of his brothers into a unit tracing descent from
the grandfather. This process continues up the family tree with each suc-
cessive segment expanding in degree of inclusiveness until it encompasses
the entire ethnic group in a single unit. Thus, an individual belongs simul-
taneously to a series of lineage segments ranging in size from his immediate
kinsmen to the whole Pakhtun people.*

Among the more distant ancestors in the shajras, only Qais himself defines
a group with any real significance, and its importance is confined to being
the maximum unit of common Pakhtun identity. By their emergence into re-
corded history, the Pakhtuns already exhibited the main tribal configuration
characteristic of them today. Larger lineage segments had been sloughed off
as meaningful social and political units, although this had occurred suffi-
ciently recently in some instances for them to remain a part of tribal mem-
ory.”' Since then, there has been no lineage group bigger than the tribe with
institutions for making and carrying out joint decisions. By the arrival of the
British, moreover, even the tribe had ceased in many areas to have practical
significance for Pakhtuns and had become merely a unit of identification and
sentiment. In those cases, smaller descent groups, or #kels, provided the
framework within which their lives were organized.

As with other segmentary tribal peoples, Pakhtuns were distributed in a
pattern which geographically replicated their lineage hierarchy. An individ-
ual’s immediate neighbors were his brothers and close cousins; in other
words, the members of his minimal descent group. Not only were their fields
adjacent to one another, but they lived together as the sole Pakhtun inhab-
itants of a village, if it were small, or one of its kandis (wards), if it were
large. Immediately beyond their lands were those of the next most inclusive
unit in the hierarchy. In many places, its members inhabited a different
kandi in the same village. This process was repeated up to the tribal level,
where the major clans usually could be found adjacent to each other.

Pakhtuns monopolized the land over most of the Frontier, a right they
claimed as the spoils of conquest. On acquiring possession of an area, 2
tribe permanently divided it into zappas, each of which was assigned to a
specific 4kel.>* Title was vested in the #4e/ as a collectivity, while its mem-
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bers were entitled to shares, or daftars, in their joint estate. Access to land,
in fact, was so intimately tied to membership in a lineage group that an in-
dividual who lost his dafrar also lost his rights and status as a Pakhtun. The
less productive parts of a fappa were set aside as shamslar (common lands),
principally for grazing purposes. Utilization of the common lands was regu-
lated by rights known as 1nam, which formed part of each Pakhtun’s dafrar.
Productive areas were divided and periodically redivided in a process called
wesh. At specific intervals of up to thirty years, the major descent groups
within the zgppa exchanged territory. Then the land was divided into smaller
and smaller units among the segments at each succeeding level in the li-
neage hierarchy. At the lowest level, the portion allotted to a minimal de-
scent group was divided among individual heads of household according to
their daftars.

This complex system of land ownership and rotation was devised to pre-
serve equality among lineage members, an ideal which was a legacy from the
Pakhtuns’ nomadic past.* In theory, the wes# prevented the concentration of
land in a few hands, while economic differences which arose from families
growing at varying rates were offset by carving additional plots out of the
shamilar. In practice, various factors led to economic differentiation. Tribes
often donated extra shares to individuals in return for special services; su-
perordinate states, such as the Mughals and Sikhs, gave additional rights to
prominent tribal leaders; dafrars were freely alienable among Pakhtuns; and
the forceable seizure of one man’s land by another was not uncommon. Ad-
ditionally, those who had larger land holdings could use their greater re-
sources to obtain a greater share at the time of wesh. Finally, the compensa-
tory mechanism provided by the common lands did not always work. A
growing population meant there was a diminishing amount of cultivable
skamilat to parcel out, and, even when there was enough, those individuals
with disproportionate holdings were often adverse to seeing their economic
and political dominance diluted by the distribution of additional common
lands. Thus, the Pakhtun economy was not in a state of egalitarian equilib-
rium. A process of differentiation was already at work before the British, di-
viding Pakhtuns into large and small landholders and turning some of the
latter into landless dependents. The Pakhtuns’ strong normative emphases
on equality and the wesh slowed the pace at which change occurred, but they
did not entirely prevent it. To varying degrees, the different tribes departed
from the Pakhtun ideal.>*
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The existence of a class structure becomes even more apparent on view-
ing Pakhtuns within the broader context of the society they dominated.
Pakhtuns constituted only the upper stratum of the Frontier’s population.
The subordinate classes consisted primarily of the dispossessed remnants
of earlier peoples or immigrants from outside the Frontier, who had been
“naturalized by many generations of habitation in the country’ and differed
only slightly from Pakhtuns in customs and habits.> The rest were former
Pakhtuns who had lost their dafrars. The lower classes were all landless, a
fact implicitly conveyed by the various terms used to describe them —Aam-
saya, kamin, faqir. As a result, they were dependent on the Pakhtuns who
controlled the land and its produce. As H. W. Bellew wrote:

None of these races, as a rule, have any position in the soil. They are
all more or less vassals of the dominant Afghauns and compose the in-
dustrial population by whom are performed the cultivation of the soil,
the tending of cattle and the various industrial arts.>®

The link between landowner and those who worked for him was not solely
economic but took the form of an open-ended association between patron
and client. James Scott and Benedict Kerkvliet have defined that connection
as

an exchange relationship or instrumental friendship between individu-
als of different status in which the patron uses his own influence and
resources to provide for the protection and material welfare of his lower
status client and his family who, for his part, reciprocates by offering
general support and assistance, including personal services to the pa-

tron.”’

The relationship was clearly unequal, for the client gave much more than he
received. Its harshness, however, was mitigated by the personal, almost pa-
rental, concern the Pakhtun patron showed for the client. The landlord as-
sured his minimum physical needs by providing access to land and supple-
menting his share of the harvest with additional food, housing, and clothing.
He also received assistance at important ritual events, such as marriages,
financial aid in times of emergency, and protection in a society which could
be quite hostile to the weak.

Clients not only served their patrons economically but followed them po-
litically. Thus, politics were essentially a Pakhtun affair in which the lower
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class non-Pakhtuns were uninvolved except as they were mobilized through
the patron-client tie. Among Pakhtuns, no such distinction between leader
and follower can be easily made since they generally refused to recognize
any difference in status among themselves. Each believed himself equal to,
if not better than, all the rest, a situation not given to the emergence of
strong and stable states. As Elphinstone observed:

... 1in some rare cases, the Khaun establishes arbitrary power and acts
without consulting any of the Jeergas [councils] under him. ... But
more frequently the chiefs are neglected and every sub-division, every
quarter and even every family throws off its dependence on its superiors
and acts according to its own interest or inclination.*®

In the absence of an organized state, the Pakhtuns’ segmentary lineage
system provided the underlying structure for their politics. At the heart of
Pakhtun politics were pervasive factional rivalries among landholders which
are called parajamba. Since politics were localized and localities associated
with lineage segments, the most intense enmities pitted close relatives
against each other. Other types of rivalry existed, but the most prevalent
consisted of competition among patrilineal cousins. This is called tarburwals
in Pashtu. It was so common that szrbur, the word for first cousin, lost its
purely kin connotation and assumed the meaning of an enemy among one’s
close cousins.*’

The greatest source of contention among Pakhtuns was land and the major
time of tension the wes# when it was redistributed. The further down the
tribal hierarchy the process worked, the less predetermined and more open
to dispute it became. At the lowest level, Barth writes:

.. . the men must meet in a council of their small segment and devise a
pattern of allotment through negotiation and compromise, or force.
This is a type of issue uniquely suited to generate intense factionalism
between collaterals; there is an overriding opposition of interests be-
tween such groups competing for the slightly better fields.*

Once the wesh was completed, the lands of close relatives bordered on one
another, guaranteeing further disputes over field boundaries, irrigation
rights, and damage done to one field by men or animals working in the next.
Additionally, Pakhtuns commonly tried to expand their holdings by force
and coercion. The most likely candidates for expropriation were one’s patri-
lineal cousins, both because their lands were adjacent to one’s own and be-
cause the Pakhtuns’ ethos made their destruction a prime political objec-
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tive. Finally, inheritance served as another source of contention. No matter
how clear the order of precedence among the deceased’s relatives, ambigu-
ous situations inevitably arose in which more than one person had a just
claim to the patrimony. Even when succession rights appeared clear cut,
close cousins still found grounds for fighting. As zarburs, the desire to injure
one another often overrode considerations of equity, leading individuals to
pursue vigorously the most tenuous of inheritance claims.®

These rivalries were institutionalized in the shape of factions which Pakh-
tuns called gundis or dullaks. As a rule, an individual belonged to the faction
opposed to that of his tarbur. Gundis were not collections of equals. In a cul-
ture where the use of force was common, less powerful landholders often did
not have the means or skill to defend their interests on their own. They con-
sequently attached themselves to more forceful men as factional followers,
pledging their loyalties in return for protection and other benefits. Thus,
gundis centered around prominent individuals, or Khans. In Swat, Barth
found that political alignments were defined solely in terms of those men.*
In other parts of the Frontier, gundis had a permanent existence independent
of any individual, but their leaders still played a pivotal role in deciding fac-
tional attitudes and activities.

Among a few tribes, individual families had hereditarily achieved posi-
tions of political prominence, often with the assistance of outside states. In
the most extreme cases, some verged on being independent, petty rulers.
More commonly, Pakhtun tribal chiefs were little more than first among
equals, and such power as they did have was earned rather than inherited.
Family background helped, but when a man’s personal influence declined,
his ancestry, however noble, could not prevent him from losing followers and
power. The size of one’s landholding was also important, but only because
the more a Khan controlled, the more income he had at his disposal to main-
tain dependents, contract for the allegiance of other Pakhtuns, and in gen-
eral, play the game of politics.*> Land and wealth did not convey any inher-
ent right to leadership. In fact, they were easily lost if a man did not
demonstrate the personal qualities which Pakhtuns expected of their
Khans. Above all, a Khan had to command respect. As Barth observes:

... the intangible factor of prestige or reputation becomes a major
source of authority, an important means by which a political pretender
rallies supporters. The qualities are evaluated in terms of the polar op-
posites ‘izzat,’ honour, and ‘sharm’—shame. The ideal personality of a
leader is virile and impetuous, given to extremes rather than compro-
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mise, sometimes unwise, but always brave. . . . Any insult, any action
or condition which ‘shames’ a Pathan, requires him to defend his hon-
our, if he is not to suffer permanent loss of respect and status.”

Thus, bravery, a gift for intrigue, vengefulness, a highly refined sense of
honor, and a willingness to resort to violence were all necessary. Generosity
and hospitality were also required, both because a miserly man was re-
garded as dishonorable and because a Khan had to spend lavishly to main-
tain the loyalty of his followers.

Gundis varied greatly in size. In some areas, their orientation was strictly
local. Elsewhere, larger political groups emerged, usually as a result of local
factions seeking outside assistance against one another. In Swat, this process
reached its logical extreme with each tappa splitting into two opposing
blocs.®® These alliances usually had a long history, but unlike village fac-
tions, which were permanent entities, they had only a situational existence.
According to Barth, ““The alliance blocs . . . are called together to act with
reference to each specific threat, but are otherwise inactive. . .. "*

Pakhtuns’ commitment to their factions varied in intensity. In Swat, ac-
cording to Barth, there were no moral or ascriptive constraints preventing a
person from leaving his faction if he calculated that he could obtain a better
deal elsewhere.®” In other parts, a person’s loyalties usually rested on more
than a mere assessment of benefits and liabilities. Factional allegiances were
widely viewed as a matter of honor; as one Pashtu journal has proclaimed:
“It is against the principles of Pakkro for a man to leave his group. The Pakh-
tuns of old always remained steadfast in their loyalties.”*® Some even went
to the extreme of holding gundi ties to be *‘stronger than blood.”®’

While factional conflict was the normal pattern of politics in the Frontier,
it was not so deep-rooted that it could not be overcome when the members
of a lineage group needed to cooperate against an external enemy. In this
regard, Pakhtuns share a common characteristic with other segmentary
tribal people. As Charles Lindholm observes: ‘“The fundamental concept of
the society is that all those related through a common male ancestor should
stand together against outsiders.””’® Tarburwaly itself conveys this principle,
for the term has the secondary meaning that regardless of how deadly the
enmity, if one’s farbur is attacked by an outsider, one should assist him as a
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matter of honor. Such alliances were at best temporary, existing relative only
to the threat which called them into being. Otherwise, internal factionalism
fragmented the descent group. Bellew captured this oscillation between co-
operation and conflict when he wrote:

Each tribe under its own chief is an independent commonwealth and
collectively each is the other’s rival, if not enemy . . . when undisturbed
from without the several tribes are always opposed to each other; feuds,
estrangements and affrays are of constant occurance. . . . Everywhere
family is arrayed against family and tribe against tribe, in fact one way
or another every man’s hand is against his neighbor. Feuds are settled
and truces patched up, but they break out afresh on the smallest prov-
ocation. . . . But when danger threatens from without, all family feuds
and clan jealousies are at once forgotten and all unite to repel the com-
mon enemy.”!

Lineage group cooperation was an ideal which was not always followed,
for 1t conflicted with the even stronger commandment that one should be
unforgiving and unremitting in his enmities. Since this sort of solidarity was
difficult to achieve and often short-lived, a more dependable mechanism for
uniting in times of crisis was needed. To meet this requirement, a single
exception was made to the rule that non-Pakhtuns could only play a subor-
dinate role in Frontier society. Although religious men usually had different
ethnic roots, Pakhtuns treated them with deference and endowed some of
them with a special political role. Their piety, learning, and presumed de-
tachment from material concerns made them ideally suited both to act as
mediators in the Pakhtuns’ worldly quarrels and to unite them through ap-
peals to Islam in times of extraordinary crisis.

Religious men do not form a single, homogeneous group in the Frontier.
They perform a variety of duties, exhibit wide variations in demeanor, and
receive varying degrees of respect. As a starting point, one can distinguish
between two ideal-types—one being ‘‘legal, rational, formal, orthodox”
and the other “‘pacific, mystical, informal, unorthodox.””’? The boundary be-
tween the two is not clear-cut and absolute. Nonetheless, they do point toa
crucial division among Islamic religious leaders.

The interpreters of the rational, legalistic side of Islam are mullahs and
ulema. It needs to be stressed that in the Frontier at least, most of these men
also have some involvement with mysticism; however, their basic concerns
are the formal ritual and the Sharigh. “Mullak” is often generically used for
any religious personage, but it specifically applies to a man who serves as 2
mosque attendant and administers to the common religious needs of his
community. Most belong to the lower classes, for Pakhtuns consider their
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position demeaning. Typically, they are badly trained, poorly paid, and lit-
tle more than dependents on the most prominent Pakhtun landowners in
their localities.” Ordinary mullaks are often respectfully called “maulana”
or “‘maulvi’’ In a more restrictive sense, however, those titles are reserved
for the ulema who are supposed to be experts in Islamic jurisprudence. Usu-
ally, an individual qualifies as an a/im after an education at a madrassah or
under the tutelage of a learned divine. Formal studies, however, are not es-
sential. An a/tm can be self-taught provided there is a public consensus that
his knowledge entitles him to the status.

Mullaks and wlema are viewed ambivalently in the Frontier. They are often
stereotyped as hidebound conservatives wedded to a narrow vision of Islam
and sometimes as avaricious, corruptible men.”* Nonetheless, most are out-
wardly respected, and some are even regarded as saintly. Piety, exemplary
personal conduct, and wisdom brings them honor and influence. Their au-
thority, for the most part, is confined to the religious realm. Yet, as the voices
of morality, rectitude, and learning, their opinions on their communities’ af-
fairs command attention. By and large, however, they have not been the ones
to serve as unifiers. Those among them who have, moreover, earned the
trust of Pakhtuns because of their spirituality rather than as a result of their
occupational roles.

The importance of mullakhs and ulema in Pakhtun society pales in compar-
ison to that of men from the Sufi tradition. As J. Spenser Trimingham gen-
eralizes for all Muslims:

Legalistic religion . . . had little to offer men’s deeper needs. The legal
religion fulfilled a social far more than a spiritual function, and it was
the function of the [Sufi] orders to mediate to the ordinary man the in-
ner aspects of Islam.”

Over the centuries, Sufism evolved from an individual quest for communion
with God into highly institutionalized orders in which tombs (zsarats) and
hereditary saints (pirs) were the focus rather than the mystical discipline it-
self.”® Integral to this transformation was a change in the status of the Sufi
master from merely a spiritually adept teacher to a wa/s (protege of God)
with the ability to mediate between men and the divine. Once this oc-
curred, as Trimingham observes, saint veneration became a central part of
the Islamic mystic tradition.”” Pakhtuns were affected by these develop-
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ments as much as other Muslims. Thus, while there continued to be numer-
ous individual mystical seekers in the Frontier on the eve of British rule and
silstlahs devoted to the propagation of the sariga (codified rules of Sufism)
remained influential, Sufism, and even Islam itself, was represented for the
most part by psrs and z1arats. Moreover, as will be seen, it was the pirs who
were best situated to fill the special political roles reserved for religious men
in their society.

Like other Muslims, Pakhtuns believed not only that an individual can
acquire holiness but also that his powers will pass to his descendants. This
has led to the emergence of ‘‘saintly’’ lineages in the Frontier. Members of
one such group, the Sayyids, are regarded as descendants of the Prophet
Muhammad. The rest are subsumed under the label of astanadar, which lit-
erally means ‘“‘one possessing a place.”””® There are four main types in the
Frontier— Pirs, Mians, Akhundzadas, and Sahibzadas—with “‘pir’ often
being generically used for them all. As a rule, Pirs are of Pakhtun extraction,
while Mians are not; Akhundzadas are descendents of learned scholars and
Sahibzadas of saintly mullaks.” Not all astanadars were regarded as saints in
the Frontier, nor was it necessary to be one to acquire a reputation for sain-
tliness. Holiness in Islam must be proven through the display of spiritual
qualities, even by descendants of an acknowledged saint. Many individuals
who were neither Sayyid nor astanadar showed those characteristics, while
most members of ‘‘saintly’’ lineages were not saints at all, for they had aban-
doned all religious pretensions and become indistinguishable in all but
name from the Pakhtuns among whom they lived.

Thus, among all the men with names indicating a religious heritage, the
number who were actual psrs was quite small. Their authority derived, in
the first instance, from their inheritance of a special relationship with God
and spiritual powers, or baraka. While all descendants of a holy man poten-
tially had some special spiritual merit, his full sanctity and power passed
down through the line of persons who succeeded him as the sajada nishin.”
On the basis of his reputation, a saffada nishin attracted a following, the core
of which consisted of murids (disciples) who took darat, a formal vow of spir-
itual allegiance. An inner circle of murids withdrew from the world to devote
themselves to spiritual pursuits under the psr's tutelage. A much larger num-
ber remained lay affiliates—members who had a formal but less exacting
association with their spiritual preceptor.®’ A pir provided his murids with
guidance, advised them on their personal lives, and was expected to use his
mystical powers for their betterment. Murids gave their pir their complete
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obedience in return, following his instructions implicitly out of a faith in his
sanctity. Pakhtuns recognized the exalted position accorded to pirs in many
of their proverbs. One adage relates, ‘“Though a straw, the pir is still suffi-
cient for his disciple,” while another states, ‘“Though the pir himself does
not fly, his disciples would have him fly.”*

Beyond the limits of his formal disciples, a pir’s influence extended over
all those who came to his ancestor’s z1arat in search of worldly favors or sal-
vation. A zsarat attracted regular devotees from its surrounding region, but
the full extent of its appeal was evident only with the annual #7s ceremony
commemorating the death of the saint. On that occasion, pilgrims were
drawn from a much greater distance. Many, if not most, of these people were
not the pir’s formal disciples but showed him reverence as the living repre-
sentative of his ancestor. Finally, beyond those pilgrims, a psr could poten-
tially exercise influence wherever he was known. His character and sup-
posed powers generated deference and awe, and led Pakhtuns along with
other Muslims to treat his opinions with respect.

Along with their aura of sanctity, the position of p¢7s in the Frontier rested
upon their possession of an economic base which made them independent
of Pakhtuns. Their murids gave them money and other presents, as did peo-
ple who sought their spiritual intercession. As the keepers of their ancestors’
shrines, they profited from the offerings people made at them in hope of ac-
quiring merit or personal boons.® Additionally, hereditary religious men
owned land. Pakhtuns deeded them property out of piety, in return for their
services as mediators, and to separate feuding lineages. Their land, known
as serv, was held permanently instead of being subject to the wesh. In some
instances, it was substantial in size and dispersed over a wide area. Land
not only vastly increased their wealth; it also provided them, as Barth dis-
cusses, with economic dependents and made them a potential force in the
Pakhtuns’ tribal affairs.®*

Charismatic spiritual leaders played two unique, vet essential, roles in
Pakhtun society. First, they served as mediators, men to whom Pakhtuns
turned to compromise their disputes.® More dramatically, they assumed su-
preme political authority in situations which required Pakhtuns to sub-
merge their differences and act for their common good. Some mullaks also
served in this capacity, but those who did projected a strong aura of spirit-
uality as Akbar Ahmed noted in the case of Swat: ‘“These leaders were
not—or no longer—the ordinary every-day village ‘mullah’ but were pos-
sessed men of charisma claiming supernatural powers or having such powers
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attributed to them. ... "%

Provided they were serious enough, external threats to the integrity of
Pakhtun society thrust men of baraka into prominence at the head of unified
resistance by Pakhtuns. Their reputation for righteousness and indifference
to worldly affairs gave them an aura of impartiality so far as the Pakhtuns’
factional quarrels were concerned, making them acceptable as leaders in sit-
uations where tribal chiefs were not. Additionally, their presence infused the
cause with a religious significance which inspired Pakhtuns to rise above
their usual factious selves. Charismatic religious men invariably couched
their calls to arms in Islamic terms. Appeals for ji4ad had a powerful attrac-
tion in their own right, but when issued by men with a special relationship
with God, they acquired what amounted to a divine sanction and even
seemed in some instances to portend the arrival of an Islamic millennium.
Ahmed, for example, writes about one uprising against the British: ‘““The
ground was ripe for charisma and heightened suggestibility made men be-
lieve in extraordinary events and leaders of immense supernatural force.””

This pattern can be found recurring throughout the history of the Pakh-
tuns in the Frontier, even in situations where the enemies were other Pakh-
tuns or Muslims. For example, Lindholm observed that when the ruler of
Dir Valley, who was a Yusafzai himself, invaded Swat Valley, it was usually a
Sufi mendicant who rallied the Swat Yusafzai to drive him out.®*® Similarly,
opposition to the Mughals, from Akbar to Shah Jahan, in the Peshawar re-
gion was organized largely by the charismatic, quasi-heretical leaders of the
Roshaniyya movement.®” In inter-tribal or intra-religious conflicts, leader-
ship did not invariably come from the religious realm, for Pakhtuns could
cooperate on a lineage basis. With the decline of the Durranis, however, the
saintly model became particularly prevalent since the external powers with
whom Pakhtuns had to contend were non-Muslim. Under these circumstan-
ces, it was much easier to appeal to religion, on which unanimity existed,
while downgrading tribal loyalties. The enemy automatically became a
threat to Islam, turning the confrontation into a s74ad in which religious duty
overrode factional enmities. In extreme cases, even the Pakhtuns’ ethnic
exclusiveness was overcome in the interest of Islamic unity. In the 1820s, for
instance, Sayyid Ahmad Barelvi united a number of Pakhtun tribes with his
Indian mujakadin against the Sikhs. Forty vyears later, his followers once
more joined forces with Pakhtuns, this time against the British in the Am-
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bala campaign.”

Given this mechanism, tribal wars during the century of British rule reg-
ularly assumed a religious coloration. Their causes were usually secular, but
since the enemy was Christian, they frequently took on the trappings of holy
wars, with mystics or pfrs at their head. For example, the Abtund of Swat led
the Ambala jikad; the Mad Mullak, Hadda Mullah, and Mullah Sayyid Akbar
instigated the 1897 uprisings; the Hays of Turangzai was prominent in every
major Mohmand conflict after World War I; and the fagsr of Ipi maintained
the banner of resistance in Waziristan from 1936 to independence.”’

Ideally, the power of a charismatic leader was transitory, and he faded away
with the crisis that called him forth. In fact, he often acquired a base of
power during his moment of prominence that allowed him and his family to
play a significant role in tribal affairs after it was over.”’ Even where this was
the case, however, the unity which the religious crusade engendered inevit-
ably disintegrated. Once the crisis ended, and in some cases even before,
parajamba reasserted its divisive influence, or the tribesmen became sus-
picious that the religious leader was using the conflict to consolidate his
power at their expense.” Yet, while the unity disappeared, the memory of
the interlude of cooperation remained to reinforce the tendency for Pakhtuns
to turn to religious intercession and leadership the next time a crisis oc-
curred.

The social system described in this chapter has provided the framework
within which politics in the Frontier have been played out for centuries. Brit-
ish rule produced major modifications, but none so radical as to prevent it
from having a decisive influence on the independence movement. As in the
rest of India, townsmen were the first to espouse nationalist ideas, but they
were disqualified by the NWFP’s urban-rural dichotomy from acting as a
nationalist elite. That role fell to members of the rural Pakhtun gentry. With
leadership of this kind, the general populace did not support either of the
province’s two main political parties purely on the basis of their ideologies
or party programs. People’s choices were shaped by factional considerations
as well, to the point that party and gundi were for all practical purposes in-
distinguishable in many areas. While parajamba structured political align-
ments, Islam eventually overcame the divisions it created. Religious figures
ordinarily played a secondary role in the nationalist movement, but when po-
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litical issues assumed an overriding religious coloration in 1946-47, charis-
matic individuals emerged to perform the same functions psrs and mystics
in the Frontier had for centuries. By appealing to the Pakhtuns’ universalis-
tic religious identity, they temporarily united them internally and with other
Muslims behind the demand for Pakistan.



3

AGRARIAN CHANGE AND THE RISE
OF NATIONALISM

The Pakhtuns’ social organization helped shape the nationalist movement
in two ways. As already suggested, it influenced who supported which po-
litical party and how the balance of power shifted from the Congress to the
Muslim League. Equally important, the manner in which colonial rule af-
fected Pakhtun society provided the impetus for the development of nation-
alism in the first place. On the one hand, political and financial necessity
forced the British to form alliances with members of the Pakhtuns’ Khani
elite in order to govern the province. On the other, they pursued measures
which dramatically altered the lives of the Frontier’s inhabitants. Initially,
these two facets of British policy were not in conflict. In the 20th century,
however, economic and social changes undermined the acceptability of the
allies of the British as leaders in Frontier society. Although the old political
arrangements became outmoded, the British neither broadened their infor-
mal alliance system nor granted political reforms. Their refusal to adjust to
the social changes they had set in motion alienated most Pakhtuns and pro-
duced the nationalist explosion of 1930.

This chapter will focus primarily on Peshawar Valley to show how changes
in the Frontier’s agrarian structure propelled Pakhtuns into the nationalist
movement. The changes experienced by the NWFP as a whole are most
clearly evident in the case of Peshawar since it was exposed most intensely
to the disruptive effects of colonial rule and the market economy. Addition-
ally, organized nationalist activity in the Frontier originated in the Valley.
Thus, to speak of agrarian change as a precursor to the rise of nationalism is
to look first and foremost at Peshawar.

The Khani Alliance System

The British never had the resources to control the North-West Frontier
Province on their own. From the start, they were compelled to construct a
system in which the formal bureaucracy represented only the upper laver of
government. At the local level, they created a quasi-formal extension of their
administration by systematically coopting those men in tribal society with
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influence and power. Through a complex exchange of patronage for support,
the government attached members of the landed elite to their rule and
turned them into instruments for collecting taxes and ensuring peace in the
countryside. In 1916, Sir George Roos-Keppel, the NWFP’s Chief Commis-
sioner, explained how this system initially operated:

During the first seventy-five years of the last century the various au-
thorities—Afghan, Sikh or British—took practically complete control
of the cities but in rural areas there was little or no interference, as the
Pathan system of the government of villages or groups of villages by lo-
cal Khans, supported by landholding elders which the various conquer-
ors found in existence, provided a rough but effective method of admin-
istration. Each Khan and his elders were responsible for the quota of
land revenue due from his area. .. provided that he paid regularly
which most did, there was practically no interference with internal af-
fairs. The administration, policing and development of rural tracts was
left entirely to the Khans, the local Governor confining himself to mak-
ing main roads, etc., more with a view to military necessities than with
any altruistic idea of benefitting the population. . . .

In time, the colonial administration penetrated more deeply into rural soci-
ety, but even as late as 1930, members of the bureaucracy did not regularly
intervene in village affairs. At that level, Anil Seal’s aphorism was still valid:
“It might be the British who governed, but it was the Indians who ruled.”™
There were sound political reasons for this system. British policies accel-
erated the preexisting tendency within Pakhtun society toward economic
differentiation.® Thus, the Khani elite became much more than first among
equals. This powerful landed gentry represented a potent force for stability
or disorder which the government could not afford to ignore. Without the
support of its members, the British hold over the NWFP would have been
tenuous at best, no matter how strong an administration they might have
constructed. By gaining their loyalty, the British ensured that the traditional
sources of power and influence in the region reinforced their government.
Financial necessity also made a virtue out of using rural notables as t!lc
government’s surrogates. Although the formal bureaucracy was not large, its
cost always exceeded the revenues of the Frontier. In the 19th century, the
Punjab government covered the deficit. With the formation of the NWFP in
1901, the Government of India assumed that responsibility. In succeeding
years, the province's dependence on outside funding grew. In the 1901 -0'2
fiscal year, the NWFP had a budget deficit of Rs. 38 lakhs; by 1929-30, 1t
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had risen to Rs. 254 lakhs.*

These financial strictures severely limited the number of employees the
government could hire. This was true even in Peshawar which received more
official attention than any other district. For example, in 1930, the Peshawar
police force supervised 2,611 square miles, containing 974,321 people, and
contended with one of the highest crime rates in India with only 2,318 men.
Out of these, 1,105 were stationed in urban centers, and another 904 were
assigned duties which kept them away from general police work. In other
words, only 399 men dealt with most of the district on a regular basis.’ They
were stationed in twenty-six fanas (police stations) scattered throughout
the Valley, and appeared in most villages only on periodic patrols or when
called for specific reasons. In theory, the authorities could call on the large
army contingents stationed in the district for help. In practice, they were
reluctant to divert soldiers away from their ordinary military duties to civil-
1an tasks for which they were not trained.

The peace-keeping staff demonstrates how thinly the formal bureaucracy
was spread over the NWFP and how dependent it consequently was upon
the assistance of non-officials to perform even its routine functions. Promi-
nent local men helped the police investigate serious crimes, handled minor
matters themselves, adjudicated village quarrels, and in general, bore the
major responsibility for keeping peace in their localities. Their services
were also vital to the collection of the land revenue, the first step of which
consisted of village headmen, or Jambardars, gathering the land tax from the
actual assessees.

Lambardars received 5 percent of their collections for their work. More
generally, the government’s allies received their rewards in the form of pa-
tronage rather than pay. Foremost among the diverse benefits the govern-
ment dispensed were financial rewards given out of the land revenue. The
British either absolved individuals from a portion of their taxes or assigned
them revenue or cash grants. In the first regular revenue settlements, the
amounts disposed of in this way ranged from 27.6 percent in Peshawar to
56.7 percent in Kohat.® The percentage dropped with succeeding settle-
ments, but by 1930, it was still substantial. In the case of Peshawar, some
2,900 men received grants and remissions totalling Rs. 1.45 lakhs.” Govern-
ment officials were quite frank about the political purpose of these meas-
ures. Commenting on Dera Ismail Khan, M.F. O’Dwver, the Revenue Com-
missioner of the Punjab, wrote in 1907 with satisfaction:

4. Report of the North-West Frontier Subjects Commitree, 1931 (Calcutta: Government of India
Central Publications Branch, 1931), p. 18.

5. NWF Province Gazetteer, Peshawar Districe. 1931 (Lahore: Civil and Military Gazette,
1934), Part B, Table 47. (Henceforth, 1931 Gasetteer)

6. Lal Baha, N.-W.F.P Administration Under British Rule, 1901 -1919 (Islamabad: National
Commission on Historical and Cultural Research, 1978), p. 143ff.

7. Computed from 1931 Gaszetteer, Part A, p. 261.



46  Ethnicity, Nationalism, and the Pakhtuns

The liberality shown in the past and the present Settlement in the mat-
ter of assignments has borne good fruit. There is no other district on
the frontier where Government can count on such prompt and willing
assistance both from chiefs and people whether in internal administra-
tion or in the event of transborder complications.”

The provincial authorities also invested their village surrogates with a
panoply of administrative, judicial, and police powers; appointed members
of their families to the provincial bureaucracy; and enhanced their prestige
with titles, such as Ngwab or Khan Bakadur, or lesser honors, such as Aursi
nishini (the right to sit in the presence of a magistrate). They even manipu-
lated the Pakhtuns’ traditional life by restricting the right to erect Aujras
(guest houses), which were the accepted centers of village affairs, to men of
their own choosing.” Finally, they added to the status of those they favored
simply by treating them with deference and making them the mediators be-
tween the state and the general populace.

Through this conscious use of patronage, the British sought to coopt the
NWEP’s notables and give everyone of standing some interest in the colon-
ial regime. As pragmatic administrators, the British did not select their allies
on any a priori basis but dealt with whoever was powerful at the local level.
Since conditions varied from region to region, the background of the privi-
leged Khans varied markedly. A definite pattern only emerges on examining
the Frontier Province on a tribe-by-tribe and village-by-village basis. The
men who were the most heavily patronized tended to have the biggest land-
holdings in their localities, the greatest social status, and initially at least,
the strongest political standing. Many belonged to the senior lineages in
their tribe and clan. Thus, it is possible to generalize that the government’s
allies were the large or senior Khans, provided it is understood that they are
only being compared with Pakhtuns in their immediate vicinity.'’

The Reforms Controversy

Neither the system described above nor the type of men the British chose
as allies were unique to the NWFP. Throughout British India, the govern-
ment had developed the same sort of links to the dominant men in rural so-
ciety. What was distinctive was the Frontier government’s adherence to this
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informal system long after it had been modified elsewhere. While constitu-
tional changes had expanded the level of popular participation in the govern-
ment of other provinces by 1930, no reforms were implemented in the
NWEP before 1929 when, with great reluctance, the government made a mi-
nority of the seats on the Peshawar Municipal Committee elective.
Contrary to nationalist assertions that the government was determined to
keep the province sarzamin be-ain (a land without law), serious considera-
tion was given to changing the province’s political system before 1930. Noth-
ing, however, materialized due to deep-seated British misgivings, simple
government inertia, and the complications of communal politics. Above all,
the Frontier’s strategic location and turbulent history of tribal wars made
popular government seem singularly inappropriate to the British. As the Si-
mon Commission analogized: ‘“The inherent right of a man to smoke a cig-
arette must necessarily be curtailed if he lives in a powder magazine.”" Be-
fore 1930, moreover, policymakers saw little urgency in the reforms issue. In
their estimation, the demand for self-government emanated from a small,
politically ineffectual segment of the urban intelligentsia, who could be eas-
ily controlled. The Khans appeared to retain their political vitality, and the
province’s vast rural majority seemed content to follow their leadership. Fi-
nally, opposition from the Frontier’s Hindu and Sikh minorities had turned
reforms into a communal issue. The minorities’ objections and the authori-
ties’ reluctance fed on one another, making the problem more intractable
with the passage of time. The government pointed to communal antago-
nisms as a reason for denying the NWFP even the most modest form of self-
government afforded to other provinces. This, in turn, encouraged minority
intransigence by implying that they held a veto over constitutional change.
The reforms controversy first developed in the carly 1910s. Most Hindus
and Sikhs had opposed the formation of the NWFP because it cut them off
from the Punjab’s large non-Muslim population. Their experience during
the province’s first decade aggravated their sense of insecurity. Educated
Muslims pressed for a greater share of government jobs which had previously
been a minority preserve; Muslim indebtedness to Hindu moneylenders
generated communal antagonisms; crime rose sharply; and a major com-
munal riot occurred in Peshawar city in March 1910. To escape these condi-
tions, the minorities called for the province’s reunification with the Pun-
jab."* They justified the merger on two grounds. First, Lord Curzon had
called the NWFP an experiment which could be altered if the need arose.
Accordingly, minorities insisted that decreased governmental efficiency and
their own personal insecurity proved that the experiment had failed and

1t. PP, 1929-30. Vol. XI. Cmd. 3589. “‘Report of the Indian Statutory Commission,” Vol.
I1, p. 103.

12. Report of the North-West Frontier Enquiry Committee and Minuses of Dissent by Mr. 1. Ran-
gachariar and Mr N.M. Samarth (Delhi: Government Central Press, 1924), pp. 34-37
{Henceforth, Bray Committee Report).
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should be abandoned. Second, Curzon had assured the province’s inhabi-
tants they would not suffer politically from their new situation, yet the Fron-
tier had been denied any representative institutions under the Morley-Minto
reforms of 1909 while the Punjab had been granted limited self-rule. This,
the minorities claimed, constituted a breach of promise which could be rec-
tified most expeditiously by once more making the NWFP a part of the Pun-
jab.

The minorities’ proposal elicited outright hostility from Pakhtun leaders
who did not wish to be part of a predominantly Punjabi province. It also
failed to win sympathy in official quarters where the province was univer-
sally judged a success. On the contrary, policymakers were debating whether
to give the NWFP a measure of self-government. The deciding voice be-
longed to Chief Commissioner Roos-Keppel who argued against any change
on the grounds that the province was unaffected by the nationalist currents
which made reforms essential elsewhere and that a council was unlikely to
give advice as frankly and honestly as could be obtained through informal
consultations with the Frontier’s leading citizens."> Due to his opposition,
the Montagu-Chelmsford scheme rejected any devolution of power in the
province and held out only the vague promise of an appointed advisory body
at some unspecified future date.

Pakhtun participation in the Hijrat and Khilafat movements drastically
changed the thinking of Roos-Keppel’s successor as Chief Commissioner,
Sir Hamilton Grant. In December 1919, Grant urged the Viceroy to sanction
an advisory council as soon as possible to pacify public opinion. While his
initial request was not approved, he won both the Viceroy’s backing and the
Secretary of State’s tentative approval for a far more meaningful change by
the end of his term of office—a Legislative Council with some elected seats
and powers approximating those conceded to other provinces.'* With these
assurances, he announced on February 28, 1921, shortly before he left the
province, that the NWFP would be given some sort of representative insti-
tutions. '

Grant’s promise was never fulfilled, for he was replaced as Chief Com-
missioner by Sir John Maffey, a hardliner on the question of reforms. Maffey
recognized that political changes had left the government’s position in the
NWFP insecure, but his solution was to reinvigorate its old network of
Khani alliances. On April 4, 1921, he wrote the Foreign Secretary of the
Government of India:

I find absolutely no interest or enthusiasm on the subject [of reforms]
in the people with whom I have discussed the project, and those are

13. PJ9/19. No. 973/R. Notes by Sir George Roos-Keppel, 10/15/20 and 10/25/20.

14. LCP/23. No. 854a. Letter, 12/24/19. Also PJ9/30. No. 1344/21. Letter D.O. 1226-
Public, 3/3/21. For the correspondence on the question of reforms, see PJ9/19.

15. GP/26. Speech at a Provincial Durbar on 2/28/21.
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the people who still count in this province. I daresay if I were to ask the
opinion of the agitators, I might hear something different. But I think
you will agree with me that what I have to do in a Province of this kind
is to maintain the conservative element and to strengthen it. . . . This
province may want reform but to my mind it wants reforming back-
wards, i.¢., in view of the vital strategic and political considerations in-
volved, we ought rather to put back the clock and revive the powers of
the great Khans and Arbabs. In this way the province would fulfill its
role of being a roof to the rest of India and not a constant source of dan-
ger.'®

Maffey’s attitude was not the only reason for the Government of India’s
retreat from reforms. Minority demands for reunification with the Punjab
had increased after World War [ in direct proportion to the possibility of re-
forms. There was very little difference of opinion on the issue within the
Hindu and Sikh communities. Even confirmed nationalists who agitated for
self-rule for India as a whole wished to deny it to the Frontier.'” The minor-
ities were concerned that their economic and cultural interests would suffer
under representative government. In addition, tribal raiding into the dis-
tricts of Bannu and Dera Ismail Khan had reached chronic proportions by
1919 in the wake of an uprising in Waziristan. Over the next three years,
there were 686 raids which created a deep-seated fear among the minorities
over their physical safety.'® They were convinced not only that they were the
tribesmen’s primary targets but also that their Muslim neighbors were con-
spiring with the raiders.

Under these circumstances the minorities reacted sharply to Grant’s pub-
lic assurances of reforms. Even Maffev’s subsequent statement that repre-
sentative institutions were impossible for the foreseeable future did not sat-
isfy them.'® Since the British had not heeded their repeated pleas for
reunification with the Punjab, minority leaders turned to Indian Hindu pol-
iticians for help. The province’s Muslims were forced to counter by calling
on their own coreligionists. Indian politicians, however, did not confine
themselves to the merits of the local controversy. Instead, they complicated
the issue by concentrating on its wider implications and turning it into one
of the total package of issues dividing Muslims and Hindus in India.

On July 21, 1921, Sir P.S. Sivaswami Aiyer introduced a resolution in the
Indian Legislative Assembly proposing the judicial merger of the Punjab
and NWFP and the formation of a committee to determine if total admin-
istrative union should follow.?* The Government responded with an ad Aoc

16. PJ9/30. No. 1344/21. Letter D.O. No. 941-5, 4/4/21.

17. For example, see Frontier Advocate, 10/30/28.

18. PS12/23. File 99.

19. CLAD, 1926. Vol. V11, Part I1I, 3/18/26, p. 2732. Diwan Chand Obhrai, The Evolution
of North-West Frontier Province (Peshawar: The London Book Co., 1938), p. 97

20. CLAD, 1921. Vol. 11, 9/21/21, p. 726.
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committee under Sir Dennys Bray, the Foreign Secretary, which was
charged to consider reforms as well as Aiyer’s proposals. The Indians on the
committee split along communal lines. The English members joined the
Muslims to write a majority report which favored constitutional reforms.
The Hindus argued at great length that the Frontier would be better gov-
erned as part of the Punjab, but no matter how they tried to mask it, their
differences with the majority were obviously communal.?" Bray later re-
called that the committee ‘‘blazed a communal trail from one end of our
Frontier journey to another.””?’ The issue also generated a heated communal
debate, and a straight communal vote, in the Punjab legislature. Alarmed
by the controversy’s divisiveness, the Government of India took refuge in
inaction. It procrastinated until 1925 before announcing it would not merge
the two provinces but simultaneously stated that it did not intend to act upon
the Bray Committee’s recommendations on reforms.?

The dispute, nonetheless, did not fade away. Throughout the 1920s, Mus-
lim politicians continued to treat it as one of the prerequisites for breaking
India’s Hindu-Muslim impasse. The Muslim League passed a resolution in
May 1924 pointing to ‘‘the immediate and paramount necessity of introduc-
ing reforms in the N.W.F. Province and of placing the province in all re-
spects in a position of equality with other major provinces of India."** In
1927, the demand surfaced again as part of the Delhi Proposals which Mu-
hammad Ali Jinnah formulated as a basis for Hindu-Muslim cooperation,
and two years later, it became part of his Fourteen Points.

The Indian National Congress temporized on the question until 1927 Its
leaders sympathized with the Frontier minorities, but they refrained from
saying so since that would have been inconsistent with their constitutional
demands for the rest of India.*® After the appointment of the Parliamentary
Statutory Commission (Simon Commission) in November 1927, party lead-
ers finally came out in favor of reforms as part of their effort to enlist Muslim
support for an Indian statement on the next installment of reforms. The
search for an India-wide consensus foundered over other, irreconcilable dif-
ferences, but the change in the Congress’ attitude toward the Frontier was
permanent.

At the provincial level, Muslims continued to petition for representative
institutions. Frontier authorities periodically explored the idea of elected lo-
cal committees, but regularly drew back, pleading that communal strife

21. Bray Committee Report, p. 22. Also see the minutes of dissent for the Hindus’ position
on reforms.

22. CLAD, 1926. Vol. VII, Part I1, 2/16/26, p. 1326.

23. [bid., 1926. Vol. VII, Part 111, 3/19/26, pp. 2767-68.

24. Syed Sharifuddin Pirzada. ed., Foundations of Pakistan (Karachi: National Publishing
House, 1970), Vol. I, pp. 578 and 580.

25. Interviews with Mian Jafar Shah and Amir Chand Bombwal.
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would follow.* Finally, in November 1929, they made eight of the twenty
seats on the Peshawar Municipal Committee elective and set voter qualifi-
cations at a level enfranchising 4 percent of the city. The fact that the gov-
ernment considered this a generous concession and the maximum allowable
until repeated elections in Peshawar proved that the public had acquired po-
litical maturity is indicative of its general resistance to reforms.?’

Agrarian Change in Peshawar Valley

As the 1930s began, the government still adhered to the policy Sir John
Maffey had laid down a decade earlier: reforms were to be avoided, or at least
postponed as long as possible, and in their place, the government was to rely
on its Khani allies. In many parts of the NWFP, however, agrarian changes
had eroded the social legitimacy of the pro-government Khans and under-
mined their ability to fulfill their end of the imperial bargain. This was es-
pecially true in Peshawar Valley, the heartland of the province. Peshawar ex-
perienced a marked growth in wealth under the British, but prosperity was
not shared equally by all its inhabitants. The benefits of change accrued
mainly to a small privileged elite, within which the larger Khans prospered
the most. Along with their growing wealth, they ceased to act in the manner
expected of Pakhtun leaders. By doing so, they antagonized the other ele-
ments of the Valley’s population —the smaller Khans who were their com-
petitors for power, the smallholding Pakhtun majority, and the lower class
artisans and tenants. Social tensions were already evident by the early 1920s.
With the onset of the international depression, they became acute. In these
circumstances, the long run consequences of Maffey's policies were disas-
trous in that they isolated the government from all but a narrow circle of in-
effectual men and their immediate dependents. while the rest of the popu-
lation extended its opposition to the senior Khans to their British patrons as
well.

Even before the British, Pakhtun society was changing. Thus, the model
presented in Chapter 2 is only an ideal-type to which the various tribes in
Peshawar more or less conformed on the eve of colonial rule. The extent to
which they did had a significant impact on where nationalism first developed
in the Valley. The Mughals, Durranis, and Sikhs had all brought the area
south of the Swat River under their direct authority, primarily because it
contained Peshawar city and the strategically important route to Kabul.
They had been much less intrusive north of the Swat, exercising only a loose
suzerainty over the tribes of the Charsadda, Mardan, and Swabi. This pat-

26. PP, 1929-30. Vol. XI. Cmd. 3568. *‘Report of the Indian Statutory Commission,” Vol.
I, p. 324,
27. 1bid. and P)9/57. Telegram 5-S, 1/1/32.
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tern of political control caused the tribes in the two parts of the Valley to
evolve differently; in particular, it led to a sharp contrast in the status and
power of their leaders. North of the Swat River, Hugh James, a settlement
officer in the 1850s, observed:

[The leaders are] simple patriarchal chiefs with limited powers who
appear to have been nothing more than leaders in war and agents for the
clan in their transaction with their neighbours. . .. The share of the
khan in the hereditary possession of the community was not larger than
that of his brethren, nor his privileges greater than to secure for him the
semblance of a rude chiefship.?

In contrast, among the tribes to the south, he noted:

... much of this independence has been lost by the assistance afforded
to the chief men by government in reducing their clansmen to a subor-
dinate position; they have not, indeed, lost the peculiar characteristics
of the Afghan communities, but these had become fainter; and the will
of the Chief in many cases superseded that of the brotherhood.?”

It was not coincidental that the tribes of Charsadda, Mardan, and Swabi
were the first to espouse the nationalist cause. Since they had come closest
to the egalitarian paradigm of Pakhtun society, the changes which occurred
under the British constituted a more radical departure from their traditions
than for others in the Valley. This was especially so since their sehsils were
the most profoundly affected by the economic changes accompanying colon-
ial rule. Consequently, those tribes were the least willing to accept the lead-
ership of the government’s Khani allies once they ceased to act as proper
chiefs and objected most intensely to the decision to prop up their position
in Pakhtun society.

Agricultural production in Peshawar Valley expanded dramatically under
the British. The total area under cultivation grew from less than 750,000
acres to 847197 in 1929-30.* More importantly, the amount of irrigated
acreage rose sharply with the construction of three major canal systems. The
Kabul River Canal, which was completed in 1907, watered 48,105 acres in
Peshawar and Nowshera Ze4si/s in 1930. The Lower Swat Canal was opened
in 1885 and by 1930, irrigated 161,320 acres in Charsadda and Mardan. The
more ambitious Upper Swat Canal, which was opened in 1914, watered
209,009 acres in 1930—principally in Charsadda and Mardan—and poten-
tially commanded another 110,000 acres.*'

28. Hugh James, Repors on the Settiemenr of the Peshawur District (Lahore: Published by
Authority of the Punjab Government, 1865), p. 103.

29. Ibid., p. 103.

30. Gaxzetteer of the Peshawar District, 1883-84 (Compiled and Published under the author-
ity of the Punjab Government, 1884), Table 2. (Henceforth, /883 Gazetteer). Also 7931 Gasz-
etreer, Part B, Table 1.

31. 193! Gazerteer, Part B, Table 24.



Agrarian Change and the Rise of Nationalism 53

Table 5: Land Usage and Irrigation (in Acres) in Peshawar Valley*:

1868—-69 1929-30 Percent Change
Total cultivated area 750,511 845,197 + 12.62
Irrigated area
Private works 259,676 154,632 —  40.45
Government works - 423,368 -
Total 259,676 578,000 + 122.59
Unirrigated area 490,835 267,197 — 45.56

A comparison of land usage in 1868-69, the carliest year for which statis-
tics are available, and 1929-30 offers a rough measure of the changes pro-
duced by irrigation (see Table 5). Due to the unpredictability of the rains,
any area which was not reached by canals produced, at most, a single crop
each year. Single cropping was also common on a substantial percentage of
privately irrigated fields.*® The government canals, therefore, permitted a
much more systematic and intensive exploitation of the land. Larger areas
were brought under regular cultivation for the first time, and wherever the
government works reached, double cropping became routine.

These developments disproportionately affected Charsadda and Mar-
dan, as Table 6 shows. By 1931, the percentage of their total area which
was irrigated significantly exceeded that in any other seAss/. All told, over
four-fifths of cultivation in Charsadda and over three-fifths in Mardan de-
pended on canal waters. Most of the irrigation was supplied by the Swat
River Canals which transformed the semi-barren Hashtnagar-Yusafzai
plain into rich farmland. They commanded over nine-tenths of the irri-
gated land in Mardan and two-thirds in Charsadda. Swabi was also af-
fected by the expansion of irrigation, although not as dramatically as its
neighbors. The Upper Swat Canal watered about 18 percent of its culti-
vated area in 1931. Additionally, Swabi accounted for two-thirds of the
well irrigation in the Valley.>*

As irrigation spread, hardier and coarser cereals were replaced by higher
quality foodgrains and cash crops. For example, while the acreage devoted
to millets and barley dropped by more than 55 percent between 1873-74 and
1930-31, maize acreage rose by 300 percent, sugarcane by 360 percent, and

32. Compiled from /883 Gaserteer, Table 2 and /931 Gazetteer, Part B, Table 1. Percentages
computed. Government works included District Board Canals.
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lished under the authority of the Punjab Government, 1898), p. 193. (Henceforth, /897 Gas-
elteer)

34. 1931 Gasetteer, Part A, p. 206.
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Table 6: Percentage of Land Irrigated in Peshawar Valley in 1931%

Distrsct  Peshawar Charsadda Mardan Swabi Nowshera

Percent of area irrigated
of total area 28.4 31.4 56.0 38.9 18.7 8.4
of cultivated area 55.4 66.6 80.5 61.8 30.3 32.0

Percent of area irrigated
by government works

of total area 18.7 6.5 37.9 36.6 7.9 6.6
of cultivated area 36.5 13.8 54.4 58.1 17.6 24.9
of irrigated area 66.0 20.5 67.7 93.4 58.1 78.0

tobacco by 289 percent.*® The total area planted with wheat remained rela-
tively constant, but yields increased because an improved variety of seed
which was more vulnerable to fluctuations in water could be used on canal
lands.*” Once again, Charsadda, Mardan and Swabi were affected the most
by these changes. For example, out of 40,743 acres planted with sugarcane
in 1930-31, 52.7 percent were in Charsadda and 21.6 percent in Mardan.
Similarly, out of 10,352 acres of tobacco, Swabi contained 58.6 percent, Mar-
dan 27.3 percent, and Charsadda 11.5 percent.>®

The shift to higher quality crops reflected an expanding production for
market. This trend would not have developed without major improvements
in Peshawar’s transportation system. By 1901, the Valley was crossed by
paved roads and railways which linked its strategic extremities—the Kohat,
Khyber, and Malakand Passes—with its main urban centers and the rest of
India. In the 20th century, these routes were upgraded and supplemented
by a network of roads which connected the major towns and villages in the
Valley. By 1930, Peshawar contained 85 miles of railroad, 270 miles of paved
road, and 732 miles of unpaved road. Only sixty years earlier, it had only had
52 paved miles and 466 rude, unpaved miles of road.”

The Valley had always grown more than its inhabitants consumed. Before
the first government canal was opened, British officials estimated in 1878
that Peshawar had a net export surplus in foodgrains alone of 2.25 lakh
maunds (9,225 tons).*’ In the early years of British rule, most of the surplus
went to the immediately adjoining tribal areas, Hazara, Kohat, and north-
west Punjab. As transportation improved, Peshawar was drawn into a mugh
wider market system governed by world economic forces. The bulk of its
export production continued to be surplus foodgrains, especially wheat and
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maize. Sugarcane and tobacco accounted for a much smaller portion, but in
terms of value per acre, they were the Valley’s most important cash crops.
Vegetables and fruits were a close third. While some of these perishables
were exported (particularly melons), they were mainly grown for local, ur-
ban consumption.*'

In the absence of adequate statistics, the growing agricultural trade can
only be inferred. Beyond the expansion of total output, two measures sug-
gest the magnitude of that growth. First, the Valley’s three main towns—
Peshawar, Nowshera, and Mardan—developed into major agricultural mar-
kets, while many villages, especially those with railroad stations, emerged
as local trading centers. Mardan, for example, became the chief market for
the northern half of the Valley and the adjoining tribal areas after 1900. As a
result, its population grew from only 2,766 in 1881 to 26,279 in 1931.** Sec-
ond, bullock carts, which were used principally for the transport of agricul-
tural commodities from village to market, increased steadily in number un-
til trucks began to replace them in the 1920s. In 1868-69, the government
counted only twenty of them in the district. Their number rose to 4,062 in
1919-20 before falling off to 3,111 in 1931-32. The decline in the 1920’s was
offset by a substantial rise in the number of motor vehicles from 446 in 1919-
20 to 2,697 in 1931-32.%

Commercial agriculture did not promote a broad-based growth in individ-
ual prosperity. By 1930, the Valley contained three identifiable economic
strata: a Khani elite whose members owned a major share of the land but did
not cultivate it themselves; a smallholding yeomanry of Pakhtun owner-cul-
tivators; and a large class of tenants, laborers, and artisans. In part, chance
determined who became wealthy. People with land along the new canals
suddenly found themselves with highly productive property. In some in-
stances, as Louis Dane observed in 1897, the change was so great as to raise
“‘ordinary maliks to the wealth and status of khans.””* Geographic good for-
tune alone, however, cannot account for the stratified society which devel-
oped in the Valley. Colonial policies either directly or indirectly led to the
concentration of land in the hands of the Khani elite.

After annexation, the British caused a revolution in property rights by
climinating the wes# and replacing the concept of a daftar with permanent
rights in specific pieces of land. Ownership was stripped of all ethnic and
tribal restrictions, and in theory at least, land became a freely saleable com-
modity. The immediate practical consequences of these changes were lim-
ited. In the early years of British rule, when subsistence farming was still
widespread, comparatively little property changed hands, and its value
stayed at a relatively low level. Between 1868-69 and 1890-91, for example,

41. NWFP. Bundle 30. S.No. 1009. Misc 2/1. Lettcr No. 282-Revenue.
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the average sales price fluctuated between Rs. 33 and Rs. 36 per acre.®
With the growth of commercial agriculture, however, land became a prized
and actively traded commodity, especially since there were few alternative
investments available. Between the mid-1890s and mid-1920s, 20 percent of
the Valley’s agricultural lands changed hands, and the average sales price
rose to levels that varied from Rs. 171 in Mardan 724ss/ to Rs. 503 in Peshawar
Tehsil.*

The bigger landowners were best able to respond to the opportunities of
commercial agriculture. In addition to having more acreage, they had the
capital needed to grow cash crops. Their greater resources also permitted
them to play the market—to hold produce for higher prices rather than sell-
ing immediately after the harvest and to switch crops in response to fluctua-
tions in prices and demand. Smallholders, in contrast, operated within much
narrower constraints—less land, fewer capital resources, and more urgent
cash needs—which often forced them to sell off their property or contract
debts. Most sales occurred among agriculturists, with the more prosperous,
bigger owners being the most frequent buyers.*” Contrary to the prevailing
stereotype that all moneylenders were Hindu, the large Pakhtun landowners
conducted a substantial portion of the business of lending in Peshawar Val-
ley. It offered them a high return on investment—higher, in fact, than any
other type of business venture—and a means of controlling the agricultural
operations of their clients for their own benefit. It also created the possibility
of acquiring more property at concessionary rates or through foreclosure.

While all of the Valley experienced some economic stratification, British
policies created special conditions in Charsadda and Mardan. Under the tra-
ditional Pakhtun system of land ownership, parts of a tribe’s holdings were
set aside as shamilat for grazing or other common purposes. The British con-
verted these lands into individually owned property during the summary
settlements of the 1850s.*® Wherever traditional shares were clearly deline-
ated, they governed the division. In many areas, however, rights in the sham-
ilat were either vague in character, or the Pakhtuns intentionally obscured
them in an effort to minimize their tax burdens. In those cases, the settle-
ment officers usually assigned ownership to the leading men in the tribe.”
Louis Dane reported in 1897:

The unusually large holdings in Mardan and Charsadda are due to the
fact that enormous areas of waste in those tahsils were recorded as the
property of the leading men. . .. Thus in Charsadda, nearly the whole
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of the Maira Circle except Tangi-Barazi, 4,200 acres of cultivation, is
held by 20 owners and 39 owners hold 31,586 acres or 34 percent in the
Nahri Circle. In Mardan no less than 43,763 in the Maira Circle are
held by four men. . . .*

Initially, this arbitrary division had little significance since the common
lands were of marginal economic value. Thirty years later, however, the
opening of the Lower Swat Canal turned 150,000 acres of wasteland into a
valuable asset to those who had so casually acquired ownership. The gov-
ernment tried to rectify this injustice by redistributing the séamilat, but it
was only partially successful due to the confusion in rights produced by the
lapse of time, the resistance of the Khans who had title, and the govern-
ment’s own reluctance to be too thorough since those Khans were the men
on whom it relied in the countryside.®' Thus, the Khani elites of Charsadda
and Mardan were left with large tracts of productive acreage which were not
theirs by traditional right. They also retained substantial amounts of the for-
mer shamilar which were still unirrigated and barren but which would be
similarly transformed by the Upper Swat Canal thirty years later.

The Swat Canals touched off a speculative boom which furthered the pro-
cess of land concentration.” Shortly before they opened, wealthy Khans
bought up lands which were due to be irrigated at low prices or acquired title
from their weaker neighbors through pressure and fraud. Once the canals
started operating, further transfers occurred as many small owners sold off
part of their holdings to raise the capital to develop the rest. Still others dis-
posed of their property along the canals because it was far from the land they
had traditionally cultivated and they did not feel they could work both.**

By the mid-1920s, the smallholding Pakhtun majorities in both Charsadda
and Mardan were confined mainly to small plots in those areas cultivated
before the British, while the Khani elite dominated the new canal tracts. In
Charsadda, for example, most of the Muhammadzai, the feAsi/s main tribe,
were concentrated in the Sholgirah area. By 1926, 52 percent of the holdings
there were less than ten acres large, and the average had dwindled to three
acres per owner. On the less populated, former shams/at, in contrast, 79 per-
cent of the land irrigated by the Upper Swat Canal and 53 percent by the
Lower Swat Canal was owned in holdings of fifty acres or more.>* All told,

50. Louis Dane, Final Report of the Settlement of Peshawar District, 1898 (Lahore: Civil and
Military Gazette Press, 1898), p. 15.

S1. 1897 Gazerteer, p. 301.
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53. FV. Wylie, Assessment Report of the Charsadda Taksel of the Peshawar Districs (Calcutra:
Government of India Central Publication Branch, 1926), p. 29. (Henceforth, Wylie, Char-
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43.6 percent of the land in Mardan and 50.1 percent in Charsadda was held
in estates of fifty acres or more by 1930.°

The revolution in property holdings had far-reaching social consequencés.
The old economic system had been geared towards maintaining equality
among Pakhtuns and a relatively benign Pakhtun dominance over non-Pakh-
tuns. Under the British, the ethnic distinction between Pakhtun landowner
and non-Pakhtun dependent began to break down, and the patron-client
bond gave way to a more contractual tie between employer and employee.
Among Pakhtuns, wealth and government support replaced personal char-
acter and attentiveness to social obligations as the basis of prestige and
power. All three changes, and the resulting social tensions, were strongest
where the large Khans were involved, for they departed the most from the
ideal of a Pakhtun chief.

Peshawar’s population grew steadily under the British. From an estimated
450,099 residents in 1855, it expanded to 592,674 by the first census in 188],
788,707 in 1901, and 974,321 in 1931.°° Percentage-wise, Peshawar Tehsi/
grew the least since it was already densely populated before the British.
Mardan and Charsadda grew the most under the dramatic impact of the Swat
River Canals.”” While a natural increase contributed to the growth, the
greater part resulted from immigration, with the adjacent tribal territory
providing the single largest source of migrants.>®* Mohmands, and to a lesser
extent tribesmen from Bajaur and Afghanistan, descended from their bar-
ren, mountain homes in large numbers to settle as tenants and laborers, par-
ticularly in Charsadda and Mardan where they formed the bulk of the pop-
ulation working the new canal tracts,

These tribal migrants injected a new element into class relations in Pesha-
war. Previously, most of the lower classes had been non-Pakhtun. With few,
if any, horizontal ties, their loyalties and attachments were oriented vertically
on an individual patron-client basis toward members of the Pakhtun elite.
Some Pakhtuns had been absorbed into the lower classes, but in their case,
movement had been individual, with the person involved losing his rights
and status as a Pakhtun once he lost his land. Stripped of his former social
connections, he had no choice but to conform to the pattern of dependency
expected of non-Pakhtuns. For the Mohmands, in contrast, movement was
collective rather than individual and essentially spatial rather than social.

55. Computed for iid., pp. 3 and 50; and F.V. Wylie, Assessment Report of the Mardan Tah-
sil of the Peshawar District (Calcutta: Government of India Central Publication Branch, 1926),
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They retained their distinctive tribal identity, cohesion, and organization for
acting jointly. They could count upon support from their tribal kinsmen
back in the hills and could return in the last resort to their ancestral homes
rather than submit to treatment they regarded as demeaning.

These factors gave the Mohmands an independence vis-a-vis their land-
lords which other tenants and artisans lacked and led to tensions wherever
they settled. In part, the conflict simply reflected tribal animosities be-
tween the Mohmands and the dominant tribes among which they resided.
Also, while the Mohmands retained the egalitarian outlook so characteristic
of Pakhtuns, they were confronted with landlords who treated them as in-
feriors. As F.V. Wylie explained:

The Khans are . . . inclined to look upon a tenant as a kamin—after the
old hamsayah tradition—and try to exact small degrading services from
him which the Mohmand as free Pakhtuns of full status refuse to ren-
der. The tenants by way of retaliation indulge in wholesale dishonesty
at the division of the crop.*®

More fundamentally, the Mohmands wanted to own the land they worked
not only for its economic benefits but also because ownership was essential
for validating their claim to recognition as Pakhtuns. Rather than purchase
property, they commonly tried to undermine the rights of their landlords by
paying as little rent as possible and seizing de facto control of the land. The
resulting conflict was exacerbated by the tendency of many landowners to
view their property in strictly economic terms. In other words, at the very
time the Mohmands were trying to minimize their rents, their landlords
were seeking to maximize their return from their property with the least
personal involvement in the agricultural process.*

The attitude of the Mohmands’ landlords was reflective of a more general
change in class relations. The patron-client bond of pre-British times began
to unravel into a more impersonal economic connection devoid of the social
services landlords had once provided their dependents. As the old system of
rural relations broke down, the underlying resentments of the less privileged
surfaced, for there was little to ameliorate the exploited nature of their po-
sition without the paternalistic concern their landlords had once shown. Ne-
cessity perpetuated their dependence on their landlords, but to the degree
that the relationship came to be defined by economic criteria, it lost its le-
gitimacy in the eyes of the lower classes.

This trend was most pronounced in Charsadda and Mardan, especially on
the estates of the large Khans. By 1926, 70 percent of Charsadda and 52 per-
cent of Mardan were farmed by tenants-at-will subject to whatever terms the
landlord wished to exact.®' A growing proportion paid fixed cash rents which
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imposed all the risks of crop failure and fluctuating market prices on their
shoulders. In Charsadda, only 5 percent of the land was let out on cash terms
in 1896; in 1926, the figure had risen to 27 percent. While the increase was
not as steep in Mardan, 16 percent of the feAss/ was cultivated on cash rents
by 1926.% Cash rents went hand in hand with a system of leasing which be-
came prevalent in the new canal areas. Leasing permitted the landlord to
derive a constant and usually high income from his estate while shifting re-
sponsibility for its management to middlemen and freeing himself from all
non-economic obligations to his tenants.®* Landowners also moved toward
an impersonal economic relationship with artisans and laborers. F. V. Wylie
wrote in 1926: ‘“Times are changing and status is yielding place to contract
in the village economy—cash wages being much more commonly paid than
was formerly the case.”®® The benefits of the wage system to the landowners
were similar to those of cash rents. They were fixed, usually at a rate advan-
tageous to the employer, and specific, obligating him to no more than the
agreed upon sum, as opposed to the open-ended responsibilities of a patron.

By the 1920s, the class tensions spawned by these changes were evident
to government officials. As Peshawar’s Collector in 1926, Olaf Caroe wrote:

Though there are faults on both sides, the chief fault is probably to be
found in the owners, and particularly with the large owners, who lease
their lands on cash rents in order to avoid all trouble. The great preval-
ance of leases is a very distinguishing feature of the Shah Nahri [gov-
ernment irrigated] areas of the Peshawar District. . .. It is one of the
reasons why big owners have become rent-receivers and why tenants
finding the cash demand too heavy return again to the hills. Italso inev-
itably introduces the middleman. It removes the owners from all im-
mediate personal interest in cropping and improvements and thus
weakens their control and influence. It is a contributing cause to the dif-
ficulty experienced in realising Government dues.®

Not all landowners had tenant trouble. Smaller Khans faced some lower class
discontent, but they continued to act sufficiently like patrons to prevent 2
rupture. As Caroe suggested, it was the larger Khans, and especially those
in the new canal tracts, who had the most serious problems. By ceasing to
fulfill the paternalistic duties expected of patrons, the large Khans turned
their tenants and artisans into a disaffected pool of potential recruits for any
opposition to their authority. In Charsadda, Mardan, and, to a lesser degree,
Swabi, the lower classes tended to shift their allegiance to the factions of the
smaller Khans. Thus, when those men joined the Khudai Khidmatgars for
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reasons of their own, they brought most of the three ze#si/s’ tenants and ar-
tisans into the nationalist movement with them.

The large Khans’ relations with other Pakhtun landowners—both the
smallholding majority and the junior members of the Khani elite—also de-
generated as they ceased to act in the manner expected of them and thereby
lost the respect normally given a Pakhtun chief. The change is captured in
one of the many derogatory names used to describe them, Dode Bacha,
which suggests someone who willingly sacrifices his honor to pursue a life of
material well-being by disregarding the Pakhtun social code.* Instead of
cultivating a following in the traditional manner, the large Khans depended
on their ability to buy or coerce support and upon the deference they re-
ceived from acting as intermediaries for the government. Unul 1930, these
proved sufficient to maintain their leadership in Pakhtun society but at the
cost of generating pervasive resentment which ultimately found an outlet in
the Khudai Khidmatgar movement.

The nationalist movement also fed upon the discontent arising from the
weakening of community institutions and the strong social cohesion they
had once engendered. For example, the importance of the Pakhtuns’ lineage
hierarchy declined as colonial rule usurped many of its former functions.
Land was no longer distributed on a kinship basis, and as has already been
shown, the principle of economic equality receded into a utopian ideal.
While the British eliminated clan ownership of zappas, they had permitted
joint ownership of specific estates by small tribal brotherhoods to continue.
The trend, however, was for cosharing tenures to give way to outright indi-
vidual possession. In 1878, less than a fifth of all holdings were bkatackara
tenures—the mark of individual property rights. In 1931, the figure had
risen to almost three-fourths.®” Once more, Charsadda and Mardan led the
way among the Valley’s five tehsils.

Even residency patterns changed under the British. Before 1849, villages
were organized by descent groups, with the members of a #4¢/ living in the
same ward. After annexation, many Pakhtuns spread out from their original
settlements to new hamlets or to individual residences near their lands. The
Khani elite took the lead in this process, especially in the new canal tracts.*®
As population dispersed, the social bond maintained by residential proxim-
ity loosened; descent groups declined in importance; and the Khans were
able to reduce the social pressures they faced by geographically distancing
themselves from their fellow tribesmen.

For the small landholder, the disintegration of his community institutions
and the change in Khani behavior meant a loss of standing in tribal affairs.
Before the British, when personal character counted for more than economic
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standing and when community affairs were decided in jirga (council) where
everyone had an equal say, there was greater scope for the individual Pakh-
tun to exercise political and social influence. After annexation, economic
differentiation and government intervention vastly increased the power of
the Khans and altered the very basis on which social influence rested, all at
the expense of the small landholders. This reinforced the economic griev-
ance which they felt on seeing the land and wealth of the Khani elite expand
while their own resources were squeezed by population pressure, land frag-
mentation, credit problems, and the uncertainties of the market economy.

For the junior Khans, the situation was more complex. They profited from
colonial rule almost as much as their rivals, and many became enormously
wealthy by local standards. Despite these similarities, they conformed more
closely to traditional Khani norms than their rivals. As the large Khans with-
drew from their traditional role, they left a void which the smaller Khans
were happy to fill. By behaving like a Khan should, those men acquired le-
gitimacy in the eyes of the smallholding Pakhtuns and lower classes. This
augmented their prestige, offset their rivals’ economic advantages and gov-
ernment patronage, and allowed them to build strong factional followings.
By the 1920s, the smaller Khans were the most dynamic political force in the
Peshawar countryside. They were prevented, however, from capitalizing on
their greater effectiveness by the government’s determination to maintain
their rivals as the dominant rural elite. That policy, more than anything else,
alienated them from British rule. It froze a polity formerly characterized by
fluidity into a mold where government anointment rather than personal ca-
pacity was the key to social leadership. This left the smaller Khans with no
option but to seek outside support to overcome their rivals’ government sup-
port. They turned to the Khudai Khidmatgar movement, for its demand for
immediate independence offered the possibility of eliminating the one re-
maining impediment in the way of their becoming the dominant figures in
Pakhtun society.®’

Social tensions were already evident in Peshawar Valley by the early 1920s,
but official support for the large Khans and the generally low level of political
activity after the collapse of the Khilafat movement bought another decade
of tranquility. At the end of the 1920s, however, the conflicts which had been
brewing below Peshawar’s surface calm came to a boil. The ensuing political
eruption resulted in part from the acceleration during the decade of the
changes already discussed in this chapter. Additionally, the Valley was hard
hit by the world economic crisis, crop failures, and a new land revenue set-
tlement. The combination created a general atmosphere of unrest which
made Peshawar a fertile area for nationalist efforts.

Having been drawn deeply into the world market economy, the Valley was
hurt badly by the international depression. Commodity prices dropped pre-
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cipitously, and export markets for agricultural crops shrank. For example,
wheat, which had commanded as much as Rs. 5/8/- per maund early in the
1920s, sold for Rs. 3/10/- in 1929 and only Rs. 2/-/- the next year. Similarly,
maize fell from a high of Rs. 4/12/- per maund to Rs. 1/4/- and gur from Rs.
8/1/- to Rs. 5/13/-.”° Land values plummeted in tandem with produce
prices,”’ and a credit squeeze which had begun in 1922 with the extension
of the Punjab Land Alienation Act to the district became acute. By forbid-
ding the transfer of property from agriculturists to non-agriculturists, that
act had rendered land worthless to Hindu and Sikh moneylenders as collat-
eral. As a result, loans became less attainable; interest rates rose; and in-
debtedness increased. The depression constricted credit even further by
drastically reducing the capital agricultural lenders could devote to money-
lending and by making land, the one asset farmers could use as collateral,
less valuable.’

Even with the exorbitant rates which resulted from the credit squeeze,
cultivators in the Valley had no choice but to contract more debt since the
falling prices did not give a return sufficient to cover their expenses.” This
was particularly true of those heavily committed to cash crops which in-
volved higher production costs. Many smallholders did not survive this cri-
sis. Landlords were also hurt, but the situation was not critical for most of
them since they found it easier to obtain more credit. Additionally, many
shifted part of their problems to the lower classes by pressing their tenants
for full payment of fixed rents, reducing wages to their artisans and laborers,
and even more ruthlessly eliminating the services they had once provided
their dependents.” Not all Khans behaved in this manner. Those who re-
acted most aggressively to the depression tended to be the men who had
moved the furthest from the ideal-type of a Khan—in short, the larger land-
lords on whom the British relied. By doing so, they increased the animositics
the lower classes felt toward them and accelerated the erosion in their tribal
influence.

As if man-made problems were not enough, Peshawar was beset by cli-
matic misfortunes in the late 1920s.”* The winter raés wheat crop of 1928 was
off 31 percent due to poor rains. The next summer, excessive rain and flood-
ing hurt the sugarcane and cotton crops. The rains faltered once more in
September 1929, causing a serious reduction in agricultural output. Char-
sadda and Mardan were especially hurt by poor sugarcane crops. The de-
cline in output, coupled with a fall in gur prices, had serious economic im-
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plications. As the Charsadda 7é4ss/dar warned: *‘In this Ilaga land revenue
and other expenses are defrayed from the income of ‘Gur’.”’’®

Unfortunately for the British, the onset of the depression coincided with
a new revenue settlement which revised the tax rate upward by an average
of 22 percent.”” Charsadda, Mardan, and Swabi were singled out for the larg-
est increases. Their assessments rose 30, 28, and 24 percent respectively,
while the tax burden in Peshawar and Nowshera 74si/s was raised only 16 and
11 percent respectively.”® Even without the economic collapse, the revenue
enhancement would have been ill-received in the Valley which had a long
history of tax resistance.”” In 1928-29, for example, only 81 percent of Pesh-
awar’s revenue was collected; in contrast, over 97 percent was realized in the
rest of the province. That year, the district accounted for 97 percent of the
NWEFP’s total arrears and three-fourths of all coercive measures taken to
force payment.®

During the prosperity that prevailed before 1929, British officials had in-
sisted that the poor revenue collections did not reflect an inability to pay.”
Even after the economic crisis began, they saw no reason to change their
opinion until the civil disobedience campaign made revenue remissions po-
litically expedient.®” The tax hike proved particularly damaging to their au-
thority, for it channelled the general malaise produced by the depression
into a concrete, understandable grievance against a little-loved target. Their
adamant rejection of any modification in the increase, in turn, increased the
receptiveness of the rural population to the nationalist rhetoric and made an
already unsettled political situation much more volatile.
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EARLY NATIONALISM AND THE
CIVIL DISOBEDIENCE CAMPAIGN
OF 1930

Historians and politicians alike often use precise dates to impose order on
events which are complex and drawn out. Such is the case with the indepen-
dence movement in the North-West Frontier Province which is often said to
have started with the Peshawar riots of April 23, 1930. By that date, Frontier
politics had already undergone a long historical evolution which shaped the
province's involvement in Indian nationalism. Before 1930, political activ-
ism was confined primarily to Peshawar Valley, and interest in all-India is-
sues, such as the Rowlatt agitation or Khilafat movement, was limited
mainly to the nationalists in Peshawar city. The rural activists, who were
young men from the zeAsi/ of Charsadda, concentrated instead upon local eth-
nic concerns and in the process laid the foundations for the eventual emer-
gence of a strong Pakhtun nationalist movement. Their parochial orientation
did not change until the end of the 1920s when issues which touched upon
their Pakhtun interests combined with the influence of Indian nationalism
to prompt them to organize the Khudai Khidmatgars and prepare for civil
disobedience.

The agitation of 1930 was intense and widespread in the NWFP. Its main
center was in Peshawar Valley where the Congress assumed virtual control of
Peshawar city for nine days, while the Khudai Khidmatgars paralyzed the
government over much of the surrounding countryside for more than two
months. The southern district of Bannu was the second major area of nation-
alist resistance. There, a coalition of urban politicians, tribal ma/iés, and
religious leaders sustained the agitation for the better part of four months by
involving an ever-widening number of rural inhabitants.

Civil disobedience caught the provincial authorities by surprise. Their
first line of defense, their Khani allies, was immediately and totally ineffec-
tual in Peshawar and Bannu, thereby demonstrating the fallacies and costs
inherent in Sir John Maffey’s policy of propping up the Khans at the expense
of other elements in Pakhtun society. Contingency plans for coping with the
agitation were lacking, and before they could be developed, the govern-
ment’s problems were compounded by the intervention of tribesmen around
the rim of Peshawar Valley and in Waziristan. It took until the end of the
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summer for the government, with major assistance from the military, to re-
establish its control over both Peshawar and Bannu. While a semblance of
order was henceforth maintained through sheer repression, the intensity of
the agitation forced the authorities to reassess their view of the province's
future. The failure of their Khani allies and the obvious depth of popular
opposition convinced them to reverse their position on reforms and press for
the rapid introduction of democratic institutions in the North-West Frontier
Province.

The Beginnings

In the decade after its creation in 1901, the NWFP began to respond to
the nationalist feelings stirring other parts of India. These embryonic begin-
nings barely disturbed the province’s political calm, but they established
patterns whose influence can be traced forward to when the nationalist
movement emerged in its fully developed form. A segment of the intelli-
gentsia in Peshawar city espoused all-India causes, while some of the landed
elite of Charsadda 72451/ began to organize around regional ethnic issues.

The first Peshawaris to be drawn into nationalist politics were Hindus,
some of whom had attended the Congress’ annual sessions well before the
NWEFP was formed. The Bengal partition propelled a younger generation
into politics.' Some of them returned from the 1906 Calcutta Congress to
organize a Provincial Congress Committee in February 1907. The infant
party was suppressed three months later and its leaders detained. After their
release, they embraced revolutionary ideas and means, although never very
effectively. They were sufficiently innocuous that the government took no
action against them before World War I. The few young Muslims in Pesha-
war city who showed any interest in nationalist politics in the pre-war years
were mostly graduates from Aligarh or colleges in Lahore.? They started a
Frontier Muslim League in 1912 but attracted little public support due to the
opposition of their more conservative elders. The young Muslims were
preoccupied with pan-Islamism and the defense of Turkey. One of their
leaders, Qazi Abdul Wali, even fought for the Sultan in the Balkans. Asa
result, the government suppressed the party at the start of World War I and
either arrested its leaders or forced them to abandon politics.

1. Interview with Amir Chand Bombwal. Also see Frontier Mail, 4/23/67; and Allah
Bakhsh Yusafi, Sarkad aur Jad-o-Jehad-i-Asadi (Lahore: Markazi Urdu Board, 1968), pp. 69-
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2, No. 22, 8/14/73, pp. 2 and 14.
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Fazl-i Wahid, the Hays of Turangzai, was the first major figure in the rural
areas to turn from armed resistance to new political methods.* The descen-
dant of a Muhammadzai pfr, he had moved to the Mohmand tribal area as a
young man and participated in the 1897 tribal wars. After returning to Char-
sadda in 1908, he spent his time trying to convince Pakhtuns to abandon
non-Islamic customs and to settle their disputes according to the Shariak
rather than blood feuds or English law. He also founded a number of mad-
rassaks to impart a purified version of Islam to Pakhtun children. His activ-
ities in Charsadda came to an end in 1915 when he fled to the tribal territory
on the assumption that he was about to be arrested and instigated a succes-
sion of tribal wars against the government.

While the Hayi of Turangzai was a prr in the traditional sense of the term,
he used his spiritual authority in a manner novel for his times. His madras-
sahs served as rudimentary political centers as well as religious bodies. Sim-
ilarly, while he presented his reforms in a traditional religious idiom, he also
began to arouse the Pakhtuns’ ethnic consciousness and touched off a
Pashtu cultural renaissance. One of his murids, Fazl Mahmud Makhfi, in
fact, is considered the founder of Pakhtun nationalist poetry.* Most of the
Hayi’s immediate disciples were religious men, but he also found political
followers among the younger members of the landed Muhammadzai elite of
Charsadda. Foremost among them was Abdul Ghaffar Khan, who later be-
came the central figure in NWFP politics.’

The NWFP was politically quiet during World War I, but in the years that
followed, the province’s apparent isolation from Indian political currents
came to an end. While the province did not respond to Gandhi’s call for a
kartal against the Rowlatt Act, the Punjab disturbances, in the words of Sir
George Roos-Keppel, ‘“‘united all in hatred of British rule.””® By May 1919,
the Indian crises combined with trouble in Afghanistan to produce a volatile
situation in Peshawar. Amsr Amanullah had ascended the Afghan throne in
late February under the suspicion that he had connived in the murder of his
father. To consolidate his authority, he decided to go to war with the British
empire. In preparation, his agents made contact with anti-government
forces in the NWFP. The provincial government reported:

A Committee of Union and Progress was formed in Peshawar City, the
members of which in consultation with the Afghan Postmaster and sub-
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sidized with Afghan money, stirred up all the most violent elements in
the City and despatched emissaries to the surrounding villages to
preach resistance to Government. Efforts were made with some initial
success to promote union between Hindus and Muslims and to estab-
lish panchayats to decide civil and criminal disputes, so the litigants
should abstain from attendance at Government Courts of Law.’

War began on May 4th, but plans for an agitation—a planned uprising in
the words of Roos-Keppel—in Peshawar were forestalled when troops sut-
rounded the city on May 8th. The Afghan agents were seized, and the lead-
ers of the Committee of Union and Progress were arrested and deported to
Rangoon. The success of British arms against the Afghans and martial law
cowed most of rural Peshawar, although people submitted reluctantly ac-
cording to Roos-Keppel:

The agitation of the last month was so skillfully conducted and had so
much money behind it that the whole country is poisoned. .. large
numbers hate us with such bitterness that they would welcome even an
invasion if they saw a chance of getting rid of us.®

Force was used against only a few villages, most notably Utmanzai in Char-
sadda TeAsi/ where Abdul Ghaffar Khan helped organized protest meetings.’

By the time the government lifted martial law at the end of 1919, the Fron-
tier had been embroiled in the Khilafat controversy. Khilafatists in Hazara
stirred up anti-government sentiment in the rural areas of Mansehra ZeAsi/
and the adjoining tribal area until the government jailed their leaders in June
1920.'° A Khilafat Committee was founded in late 1919 in Bannu city and
quickly spread to the surrounding countryside where it won support from
members of the Bannuchi tribal elite."" Its leaders were arrested in March
1920 and again in May 1922, but the party survived throughout the 1920s to
become the core of a broader-based Congress movement in 1930 in the dis-
trict.

While other districts were drawn into the Khilafat agitation, Peshawar was
the main center of activity. By the summer of 1920, the Valley was deeply
affected by the call for a 4ijrat (exodus) from India. Muslim ideologues pos-
tulated that British hostility toward Turkey had turned India into dar u/-karb
(land of war), making it religiously incumbent on Muslims to migrate to a

7. Administration Report of the North-West Frontier Province for 1919-20, p. i. For further in-
formation, see LCP/22.

8. LCP/22. No. 351. Letter, 5/13/19. Roos-Keppel to Lord Chelmsford.

9. LCP/22. No. 542. Telegram 1502-R, 5/30/19. Chief Commissioner to Private Secre-
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10. GP/25. Letter, 9/20/20. Grant to Lord Chelmsford; and Repors on the Adminisiralton
of the Border of the North-West Frontier Province for the Year, 1920-21, p. 3.
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dar ul-salam (land of peace) where Islam could flourish. Due to its close
proximity, Afghanistan became the goal of most of the mukasirs (emigrants).

As the main staging area for their departure, Peshawar Valley received
“the concentrated essence of the Hijrat Movement,” according to Sir Ham-
ilton Grant, Roos-Keppel’s successor as Chief Commissioner.'? He re-

ported:

... hundreds of peasants are flocking daily into Peshawar to join the
emigration, and there 1s a general unrest affecting all classes. One of
the worst signs is that the country people are taking no interest in ag-
riculture. . . . Apart from the Peshawar City, the area most affected is
the Charsadda Sub-Division, particularly the Doaba and Hashtnagar
tracts; two-thirds of the Patwaris in that area have resigned their ap-
pointments . . . and even the wealthy Khans are depressed and dis-

tracted.”

More muhayirs left Peshawar than any other part of India, in part because of
their ethnic affinities with and geographic proximity to the Afghans. The
government estimated that 21,000 people entered Afghanistan by mid-Au-
gust; over 18,000 were from the NWFP, and 13,000 of them were from Pesh-
awar.”* The organizers of the migration consisted mainly of mu//aks and na-
tionalists like Abdul Ghaffar Khan who led one group of mukayirs himself.
Peshawar city politicians, in contrast, confined themselves to providing lo-
gistical support. The migration collapsed in mid-August when Amanullah
refused to accept more Indians for fear thev would disrupt his country. Only
a few of the muhajirs stayed in Afghanistan. Most returned home where they
resumed possession of their former property with the government’s help.
After the Aijrar ended, a new Khilafat Committee was created in Peshawar
city. Factional disputes paralyzed the movement until the end of 1920 when
Indian Khilafat leaders reformed the Provincial Committee with Abdul
Ghaffar Khan as a compromise president.”® The reconstituted party forged
a close working relationship with a new Frontier Congress which was formed
in December 1920. The Khilafat movement found only minimal support in
rural Peshawar, even among Abdul Ghaffar Khan’s associates in Charsadda
who sympathized but kept their distance to ensure government tolerance of
their own activities. Since it was not broadly based, little force was needed
to subdue the movement in Peshawar. Selective arrests, beginning with Ab-
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dul Ghaffar Khan in December 1921, brought its activities to an end and left
it an organization in name only. (Even Abdul Ghaffar Khan severed his ties
with the Khilafatists after his release from prison in 1924 to devote his time
to purely rural, Pakhtun causes.) Interest in the Frontier Congress also
ebbed until it was annexed to the Punjab PCC (Provincial Congress Com-
mittee) in 1923.

Except for Abdul Ghaffar Khan, the Charsadda nationalists were politi-
cally inexperienced youths, rebellious #asharan (young men) of the Muham-
madzai and Mian elite with little standing in the province’s public life.
Nonetheless, they represented the mainstream of Frontier nationalism, for
their Charsadda-based movement evolved into the Khudai Khidmatgars in
1930. In the aftermath of the 4s/rat, the Charsadda activists found an outlet
for their nationalist feelings in social work. They drew their inspiration pri-
marily from the memory of the Hayi of Turangzai, with the all-India non-
cooperation movement providing a secondary impetus. Institutionally, their
movement consisted of a social reform organization, called the Anjuman-1-
Islah-ul-Afaghania (Society for the Reform of the Afghans), and a number of
unaccredited Azad (Free) schools. Their leaders have claimed a network of
branches distributed throughout the province.'® By all indications, however,
their movement was confined largely to Charsadda %4si/. All the anjuman’s
officers were from there as were most of its executive committee. Few of the
men who would later turn the Khudai Khidmatgars into a mass movement in
the rest of Peshawar were associated with the anjuman, while it had virtually
no support at all in the other parts of the province.'’

The Azad schools were, for the most part, ad Aoc bodies which were
strapped for funds, lacked qualified staff, and had no fixed curriculum. Ac-
cording to a 1922 government report, *“. . . no regular scheme of instruction
appears to be followed. Schools open, exist for a few months and then close.
Their pupils have then to shift for themselves. . .. ”'® The exception to this
pattern was the original school in Utmanzai, which was affiliated with Jamia
Millia in Delhi and prepared its pupils for the matriculation exam of the
Punjab University. The main goals of even that Azad school, however, were
to offer instruction in Islam, foster Pashtu culture, and promote a sens¢ of
ethnic self-awareness and pride.

Besides running the Azad schools, the members of the Anjuman-i-Islah-
ul-Afaghania engaged in a wide gamut of activities. Like the Haji of Turang-
zai, they wanted ‘‘to cleanse society of bad customs; to create a real Islamic
love and brotherhood amongst the people; . . . to teach the Pakhtun nation
their responsibility of serving Islam.””'* They placed particular emphasis on
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ending the practice of feuding which they held to be morally debilitating and
the primary impediment to Pakhtun unity. They tried to make trade re-
spectable in Pakhtun eyes and to break the Hindu and Sikh monopoly over
Peshawar’s commerce.’® The anjuman also encouraged the Pashtu revival
started by the Hay: of Turangzai. A host of serious literary figures emerged
out of its ranks, including some who have made major contributions to mod-
ern Pashtu literature.

One of the enduring nationalist myths 1s that the anjuman was a purely
social movement with no political objectives or ambitions. Although they
outwardly concentrated on uplifting Pakhtuns, Abdul Ghaffar Khan and his
associates remained committed political activists. Social reform and politi-
cal action were inseparable in their minds, for they regarded British rule as
the root cause of the economic and social evils plaguing Pakhtun society.
Thus, ending colonial rule remained one of their foremost objectives. For
example, under the original masthead of their journal, Pabhtun, were the
lines: ‘‘Years of a slave in servitude are nothing as compared with a single
hour of freedom spent even in the agonies of death.” The movement’s true
accomplishment, in fact, lay in the political realm. While it failed to purify
Pakhtun society, it nurtured the Pakhtuns’ sense of ethnic nationalism and
provided an incipient organizational structure on which later political parties
would build. The Anjuman-i-1slah-ul-Afaghania disappeared with civil dis-
obedience in 1930, but in a sense, it paved the way for its own demise by
contributing to the Frontier’s political awakening.

Prologue to Civil Disobedience

In November 1928, the Simon Commission visited Peshawar on a fact-
finding mission and brought in its wake a flurry of meetings, deputations,
and processions. The small group of politicians in the Frontier Khilafat
Committee and the Congress conducted a brief, ineffectual protest on the
day of its arrival, but they were alone in their hostility. Evervone else wanted
to register his opinions and demands. Even many Hindu Congressmen who
objected to the commission for all-India reasons cooperated with it to pro-
tect their local interests.?' The province’s senior Khans asked for a legisla-
ture with two-thirds of its members appointed, on the assumption that the
Chief Commissioner would nominate them to those seats. The urban Mus-
lim intelligentsia demanded reforms equal to those of other provinces. Hin-
dus, who saw no means of safeguarding their interests in a democratic sys-
tem, argued against any change from the status quo. Sikhs, who formed only

20. Abdul Khaliq Khaliq, Azads Jang. Silidsli au sa Auridili (Peshawar: Idara-i-1shaat Sar-
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1.75 percent of the province, demanded 25 percent of the seats in any future
legislature.?

The Simon Commission touched off a political reawakening in the North-
West Frontier Province. Since the collapse of the Khilafat movement, public
interest in all-India issues had subsided, and the amount of political organ-
izing had been minimal. In the final two years of the decade, in contrast,
politics acquired a new urgency. Previously dormant groups were mobilized
into the public arena, and efforts at party building resulted in a level of or-
ganization which was minimal by the standards of other provinces but which
placed Frontier politics on a qualitatively different footing from before.
Without this groundwork, the province’s response to civil disobedience in
1930 could not have been as tntense or widespread as it was.

While Frontier politics ran parallel to those in the rest of India, they were
not motivated by identical concerns. Few of the province’s inhabitants were
ready to challenge the government over all-India issues. Frustration over the
lack of self-government proved a powerful argument among the politically
sophisticated intelligentsia, but reforms, like the problem of India’s future,
were not an issue capable of galvanizing the province as a whole. Since the
vast majority of the Frontier’s people were insular in outlook, it took local
grievances to estrange them from the government. The underlying source of
the new political spirit was the tension social and economic change had pro-
duced in the province. Nationalists, like Abdul Ghaffar Khan, capitalized
on the antagonisms Pakhtuns felt toward the senior, pro-government Khans
to win public support. For example, he told audiences that ‘‘they could ex-
pect nothing from the Khans, Arbabs and Zaildars whose only desire was to
shake hands with the Sahib Bahadurs and to secure employment for their
sons.”?* Additionally, the onset of the depression created an atmosphere of
discontent which made people receptive to nationalist propaganda. Beyond
these general stimuli, the Pakhtuns’ political interests were aroused by is-
sues which impinged directly upon their ethnic and religious feelings.

Concurrent with India’s drift toward civil disobedience, Afghanistan
passed through a period of political instability.*® When Shinwari tribesmen
rebelled against Amir Amanullah in November 1928, the army joined the in-
surgents, thereby leaving Kabul undefended. Bacha-i Saqao, a Tajik outlaw,
seized the capital and turned back the amir's attempts to regain his throne.
Amanullah went into exile in May 1929, but his cousin, General Nadir Khan,
captured Kabul in October 1929 with the aid of tribal levies from Waziristan.
While these events had few repercussions in India as a whole, they had a
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profoundly unsettling influence in the Frontier Province. Pakhtuns were
deeply concerned about what happened across the border in a way they were
not about events in India. Afghanistan was still the paramount symbol of
their past glories, political aspirations, and sense of honor as a people. The
Anjuman-1-Islah-ul-Afaghania, for example, used the royal Afghan emblem
on the cover of its journal, Pakkrun, until 1930. Its leaders spoke of Pakhtuns
and Afghans as forming one nation and metaphorically called the Afghan
amir their king. In one article, its general-secretary, Mian Ahmad Shah, ad-
dressed Amanullah:

All Pakhtuns are the children of one set of parents. Anywhere there are
Pakhtuns, they are your brothers. You have to care for them all. . ..
Stretch out your benevolent hand to all of them. You are the shepherd

of these people.”

Nationalists in the Frontier Province turned the crisis in Afghanistan into
a political issue. They started by hinting that the Government of India had
some hand in the revolt and eventually declared that it had “‘fostered and
instigated the rebellion” to replace Amanullah with a more pliant amir.*
When Nadir Khan conquered Kabul, politicians treated his triumph as a
Pakhtun victory over the British. Abdul Akbar Khan, the president of the
Anjuman-i-Islah-ul-Afaghania, wrote in Pakhtun:

Any man with a brain and a heart cannot but be elated by the recent
conquest of Kabul. Every Muslim, every Pakhtun, and even every hu-
man being can have no greater moment of happiness than now when the
Pakhtuns have restored their honor, their lost throne, and their looted
wealth. They have frustrated the evil designs of troublemakers and
criminals with their valor. The Pakhtuns have sacrificed their lives for
this cause. They have revealed to the world that Pakhtuns are a living
nation. They can be proud of the fact that they have preserved their
honor.

Pakhtuns should not take this event as unique and unusual. The Ka-
bul revolution was not an unusual occurrence . . . any king who has dis-
obeyed the British even slightly, who has shown any rebelliousness, or
who has tried to be free from their slavery has been treated like Aman-
ullah Khan. But now the Pakhtuns are aware of the situation and recog-
nize the devilish deceit, cunning, and villainy of the British.”’

Abdul Ghaffar Khan held the conquest up as an inspirational model:

This is an example for you, the Pakhtuns of the Frontier, to abandon
your petty differences, become united and break the shackles of slav-
ery. ... We need to join the war for the freedom of India and rid our-

25. Pakkrun, 7/29. For other examples, see sbid. 8/28, 11/28, and 5/29.
26. FR 4/29(1).
27. Pakhtun, 11/29.
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selves of the shame that an alien nation rides our backs. Then we may

say with pride that we are able to stand shoulder to shoulder with free
: 28

nations.

Provincial politicians tried to aid the Afghans by creating a medical mis-
sion under the auspices of the Red Cresent Society.”” The government re-
luctantly agreed to the idea, but Nadir Khan did not. He turned down the
offer of help, thereby forcing the mission’s cancellation. Although it never
went to Afghanistan, the mission had an important by-product in that the
campaign to create it helped politicize Pakhtuns. More specifically, the
campaign marked a turning point for the Anjuman-i-Islah-ul-Afaghania
whose leaders henceforth devoted themselves to overtly political work. An-
other unintended, but lasting effect of their efforts on behalf of the mission
was to give them valuable contacts throughout the province upon which they
would later draw in preparing for civil disobedience.

While the turmoil in Afghanistan touched on the Pakhtuns’ ethnic sensi-
tivities, the Sarda Act aroused their religious feelings. The act, which was
passed by the Indian Legislative Assembly in September 1929, made it pun-
ishable for anyone to arrange a marriage if the bride was less than fourteen
and the groom less than eighteen.’® The new law encountered a storm of
hostility in the NWFP on the grounds that it infringed upon the sanctity of
the Shariak and violated Muslims’ religious freedom. In addition, it was
falsely alleged to invade the privacy of women by requiring pre-marital med-
ical examinations to ensure compliance with its provisions. Protests against
the Sarda Act brought many more moderate Muslims into alliance with the
province's nationalists in the last months of 1929. Public expressions of re-
sentment diminished in 1930, but the law remained a festering source of dis-
content which the nationalists exploited to rally popular support.

Organizationally, the first step in the province’s political reawakening oc-
curred when the politicians who had gathered in Peshawar to demonstrate
against the Simon Commission formed a Provincial Congress Committee
(PCC) on November 17, 1928.°' Whereas earlier Frontier Congresses had
been Hindu parties, the new PCC was intercommunal. The balance was
best symbolized by its provincial officers. In 1929, its president and vice-
presidents were Muslims, while its general-secretary and treasurer were
Hindus. The next year, a Hindu became president and a Muslim general-
secretary.’ The party was formed from the top down, causing Jawaharlal
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Nehru to complain in July 1928: *“. .. your Provincial Congress Committee
is a superstructure without any basis . . . there is no district Congress Com-
mittee functioning properly.’** It also failed to meet its membership quota
of 2,000, the minimum necessary to secure affiliation with the All-India
Congress Committee (AICC). It claimed to have done so in December 1929,
but the largest number of members for which it submitted substantiation
was only 567

Despite its organizational failings, the Frontier Congress replaced the
Khilafat Committee as the main vehicle for the province’s urban national-
ists. By 1929, the All-India Khilafat Committee had turned into just another
Muslim party whose communal preoccupation did not speak to the needs of
its Frontier adherents. As a result, Khilafatists in Kohat and Bannu trans-
ferred their loyalties to the Congress once district branches were started in
the summer of 1929. Most of the Peshawar Khilafat Committee, including
its senior leaders, maintained dual membership in the two parties but
worked primarily for the Congress. A minority preferred to remain pure Khi-
lafatists, although they too showed a readiness to cooperate with the Frontier
Congress on specific issues.*® One other urban party, the Anjuman-i-Nauja-
wanan-1-Sarkad (Association of the Youths of the Frontier), was started in
February 1929 by a small group of radical Peshawaris. Its stated purpose was
““the organising through the youth of the province of the labourers and peas-
ants against the curse of the capitalists and Imperialism.”*® In spite of its
quasi-Marxian rhetoric, first priority was given to winning independence
through a joint effort with Congress.

The Frontier Congress was an urban party with a little appeal to the prov-
ince’s agrarian Pakhtun majority. Both provincial and all-India Congress
leaders looked to Abdul Ghaffar Khan to help them overcome this limita-
tion.”” While he attended the annual meetings of the Congress in Calcutta
in 1928 and Lahore in 1929 as a member of the All-India Congress Commit-
tee and served as the PCC vice-president in 1928-29, Abdul Ghaffar Khan
did not consider the Congress the appropriate party for Pakhtuns. Instead,
he and his associates created a new organization—the Frontier Za/mo Jirga,
or Afghan Jirga, as it became better known—on September 1, 1929. The
Anjuman-i-Isiah-ul-Afaghania supplied the new party with its officers. Abdul
Abkar Khan was chosen as president and Mian Ahmad Shah as general-sec-
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retary. The party’s goal was succinctly stated to be “‘complete independence
for India,”*® but it gave first priority, as Mian Ahmad Shah later explained,
to representing Pakhtun interests in that cause:

Most people in the villages do not understand the Khilafat and Con-
gress. . . . They think they are tricks and traps of the Indians. For these
reasons, most of our brothers are not part of the Congress and Khilafat.
Having considered the problem, we deemed it essential that we form
our own national party. . . . The Za/mo Jirga is not against the Congress
and Khilafat. It is ready to support them in the cause of freedom. It can
involve people who are beyond the reach of the Congress and Khilafat.

The second reason for the Za/mo Jirga is that our province needs its
own party. The Congress and Khilafat Committee are Indian parties.
Hindus, Sikhs, and Muslims in this province have sacrificed for those
committees. They have given funds and gone to jail, but at the time of
reforms the Frontier was excluded. All our sacrifices were swept away
by the tide of indifference. Now the Viceroy is considering Dominion
Status for India, but we are ignored. The leaders of India exploit us for
their own ends and do not give us any benefits. Yesterday Afghanistan
was in flames. Our Pakhtun brothers were being massacred. We went
door to door for them, but no one in India sent us a penny even though
they have taken thousands from us. Why is this so? It is because we do
not have our own party. We should come together and think about our
own interests. We should stand on our own feet. No one else is going to
help us.”

Shortly after the party’s formation, the Afghan Jirga’s organization was
radically altered by the creation of a quasi-military body of volunteers called
the Khudai Khidmatgars (Servants of God) in November 1929. Sarfaraz
Khan of Utmanzai became their first Sa/ar-i-Azam (Commander-in-Chief).
Abdul Ghaffar Khan later claimed that the Khudai Khidmatgars were meant
to be a social movement but that the British forced them into politics.*’ His
claim may be discounted, for the Afghan Jirga’s orientation was strictly po-
litical and the Khudai Khidmatgar’s formation was part and parcel of its
preparations for a confrontation with the government. By chance, the vol-
unteers adopted a burnt-red color for their uniforms since ordinary white
showed dirt too easily. From this, they acquired the popular name of Suréh
Posk, or Red Shirts, which the British seized upon as proof of their ‘‘Bolshe-
vik” character.*'

Although its organizers conceived of the Afghan Jirga as provincial in
scope, it started, like the Anjuman-i-Isiak-ul-Afaghania, with a strong Char-
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sadda bias. More than fifty of the party’s seventy founders were residents of
that zeAsi/, and most of the others came from the nearby town of Mardan.
The rest of the province had only scattered representation, most of which
consisted of men working or studying in Peshawar rather than in their home
districts.*’ To broaden the party’s base, Abdul Ghaffar Khan, Abdul Akbar
Khan, and Mian Ahmad Shah conducted a series of tours throughout the
province.* In November, they visited the towns and some of the larger vil-
lages in the three southern districts. Over the next four months, they con-
centrated on the rural areas of Peshawar and the adjoining Malakand Tribal
Agency. Then, Abdul Ghaffar Khan embarked on another tour of the south-
ern districts in the company of Congress leaders at the end of March.

These efforts produced a level of political mobilization previously un-
known in the Frontier Province. The Afghan Jirga established a network of
party branches in Charsadda, Mardan, and Swabi 724ss/s by enlisting mem-
bers of the Khani elite as local organizers. In the southern districts, it gained
only scattered adherents, but its leaders did develop a cooperative relation-
ship with the local political organizations. Wherever they went, Abdul Ghaf-
far Khan and his associates coordinated party plans and shared the public
platform with Congress and Khilafat leaders. To symbolize their common
purpose, the Afghan Jirga named three prominent politicians in Kohat and
Bannu to its central council.* The Afghan Jirga also established close ties
with the all-India Congress leadership. At the Lahore Congress in Decem-
ber 1929, Abdul Ghaffar Khan promised to work on behalf of the party and
committed the Afghan Jirga to participating in its civil disobedience cam-
paign.” In the succeeding months, the Congress deferred to him in prepar-
ing for the agitation in the NWFP because of his commanding political rep-
utation and his control of the only rural party in the province.

The Frontier authorities were remarkably complacent in the face of
mounting nationalist activity. Following celebration of the ‘‘Independence
Day” on January 26, 1930, the Chief Commissioner, Sir H. N. Bolton, wrote
the Viceroy that he saw no reason to prosecute Congress leaders and dis-
missed the Khudai Khidmatgars as insignificant.* Three months later, he
was still confidently assuring Lord Irwin on April 19th that “‘the tranquilicy
prevailing here is largely due to the level-headed loyalty of the people of this
province.”*” His administration finally reacted on April 22nd after national-
ists announced that picketing of liquor stores would begin the next day to
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coincide with the arrival of a Congress enquiry committee into the Frontier
Crimes Regulations. The committee was barred from the province, and ar-
rest warrants were issued for eleven city politicians. Nine were seized at
home on the morning of April 23rd, but the other two, Ghulam Rabbani
Sethi and Allah Bakhsh Barqi, had already gone to the Congress office,
thereby setting the stage for the upheaval which made the day a milestone
in the independence movement in the North-West Frontier Province.

Civil Disobedience in Peshawar Valley

As the single most dramatic event in the NWFP’s nationalist history, the
April 231d riots have been the subject of intense controversy. Two investi-
gations in May 1930 provided the basic versions from which all later accounts
begin. Two judges, Shah Muhammad Sulaiman and H. R. Panckridge, in-
vestigated the riots for the government. They aimed for accuracy in recon-
structing the events of April 23rd since the government needed to know what
had happened in order to be prepared for similar occurrences in the future.
The Congress’ enquiry committee, which was chaired by Vithalbhai Patel,
operated under quite different constraints. Its purpose was to rally support
for the civil disobedience campaign by showing that the public had acted
peacefully while the government had been needlessly and intentionally bru-
tal.*® Although less accurate, the Patel Report had a more profound political
impact than the report prepared by Sulaiman and Panckridge. By reinforc-
ing popular beliefs about the riots, it influenced public opinion in favor of
civil disobedience and helped to create heroes, martyrs, myths, and sym-
bols which politicians have exploited ever since 1930.

According to Sulaiman and Panckridge, a hostile crowd prevented the po-
lice from taking Sethi and Barqi to the Kabuli Gate #4ana (police station).
The two men proceeded to the station on their own, accompanied by the
crowd which remained in the surrounding bazar after they went inside. In-
formed that the crowd could not be controlled, the Deputy Commissioner,
H.A.F. Metcalfe, entered the bazar with four armored cars. The vehicles
were met by a barrage of bricks, and a despatch motorcycle rider, who had
accompanied them against orders, was killed. In the turmoil, at least one of
the armored cars ran over people congregated near the #4ana. The crowd set
fire to one car, while mechanical failure disabled a second. Their crews were
assaulted on leaving the vehicle, and Metcalfe was knocked unconscious on
the steps of the #hana. On recovering, he ordered one of the remaining ar-
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mored cars, which had also come under assault, to open fire. The crowd
temporarily dispersed, only to reform and build a barricade from which to
attack the armored car furthest into the bazar. Troops sent to protect the ve-
hicle were themselves attacked and forced to open fire to scatter the crowd
and people on surrounding roof-tops. Sulaiman and Panckridge estimated
crowd casualties at thirty killed and thirty-three wounded, but they con-
ceded that their figures were probably incomplete.*’

The Patel Report disputes almost every detail in the government’s ac-
count. It contends that there was no disturbance outside the Congress office
and that the crowd at the #4ana had started to disperse peacefully when the
armored cars recklessly rushed into the bazar, crushing a dozen people or
more. The motorcyclist died after falling beneath one of the cars, while the
armored car caught fire for unknown reasons; the allegation that the crowd
was responsible was ‘‘an afterthought to serve as a cover for the unjustifiable
firing by the authorities.””** The report conceded that Metcalfe was hit by ““a
piece of stone’’ but charges:

... the Deputy Commissioner had perpetuated a most shocking piece
of inhumanity . . . and he perhaps saw no escape out of it except by giv-
ing the happenings of the 23rd April the form of a serious riot and paint-
ing the crowd in the blackest possible colour.

Regarding the second firing, the report states that the crowd had wanted
only to collect its dead and wounded and, in fact, had agreed to disperse if
the armored cars and troops were removed. When the authorities refused, it
stood its ground non-violently while troops shot and bayonetted people for
four hours. The report puts the known dead for the day at 125 and states that
the actual total was undoubtedly much higher.

While the riots were limited to one locality, their repercussions were
widespread and profound. They pushed the general public in Peshawar city
into open opposition to the government and fueled a movement in the sur-
rounding countryside which paralyzed the administration in three of Pesh-
awar's five tehsils. Along the Peshawar border, tribesmen were induced by
sympathy for the nationalists and the apparent collapse of British authority
to take up arms against the government. The conflict reached such propor-
tions that Lord Irwin wired the Secretary of State in August: *“The whole of
Peshawar District as far as Attock must be considered in [a] state of war.”’*

Troops patrolled the streets of Peshawar on April 24th, but that evening
two platoons of the 2/18th Royal Garhwali Rifles refused to enter the city
“on grounds that they would not fire on their people.”** The Garhwalis dis-
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obedience caused provincial administrators to panic and question the relia-
bility of all Indian soldiers.** They, therefore, withdrew all soldiers from the
city hoping that influential private citizens could pacify its inhabitants in-
stead. The stratagem misfired due to the intense anti-government feelings
aroused by the riots. For the next nine days, the Congress had de facto control
of the city.>® While its volunteers maintained order, apprehended criminals,
and manned the city gates, its leaders used the sudden absence of authority
to expand its organization, proselytize in nearby villages, and correspond
with tribal leaders in search of support. The police, the sole remaining rep-
resentatives of authority in the city, were unable to restrain the party. As the
government admitted, ‘‘in so far as they are functioning at all, [they] are
doing so on sufference.””*®

By first projecting an image of brutality and then of paralysis in the city,
the administration fueled the anti-British campaign in the countryside
where major segments of the populace were already restive and the Afghan
Jirga had a rudimentary organization with which to channel their alienation
into coordinated activity. Civil disobedience began with the arrest of the
leaders of the Afghan Jirga—Abdul Ghaffar Khan, Abdul Akbar Khan,
Mian Ahmad Shah, and Sarfaraz Khan—on April 23rd en route to Peshawar
to investigate reports about the riots. In the evening, the Afghan Jirga’s cen-
tral committee reaffirmed its commitment to civil disobedience, appointed
new officers, and ordered Mian Abdullah Shah and Mian Jafar Shah under-
ground to assume day-to-day direction of the agitation.

Civil disobedience plunged much of Peshawar Valley into turmoil. Volun-
teers paraded daily in military formation; meetings drew audiences as large
as 10,000 people; and liquor and foreign cloth stores were subjected to con-
stant picketing. Sir Steuart Pears, Bolton’s successor as Chief Commis-
sioner, later wrote Lord Irwin:

Peshawar District itself, as far as the Charsadda, Mardan and Swabi

: . o
Tahsils were concerned, was being overrun by bands of ‘red shirts’,
holding meetings everywhere and moving across country to different

centres everyday. . . . Revolutionary cries and seditious speeches were
universal and obviously even the law-abiding part of the population was
being worked up into a ferment....l am afraid that in these

three Tahsils the minor officials of all departments of our civil admin-
istration were terrorised and ceased to function.”’

Government and village officials resigned as a result; revenue collections
stopped; regular police activity ceased; and courts were supplanted by na-
tionalist sirgas.
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The administration’s collapse in Peshawar was as much a function of its
own failures as of popular animosity. The security forces it had on hand were
insufficient to maintain order, and army reinforcements were delayed by the
absence of proper contingency planning. Both the lack of manpower and
planning resulted from the government’s antiquated system for controlling
the province’s rural areas. Civil disobedience exposed the bankruptcy of re-
lying exclusively on the senior Khans after they had lost their social legiti-
macy. As British officials recognized in retrospect, the attempt to “bolster
up the Khans at the expense of everyone else was more responsible than any
other single event for the Red Shirt agitation. . . . ”’*® The decision drove the
lesser Khans, ordinary Pakhtuns, and lower classes, all of whom were antag-
onistic toward the senior Khans, into the nationalist agitation. In turn, civil
disobedience removed the prop on which the senior Khans depended by un-
dermining the government’s authority and thereby left them incapable of
performing the very role for which the British had maintained them at such
a political cost.

Patterns of dominance and subordinance in Pakhtun society carried over
to the nationalist movement. Leadership at all levels came mainly from the
Pakhtun elite, and parajamba determined that it consisted mostly of men
from the junior branches of Khani lineages. The rank-and-file consisted pre-
dominantly of small Pakhtun landholders and members of lower classes. One
government report stated:

The directors of the movement in each tappa and subordinate village
were Pathans. . . . As the executive force to carry out their orders, they
enrolled villagers, many of whom were either landless or ‘kamins’ of the
menial classes, under commanders who were given various ranks from
‘Commander-in-Chief* to ‘Captain.’”

Support from the Khani elite was the key to the success of the movement.
Although Charsadda, Mardan, and Swabi appeared to form a solid “‘red”
belt, the response of their tribes varied according to the extent to which
members of their landed elite joined the Khudai Khidmatgars. In Char-
sadda, for example, the party was strongest in Hashtnagar, the home area of
its Muhammadzai and Mian founders. Its influence dropped off among the
Gigiannis and more so among the Mohmands whose tribal elders served as a
partial brake on the agitation.®® Similarly, in the Baizai area of Mardan, it
drew its strength from the Khattaks due to support from members of the
tribes’ dominant family. In contrast, the Utman Khels and Yusafzais re-
mained comparatively quiet because their leaders abstained from the move-
ment, *'
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Civil disobedience was loosely structured in Peshawar. Some officials
claimed that the Afghan Jirga had a cellular organization based on a com-
munist model.®® In fact, they were reading a sophisticated party structure
into a situation more nearly corresponding to the absence of organization.
Lines of authority quickly became confused as the movement’s rudimentary
infrastructure was inundated by new members. The campaign was con-
ducted largely by the quasi-military Khudai Khidmatgars whose numbers
grew so rapidly that shortly after the agitation began they exceeded those of
their parent organization.® Pears observed:

.. . there were several organisations grouped generally under this (Red
Shirt) name in the Charsadda and other Tahsils. The original organisa-
tion was Abdul Ghaffar’'s ‘Afghan Youth League’. ... Subsequently,
ancillary organisations seem to have sprung up from unspecified
sources; they all correspond to the National Volunteers of Congress, but
they were known by different names, i.e., ‘Khudai Khidmatgaran’ in
Charsadda, ‘Razakaran’ (Volunteers) in Mardan and Swabi and ‘Qaumi
Khidmatgaran’ (Tribal Servants) in Nowshera.**

In fact, the volunteers' development was even more piecemeal than Pears
suggested. While they had been conceived as a centralized force with a mil-
itary chain of command, they emerged as a loose series of semi-independent
village units among which there was only a minimum of integration.

Although civil disobedience was conducted by a local organization, it was
part of the all-India non-cooperation movement. Whereas the Afghan Jirga
had informally coordinated its plans with the Congress prior to April 23rd,
its leaders felt compelled by early May to seek a closer alignment. Congress
leaders had initially been surprised by the intensity of the agitation in Pesh-
awar. Gandhi even disavowed it at first because he thought that non-violence
had not been maintained.*> Any doubts about the Afghan Jirga’s overtures,
however, were quickly lost, for the Congress position was enhanced in its
campaign against the government by the strong participation of the strate-
gically located and overwhelmingly Muslim populace of the Frontier.

Khudai Khidmatgar leaders have represented their affiliation with the
Congress as a desperate necessity forced on them by Indian Muslims. Abdul
Ghaffar Khan has told one biographer:

While we were kept in jail, the tyrannical Government indulged in in-
human oppression. Mian Jafar Shah and Abdullah Shah who had come
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for an interview and had acquainted us with the situation in the Frontier
Province, were requested to visit Lahore, Delhi and Simla, to inform
the Muslim League leaders about the people’s plight and seck their
help in at least acquainting the outside world with the situation in the
Frontier. In a couple of months they came again for an interview with
us. They told us that the Muslim League leaders did not want to help
us because we resisted the British. They were not prepared o oppose
the Britishers, they wanted to fight the Hindus. We had not joined the
Congress till then. As a drowning man tries to catch hold of any straw —
being thwarted by the Muslim League—we requested the two col-
leagues to seek help from the National Congress.*

This explanation grew out of the party’s later political need to neutralize
allegations that it had sold out to the Hindus. In the context of 1930, it would
have been highly incongruous for the party to turn first to the Muslim partes
for help. While the Afghan Jirga and Congress had similar political goals and
a history of cooperation, the Muslim parties were weak and fragmented, ob-
jected to immediate independence, and condemned civil disobedience. In
fact, according to Mian Abdullah Shah and Mian Jafar Shah, their only con-
tact with their jailed colleagues occurred in mid-May. During secret meet-
ings in the Gujrat jail in the Punjab, the need for some form of link to the
Congress was treated as a foregone conclusion, with the discussion focusing
on the terms to be sought. The envoys then went to Allahabad to negotiate
the alliance. Neither consulted with Muslim politicians until after the pact
was signed.®’

The alliance provided that the Afghan Jirga would act under the Congress’
general direction while retaining its separate identity. Its relationship to the
Frontier Congress was left unclear, but the Congress leaders agreed in prin-
ciple to give it overall responsibility for the movement in the NWFP. They
also promised the Afghan Jirga immediate financial aid, assured it that they
would not enter into a separate agreement with the government, and
pledged themselves to fight for the NWFP’s right to equal status with other
Indian provinces in all future reforms.®®

By the time the Congress-Afghan Jirga alliance was signed, the situation
in Peshawar had been complicated by still another factor—unrest in the
neighboring tribal areas. Civil disobedience aroused the tribesmen’s sym-
pathies for their ethnic kinsmen in the Valley, adding one more grievance to
their already long list against the government.*® The economic depression,
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the civil war in Afghanistan, and the Sarda Act had left them in a state of
unrest. Each tribe also harbored its own grudges against the authorities.
Some Afndis, for example, were dissatisfied with the government-imposed
settlement of a Shia-Sunni conflict in the Tirah, while the Upper and Lower
Mohmand clans were embroiled in an on-going feud over the latter’s govern-
ment subsidies. Finally, the initial success of civil disobedience spawned
wild reports that the British were about to abandon the NWFP and even
leave India. Many tribesmen were eager to capitalize on the situation to set-
tle old scores with the government and engage in a little looting besides.

Despite their protests to the contrary, provincial politicians played upon
the tribesmen’s sympathies, grievances, and avarice in an effort to draw
them into the conflict.” The first to heed the nationalists’ call was the Hajs
of Turangzai, who brought a /asAkar (tribal army) of Upper Mohmands down
to the edge of Peshawar District at the end of April. Other tribesmen around
Peshawar were slower to react, but by May, intelligence reports pointed to
the probability of trouble in Bajaur to the northwest and, more ominously,
among the Afridis to the west.”’

Thus, the provincial authorities were simultaneously confronted by the
first of May with grave challenges on three fronts—Peshawar city, rural
Peshawar, and the adjoining tribal areas. Compounding the crisis, Bolton
suffered a nervous breakdown and left the province on April 30th.” Pears,
his replacement, did not reach the province until May 10th. In the interim,
Courtney Latimer, the Revenue Commissioner, acted in his place, with as-
sistance from Sir Evelyn Howell, the Indian Government’s Foreign Secre-
tary, whom Lord Irwin had sent to Peshawar on April 29th.

Latimer acted first to bring Peshawar city, the seat of government, under
control.”® The Congress was declared illegal on May 3rd. The following
morning, troops sealed off the city, reoccupied it in force, imposed severe
curbs on all activity for twenty-four hours, and arrested Congress activists.
This overpowering show of force ended most overt signs of political resist-
ance. Meetings and demonstrations were no longer staged, and the public
appeared to revert to its normal preoccupations. Popular resentment, how-
ever, flared into the open again on May 31st when an English soldier acci-
dentally killed two Sikh children and wounded their mother.”* Although he
was summarily tried and sentenced to placate public opinion, the children’s
funeral procession turned into a political demonstration which clashed with
troops. Unlike the April 23rd riots, these disturbances had no further reper-
cussions, for security was too tight and the nationalists’ forces too depleted
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after a month of repression. Peshawar thereafter remained quiet, with the
exception of sporadic picketing in the fall, thereby allowing the authorities
to withdraw all soldiers from the city by July.

While Peshawar city was comparatively quiet after May 4th, the govern-
ment’s peacekeeping force was too small to end the agitation in the country-
side. Moreover, its intelligence system no longer functioned. Until military
and additional police units were deployed, the agitation could not be con-
tained, and until its intelligence network was reactivated, the government
did not know how to use the forces it had on hand. The necessity of oper-
ating in strength was driven home once more in Mardan 7é4ss/ on May 30th.”
A crowd interfered with the arrest of the Afghan Jirga leaders in the village
of Takar and then accompanied them toward the 7451/ headquarters. A small
party of police and troops stopped it at the village of Gujar Garhi but could
not disperse it without using force. In the ensuing melee, an English police
officer was killed. Three days later, police and troops surrounded Takar;
fighting broke out; and several villagers were killed.

During May, 1,222 Additional Police were recruited, and another 100
mounted men were obtained on loan from the Wz/f of Swat. But, as Pears
later observed, he ‘‘could not have done anything with civil force alone, even
if they had been five times as numerous as they were.”’® Preoccupied with
tribal hostilities, the military could not transfer sufficient units to civil duty
until June. While waiting for reinforcements, Pears concentrated his re-
sources on the worst trouble spots.”” Military units were despatched to the
Shabqadar border region to deal with the Mohmand tribal threat. Other
troops occupied Utmanzai on May 14th, a day after the Khudai Khidmatgars
were declared illegal, and kept the village under partial blockade until the
end of the month. Although the Afghan Jirga headquarters were closed, its
leaders escaped to Charsadda, from which they continued to direct their
campaign with impunity.

The task of piecing together a picture of the Khudai Khidmatgar move-
ment was also problematical. Pears wrote that for two weeks after he took
office on May 10th, he found ‘‘it very difficult not only to ascertain exactly
what the situation was in the Peshawar District and adjacent areas but even
to obtain the materials on which to frame an opinion.”’® Even after infor-
mation started to flow in again, the authorities remained uncertain as to how
the movement was organized. These doubts shaped their strategy. Pears ex-
plained to Lord Irwin on June 12th: ‘“The general line of policy—in fact the
only line I could take in view of the obscurity which surrounded the origins
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and basis of this furious agitation—was to hunt for the organisers and ‘bottle
them up.”””®

By the end of May, the government started to implement a three-stage
strategy to split the agitation into smaller geographic segments, clamp down
on its center at Charsadda, and then act against the remaining areas of unrest
piecemeal. This approach attacked the nationalists at their weakest point,
their poor organizational integration. The military first manned key roads,
bridges, and ferries and imposed strict controls over travel in the Valley.
Without the freedom of movement they had previously enjoyed, the nation-
alists’ loosely structured, decentralized organization started to lose its co-
herence. On June 1st, troops placed Charsadda and the adjoining villages of
Babra and Prang under a strict blockade.® All movement and communica-
tion in and out of the three villages were stopped for nineteen days until
inhabitants surrendered political activists, furnished intelligence, and
signed undertakings to abandon the agitation. When Utmanzai showed signs
of resuming direction of the campaign, a military cordon was thrown around
it on June 15th for another eight days.

Troops also started to act against villages in Mardan, but then the third
stage of the government’s plan had to be deferred. Pears explained why in
mid-June:

The rural problem . . . has been complicated by tribal risings on the bor-
der of the district. These risings . . . have been closely connected with
the disturbed conditions of the district. In their turn the presence of
such tribal gatherings on the border have aggravated district unrest.
The two factors often act and react on each other, and the tribal risings
have delayed the action required to deal with the rural situation by de-
manding the urgent attention of the authorities to problems outside the
district itself.®’

There was virtually no coordination among the tribes. They rose individ-
ually, which reduced the gravity of the total crisis but prolonged its effects.
Pears complained that ‘‘as soon as we have weathered one storm here, we
seem to have had to face another.’®

The Haji of Turangzai’s /ashkar had grown to about 2,000 men by the end
of May in spite of aerial bombardments.® It remained along the border until
late June, but the presence of troops and the refusal of the Lower Mohmands
to allow it passage through their territories prevented it from invading the
district. The Hajs finally withdrew on June 25th after Lower Mohmand ma-
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liks agreed in a face-saving gesture to press his demands with the govern-
ment. In the meantime, the Fagsr of Alingar, another anti-British religious
figure, had mobilized a second tribal force in Bajaur with the aid of emissar-
ies from Peshawar.®* Utman Khel tribesmen, numbering over 1,500, filtered
into Charsadda 7é4si/ where they established contact with local nationalists
in early June. Air action stopped the flow of men, but it took ground troops
to drive out those already in the district.

By the end of May, the primary center of tribal opposition to the govern-
ment shifted south to the Afridis. It was an axiom of British policy that the
Afridis were the most important Pakhtun tribe since they could mobilize
thousands of men close to Peshawar city, the nerve center of India’s border
defenses, and astride the Khyber Pass. When they rose, as happened in 1897
and 1919, they threatened border security in a way that other tribes could
not. By the start of June, pro-Kabul mullaks, who were in regular contact
with Peshawar politicians, gathered a /ashéar of 1,200 men on the edge of
Peshawar District.® The tribesmen penetrated into the district on the night
of June 4th, and some actually reached the outskirts of Peshawar city before
being driven out of the district on June 5th.

Once the tribal situation had stabilized in mid-June, the authorities cre-
ated two military-police columns to mop up the remaining areas of Khudai
Khidmatgar activity.*® One started in Charsadda Ze4s¢/ on June 18th by dis-
persing the Utman Khel /askéar near Tangi. It then moved through Mardan
Tehsil and the adjacent Sam Ranizai tribal area before disbanding on June
27th. The second worked its way through Swabi TeAsi/ between June 19th
and 27th. Both columns followed the same tactics. The troops surrounded a
new village each day before dawn. The political officer attached to the col-
umn entered the village with the police, made arrests, confiscated political
literature and party records, and extracted a collective pledge that the vil-
lage would abstain from further participation in the agitation. In some vil-
lages, the Aufras of the leading activists were also demolished. The entire
column then withdrew to prepare for the next village the next day.

These operations reasserted government control in the last nationalist
strongholds. Equally important in the eyes of the authorities, their Khani
allies resumed responsibility for the day-to-day maintenance of order in the
countryside after two months of having been intimidated and immobilized.
The police henceforth served as a back-up force to handle situations the
Khans could not contain, while the military reverted to its normal duties.
While the nationalists thereafter remained on the defensive, their activities
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did not cease altogether. A make-shift organization was pieced together un-
der secondary party workers who were less skillful and decidedly less influ-
ential than the arrested men they replaced. Without a strong organization,
the nationalists could not recreate a sustained agitation in the face of the
government’s countermeasures. Each time they tried, their efforts were dis-
rupted, forcing them to regroup on an even more reduced and clandestine
basis. By the fall, civil disobedience had for all purposes degenerated into
periodic episodes of picketing in Charsadda and Peshawar city. Each lasted
only ten to twenty days, depending on how long it took the police to arrest
the available supply of volunteers.

While the other three re4sils threw off government control for two months,
Peshawar and Nowshera responded much less aggressively to the agitation.
The government, therefore, left them out of its plans to break up the Khudai
Khidmatgars on the assumption that once the rest of the Valley was sub-
dued, they could be pacified with a minimum of official intervention.® This
policy showed signs of succeeding until August when it collapsed under the
impact of another Afridi invasion.

After their first attack had failed, the Afridis had engaged in two months
of intra-tribal maneuvering before trying again.® Pro-government mals in-
itially blocked an attempt to raise a new /ashkar, but when they failed to win
political concessions from the Khyber Political Agent, the militants once
more gained the upper hand. By August 7th, 6,000 men had gathered on the
Khajuri Plain adjoining Peshawar District. After two nights, 2,500 of them
had evaded the troops deployed along the border and slipped into the dis-
trict.®” Additional men were funnelled across the border on succeeding
nights to keep up the raiders’ strength. The tribesmen brought the admin-
istration in Peshawar 724si/ to a standstill for twelve days. The Government
of India reported on August 15th:

They at one time succeeded in cutting off all communications with
Peshawar, and one party forced its way into the Supply Depot where it
did considerable damage before being driven out. They have also made
several attempts in small parties by night to enter the city and canton-
ment. . . . Their total strength is now reported to be about 1,200—
moving about rapidly in gangs from 50 to 200 strong among the ravinf?s
and walled gardens and villages round Peshawar City. Military action is
being taken against them; but decisive action is difficult at the present
season, when crops are high. ...

People in Peshawar 724si/ treated the tribesmen as allies and gave them food,
shelter, and information. Some even joined their bands, leading the govern-
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ment to consider shelling several of their villages.”’ On August 16th, martial
law was declared in Peshawar District, and within three days, the military
cleared the district of the remaining raiders. Martial law remained in force
until the end of the year, although the authorities used its powers sparingly.

Following the Afridi invasion, various tribes continued hostilities, but the
fighting shifted away from the province to the tribal area.”” The Afridis
fought on until October 1931 before they were brought to terms, while Sunni
tribesmen in the Kurram Agency and adjoining parts of Afghanistan at-
tacked military outposts and the Shia Turi tribe in August and September
1930. The other tribesmen around Peshawar curbed their anti-British feel-
ings. Some of the Orakzais had decided on August 9th to invade Kohat, but
news of the Afridis’ defeat caused them to abandon their plans as impolitic.
Still suffering from earlier losses, the Mohmands and Bajaur tribes did not
respond to the renewed calls of the Hajs of Turangzai and Fagsr of Alingar for
war, while the tribes in the Kohat Pass flatly resisted all attempts to draw
them into the conflict.

Civil Disobedience Qutside of Peshawar Valley

Next to Peshawar, civil disobedience was most intense in Bannu. The ag-
itation began in the town of Bannu but won an immediate following among
the Bannuchis in the Kurram-Gambila dogba. The Wazirs in the outlying
areas of Bannu 7é4s:/ were politicized as the campaign progressed, but the
Marwats in the southeastern half of the district remained quiet under the
restraining influence of their Khans. Civil disobedience also touched off
some trouble in the adjacent tribal area of Waziristan, although it was not as
serious as the conflict around the rim of Peshawar.

The Congress, rather than the Afghan Jirga, organized the agitation in
Bannu. The Bannu Congress was unique among Frontier parties in 1930 in
that it bridged the province’s urban-rural division. It began in July 1929 as
an urban, inter-communal alliance under the leadership of educated profes-
sionals, but it quickly acquired a strong rural base by inheriting the network
of allegiances the Khilafat Committee had assembled among Bannuchi ma-
/iks and religious leaders in 1919-20. The alliance between the urban, largely
Hindu intelligentsia and the rural tribal ma/iés was not as incongruous as it
might seem. As C.H. Gidney, the Deputy Commissioner, explained:

In Bannu there is less cleavage between the Muhammadan urban and
rural population than perhaps in any other district in the Province.
There are few of the more influential urban Muhammadans who do not

9. Ibid., Telegram 12-L, 8/10/30. NWF Peshawar to Foreign Department.
92. See PS12/23. Files 3, 5, and 8. Also, ID, 1930. No. 33 and 35.
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own land outside, and many of them have, therefore, a strong rural con-
nexion and influence.”

Some of the Muslims in the town were actually tribal ma/iés. Others were
linked to them through kin and trnibal ties while sharing professional inter-
ests with the rest of the town’s educated elite.

As in Peshawar, the composition of the nationalist forces in rural Bannu
was influenced by the government’s alliance with the landed elite. Para-
Jamba (factionalism) was rampant among the Bannuchis, as Englishmen had
observed from the time of Herbert Edwardes.®* By identifying with the sen-
ior maliks, the government antagonized their rivals, with the result, as Gid-
ney reported, that *“‘practically in each case [village] the leader of the Con-
gress movement has belonged to the faction opposed to the Bannuchi
Khan.'?

Bannu’s religious leaders constituted the other source of the Congress’ ru-
ral strength. Religious men were particularly influential among the Bannu-
chis and historically had played an active role in their tribal affairs. With the
latent religious content of the nationalist issues, the Congress had no diffi-
culty in recruiting a majority of them even before civil disobedience be-
gan.”® As long as tribal ma/iks directed the party, religious men played a sec-
ondary part in the movement. Once the Congress maliks were arrested,
however, they assumed control of the agitation, and significantly changed its
complexion in the process. As long as Bannuchis dominated the Congress,
it had little appeal among the Wazirs. Religious leaders were able to tran-
scend those tribal identifications and thereby attracted Wazirs on a signifi-
cant scale.

The government, then, was faced with an agitation with three layers of
leadership, each associated with a successively wider sphere of activity: the
urban nationalists with the district town of Bannu: the Bannuchi tribal ma-
Jiks with the Kurram-Gambila doaba; and the religious leaders with the
whole of Bannu Z2si/. As soon as the authorities eliminated one, the next
assumed control of the campaign, spreading it over a broader geographic re-
gion and rendering it more difficult to contain.

District authorities first directed their punitive measures against the par-
ty’s urban cadre, with very little effect.” The arrest of Ram Singh, District
Congress Secretary, on April 8th was followed by daily processions and
meetings in defiance of a ban on political activity; a complete #artal was ob-
served on April 16th; and picketing of liquor stores began on April 20th. By
the arrest of the last important urban leader, Habibullah Khan, on April
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20th, Bannuchi villagers had started to appear at meetings and on picket
lines in the town. After that date, leadership was exercised almost entirely
by rural tribal ma/iks who confined the agitation to the town for the next
three weeks but recruited their forces from the surrounding Bannuchi vil-
lages. On May 14th, troops occupied Bannu and closed the local political
offices. In retaliation, Congress leaders imported more Bannuchis who
brought the town’s normal life to a halt for three days. Gidney reported:

The presence of so large a number of villagers within the city was
clearly dangerous and steps were at once taken to eject them. Further
arrests were also made of the leading Congress leaders, all of them Mu-
hammadans of the rural area. These arrests were made by combined
parties of Police and Military. . . . In order to control the situation in the
city and to prevent the influx of villagers into it the gates were closed.
In this way control was reasserted and on the 19th May the ‘hartal’ was
called off and the shops re-opened.”

In the next six weeks, the agitation was carried on throughout the Kur-
ram-Gambila deaba on a decentralized basis by men with strong gunds (fac-
tional) ties at the local level. The government aggravated matters by ce-
menting the relationship between traditional and national politics, as
Gidney explained:

.. . the enlistment of the active assistance of the Khans in suppression
of the movement merely served to intensify faction-feeling, with the re-
sult that in many cases meetings were organised with the primary, if
not, in some cases, the sole object of discrediting the Khans.”

By late June, the authorities had seemingly defeated civil disobedience
among the Bannuchis, only to discover that mu/laks had taken over the agi-
tation and turned it into a religious confrontation. Gidney later recalled:

The boycott of the courts was advocated as a step towards securing the
introduction of Shariat law, while the picketing of liquor shops was en-
joined as a religious duty upon all true believers of the Qoran. The [slo-
gan] ‘freedom of the Qoran’ was unscrupulously exploited as a more
general stick with which to beat Government. . . . The Wazir is just as
ignorant and because of his ignorance and superstition just as priest-
ridden as the Bannuchi and in both these backward communities the
Mullahs found a fertile field for the dissemination of sedition.'®

Bannuchis began to picket in the town of Bannu again, causing Gidney to
close its gates and restrict entry until August 26th. In the countryside, mu/-
laks kept civil disobedience alive in the Bannuchi villages and recruited
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new supporters among the Wazirs. To stem the spreading unrest, punitive
police posts were established in the most visibly pro-Congress villages; all
government weapons distributed in Bannu Ze4s:/ for village defense were re-
called; licenses for privately owned rifles were revoked; and a magistrate
toured the countryside with a squadron of police to prevent meetings and
arrest people carrying arms.

These measures restored order among the Bannuchis by August but not
among the Wazirs. Mullaks Fazli Qadir and Abdul Jalil, with an armed escort
of up to one hundred black-shirted volunteers, had worked actively among
the Jani Khel and Bakka Khel Wazirs since mid-June.'®" Under government
pressure, the maliks of those clans expelled them from their territories on
July 29th, but the mullaks only moved into the Hathi Khel Wazir country
where they found support among the tribal elite. When that clan’s malits
ignored government orders to arrest the mu/laks and their backers, the mili-
tary was called in. On August 24th, troops and Frontier Constabulatory were
sent to break up a gathering at Spin Tangi. While civil officials negotiated
with Mullah Fazli Qadir to secure the crowd’s peaceful dispersal, a British
captain set off a pitched battle. According to official accounts:

Captain Ashcroft and eight other ranks were killed while ten were
wounded. In the fighting which ensued some forty of the Mulla’s party
were killed and a number wounded. Seventy persons were also ar-
rested. The Mulla himself died subsequently of wounds.'”

In the manner of the Peshawar riots, nationalists represented the Hathi
Khel incident as proof of the government’s barbarity.'”® Once again, their
version of the clash lacked factual accuracy but reflected popular beliefs. In
the long run, therefore, the incident helped to politicize people in Bannu
and draw them into the nationalist movement. The immediate conse-
quences, however, were quite the opposite. Civil disobedience fell of f
sharply in the wake of the fight at Spin Tangi.'* Thereafter, the appearance
of troops, or even the threat of their use, prevented demonstrations. The
number of times they were actually needed were few. Backed by the public’s
renewed respect for the government’s power, pro-government ma/iks increas-
ingly turned opinion against the agitation in the fehsi/.

Civil disobedience produced unrest across the administrative border in
Waziristan. Tribal hostilities fed on local conditions—the impact of the
depression, dissension over the government’s tribal allowances, and the af-
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tereffects of the revolution in Afghanistan in which the Wazirs and Mahsuds
had provided the backbone of Nadir Khan’s army.'® But it is doubtful if
these conditions would have touched off a conflict without the added impe-
tus of the agitation. As it was, only a minority of the tribesmen engaged in
any fighting and only under intensive pressure from tribal leaders and na-
tionalist emissaries. Even before April 1930, provincial politicians had been
in contact with tribal dissidents. Abdul Ghaffar Khan, for instance, is re-
puted to have sent Mahsud leaders letters urging them to prepare in case the
province needed their assistance to throw off British rule.'® Once civil dis-
obedience began, numerous nationalist agents entered Waziristan. The
most active was Mullah Muhammad Yusaf, alias the Bannuchi Muliah, who
had been the Assistant Secretary of the Bannu Congress and claimed to be
the envoy of Abdul Ghaffar Khan and Gandhi.'”’

Militants in Waziristan never intervened directly in the conflict in Bannu
District because they were unable to win the general support of their
tribes. ' They mounted only a series of minor attacks on military posts and
pro-government tribesmen in the tribal territory itself. In May, elements of
two Wazir clans unsuccessfully assaulted the army post at Datta Khel. In
July, it was the turn of the Mahsuds. Two /ashkars representing sections of
eight clans blew up bridges and besieged military posts for a few days but
melted away when a troop column was despatched through their territory.
Tribal maliks blocked subsequent efforts to incite the two tribes, and once
the government restored its authority in Bannu after the Hathi Khel inci-
dent, interest in the nationalist movement subsided.

Among the Pakhtun districts, Kohat alone conformed to the authorities’
expectations during the civil disobedience campaign. The Khani elite kept
the rural populace quiet with minor police assistance, while the towns were
the scene of a superficial and short-lived agitation which the authorities cas-
ily suppressed. Unlike either of its neighbors, Kohat was unprepared for
civil disobedience. The Congress was confined to a Kohat city, while the
Kohat Afghan Jirga was a paper entity without real popular support. A num-
ber of factors combined to mitigate against Kohat's politicization.'® In the
town of Kohat, the memory of a riot in 1924 blocked inter-communal coop-
eration between Muslim and Hindu nationalists and led most of the influ-
ential citizens to oppose any political organizing, lest it lead to further vio-
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lence. In the countryside, the government’s Khani allies, and especially the
Nawab of Teri who was the hereditary chief of the Kohat Khattaks, could still
fulfill the policing duties the authorities assigned to them. Unlike Khans in
Peshawar and Bannu, their prestige had not been irrevocably undermined,
and they were not so bitterly divided that the nationalists could exploit pa-
rajamba to build a rural following. Economic conditions also retarded polit-
ical organizing in the district. As the major military recruiting ground in the
NWFP, Kohat contained a heavy concentration of families with some con-
nection to the army. This created an atmosphere of goodwill toward the mil-
itary which extended to the government as well. In addition, since most of
Kohat was uncultivable, employment in the military, police, or bureaucracy
was an economic necessity which made people reluctant to challenge the au-
thorities.

Without a conducive political climate, civil disobedience in Kohat was
brief and ineffectual. Demonstrations began in the town of Kohat after Ab-
dul Ghaffar Khan’s visit in late March, but their impact was so negligible
that for three weeks after the Peshawar riots, the district authorities coun-
tered them only ‘‘by word of mouth and through reputed influential local
gentry.”''* When demonstrations continued, the Congress was declared il-
legal on May 11th. The next day troops surrounded the town, while police
and Frontier Constabulary arrested nationalist organizers and closed the
Congress headquarters. The troops and police were withdrawn after one
day, but when picketing resumed on May 16th, the town was cordoned off
and reoccupied for four days. Thal was subjected to similar treatment on
May 13th-14th, Hangu on May 15th, and the village of Darsamand on May
21st. These measures effectively ended nationalist protests in Kohat.

Civil disobedience aroused even less interest in the predominantly non-
Pakhtun districts of Hazara and Dera Ismail Khan than in Kohat. M.E. Rae,
Hazara’s Deputy Commissioner, reported in September:

No disturbance in the proper sense of the word occurred in the Hazara
District at all. The Congress activity commenced on ‘‘Independence
day’’ (26 January 1930) and continued to 16th June when the Congress
Committee closed its office at Haripur and hauled down the National
Flag. The only occurrences approaching the nature of a disturbance
were hartals which occurred in Abbottabad and Haripur on 2nd and 6th
May and the picketing of liquor shops at Haripur which commenced on
6th June and ended a few days afterwards. These events were entirely
due to the activities of a few persons associated with the Congress and
ceased when action was taken against those persons.'"’
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The nationalist campaign in Dera Ismail Khan initially involved only a small
segment of the Hindus in the district town.''? The picketing of liquor stores
began on April 29th, but generated so little public interest that the authori-
ties ignored it until late May when an incipient alliance emerged between
Hindu and Muslim politicians. Then, police and Frontier Constabulary oc-
cupied the town on May 30th, closed the local political offices, and arrested
fourteen activists. Troops blockaded the town for four more days until its
citizens promised to abstain from further demonstrations, a promise they
kept for the duration of 1930.

Civil Disobedience and Reforms

In the short run, both the provincial and central authorities saw no alter-
native to suppressing the nationalist agitation. It immediately mattered less
that people liked the government than that they obeyed it. Both, however,
realized that order which depended solely on coercion was costly and in the
long run, inherently unstable.''® A permanent peace could only be achieved
when the people accepted the government as legitimate. For the Govern-
ment of India, the problem had an added dimension. Even though Indian
Muslim leaders felt that their Frontier coreligionists were misguided in join-
ing hands with the Congress, they bitterly denounced the government’s au-
thoritarian methods in the province. To defuse their anger and prevent the
NWFP from becoming a catalyst for a general Muslim-Congress alliance,
Delhi placed great importance on detaching the Frontier from the agitation.

Various schemes were advanced to pacify the Frontier.''* Many consisted
of tinkering with the administration to stamp out corruption, bureaucratic
indifference, and abuse of power by petty officials. To alleviate agrarian
hardships, Pears recommended a reduction of 20 percent in the land revenue
for the 1930 #4arif crop and the diversion of funds earmarked for other pro-
Jects into faccavi loans. Theorizing that the religious antagonism aroused by
the Sarda Act was the chief cause of the public’s alienation, the provincial
administration urgently, but to no avail, pressed for its suspension. Most at-
tention, however, was devoted to expediting reforms. Suddenly, representa-
tive institutions no longer seemed unsuitable for the NWFP; they appeared
imperative if the government were to conciliate the province and particularly
its Muslim intelligentsia. From its all-India perspective, the central govern-
ment also considered constitutional concessions as the best way to appease
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Muslim opinion over the Frontier. Lord Irwin even asked the Secretary of
State in early May to intervene with Sir John Simon to see that nothing in
his forthcoming report ‘‘*hurt Muslim feelings unnecessarily regarding their
general position and particularly the NWFP"'"®

While the two governments agreed on the need for reforms, Pears cau-
tioned against hasty promises on the grounds that the government had to
proceed with care if it were to avoid unsettling security along the border. He
also looked on Muslim pressure for reforms as self-serving:

I must confess to a suspicion that in the minds of some highly placed
Mussalman politicians there is really a desire to have an announce-
ment (almost equivalent to a fait accompli) to be used as a counter in
their bargainings with other parties.''®

Delhi, however, not only wished to mollify the men Pears mistrusted but
desired the very end he denigrated — the improvement of the Muslims’ po-
sition vis-a-vis the Hindus. It also reasoned that the prospect of reforms
would give Muslims an incentive to help pacify the NWFP.'"” Lord Irwin,
therefore, overruled Pears and publicly endorsed reforms in an interview
with a deputation of Punjab Muslims on June 4th:

I am fully convinced of the importance which the people of the Prov-
ince attach to constitutional advance and realise the desire of your com-
munity in general that a Province which is predominantly Muslim
should not be denied the means of self-expression. . . . I can assure you
that so far as I and my Government are concerned, when making rec-
ommendations on this subject to His Majesty’s government, the natural
claims of the Province in the constitutional field will be viewed with
sympathy. . .. '"®

In light of the province’s sudden militancy, the Government of India
found the recommendations published in the Simon Commission Report in
late June wholely inadequate. Under its proposals, the NWFP was offered
only a forty-man council—half appointed and half indirectly elected by
Khans, ex-soldiers, and local governing bodies—with powers roughly akin
to those in the Morley-Minto reforms. According to a government despatch
dated September 20th:

A discontented frontier province would be a serious threat in the rear of
any army operating in the defense of India. We would be reluctant,
therefore, to adopt a form of constitution for the North-West Frontier
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which would fall so far short of provincial expectations.'"®

Pears suggested, and Delhi endorsed, the idea of a legislative council in
which 51 percent of the members would be chosen by direct election. They
further agreed that the chief executive officer of the province should be a
Lieutenant Governor instead of a Chief Commissioner and that he should
appoint two ministers, one of whom would be a non-official. Finally, they
recommended that the classification of subjects should follow that in other
provinces, with the exception that matters relating to tribal affairs and im-
perial defense should be reserved to the center.'”” The Round Table Con-
ference liberalized these proposals slightly in 1931, recommending that the
elected element in the proposed legislature be raised to twenty-six out of
forty and that at least one of the ministers be an elected representative. !
These recommendations were accepted by the government and became the
positive program with which it tried to induce Frontier nationalists to be
more moderate once the NWFP was released from the straitjacket of politi-
cal repression.
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NON-COOPERATION, 1931-1934

While the tumult of the preceding spring had given way to a relative po-
litical calm by the end of 1930, a strong undercurrent of popular animosity
nonetheless remained. Recognizing this, the provincial authorities supple-
mented repression with promises of reforms in an effort to soften popular
opposition to their rule. Given time, their strategy might have worked, but
before it could be fully tried, the Government of India undercut it on March
5th in the interest of a settlement with the Indian National Congress. The
terms of the Gandhi-Irwin truce were extended to the NWFP over the stren-
uous objections of the Frontier government, freeing the Khudai Khidmatgars
from political restrictions.

Abdul Ghaffar Khan and his associates concurred with the provincial au-
thorities in not seeing the truce as a step toward the peaceful resolution of
India’s political problems. They treated it, instead, as a chance to rebuild
their movement and prepare for a new showdown with the British. The Khu-
dai Khidmatgars were quickly revived in Peshawar Valley and then extended
into the province’s southern districts. However, the movement’s commit-
ment to Pakhtun interests precluded it from appealing to non-Pakhtuns.
Most seriously, its ethnic character helped precipitate a conflict with the
province’s urban nationalists for control of the Frontier Congress, which
ended with the Khudai Khidmatgars firmly in charge of the party but with
an important element of the 1930 nationalist coalition alienated from the in-
dependence movement.

Alarmed by the revival of the Khudai Khidmatgars, the provincial author-
ities quickly abandoned any hope of turning the Gandhi-Irwin truce into a
permanent political peace. Throughout 1931, they asked for permission to
suppress the Frontier nationalists, only to be turned down by the central
government on the grounds that any step of that kind would destroy its ac-
commodation with the Indian National Congress, an eventuality it was not
yet ready to consider. Protected by this umbrella, the Khudai Khidmatgars
produced an intense political ferment in the Frontier Province and espe-
cially Peshawar Valley. The authorities could only respond with ordinary le-
gal restraints, which were ignored with increasing frequency, and plan for
the day the truce collapsed. That occurred at the end of the year once the
failure of the Second Round Table Conference convinced the Government of
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India that a peaceful settlement with the Congress was not possible. Given
afree hand, the Frontier authorities swiftly and systematically cracked down
on the Khudai Khidmatgar movement and thereafter maintained a strict vig-
ilance against any form of nationalist activity. As a result, the nationalists
were unable to mount an agitation even remotely comparable to that of 1930.
Officially, civil disobedience continued until March 1934, but for all practi-
cal purposes, it amounted to little more than a symbolic statement of defi-
ance against British rule.

The Khudai Khidmatgar Revival

On January 25, 1931, Gandhi and the members of the Congress Working
Committee were unconditionally released from jail. Since Abdul Ghaffar
Khan was not included in the amnesty, the Khudai Khidmatgars feared that
the government intended to omit the NWFP from any agreement it reached
with the Congress. In protest, they organized the first large-scale demon-
strations in the province in five months. These culminated with a mass pro-
test in Utmanzai on February 21st which clashed with the police, leaving
two dead and ninety-seven injured.' The fears of the nationalists were not
unwarranted. During the bargaining which led up to the Gandhi-Irwin Pact,
the Frontier authorities urged the Viceroy to exclude their province from its
terms. They were overruled, however, when Gandhi made the Frontier’s in-
clusion a precondition for an all-India settlement.? Even then, Sir Steuart
Pears balked at freeing the Khudai Khidmatgars. While the central govern-
ment withdrew its repressive ordinances on March 6th and ordered the re-
lease of all political prisoners, Pears only lifted the restrictions on the Pro-
vincial Congress. Summoned to a conference in Delhi three days later, he
subsequently recalled:

His Excellency, Lord Irwin, pointed out that the Pact with Gandhi
would be nullified unless it included the Frontier Province in its scope,
and for this reason I agreed that I must face the very real menace of the
renewal of the Red Shirt movement in the hope which was held out to
me that the Pact with Gandhi might lead to such an improvement of the
political situation in the rest of India as would ultimately react on this
Province.’

1. See FR1/31(11), FR2/31(I), and FR2/31(11); and PJ7/17, 1931. Part I. No. 571, 677, and
989,

2. According to Mian Jafar Shah, he learned from Sir Abdul Qaiyum, the NWFP’s rep-
resentative in the Central Assembly, thar the provincial authorities had convinced the Vice?
roy not to release the province’s political prisoners. He relayed the information to Gandhi
who told Lord Irwin that the Congress would reject any settlement that excluded the Fron-
tier. Interview with Mian Jafar Shah.

3. P17/17,1931. Part 1. No. 2506. Letter 678/S.S., 4/27/31. NWF to Foreign Department.
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On March 10th, therefore, he removed the ban on the Khudai Khidmatgars.
The same day, Abdul Ghaffar Khan was released from Gujrat jail in the Pun-
jab.

Putting aside his suspicions, Pears issued a statement welcoming the set-
tlement and calling on the people of the NWFP to work with him to obtain
the same rights as other Indians. The Afghan Jirga leaders ignored his ap-
peal, for they viewed the truce as only a temporary, tactical halt in India’s
struggle for freedom. Working on the premise that the truce would end
sooner rather than later, they set out to enlist the maximum number of mem-
bers in the shortest possible time. Their party’s organization was left in dis-
array and its chain of command so confused that its leaders often could not
exercise effective control over its subordinate branches.* They could not
even be sure of the size of their party, since membership lists, when kept at
all, were never up-to-date.

Party leaders concentrated first on Peshawar Valley, the movement’s core
region. Their appeal for members received an immediate and enthusiastic
response in the nationalist strongholds of 1930. By late March, recruiting,
drilling, and processions were in full swing again in Charsadda, Mardan,
and Swabi. In mid-April, for example, Captain C.W. Free of the Mardan
Guides reported that more than half of the people from the town of Mardan
to Katlang were ‘‘red or red backers” and that the nationalists were equally
strong elsewhere in Mardan Z2Asi/.° Next, the movement penetrated into
those parts of the Valley where it had won little support the previous vear.
Within two months, it had established an extensive party network among
the Khalils and Bara Mohmands of Peshawar ZeAsi/ and acquired a strong
foothold among the Akora Khattaks, the largest tribe in Nowshera 7e4si/.*
Khudai Khidmatgar activity also resumed in the Sam Ranizai tribal area
which was geographically an extension of the Valley but administratively
part of the Malakand Agency.” The government had refused to lift political
restrictions there on the grounds that the truce applied only to the settled
districts. Regarding this as a breach of the Delhi Pact, the nationalists sim-
ply ignored the government’s ban and organized on a clandestine basis in
the area. Pears wanted to react strongly to their activity, but he was overruled
by the Government of India which feared that he might provoke a confron-
tation with the Khudai Khidmatgars which would jeopardize the entire Gan-
dhi-Irwin Pact.* Consequently, conditions in Sam Ranizai were allowed to

4. PJ7/17, 1931. Parc 11, No. 3475. B.C.A. Lawther, Deputy Inspector-General of Police,
Intelligence Branch. Report on the Red Shirts; also 1D, 1931. No. 25.

5. PJ7/17, 1931. Part 1. No. 2878. C.W. Free. Report on the Mardan Tour of the Guides
Cavalry. Also, FR3/31(11) and FR4/31(]).

6. FR3/31(11), FR4/31(I), and FR4/31(11).

7. See ID, 1931. No. 13, 15, and 19; FR 3/31(11) and FR4/31(I). PJ7/17, 1931. Part 1. No.
2071, 2506, and 2661; and PJ7/17, 1931. Part I1. No. 3232.

8. PJ7/17, 1931. Part I. No. 2427 Telegram, 5/4/31. Foreign Department to Chief Com-
missioner; and Telegram 763-L, 4/17/31. Chief Commissioner to Foreign Department.
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continue unchanged for the rest of 1931 to the satisfaction of neither side.
Unrestricted nationalist activity was not permitted, but the government
could not eradicate the movement there entirely.

As the nationalist movement revived in Peshawar, the Khudai Khidmat-
gars assumed a prominent public profile, while the Afghan Jirga receded in
visibility and importance. By April 15th, the NWFP’s Inspector-General of
Police conservatively estimated, 12,575 regular Khudai Khidmatgars had
been enlisted in the Valley, and large numbers of additional people were ac-
tive in the movement on a part-time basis.” The Afghan Jirga lagged far be-
hind in numbers, and most of its members were simultaneously Khudai
Khidmatgars. This organizational transformation was not wholly unex-
pected, for the Afghan Jirga had been envisioned as a series of small deci-
sion-making bodies, while the Khudai Khidmatgars had been created as a
mass cadre to implement their directives. Additionally, the volunteers sim-
ply enjoyed greater popularity, as symbolized by the ubiquitous use of red
clothing throughout the Valley in 1931. Finally, Abdul Ghaffar Khan turned
them into his personal power base. Although he held no official title, he was
the Khudai Khidmatgars’ undisputed leader, a position he solidified by mak-
ing his maternal nephew, Rab Nawaz Khan, their Sa/ar-i-Azam (Com-
mander-in-Chtief). Due to his commanding position in the Frontier move-
ment as a whole, the volunteers became an autonomous body, which
received advice from the regular party wing, but took its orders from its own
leaders. "

The nationalist movement in 1931 once more reflected the class divisions
in Peshawar society. The majority of the rank-and-file were artisans and ten-
ants, leading Pears to warn that the movement was *‘in danger of assuming
the character of a mass organisation of the poorer and needier classes.”'' Few
men from the lower classes occupied positions of party authority, and their
numbers steadily declined at each higher level in its hierarchy. Leadership
came primarily from the landed Pakhtun gentry, to which the lower classes
deferred for reasons of economic power, social status, and tradition. As be-
fore, parajamba was a primary determinant of who supported and opposed
the movement. In a review of 1931, the provincial administration observed:

The movement . . . has done much to embitter social relations. Locally,
the most important stimulus is to be found in village factions and ani-
mosities. A picture of this tendency may be seen in almost any village
of the district where the movement is strong."

9. PJ7/17, 1931. Part I. No. 2661. Note by J.H. Adam, 4/27/31. There was only one mem-
bership form for both the Afghan Jirga and Khudai Khidmatgars, which meant that techni-
cally everyone belonged to both.

10. Interviews with Abdul Akbar Khan, Amin Jan, Sher Dil Khan, and Sayyid Ashiq
Shah.

11. FR3/31(11).

12. Gol File 4/7, 1933, p. 5.
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The Valley’s junior Khans provided the backbone of the nationalist move-
ment. Opposition came from the once ascendant senior Khans, who still
found it impossible to act in unison. The authorities hoped that their op-
position presaged the emergence of an anti-nationalist coalition in the coun-
tryside, but that expectation did not materialize in 1931."* Mutual jealousies,
an individualism which precluded their working within a formal party, and
the taint of their past association with the government prevented them from
mounting a credible challenge to the Khudai Khidmatgars.

Due to the enmity of the senior Khans, the nationalist Khans associated
themselves rhetorically with the masses against their own class. Abdul
Ghaffar Khan referred to the Khans as slaves of the British and promised that
once independence was achieved, ‘‘the kamins would be equal with the
Khans, there would be no difference between rich and poor.’’'* The author-
ities seized upon this propaganda as proof of their lingering suspicion that
the Frontier nationalists were communists:

It seems clear that while Abdul Ghaffar and Abdul Akbar dominate the
Central Committee of the Youth League, the trend of their policy will
become increasingly Communist. This explains why their agitation is
marked by race-hatred and class-hatred and by promises of redistribu-
tion of wealth, particularly of land, among all workers whether Pakhtun
or Kamin."

Abdul Ghaffar Khan and his associates, however, had no intention of intro-
ducing radical measures which would destroy their own economic power and
social standing. Their rhetoric was predicated upon a redefinition of a Khan
which narrowly limited the term to those in the Pakhtun elite who sup-
ported the government. Thus, its object was political, not social or eco-
nomic—to discredit their Khani opponents and solidify their own support
among their lower class constituents.

The Khudai Khidmatgars extended their field of operations in May to the
NWFP’s three southern districts where the nationalist cause had elicited lit-
tle public interest since the Gandhi-Irwin Pact. On May 10th, Abdul Ghaf-
far Khan embarked on a two-week tour of the south which had its most strik-
ing results in Kohat. Since the old Kohat Congress was an urban, essentially
non-Pakhtun caucus with few ties to the countryside, Abdul Ghaffar Khan
bypassed it to create a new, rural-dominated Khudai Khidmatgar-Congress
party.'® First, he concentrated on the district’s Khattak area, overcoming the

13. FRS5/31(I) and FR/5/31(1); also ID, 1931. No. 16, 18, and 23.

14. PJ7/17, 1931. Part I. No. 2661. B.C.A. Lawther. Record of Speeches made by Abdul
Ghaffar Khan since his release. 4/27/31.

15. PJ7/17, 1931. Part 1. No. 2874. Letter 793/S.S., 5/6/31. NWF to Foreign Department.

16. FR5/31(1) and FR5/31(11): also ID, 1931. No. 19 and 21. While the district party offi-
cially assumed the Congress label, it was also called the Afghan Jirga or Khilafat Committee
at times. Most commonly, it appeared under the rubric of **Khudai Khidmatgar™.
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opposition of tribal elders. He then moved to Hangu Zehsi/ where he orga-
nized among the Bangash and Orakzai, using the local Khilafat Committee
as the nucleus of his party.

After his departure, his lieutenants in the district mobilized a powerful
following among the Khattaks. In late June, the Intelligence Bureau re-
ported:

Khattak country is going red with great rapidity. . . . The chief leaders
... claim to have enlisted many thousands of volunteers. There is no
doubt that their efforts have met with an unexpected and widespread
success. Village to village recruiting tours are being carried out and au-
diences have increased enormously in size; opposition on the part of
Maliks and pensioners to the movement is half-hearted and the Nawab
of Teri, its chief enemy, is losing his influence day by day as the ac-
knowledged, if unpopular leader of the Khattaks."

From their Khattak base, moreover, the nationalists threatened to link up
with their Bannu compatriots to form *‘a solid block of ‘red country’ on both
sides of the common border’” whose influence, the authorities feared, would
spread into neighboring Waziristan.'® In Hangu Zé4s:/, in contrast, the Con-
gress-Khudai Khidmatgars were confined to the Upper Miranzai Valley,
while few members were enrolled in the country between the towns of
Hangu and Kohat.'® In the town of Kohat, itself, the movement was visibly
weaker than in the countryside. The factors which had retarded its growth
there the previous year still applied—the memory of the 1924 communal
riots and the restraining influence of the city’s traditional leaders. In addi-
tion, the urban-rural division, which had blocked the Congress’ expansion
into the countryside in 1930, had a limiting effect on its spread in the op-
posite direction in 1931.

The nationalists organized around local issues while minimizing their
propaganda against the government toward which the people, with their ex-
tensive association with the army, retained favorable feelings. In the Khat-
tak area, for example they concentrated their attacks on the Nawab of Teri,
absorbing the factional network among the tribal elite which was opposed to
the Nawab. By focusing on the Nawab, moreover, they tapped a reservoir of
popular antagonism since virtually everyone in Teri TeAsi/ was affected by his
right to traditional taxes which amounted to Rs 12,000 per year. In addition,
a fraction of everyone’s land revenue (-/1/16 out of every rupee) was given to
the Nawab in recognition of his superior proprietary rights to the tehsil.*
The nationalists’ position was also strengthened throughout the district by

17. 1D, 1931. No. 25.

18. FR6/31(1).

19. ID, 1931. No. 25.

20. VC, 1938. Vol. I, File 44. No. 18. D.O. Letter G.H.-89, 3/23/38. Cunningham t0
Viceroy.
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support from religious leaders who told the public that the movement’s aim
was to defend Islam.”

Abdul Ghaffar Khan’s tour also stimulated renewed activity in Bannu.
Meetings, processions, and picketing became common; recruitment picked
up; and Congress branches were reorganized in the villages of Bannu Ze4si/.
The Bannu Congress, however, was unable to sustain this tempo for long.*
Activity began to subside in June, and Kohat displaced Bannu as the nation-
alists’ secondary center in the NWFP. Although Bannu city served as the
focal point of district politics, the countryside remained the nationalists’
main source of strength. Since the Bannu Congress already possessed a ru-
ral base, Abdul Ghaffar Khan did not create a new party structure as he did
in Kohat. He did not even start a Khudai Khidmatgar branch because Bannu
had an indigenous volunteer force, the Black Shirts, who had gained wide
public recognition the previous year. The District Congress was simply des-
ignated as the Bannu equivalent of the Afghan Jirga, while the Black Shirts
became the district’s Khudai Khidmatgars.

The party’s core region continued to be the Kurram-Gambila doagba
where Bannuchi ma/iks provided it with a following whose loyalty rested as
much on gundi attachments as nationalist sentiments. In contrast, the party
made little headway among the Marwats due to the continuing hostility of
their tribal elders. The situation was almost identical among the Wazirs.
Only the Hathi Khel showed any nationalist sympathies, and they responded
because of the animosities created by the bloodshed of August 1930. The
rest of the tribe rejected the nationalists’ overtures, in part because their
maliks opposed the Bannu Congress and in part because the Bannuchis,
with whom they had a history of enmity, reasserted their dominance over the
party after the Delhi Pact.

In Dera Ismail Khan, as in Kohat, the center of nationalist activity shifted
from the district town to the countryside in 1931. After Abdul Ghaffar
Khan’s visit, an Afghan Jirga-Khudai Khidmatgar branch was created in
Tank TeAsi/. The other two tehsils, with their high proportion of non-Pakh-
tuns, proved less receptive to the movement and its appeal to Pakhtun na-
tionalism. Nationalist activities in Tank became inextricably entwined with
factional politics which revolved around the enmity between the Nawab of
Tank and the Kundi tribe, with both sides competing for the loyalties of the
Bhittani tribesmen.?* The Dera Ismail Khan Afghan Jirga drew its leader-
ship from the Kundis’ leading family, the Khans of Gul Imam. To win Bhit-
tani support, it deemphasized nationalist rhetoric in favor of parochial issues
such as the tribe’s dispute with the Nawab of Tank over the water of the

Zam, the main stream in the rehsi/.
D —
21. FR7/31(11).
22. FRS/JI(H), FR6/31(11), and FR8/31(I). Also 1D, 1931. No. 21
23, 1D, 1931. No. 20 and 28; FR6/31(1) and FR6/31(1I); and Lahore Tribune, 7/17/31.
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The fact that Abdul Ghaffar Khan did not go to Hazara during his May
tours was not a matter of chance. Cultural and ethnic differences left the
district’s predominantly non-Pakhtun population unsympathetic to his
movement.?* After months of labor, Congress workers from Peshawar city
aroused modest public interest in Mansehra, the fe4si/ with the largest num-
ber of Pakhtuns, only to have it disappear when political gatherings were
banned in the village of Baffa, the local nationalist center, in July. An Af-
ghan Jirga branch was also opened in Abbottabad, but it never grew into a
significant political force due to the town’s non-Pakhtun character.

By the summer of 1931, then, a resurgent nationalist movement existed in
every district save one. This alone alarmed the authorities, but what made
the Khudai Khidmatgars seem so ominous was their intransigence. Their
leaders viewed the Gandhi-Irwin Pact as a temporary truce, an interlude be-
fore a final showdown with the government. Rather than seek compromise,
therefore, they exploited the protection of the settlement to whip up popular
enthusiasm for the day civil disobedience resumed. As in 1930, their impact
was most pronounced in Peshawar Valley. Demonstrations, meetings, drill-
ing, and marching kept the countryside in a constant state of excitement.
Picketing, coupled at times with forceful interference, harassed liquor and
foreign cloth merchants and unsettled the Valley’s market centers. Attempts
to persuade government officials to resign their posts gave way in some areas
to social ostracism. As disruptive as these activities were, they were over-
shadowed in the government’s estimation by the nationalists’ exploitation of
agrarian unrest and their attempts to undermine the criminal justice system.

The depression was at its severest in 1931. Agricultural prices reached
their nadir, and the credit shortage became acute. Capitalizing on these
conditions, the nationalists in Peshawar mounted a concerted campaign
against the land tax. They did not openly urge people to default, but their
agitation for remissions of 50 percent or more produced those results. Col-
lections precipitously declined, first in their Hashtnagar (Charsadda Zehsi/)
and Baizai (Mardan 7é4s:/) strongholds and then, as their movement spread,
elsewhere in the Valley. Land revenue and water rate arrears, which stood at
ten lakhs of rupees in February, increased in spite of remissions to well over
twenty-one lakhs by September. Collection rates were cut to less than one-
third of normal, and in addition, the nationalists undermined the traditional
means of recovering arrears by enforcing boycotts of auctions held to sell d;-
faulters’ property.” In the rest of the province, by comparison, the economic
situation was just as bad, yet collections remained at their usual levels since
a political drive was not mounted against revenue payment.*®

24. FR7/31(11) and FR8/31(1I).

25. PJ7/17, 1931. Part I. No. 2874. Memorandum 590-P.A., 5/5/31. Deputy Commission?r.
Peshawar, to Secretary to Chief Commissioner; and No. 778. Letter 86-S, 10/12/31. Chief
Commissioner to Foreign Secretary; ID, 1931. No. 30.

26. FR6/31(1D).
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Immediately after the Delhi settlement, Khudai Khidmatgars in Peshawar
also started to interfere with the police and courts. At first, they encouraged
people not to volunteer information about crimes, but by summer, they had
adopted more aggressive means to frustrate the authorities. They sporadic-
ally prevented police from seizing wanted men, tried to free arrested crim-
inals, intimidated witnesses into remaining silent, and even disrupted court
proceedings.”’ In some instances, they preempted the whole criminal jus-
tice system by bringing cases before nationalist y7rgas. The maintenance of
law and order had always depended heavily upon popular cooperation and
specifically upon the ability of the government’s Khani allies to police the
countryside. The police were simply too few in number to cope on their
own. In the face of the growing political excitement, the senior Khans once
more proved incapable of performing their part of their bargain with the gov-
ernment, while popular respect for the police and colonial courts dimin-
ished. Crime, therefore, increased sharply over 1930, which had itself been
a disturbed year. At the end of June, the government reported a 15 percent
rise in all types of crime over the preceding vear, while murders were up 29
percent, burglaries 19 percent, and dacoities 73 percent.”®

These conditions confirmed the provincial authorities skepticism about
the Gandhi-Irwin truce. After six weeks of mounting nationalist activity,
they started to lobby for an end to the settlement. From the end of April,
Pears and his subordinates repeatedly pressed for permission to use strong,
punitive measures on the grounds that the Khudai Khidmatgars were a men-
ace to the peace and security of India’s borders. For example, Olaf Caroe,
Peshawar’s Deputy Commissioner, contended in a memorandum dated May
4th:

The effect on this District of the Delhi Pact and of the license neces-
sarily given to the forces then released has been to retard the machinery
of District Administration to so dangerous an extent that recovery can-
not be expected without a radical alteration of policy. In other words,
big sums of revenue arrears . . . will have to be written off as irrecover-
able and a permanent increase in heinous crime must be expected if
steps are not taken to chain or remove those who desire to profit by the
present malaise . . . the ordinary processes of law are not sufficing and
will never suffice to restore authority unless accompanied by measures
which will show the determination of Government to control subversive
activities.”

27. For instance, see Gol File 4/7, 1933, pp. 6 and 9-12; FR6/31(11) and FR8/3t(I1): and
ID, 1931. No. 11.

28. FR6/31(1D).

29. PJ7/17, 1931. Part I. No. 2874. Memorandum 590-P.S., 5/5/31. Deputy Commissioner,
Peshawar, to Secretary to Chief Commissioner. Also see, i4id., No. 2506 and PJ7/17, 1931.
Parc I1. No. 3147, 3452, and 3704.
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The Army General Staff took a similar line, bluntly urging that the ““Red
Shirt Organisation be stamped out without further delay.”*

The Government of India vetoed these proposals on the grounds that the
problems of the NWFP could not be treated in isolation. In a message to
Pears on July 23rd, the Foreign Department explained:

Abdul Ghaffar Khan’s arrest and prosecution whether initiated inside
or outside NWFP would almost certainly create a situation where gen-
eral action against Red Shirt organisation would be unavoidable. . .
[and] it seems quite certain that general action against Red Shirt move-
ment would cause immediate break with Gandhi on grounds peculiarly
favorable to him.*

It concluded, therefore, that no action could be sanctioned. If the truce had
to end, it wanted the blame to fall unmistakably on the Congress. Despite
the unequivocal nature of its position, the provincial authorities continued
to press Delhi to reconsider. Pears even telegraphed the outline of a plan for
suppressing the Khudai Khidmatgars in reply to the Foreign Department’s
July 23rd message.*

In lieu of the decisive measures it desired, the provincial government ap-
plied Section 144 of the Criminal Procedure Code to large areas of every
district except Hazara to curb political activity.>> Wherever the evidence
warranted, political workers, with the exception of Abdul Ghaffar Khan who
enjoyed an absolute immunity from arrest, were prosecuted under ordinary
laws. Fines and punitive police posts were also imposed as collective pun-
ishment on villages whose nationalists committed illegal acts. Revenue of-
ficials were instructed to use force to collect the land tax, arrest defaulters,
and seize their property.

These measures reduced the general level of political activity in Peshawar
Valley but at the cost of increasing the nationalists’ intransigence. The Khu-
dai Khidmatgars treated each new restriction and punitive act as a violation
of the Delhi Pact. By July, Abdul Ghaffar Khan started to threaten to “re-
commence war against the Government” on the grounds that the truce had
become a farce.** Conditions proved to be more tractable in the other dis-
tricts where the nationalist protest was fueled mainly by local issues. The
government had few problems in Hazara since the district’s non-Pakhtun in-
habitants were indifferent to the Khudai Khidmatgars. In the three southern

30. BP. ““The Red Shirt Movement in the NWFP”’ p. 5.

31. PJ7/17, 1931. Part I1. No. 3812. Letter 325(i)-F/31, 7/23/31. Foreign Department 10
NWE

32. PJ7/17,1931. Parc I1. No. 3812. Telegram 1993-L, 7/27/31. Chief Commissioner to For-
eign Department.

33. See PJ7/17, 1931. Part 11. No. 3147, 3632, 3803, 4342, and 4658. Section 144 prohib-
ited all meetings and processions, except of a religious nature, for a period of up to two
months.

34. FR7/31(D).
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districts, judicious concessions on local grievances, selective arrests, fines,
and Section 144 caused political activity to subside by September.*® The
government was also helped by communal rioting which began in Dera Is-
mail Khan city on August 12th with a quarrel between a Hindu shopkeeper
and Muslim customer and spread to the other towns in the district.*® These
disturbances diverted public attention in Dera Ismail Khan from nationalist
questions and alienated its Hindu population from the Muslim-dominated
nationalist movement, especially since Khudai Khidmatgars plaved a prom-
inent part in the rioting in some places. The minorities in Bannu and Kohat
also became less receptive to the nationalist campaign for fear that it might
lead to communal violence in their own districts.

The Government of India assisted the NWFP administration by asking
Gandhi to restrain Abdul Ghaffar Khan. It pointed out to him that it might
otherwise have to sanction a repressive policy in the Frontier. While warning
that the Delhi truce would collapse if the Khudai Khidmatgars were sup-
pressed, Gandhi repeatedly urged Abdul Ghaffar Khan to refrain from pro-
voking the authorities.®” His counsel had a moderating effect on the Frontier
leader, for the two had established a close personal relationship which re-
sembled that between a psr and his murid. Like a religious disciple, Abdul
Ghaffar Khan implicitly accepted the virtue of Gandhi’s teaching, copied
his personal behavior, and placed great reliance on his political advice.

Factionalism Among the Frontier Nationalists

In early May, Mian Abdullah Shah and Mian Jafar Shah resigned from the
Afghan Jirga. Motivated by personal grievances, their defections had few re-
percussions, but they did foreshadow more serious conflict within the Fron-
tier nationalist movement. Dissension developed as the Afghan Jirga and In-
dian National Congress tried to place their association on a sound
organizational basis. Their pact in 1930 had laid down only the broad prin-
ciples governing their cooperation, creating an amorphous arrangement
which functioned satisfactorily only as long as civil disobedience subordi-
nated questions of party position and power to the need for unity. Once civil
disobedience was suspended, the alliance’s ambiguity raised two interre-
lated questions which became the focus for organizational disputes: What
should be the relationship between the Afghan Jirga and the old Provincial

35. FR8/31(1I) and FR9/31(1).

36. “Report of the Enquiry Committee of the Rioting that Occurred in Dera Ismail Khan
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PJ7/3891. No. 4540, 4066, and 5248; and FR8/31(II).
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Chicf Commissioner to Foreign Department. D.G. Tendulkar, Abdu/ Ghaffar Khan (Bom-
bay: Popular Prakashan, 1967), pp. 91-92, 105, and 114-18.
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Congress Committee (PCC), and should the Afghan Jirga merge into the
Indian National Congress?

The Frontier’s urban and rural nationalists had always had an ambivalent
relationship. Ethnic and cultural differences produced intrinsically diver-
gent outlooks. Additionally, the urban nationalists felt intellectually superior
due to their much higher levels of education, while the rural movement con-
tained a strong streak of anti-intellectualism.>® These factors alone would
have created tensions between the Khudai Khidmatgars and the PCC. In
combination with the dispute over organizational precedence, they led toan
urban-rural schism in Peshawar, Kohat, and Dera Ismail Khan. The urban-
rural alliance of 1930 only remained intact in Bannu, where the ethnic cleav-
ages between town and countryside were not as sharp.

The eventual outcome of the conflict was never in serious doubt since the
Indian National Congress’ position in the NWFP depended upon its ties to
the Khudai Khidmatgars. The PCC, by comparison, contributed little to its
strength, as one Congress emissary wrote Nehru: ‘. . . the PCC shows a lot
on paper, but Abdul Ghaffar Khan’s [party] shows practical results.”*® The
Peshawar city politicians who dominated the PCC, nonetheless, refused to
be consigned to a secondary role in what they considered their own party.
They argued that the Khudai Khidmatgars did not accept the Congress ide-
als, were exploiting the alliance for parochial and communal ends, and
threatened the Delhi Pact with their militancy.*® Underneath, however, their
objections stemmed from their personal loss of power.

For three months after the Delhi Pact, Khudai Khidmatgar leaders were
too busy rebuilding their own party to institutionalize their ties to the Con-
gress. Coordination between the two parties continued on an informal, un-
structured basis. The members of the PCC objected to this arrangement
since it deprived them of authority over the rapidly expanding rural move-
ment. When private attempts at mediation failed, Dr. C.C. Ghosh, the PCC
President, forced the issue on May 14th by declaring publicly:

I am much pleased to note that. . . responsible leaders of the Afghan
Jirga now avowedly declare that their league is a part and parcel of the
Indian National Congress and that the Khudai Khidmatgar are Congress
volunteers. So far this confession lacks confirmation. I have made a
thorough search through the Provincial Congress records and am of the
opinion that this organisation has no constitutional connection whatso-
ever with the Congress and has never followed the instructions of the
FCC....*"
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In conclusion, he offered to resign his office in favor of Abdul Ghaffar Khan
to facilitate the Afghan Jirga’s merger into the Congress. Ghosh’s offer was
presented as a principled sacrifice for the good of the nationalist cause, but
it was actually a strategy by which the old Congressmen sought to gain con-
trol over the rural nationalists. Since only the party presidency would have
changed hands, Abdul Ghaffar Khan would have presided over a party ex-
ecutive dominated by Peshawar city politicians. The Peshawaris anticipated
that he (and his movement) would thereby become bound by the will of their
PCC majority.*

Abdul Ghaffar Khan declined Ghosh’s proposal and nominated Mian Ah-
mad Shah, the Afghan Jirga’s General-Secretary, in his place. After he was
elected PCC President on May 31st, Mian Ahmad Shah tried to dictate to
the PCC since he recognized that he would be outvoted if democratic pro-
cedures prevailed. He insisted that since he represented the province’s ma-
jor party, the Frontier Congress should submit unquestioningly to his au-
thority. The Peshawar Congressmen, led by Ali Gul Khan and Pir Bakhsh
Khan, the PCC Vice-President and General-Secretary respectively, not only
refused but tried to give orders to the Khudai Khidmatgar volunteers.*

Within three weeks, both sides tried to read the other out of the party.*!
Mian Ahmad Shah expelled Pir Bakhsh Khan and several other Peshawaris
from the PCC on June 19th, and packed the committee with his own rural
partisans. The old Congressmen retaliated six days later by meeting in a
rump session and deposing him as PCC President. Abdul Ghaffar Khan per-
suaded both sides to rescind their expulsions at the end of June, but he could
not mediate the fundamental issues dividing them since he was identified
with one of the parties in the dispute. For the next six weeks, the PCC re-
mained bitterly split and paralyzed.

The Peshawaris’ relations with the Khudai Khidmatgars grew even more
embittered as their rural rivals encroached upon their urban power base.
The Khudai Khidmatgars moved into the city in June, with Dr. Khan Sahib,
Abdul Ghaffar Khan's elder brother, serving as their chief organizer. They
bypassed the Congress altogether and set up their own organization which
quickly enlisted more members than the PCC had. The Khudai Khidmat-
gars found a ready-made constituency among Peshawar’s Pakhtun laborers,
who were disposed towards its ethnic nationalism, and especially among
handcart operators who were angered by taxes which made their ordinarily
marginal businesses precarious.*

Unable to compete on their own, the urban Congressmen looked to the
Congress High Command for help. In June, they persuaded an emissary of
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the Working Committee to report on the potential political and communal
dangers of the Khudai Khidmatgars. The next month, they prepared a report
of their own which concluded that the independence movement would suffer
rather than gain from the Khudai Khidmatgars.** Gandhi sent his own son,
Devadas, to the NWFP on July 27th to assess the situation. The Peshawaris
first tried to convert him to their side. When it became clear that he favored
Abdul Ghaffar Khan, they telegraphed the AICC that he was biased and un-
trustworthy.*’ Devadas stressed the strength of the Khudai Khidmatgars in
his report and their commitment to non-violence. He discounted the old
PCC’s objections as primarily the result of jealousy:

The Congressmen find work taken out of their hands by the Khudai
Khidmatgar movement which has taken everything by storm. They are
reluctant to join the movement on grounds of prestige as also because
they do not regard it as a Congress movement.*®

In conclusion, he stated that the open friction between the two parties was
detrimental to the nationalist movement in the Frontier and recommended
that they be consolidated into a single Provincial Congress organization.

The Working Committee arranged the merger with representatives of
both parties at the AICC meetings in Bombay in early August. The terms of
the union, however, only prolonged the dissension due to their ambiguous
wording.*” The Working Committee had stated that while the new organi-
zation would be the Provincial Congress Committee, it could also be called
the ““Provincial Jirga.” The old PCC argued that the party should be known
as the Congress Committee, with sirga appended in brackets. The Afghan
Jirga wanted the names in the reverse order. This was more than a semantic
issue. It was a question of who should merge with whom. Members of the
party that was dissolved would have to apply for admission in the other.
Members of the one that remained intact would have the power to scrutinize
the applications and run the new organizational elections. Acting unilater-
ally, the Afghan Jirga’s Central Council directed its branches on August 23rd
to hold new elections to the PCC. The urban Congressmen protested since
the order deprived them of any further voice in the party. A second issue
arose over the location of the party’s offices, a point on which the Working
Committee had taken no position. The Afghan Jirga Council voted to locate
them in Utmanzai. The old PCC appealed this decision as well, hoping to
keep them in Peshawar city where its strength relative to its rival was great-
est.
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The question which brought the dissension to a head concerned the au-
thority of Abdul Ghaffar Khan. The Working Committee had decided that
he should ‘‘shoulder the burden of leading the Congress movement in the
Province.”*® With this mandate, Abdul Ghaffar Khan demanded that the old
Congressmen resign from the PCC in early September. When they refused,
on the grounds that he did not have the authority he claimed, he simply re-
moved them. The old PCC asked the High Command for a ruling on the
legitimacy of his actions and, in the interim, continued to function as a sep-
arate body. Abdul Ghaffar Khan, in turn, wrote to Sardar Patel, the AICC
President, that the time had come for the Congress to choose between the
two parties since he could no longer work with the old Congressmen.®'
While waiting for an answer, he once more demanded that the Peshawaris
resign. When they still refused, the Khudai Khidmatgars took the issue to
the streets. Repudiating an agreement the PCC had just reached with city
merchants, they started to picket Peshawar’s cloth stores on September
16th, including Dr. Ghosh’s swadeshi shop.

With compromise no longer a possibility, the Congress Working Commit-
tee sided with Abdul Ghaffar Khan.? At the start of October, Sardar Patel
delegated to him sole authority to reconstitute the PCC and ordered the old
Congressmen to follow his orders. Abdul Ghaffar Khan dissolved both or-
ganizations on October 15th and appointed provisional officers drawn pri-
marily from his adherents. Out of twenty-four members in the new PCC,
only five had belonged to the old Congress. In contrast, Charsadda 7ZeAss/
alone provided six of its members, while another five were Afghan Jirga
workers from Mardan. The rest were Afghan Jirga supporters from the outer
districts. In protest, the entire old Peshawar Congress leadership, twenty-
one men in all, resigned from the party.>

The Bombay accord also brought longstanding tensions within the rural
movement itself into the open. Abdul Akbar Khan and Mian Ahmad Shah,
who had served as president and secretary of the Anjuman-i-Islah-ul-Afagh-
anta and Afghan Jirga, considered themselves the equals of Abdul Ghaffar
Khan, but they had found themselves increasingly deprived of power after
the Delhi Pact as he consolidated his own political position.>* Their orga-
nizational base, the Afghan Jirga, had been downgraded in favor of his Khu-
dai Khidmatgars. Their authority had been undercut by his reliance on other
associates, most notably Qazi Attaullah, Amir Muhammad Khan of Mardan,
and his relatives, Dr. Khan Sahib and Saadullah Khan. Mian Ahmad Shah
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had also been offended by Abdul Ghaffar Khan’s less than wholehearted
support during his own dispute with the PCC. The Bombay agreement ren-
dered these personal grievances acute by concentrating party power solely in
Abdul Ghaffar Khan's hands. The two men also opposed the merger on
principle.* They feared that Pakhtun interests would be ignored within the
Congress. As a separate party, they believed the Afghan Jirga could maintain
its leverage over the Congress since it could always strike out on its own if
its needs and desires were disregarded. They were also apprehensive that
their party might be religiously discredited by being identified too closely
with the Congress. As it was, the party’s opponents had already started to
attack its members as Hindu agents and traitors to Islam.*®

The two men broke away from Abdul Ghaffar Khan in mid-September
and started their own Afghan Jirga, which they claimed was the true spirit-
ual heir to the original Pakhtun movement. After the split, the two attacked
Abdul Ghaffar Khan in the press. Abdul Akbar Khan, for instance, wrote in
Zamindar, a Lahore newspaper, that ‘‘the blunders that have been commit-
ted by that worshipper of Hindus, Abdul Ghaffar Khan, by subjecting the
Khudai Khidmatgars to the control of the Congress . . . [have] destroyed the
future of the Muslims and Afghans.”>’

No other important leader and few members of the rank-and-file left the
party with Abdul Akbar Khan and Mian Ahmad Shah.*>® Nor was their sub-
sequent campaign to discredit their former colleagues successful, for Abdul
Ghaffar Khan’s personal reputation was at its zenith and the Khudai Khid-
matgars’ identification with Pakhtun interests was too strong to be open to
question. In the long run, therefore, their defection had little effect on the
Frontier Congress. The resignation of the old Congressmen proved more
damaging since it significantly diminished the support the nationalist move-
ment received from the Frontier Province’s urban and non-Pakhtun resi-
dents.

After the dissension with the Peshawaris came to a head, the Frontier Con-
gress still managed to enlist a substantial number of new members in Pesh-
awar city, but the composition of the recruits demonstrated the inherent lim-
itations imposed by its Pakhtun character.®® Most of its members in the city
were Pakhtun laborers and handcart peddlers. Few non-Pakhtuns, particu-
larly those belonging to the city’s predominantly non-Pakhtun, educated
elite, supported the party after the Afghan Jirga-PCC split. Elsewhere, the
party’s lack of appeal to non-Pakhtuns was most vividly demonstrated by
Abdul Ghaffar Khan’s tour of Hazara in early November. Few new members
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were enrolled; some meetings had to be cancelled due to local opposition;
and those that were held were poorly attended, even in Mansehra Zefss/
where the number of Pakhtuns was greatest. Abdul Ghaffar Khan was him-
self partly to blame, for he treated his audiences in a condescending manner.
He maligned Punjabis although the district had largely adopted their cul-
ture, and he insisted on speaking Pashtu although few people in his audi-
ences could understand it. At one stop, for example, he patronizingly told

his listeners:

... when we will have our Self-Government, we will have evervthing in
pushto. . . . Therefore, I say that try to learn your mother tongue. . . . As
you have forgotten pushto so you are no longer Pathans. . . . I say that the
Pathans of Hazara have forgotten the language and lack the morals
which a Pathan possesses.°

In a larger sense, however, it was Abdul Ghaffar Khan’s message which ren-
dered him ineffectual. His insistence on Pakhtun rights and values reflected
the uncompromising ethnocentric core of his party. Few of Hazara’s non-
Pakhtun and deculturized Pakhtun inhabitants could be expected to re-
spond favorably to his repeated declaration: ““This country belongs to a Pa-
than [sic] and the Pathans will rule over it, and nobody else has a right to
govern it.’®'

The Collapse of the Gandhi-Irwin Compromise
in the North-West Frontier Province

The last four months of 1931 were marked by a general expectation in the
Frontier that a second round of civil disobedience was imminent. This an-
ticipation, however, did not translate into stepped-up activity uniformly
throughout the province. When the authorities spoke of conditions border-
ing on open rebellion, or the nationalists of popular resistance to British
rule, they were generalizing from the conditions in Peshawar. The rest of the
province witnessed a moderating trend in its politics.” The nationalists’
strength in Dera Ismail Khan had been dissipated by arrests, Section 144
orders, and communal rioting. The Bannu Congress could not expand be-
yond its Bannuchi base. It failed to appeal to the Marwats and Wazirs, while
the religious minorities withdrew from nationalist politics due to communal
fears. In Kohat, the nationalists had reached the limits of their growth in the
countryside by August, while political activity in Kohat city subsided after
the Dera Ismail Khan riots and the defection of the old Congressmen from
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the movement. Making a virtue of necessity, the Kohat Congress issued in-
structions to its members in early September to abstain from further activity
until the outcome of the Round Table Conference in Great Britain was
known.*

The rising tempo of Peshawar politics was directly related to the fading
hopes for the Round 'Table Conference. Neither the Khudai Khidmatgars nor
the Frontier authorities had paid more than lip service to the Delhi Pact, for
neither viewed compromise as possible or even desirable. Both had tolerated
the stalemate the settlement had created only because the Congress and
Government of India had insisted that all peaceful avenues be exhausted be-
fore reverting to force. At the end of August, Gandhi sailed for Great Britain
where he spent two fruitless months at the Round Table Conference. As the
news from London pointed increasingly toward its failure, the Frontier na-
tionalists’ impatience with the Delhi Pact grew and, correspondingly, their
readiness to abide by it diminished.

In Peshawar city alone, there were twenty-seven major processions, nine
large public meetings, and one 4arra/ in September and October. Khudai
Khidmatgars picketed cloth and liquor shops continuously, intimidated some
into closing, and imposed fines on others for remaining open. They also
tried to disrupt the trials of men indicted for political crimes and initiated a
campaign to withhold payment of municipal taxes.®* In the countryside, the
Khudai Khidmatgars largely paralyzed the civil administration. Resigna-
tions from the subordinate ranks of the bureaucracy increased. The police
operated with great difficulty since they lacked public support. Revenue col-
lections continued to decline. In the Daudzai fappa of Peshawar Teksi/, the
Khudai Khidmatgars openly set up a parallel tax system to collect the land
revenue at reduced rates and funnel it into their treasury. Elsewhere, they
were more circumspect, counselling people to contend that they could not,
rather than would not, pay. The results, however, were still the same. Col-
lections never rose above half the level of assessment during the fall.*® The
Khudai Khidmatgars also started agitating against the use of canal water on
the grounds that the abiana (water rate) was too high. While few farmers
could do without canal irrigation, the campaign did lead to a drastic reduc-
tion in popular willingness to pay the abiana.*®

The government’s attitude also hardened with the impasse in London.
Before he left India, Gandhi warned that the Congress would treat any ac-
tion against Abdul Ghaffar Khan or his movement as grounds for reviving
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civil disobedience.®’ Sir Ralph Griffith, who became Chief Commissioner
on Pears’ accidental death in September, nonetheless continued his prede-
cessor’s campaign for action against the Khudai Khidmatgars. His persist-
ence began to pay off when the Government of India instructed him on Sep-
tember 25th to prepare contingency plans in case coercive measures became
necessary.®® Until that day came, however, it ordered him to deal with the
nationalist campaign as best he could under the existing laws. The measures
he could take, however, had lost their utility. He relied primarily upon Sec-
tion 144 of the Criminal Procedure Code to ban political gatherings. At first,
the Khudai Khidmatgars maintained the appearance of observing Section
144 by taking advantage of a loophole allowing religious meetings. Gather-
ings were held in mosques and given a religious coloration. By November,
however, even this veneer had worn thin, and Abdul Ghaffar Khan had be-
gun to urge his audiences to defy the orders altogether.*”

The Second Round Table Conference ended in failure on December 1st,
removing the last rationale for the Delhi settlement. So far as many Con-
gressmen were concerned, the outcome of the conference demonstrated the
uselessness of relying on negotiations to achieve their objectives. In the
Frontier, as in other parts of India, events rapidly moved toward a confron-
tation. Abdul Ghaffar Khan conducted one last tour through Peshawar Valley
in the last two weeks of December, holding meetings and reviewing Khudai
Khidmatgar processions in deliberate defiance of orders prohibiting public
gatherings under Section 144 of the Criminal Procedure Code. Griffith once
more asked, on December 10th, for permission to suppress the Khudai
Khidmatgars. In addition to his old arguments about deteriorating law and
order, he cited the promise which Prime Minister Ramsay MacDonald had
made at the close of the Round Table Conference that the NWFP would be
given reforms equal to those enjoyed by other provinces as soon as possible.
He argued that it would be impossible to implement constitutional changes
unless he was allowed to stamp out the Khudai Khidmatgars and restore the
government’s authority.”® This time the Government of India gave its con-
sent because the failure of the Round Table Conference seemed to have de-
stroyed the last chance for a peaceful settlement with the Congress.”’

On December 20th, the Province Jirga (FPCC) officially rejected any po-

67. PJ7/17, 1931. Part I1. No. 4501. Telegram 2307-S, 9/14/31. Foreign Department to Sec-
retary of State.

68. PJ7/17, 1931. Part II. No. 5013. Telegram 2418-S, 9/27/31. Foreign Department to
Chief Commissioner.

69. FR11/31(I).

70. PJ7/5612, 1931. No. 5861. Telegram 3133-S, 12/18/31. Foreign Department to Secre-
tary of State.

71. PJ7/5612, 1931. No. 5905. Telegram 1/C, 12/18/31. Foreign Department to Chief Com-
missioner,



118 Ethnicsty, Natsonalism, and the Pakhtuns

litical reforms short of complete independence.”? Abdul Ghaffar Khan, along
with his brother, Dr. Khan Sahib, was instructed to decline an invitation to
a provincial durbar at which the governor planned to announce his plans for
reforms. Instead, he was asked to go to the AICC meeting set for December
29th in Bombay to seek permission to renew civil disobedience. Confident
of a positive reply, the party scheduled a mass meeting for January 1, 1932,
to commence the agitation. Griffith decided to act first, as he explained ina
telegram to the Government of India on December 22nd:

I must impress upon Government of India that I now consider the situ-
ation critical. Failure to anticipate Red Shirt action, as proposed, will
probably lead to successful launching of calculated Red Shirt cam-
paign, which cannot but gather momentum once launched.”

The government’s crackdown began on December 24th. It removed the
Frontier Congress’ leadership, depleted its rank-and-file, and overawed the
general public. Only scattered and ineffectual underground nationalist cells
survived, precluding the possibility of civil disobedience on the scale of
1930.

The rapidity with which the authorities regained control of events was a
mark of the thoroughness of their preparations. The contrast with their un-
preparedness and complacency in April 1930 could not have been more com-
plete. Ten months of intensive efforts at gathering intelligence gave Grif-
fith’s administration a detailed picture of the Frontier movement. It had a
list of almost 4,000 wanted men by December 1931, graded according to
their importance.” Arrests began on the night of December 24th after the
Government of India had issued three emergency ordinances applicable to
the NWFP and declared both the Frontier Congress and Khudai Khidmat-
gars illegal. Abdul Ghaffar Khan, Dr. Khan Sahib, Saadullah Khan, and
Qazi Attaullah of Mardan, the four top nationalist leaders, were arrested un-
der Regulation I1I of 1818 and deported to prisons in northern India without
trial. The next morning the assault on the Khudai Khidmatgars’ strongholds
began in earnest.

Civil disobedience had caught the government without a coherent strategy
or adequate security forces in 1930. In 1931, detailed contingency plans ex-
isted, and the necessary manpower was assembled and briefed in advance.
Six “civil disorder” columns were formed in Peshawar Valley, each consist-
ing of a large body of police backed by a contingent of troops.” One was
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deployed in Peshawar city; the others were dispatched to the Valley's five
tehsils. All six began operations on Christmas day according to a timetable
specifying which villages to search and when. They were also given tactical
instructions which reflected the lessons learned in 1930. The troops in-
vested each village before dawn. The police then conducted a house-to-
house search to arrest nationalist leaders, seize their party records, close
their offices, and collect revenue arrears. Elsewhere in the province, the
government created columns as the need arose.’® One was formed in Kohat
to operate around the district town after a clash between Khudai Khidmat-
gars and troops left fourteen dead and thirty wounded on December 26th.
Another was mobilized before the year’s end to restore order in the Miranzai
Valley, and a third was sent through Khattak country. Police dealt with the
Congress in the town of Bannu without military assistance, but when civil
disobedience started to spread to the Bannuchi countryside, a column was
despatched to the region. The authorities in Dera Ismail Khan employed a
column only in Tank Zé4s:/, while in Hazara, the regular security forces dealt
with the nationalists without military assistance.

By the end of January, arrests totalling 5,697 had disrupted the Khudai
Khidmatgar movement’s infrastructure and eliminated its leadership from
the central council down to the village branches.”” Except during the pro-
vincial legislative elections in April 1932, civil disobedience in Peshawar
henceforth consisted of sporadic, localized disturbances. Outside the Valley,
the last signs of open defiance disappeared altogether. A further indication
of the change in the political climate was the record revenue collection made
in January. Part was recovered by force, but most people simply started to
pay their back taxes on seeing that the government would no longer tolerate
evasion. This trend continued throughout the rest of the 1931-32 fiscal year,
which ended with 85.31 percent of the total demand being realized, a dra-
matic rise from the 48 percent collected the year before.”

The authorities started to let up on their sweeping use of force in Febru-
ary. The “‘civil disorder’’ columns were disbanded and the emergency ordi-
nances withdrawn in all districts except Peshawar, where they were used
sparingly for the rest of the year. The number of political arrests declined
sharply. By the end of January, 2,616 people had been seized under the or-
dinances and 3,081 under regular laws. During the rest of the year, only 63
more were detained under the ordinances, while 2,254 were jailed under
regular laws.”® The government, moreover, started to release political pris-
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oners. One-third were freed by March and more than three-quarters by the
end of the year.® Many of the freed men had served out their sentences, but
almost one-third won early parole by apologizing for their past activities and
posting security against future activity.®’ Many of their colleagues at large
also petitioned to disassociate themselves from the nationalist movement.

Remembering the gravity of the tribal situation in 1930, Griffith’s admin-
istration paid close attention to the reaction across the administrative border
to civil disobedience. It depended primarily upon the tribal ma/iés to main-
tain peace, but just in case they failed, it also placed military units on
alert.®” Few of the tribesmen, in fact, were aroused by the renewed political
conflict in the province. The Afridis had only come to terms with the gov-
ernment in October 1931 and were in no mood to resume fighting. The Wa-
zirs, Mahsuds, Orakzais, and Kurram tribes were also reluctant to aid the
nationalists aid. Overt hostility was shown only by the Mohmands and tribes
of Bajaur.® The Haji of Turangzai raised a Jaskkar of over 1,000 Upper Moh-
mands in the closing days of 1931, but internal dissension, the threat of air
reprisals, bad weather, Ramzan, and the refusal of the Lower Mohmands to
cooperate all contributed to its dispersal by January 15th. With the encour-
agement of the Khudai Khidmatgars, the Haji of Turangzai reassembled his
tribal army in March and gained support from both the Mohmands in Af-
ghanistan and the tribesmen of Bajaur. The /ashkar, however, was diverted
into a traditional tribal feud. The Upper and Afghan Mohmands turned
against the Lower Mohmands, who received government subsidies for pro-
tecting the administrative border, on the pretext of opening the road to the
settled districts.™

Besides purely repressive measures, the provincial administration tried to
rally public support to its side. Aid was forthcoming without solicitation
from its old allies, the province’s senior Khans, and from Hindu and Sikh
businessmen. Therefore, the government’s propaganda was primarily de-
signed to win over the intelligentsia which had been hostile to it in 1930.
The authorities emphasized their commitment to reforms and their inability
to proceed with them in the face of the Khudai Khidmatgars’ campaign. Sir
Ralph Griffith set the tone on December 26, 1931, when he publicly de-
clared:
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Abdul Ghaffar Khan and his lieutenants have persistently rejected the
path of constitutional advance. ... They have deliberately used the
Delhi Settlement to organize a movement, the success of which would
not only cause chaos in the province but would make impossible any
scheme of constitutional reforms . . . the local Administration with full
support of the Government of India has been compelled to take meas-
ures to bring the movement under full control and to restore to the prov-
ince conditions in which the new constitution promised by the Prime
Minister can be introduced with the minimum of delay. To this, the
Chief Commissioner had pledged himself and his officers, but it is clear
that. . . in order to bring that promise to fruition it is necessary to re-
store order and respect for law.®

The intelligentsia, which was urban-based and heavily non-Pakhtun, re-
sponded to this appeal. Its members had been largely estranged from the
Congress by the ascendancy of Abdul Ghaffar Khan’s party. They were,
moreover, eager for reforms, for they considered themselves the logical men,
by virtue of their education, to sit in the proposed legislature and exercise
the powers it was to receive.

The only part of the NWFP where the Khudai Khidmatgars were too
firmly entrenched to be quickly subdued was Peshawar Valley. Although
they had been severely weakened, the Khudai Khidmatgars there still pos-
sessed the vitality to mount a campaign against the April elections to the
new Legislative Council. They characterized the reforms as a political sham
and anti-Islamic, and told the rural populace that the government would use
the voting as a sign of public support for evervthing from its repressive
methods to increased taxes.® During the five days of polling, which started
in Peshawar on April 7th, the Khudai Khidmatgars convinced many voters
not to cast their ballots. They also blocked access to the polling booths,
stoned vehicles carrying voters, tried to wreck polling stations, and as-
saulted candidates and government officers monitoring the elections. The
climax came in Mardan on April 12th:

Huge demonstrations took place at Katlang, Hoti-Mardan, Kalu Khan
and Rustam, and it is estimated that about 30,000 persons must have
taken part. ... There was no fire-arms, but most of the men were
armed with lathis. There was a great deal of stone throwing. Twenty-
one members of the police force and many of the voters received inju-
ries. . . . The crowd was most violent at Kalu Khan where the agent of
one of the candidates is reported to have been seized and tied to a tree.

85. Gol File 4/7, 1933. Statement by Chief Commissioner, 12/26/31, pp. 27-28.

86. “The First Elections in the North-West Frontier of India.”” Journa/ of the Royal Asian
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The police had to fire a few rounds at Katlang, at Mayar near Hoti and
at Kalu Khan.*

The nationalist campaign sharply curtailed voting in the Valley. Out of the
seven rural constituencies which were contested, the turnout in four was be-
low 16.5 percent and in two others around 40 percent.® In the rest of the
province, in contrast, the elections proceeded normally.

Although the boycott proved that the Khudai Khidmatgars were still a po-
tent force in Peshawar, it did not herald a return to the popular ferment of
the preceding two years. Peshawar Valley was never completely pacified be-
fore the Khudai Khidmatgars abandoned civil disobedience in 1934, but gov-
ernment vigilance kept their activities at a low level after the elections. The
authorities gradually deprived them of their remaining leadership. With the
arrest of Abdul Malik, the Provincial ‘‘Dictator,”” on September 26, 1932, all
of the movement’s original underground organizers, none of whom were ma-
jor political figures, had been captured.®” They were replaced by men of
even less political stature and ability. When top party leaders detained in
Haripur jail tried to smuggle instructions out to their colleagues, prison sur-
veillance was tightened to stop them. The government also arrested Con-
gress agents from other parts of India who, disguised as employees of repu-
table businesses, served as conduits for information, orders, and funds
between the provincial and all-India party leaders.”® At the village level, the
government relied primarily on its Khani allies to prevent open nationalist
activity, and when meetings or demonstrations did occur, it reacted strongly
with arrests and fines.

The government’s success in smothering civil disobedience can be meas-
ured by the Khudai Khidmatgars’ response. Increasingly, government pres-
sure drove them to organize activities at night or in places inaccessible to
the police, and even those expedients frequently failed to prevent detection
and retribution. By 1933, civil disobedience had become so singularly inef-
fective that its continuation made little practical sense. Its value lay only in
being a statement of defiance—that no matter how complete the physical
repression, intellectual and spiritual opposition to British rule could not be
eliminated. In this vein, the underground party leaders declared on Decem-
ber 25, 1932: “Even if the Government hangs us, we shall continue Civil
Disobedience (non-violent warfare) until the time when the Government
agrees to all the demands of Mohatma Gandhi and Khan Abdul Ghaffgr
Khan."*' The agitation continued fitfully until Gandhi suspended mass civil
disobedience in May 1933. His announcement disabled the remnants of the
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91. AICC File P-16, 1932. Weekly Report from Peshawar District, 12/28/32.
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Frontier movement, creating a split between the central committee which
was ready to abide by the decision and dissidents who felt betrayed.®* The
differences were temporarily composed and demonstrations fitfully re-
sumed, but dissension over the party’s future reemerged by the fall.

The issue was ultimately resolved with the wholesale release from jail of
high-ranking party officials in late 1933.% A consensus existed among those
men that civil disobedience had become counterproductive and served only
to stiffen the government’s determination to prevent their party from reviv-
ing in any form. Rather than condemn themselves to a perpetual political
limbo, they wanted to redirect their energies into constitutional channels
where they hoped to win what they had failed to achieve through non-coop-
eration. Their view prevailed in March 1934 when the Frontier Congress ac-
cepted the Indian National Congress’ decision to abandon civil disobedi-
ence for legislative politics.”

The provincial authorities, however, remained skeptical about the nation-
alists’ intentions. From May 1933, when it became evident that the Indian
National Congress would regain the right to act freely, they had lobbied for
an indefinite retention of the ban on its Frontier branch. The events of 1930-
31 had left the indelible impression that the Khudai Khidmatgars were fanat-
ics who could not be allowed any latitude. ‘‘Red Shirtism,” they told the
Government of India, ‘‘was an excess—an ‘abscess’ on the body politic, the
elimination and continued absence of which alone makes normal growth
possible.” It was their pessimistic view that even if the Congress aban-
doned civil disobedience, the Khudai Khidmatgars would undo the hard-
won peace achieved since 1931 on the first sign of government relaxation,
embark on a socially disruptive campaign against the Khans, engulf the
tribal area in turmoil, and unsettle relations with Afghanistan. In short, the
provincial authorities argued, the Khudai Khidmatgars would recreate the
conditions of 1930-31, when *‘the slightest unforeseen contingency might
have led to bloodshed such as has hardly been seen in India since the begin-
ning of British rule.”* The Government of India accepted the provincial au-
thorities’ position, even though it realized that it would invite public criti-
cism by doing so. When it lifted the ban on the Congress in July 1934, it
retained the notification against its NWFP branch.
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oners. One-third were freed by March and more than three-quarters by the
end of the year.® Many of the freed men had served out their sentences, but
almost one-third won early parole by apologizing for their past activities and
posting security against future activity.®’ Many of their colleagues at large
also petitioned to disassociate themselves from the nationalist movement.

Remembering the gravity of the tribal situation in 1930, Griffith’s admin-
istration paid close attention to the reaction across the administrative border
to civil disobedience. It depended primarily upon the tribal ma/i4s to main-
tain peace, but just in case they failed, it also placed military units on
alert.®” Few of the tribesmen, in fact, were aroused by the renewed political
conflict in the province. The Afridis had only come to terms with the gov-
ernment in October 1931 and were in no mood to resume fighting. The Wa-
zirs, Mahsuds, Orakzais, and Kurram tribes were also reluctant to aid the
nationalists aid. Overt hostility was shown only by the Mohmands and tribes
of Bajaur.®® The Haji of Turangzai raised a /ashkar of over 1,000 Upper Moh-
mands in the closing days of 1931, but internal dissension, the threat of air
reprisals, bad weather, Ramzan, and the refusal of the LLower Mohmands to
cooperate all contributed to its dispersal by January 15th. With the encour-
agement of the Khudai Khidmatgars, the Hay of Turangzai reassembled his
tribal army in March and gained support from both the Mohmands in Af-
ghanistan and the tribesmen of Bajaur. The /gshkar, however, was diverted
into a traditional tribal feud. The Upper and Afghan Mohmands turned
against the Lower Mohmands, who received government subsidies for pro-
tecting the administrative border, on the pretext of opening the road to the
settled districts.®

Besides purely repressive measures, the provincial administration tried to
rally public support to its side. Aid was forthcoming without solicitation
from its old allies, the province’s senior Khans, and from Hindu and Sikh
businessmen. Therefore, the government’s propaganda was primarily de-
signed to win over the intelligentsia which had been hostile to it in 1930.
The authorities emphasized their commitment to reforms and their inability
to proceed with them in the face of the Khudai Khidmatgars’ campaign. Sit
Ralph Griffith set the tone on December 26, 1931, when he publicly de-
clared:
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Abdul Ghaffar Khan and his lieutenants have persistently rejected the
path of constitutional advance. ... They have deliberately used the
Delhi Settlement to organize a movement, the success of which would
not only cause chaos in the province but would make impossible any
scheme of constitutional reforms . . . the local Administration with full
support of the Government of India has been compelled to take meas-
ures to bring the movement under full control and to restore to the prov-
ince conditions in which the new constitution promised by the Prime
Minister can be introduced with the minimum of delay. To this, the
Chief Commissioner had pledged himself and his officers, butit s clear
that. . . in order to bring that promise to fruition it is necessary to re-
store order and respect for law.*

The intelligentsia, which was urban-based and heavily non-Pakhtun, re-
sponded to this appeal. Its members had been largely estranged from the
Congress by the ascendancy of Abdul Ghaffar Khan’s party. They were,
moreover, eager for reforms, for they considered themselves the logical men,
by virtue of their education, to sit in the proposed legislature and exercise
the powers it was to receive.

The only part of the NWFP where the Khudai Khidmatgars were too
firmly entrenched to be quickly subdued was Peshawar Valley. Although
they had been severely weakened, the Khudai Khidmatgars there still pos-
sessed the vitality to mount a campaign against the April elections to the
new Legislative Council. They characterized the reforms as a political sham
and anti-Islamic, and told the rural populace that the government would use
the voting as a sign of public support for everything from its repressive
methods to increased taxes. During the five days of polling, which started
in Peshawar on April 7th, the Khudai Khidmatgars convinced many voters
not to cast their ballots. They also blocked access to the polling booths,
stoned vehicles carrying voters, tried to wreck polling stations, and as-
saulted candidates and government officers monitoring the elections. The
climax came in Mardan on April 12th:

Huge demonstrations took place at Katlang, Hoti-Mardan, Kalu Khan
and Rustam, and it is estimated that about 30,000 persons must have
taken part. ... There was no fire-arms, but most of the men were
armed with lathis. There was a great deal of stone throwing. Twenty-
one members of the police force and many of the voters received inju-
ries. . . . The crowd was most violent at Kalu Khan where the agent of
one of the candidates is reported to have been seized and tied to a tree.

85. Gol File 4/7, 1933. Statement by Chief Commissioner, 12/26/31, pp. 27-28.
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The police had to fire a few rounds at Katlang, at Mayar near Hoti and
at Kalu Khan.*

The nationalist campaign sharply curtailed voting in the Valley. Out of the
seven rural constituencies which were contested, the turnout in four was be-
low 16.5 percent and in two others around 40 percent.®® In the rest of the
province, in contrast, the elections proceeded normally.

Although the boycott proved that the Khudai Khidmatgars were still a po-
tent force in Peshawar, it did not herald a return to the popular ferment of
the preceding two years. Peshawar Valley was never completely pacified be-
fore the Khudai Khidmatgars abandoned civil disobedience in 1934, but gov-
ernment vigilance kept their activities at a low level after the elections. The
authorities gradually deprived them of their remaining leadership. With the
arrest of Abdul Malik, the Provincial *‘Dictator,” on September 26, 1932, all
of the movement’s original underground organizers, none of whom were ma-
jor political figures, had been captured.®® They were replaced by men of
even less political stature and ability. When top party leaders detained in
Haripur jail tried to smuggle instructions out to their colleagues, prison sur-
veillance was tightened to stop them. The government also arrested Con-
gress agents from other parts of India who, disguised as employees of repu-
table businesses, served as conduits for information, orders, and funds
between the provincial and all-India party leaders.” At the village level, the
government relied primarily on its Khani allies to prevent open nationalist
activity, and when meetings or demonstrations did occur, it reacted strongly
with arrests and fines.

The government’s success in smothering civil disobedience can be meas-
ured by the Khudai Khidmatgars’ response. Increasingly, government pres-
sure drove them to organize activities at night or in places inaccessible to
the police, and even those expedients frequently failed to prevent detection
and retribution. By 1933, civil disobedience had become so singularly inef-
fective that its continuation made little practical sense. Its value lay only in
being a statement of defiance— that no matter how complete the physical
repression, intellectual and spiritual opposition to British rule could not be
eliminated. In this vein, the underground party leaders declared on Decem-
ber 25, 1932: “Even if the Government hangs us, we shall continue Civil
Disobedience (non-violent warfare) until the time when the Government
agrees to all the demands of Mohatma Gandhi and Khan Abdul Ghaffgr
Khan.”®' The agitation continued fitfully until Gandhi suspended mass civil
disobedience in May 1933. His announcement disabled the remnants of the
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Frontier movement, creating a split between the central committee which
was ready to abide by the decision and dissidents who felt betrayed.*? The
differences were temporarily composed and demonstrations fitfully re-
sumed, but dissension over the party’s future reemerged by the fall.

The issue was ultimately resolved with the wholesale release from jail of
high-ranking party officials in late 1933.% A consensus existed among those
men that civil disobedience had become counterproductive and served only
to stiffen the government’s determination to prevent their party from reviv-
ing in any form. Rather than condemn themselves to a perpetual political
limbo, they wanted to redirect their energies into constitutional channels
where they hoped to win what they had failed to achieve through non-coop-
eration. Their view prevailed in March 1934 when the Frontier Congress ac-
cepted the Indian National Congress’ decision to abandon civil disobedi-
ence for legislative politics.”

The provincial authorities, however, remained skeptical about the nation-
alists’ intentions. From May 1933, when it became evident that the Indian
National Congress would regain the right to act freely, they had lobbied for
an indefinite retention of the ban on its Frontier branch. The events of 1930-
31 had left the indelible impression that the Khudai Khidmatgars were fanat-
ics who could not be allowed any latitude. *‘Red Shirtism,” they told the
Government of India, ‘‘was an excess—an ‘abscess’ on the body politic, the
elimination and continued absence of which alone makes normal growth
possible.”®® It was their pessimistic view that even if the Congress aban-
doned civil disobedience, the Khudai Khidmatgars would undo the hard-
won peace achieved since 1931 on the first sign of government relaxation,
embark on a socially disruptive campaign against the Khans, engulf the
tribal area in turmoil, and unsettle relations with Afghanistan. In short, the
provincial authorities argued, the Khudai Khidmatgars would recreate the
conditions of 1930-31, when ‘‘the slightest unforeseen contingency might
have led to bloodshed such as has hardly been seen in India since the begin-
ning of British rule.””*® The Government of India accepted the provincial au-
thorities’ position, even though it realized that it would invite public criti-
cism by doing so. When it lifted the ban on the Congress in July 1934, it
retained the notification against its NWFP branch.
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The provincial authorities were equally adamant that Abdul Ghaffar Khan
had to be kept out of the NWFP.*" The central government deferred to their
wishes on this point as well, externing Abdul Ghaffar Khan and Dr. Khan
Sahib from the NWFP and Punjab on their release from Hazaribagh Central
Jail in Bihar on August 27, 1934. In his first public appearance after his re-
lease, Abdul Ghaffar Khan gave a speech in Patna which the Bihar provincial
authorities considered seditious. However, they did not prosecute him since
they did not wish to seem vindictive by arresting him so soon after he had
been freed. The Government of India took a sterner view. It instructed all
the provinces to monitor his activities closely and prosecute him on the first
occasion he said anything falling within the definition of sedition.”® On De-
cember 7th, he was arrested in Bombay for a speech he had made in late
October to the Indian Christian Association. He stated at his trial that he
had not meant to break the law and apologized if he had done so unwittingly.
Nonetheless, he was found guilty of inciting people against the government
and sentenced to prison for two more years.”

By the time Abdul Ghaffar Khan was released again, conditions in the
NWFP had changed significantly. The provincial legislative council had
functioned for four years, giving the province a strong taste for legislative
politics. Further, the Frontier Congress had been revived with the expressed
intention of contesting the upcoming elections to the provincial assembly
promised under the 1935 Government of India Act.
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THE START OF PARTY
COMPETITION, 1932-1939

Repression represented only one side of the government’s policy after
1931. Even before civil disobedience had resumed, the provincial adminis-
tration had been preparing reforms in hopes of persuading people to adopt a
more moderate brand of constitutional politics. The first installment of re-
forms was inaugurated in April 1932 with the election of a legislature which
functioned through 1936. The new legislature paid little attention to nation-
alist issues, focusing instead on communal questions which embittered re-
lations between the province’s Muslims and minorities. Qutside the legis-
lative halls, as well, the issues and personalities which had dominated public
life in 1930-31 were temporarily eclipsed because of political repression.
Even after civil disobedience was called off in 1934, the provincial authori-
ties remained deeply suspicious of the Frontier Congress and allowed it to
resume public activity only gradually and begrudgingly, out of a recognition
that they needed its support if the new reforms then being planned were to
succeed.

The 1935 Government of India Act gave the North-West Frontier Province
its first popular government in 1937. After the governor tried unsuccessfully
to patch together a non-Congress coalition, the Frontier Congress, under Dr.
Khan Sahib’s leadership, assumed office. Over the next two years, party
leaders used their control of the government, as well as their revitalized or-
ganization, to promote the interests of their supporters, the junior Pakhtun
Khans and lower classes, at the expense of the province’s senior Khans. Un-
der this concerted attack, the senior Khans turned to the Muslim League.
They were joined by the province’s non-Pakhtuns who were alienated by the
Congress’ strong espousal of Pakhtun interests. Before World War II, how-
ever, the League was weak, badly organized, dominated by Khans who had
lost their traditional social influence, and dependent upon a communal rhet-
oric which was ineffective in the face of the Frontier Congress’ powerful ap-
peal to Pakhtun nationalism.

The 1932 Legislative Council

The NWFP was raised to the status of a Governor’s province under the
reforms of 1932 and given a legislature consisting of twenty-eight elected
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representatives (twenty-two Muslims, five Hindus, and one Sikh), six ap-
pointed officials, and six appointed non-officials. The Governor (formerly
Chief Commissioner) appointed two ministers who sat in the council but did
not serve at its will. An elected minister directed the affairs of the ““nation-
building” departments, while an official, called the Executive Councillor,
handled law and order, finance, land revenue, and the administrative estab-
lishment. Tribal policy remained a central subject under the direct control
of the Governor who served as the Agent to the Governor-General.

The elections to the legislature passed off smoothly in the second week
of April 1932, except in some Peshawar constituencies, allowing the Reforms
Officer to state that *‘the percentage of voting . . . compares most favourably
with any province in India.”' In the absence of the Congress, there was no
organized party in the elections, which fragmented into twenty-eight sepa-
rate races with little or no bearing on one another. Restrictive property qual-
ifications limited the electorate to four percent of the population and en-
sured a legislature dominated by conservative, wealthy men.?

The non-Muslims who were elected espoused a sectarian philosophy
characterized by a distrust of Muslims and a presentiment that the legisla-
tive council would prove disastrous for their communities. The preference
of the minority voters was best illustrated by the race in Peshawar where Raf
Sahib Mehr Chand Khanna, the Provincial Hindu Sadka leader, received a
three-to-one majority over C.C. Ghosh, the former PCC President.’
Khanna, a banker and urban landowner, had run as a defender of Hindu in-
terests, while Ghosh had downgraded communal questions and campaigned
as a representative of Congress opinion in a province where the Congress
was identified with the Pakhtun community. Similarly, Ras Sakib Rochi
Ram, a wealthy government contractor and the President of the Dera Ismail
Khan Hindu Sabha, scored an easy victory over Bhanju Ram Gandhi, an-
other former Congressman, in Dera Ismail Khan. Nationalist alternatives
were absent in the other minority constituencies and the leading candidates
fought the elections over who could best protect their communities from the
province’s Muslim majority.*

In the two urban Muslim constituencies, Pir Bakhsh, the former PCC
General-Secretary, and Malik Khuda Bakhsh were elected on the basis of
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their nationalist reputations. In the rural Muslim constituencies, in con-
trast, one’s nationalist credentials mattered less than the status of one’s fam-
ily and the strength of one’s gundi. All the successful candidates were mem-
bers or agents of the dominant elite in their constituencies, as were most of
their opponents.® The victors included two hereditary Nawabs and one ap-
pointed for life, two Arbabs, three other individuals from families of tribal
chieftains, one religious leader, and seven men of high tribal status. In se-
lecting the council’s nominated non-officials, the governor reinforced its
conservatism by appointing five Muslims with strong traditional standing.®

Local considerations dominated the campaign in all constituencies. Tribal
divisions or factional alignments determined the outcome in some, while re-
ligious issues materially influenced the results in others.” Most typically, the
elections pitted the families who were the wealthiest and had the highest
tribal status in a constituency against each other.® Three men associated
with the nationalist movement were elected, but in each case, family and
faction had a more important bearing on the outcome than voters’ patriotism.
For example, Habibullah Khan's record as a former Vice-President of the
Bannu Congress was of secondary importance in his election. He was vic-
torious principally because he had the backing of one of the two gundis into
which the Marwat tribe was divided. Similarly, Abdul Qaiyum Khan of Sa-
faida captured a seat in Hazara due to personal feuds and religious contro-
versies which split the strength of the leading Swathi Khans in his constitu-
ency.’

After the council convened, its members coalesced into four groups. ' Na-
tionalist opinion was represented, rather tepidly, by the eight members of
the Azad Party, with Malik Khuda Bakhsh as their leader. Nine Khans
formed the Liberal Party, while a combination of nine professionals and
Khans created the Progressive Party. The seven Hindus and Sikhs banded

5. Rittenberg,0p. cis., Appendix 1.

6. lbid.

7. For information on tribe and faction, see the examples of the constituencies of Hazara
Central, Hazara East, Inner Mansehra, Nowshera, and Bannu South in #44d. Religion was a
factor in three constituencies: Outer Mansehra, Nowshera, and Kohat West. /4:d.

8. For instance, Ardab Abdur Rahman Khan, who belonged to a collateral branch of the
titular chiefs of the Daudzai tribe, was elected in the Doaba-cum-Daudzai constituency in
Peshawar over two of the most prominent Khans in his tribe, Khalil-ur-Rahman of Khatki
and Mughal Khan of Jogani. /4id. For other examples, see the constituencies of Hashtnagar,
Mardan, and Dera Ismail Khan East.

9. See sbid. Also, interviews with Habibullah Khan and Ghulam Rabbani Khan. The
third individual with nationalist associations was Abdul Hamid Khan who belonged to the
leading family of the Kundi tribe in Dera Ismail Khan. He won in the NWFP Landholders
constituency where the electorate consisted of the wealthiest landowners (and some of the
staunchest opponents of nationalism) in the districts of Hazara, Kohat, Bannu, and Dera
Ismail Khan. Rittenberg, 0p. cir., Appendix I and PJ9/57. No. 1485(c). Telegram S-S,
1/1/32. Reforms Department to Secretary of State.

10. Administration Report of the North-West Frontier Province, 1932-33, p. 19.
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together into the Minorities’ Party. These parties had no organization be-
yond the council halls, no ideology, and little party discipline. The govern-
ment could count on the support of all but the Azad Party on questions re-
lating to the nationalist movement and the Muslim parties on communal
issues.

The council’s first major legislation extended the emergency ordinances
issued to combat the nationalist agitation. The authorities were reluctant to
dispense with the ordinances, even though the need for them had abated by
October 1932, but they found them an embarrassment at a time when they
wanted to show their readiness to accommodate moderate political opinion.
They resolved their dilemma by incorporating the ordinances’ extraordinary
powers into the Public Tranquility Bill while reassuring the council that they
would be used sparingly:

It is not the intention of Government to use these powers except in
cases of absolute necessity or to any further extent than is imperatively
called for in the interest of the public peace. Their motive in introduc-
ing this legislation is in no way to interfere with constitutional methods
of advancement but solely to ensure, to the best of their ability, peace
and prosperity among all sections of the population of the North-West
Frontier Province."'

These assurances satisfied most of the council. Mau/vi Nur Bakhsh ex-
pressed the prevailing opinion when he insisted the measure was necessary
because the Khudai Khidmatgars were *‘inimical to the best interests of the
Frontier people.””'? The Azad Party tried to dilute the bill’s provisions but
without success. On October 25, 1932, it passed almost intact by a vote of
twenty-seven to eight."’

While the government subsequently had to answer a steady stream of
questions on politics in every legislative session, nationalist questions took
a backseat in the council to communal bickering over patronage, education,
and economic reforms. The pattern was set on the council’s first working
day, May 18, 1932, when Nawab Sir Sahibzada Abdul Qaiyum, Minister for
Transferred Subjects, and C.H. Gidney, Executive Councillor, responded to
a series of questions on communal representation in the administration.

Government employment had long been a focus of contention. Hindus and
Sikhs had acquired a preponderance of the positions in the administrative
services prior to World War I due to their greater education.'® The British

1. North-West Frontser Government Gaszette, 10/11/32.

12. Lahore Tribune, 10/27/32.

13. LCD, Vol. II, No. 9, 10/25/32, pp. 777-78. Only a few sections of the act were ever
used. They were applied in Peshawar District from 1933 to September 1937 and in Hazara
in 1935-36.

14. HM File No. 1b. “Summary Statement of the Hindu Minority of the North-West
Frontier Province.” Sec Lal Baha, N.-W.F. P Administration Under Britisk Rule, 1901-1919 (Is-
lamabad: National Commission on Historical and Cultural Research, 1978), Ch. VII foran
account of educational developments in the province through World War 1.
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started to redress the communal balance after the war, but at a pace which
satisfied no one. Muslims found the rate of change too slow, while the mi-
norities were alarmed by any reservation of jobs on a communal basis. The
position of Hindus and Sikhs in 1932 ranged from underrepresentation in
some government departments to a majority in others, but overall, they still
occupied between 20 and 30 percent of the total posts in the administra-
tion." These facts, however, counted for less during the legislative debates
than the subjective impressions of the members of the Legislative Council
(MLCs). The minorities viewed their portion of the services as small and
shrinking, while the Muslims considered it much too large. The minorities
anticipated that the Muslim MLCs would try to speed up the pace at which
they were being displaced, while the Muslims wanted to use the council to
win what they regarded their fair share of administrative jobs.

At the heart of the dispute were two questions: What should be the com-
munal composition of the administration and how should positions be filled?
The minorities remained deliberately vague on the first, saying only that
their percentage should reflect their education, economic importance, and
loyalty to the empire instead of their numbers. On the second, they asked
for safeguards against discrimination and recommended that most recruit-
ment be by competitive examination.'® Such a procedure would have en-
sured heavy Hindu and Sikh representation since it placed a premium on
education, an area in which they excelled. For precisely that reason, Muslim
MLCs denounced recruitment by exams as *‘a sugar-coated pill of commun-
alism.”"” They wanted the services divided on a strict communal basis with
quotas conforming to population percentages.

The issue of jobs never provoked a major council debate. Instead, there
was constant skirmishing over the communal proportions of specific depart-
ments. Usually, these clashes were instigated by the representatives of the
minorities who were convinced that their communities were being elimi-
nated from public service but felt powerless to do anything more than mon-
itor recruiting practices and complain of victimization. Muslims raised the
issue less frequently, but they showed how drastic a change they wanted
when they did. In October 1932, Mau/vi Nur Bakhsh urged that the Agri-
culture Department be reserved for Muslims since they were the province’s
farmers. The next spring, Ghulam Rabbani Khan demanded more Muslim
appointments in the Irrigation Department on similar grounds, even though
they already held over three-quarters of its posts.'® The controversy gener-

15. The estimate is based on the statistics revealed in the question periods in LCD, Vol.
Iand II.

16. LCD, Vol. VIII, No. 5, 3/9/35, p. 172.

17. LCD, Vol. 11, No. 2, 10/12/32, p. 164. For the Hindu position, see HM File No. 1b.
“Summary Statement of the Hindu Minority of the North-West Frontier Province.” Also,
Diwan Chand Obhrai, The Evolution of North-West Frontier Province (Peshawar: The London
Book Co., 1938), p. 278, and LCD, Vol. 11, No. 2, 10/12/32, pp. 156 and 170.

18. LCD, Vol. II, No. 1, 10/10/32, pp. 3-4; and Vol. I1I, No. 7, 3/20/33, p. 491.
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ated verbal acrimony but few practical results. A prima facie case can be
made that the communal balance in some departments was altered, but the
non-Muslims’ percentage in the administration as a whole did not drop ap-
preciably. A list of employees in the Transferred Departments shows that
they still occupied 469, or 21.24 percent, of the 2,162 posts in November
1935."

In addition to their fears over jobs, the minorities were apprehensive that
the Education Department, on Sir Abdul Qaiyum’s orders, would finan-
cially discriminate against their communities. The NWFP had three col-
leges, of which Islamia College in Peshawar had been founded by Muslims,
under Sir Abdul Qaiyum’s leadership, and Vedic Bharatriya College in Dera
Ismail Khan by Hindus. Islamia regularly received grants ten times larger
than V.B. College, in large part because it had been designated as the prov-
ince’s science college. The minorities did not object to it having the science
program, but they did complain that V.B. College was being unfairly de-
prived of funds so that Islamia could be lavishly financed.* They also sus-
pected that Sir Abdul Qaiyum had devised a discriminatory policy for pre-
college education, even though non-Muslim private schools received two-
thirds of the government’s grants-in-aid.”’ They were certain he was guilty
of favoritism in distributing scholarships since the minorities’ proportion
was smaller than their percentage of the educated inhabitants of the prov-
ince.? (It was, however, larger than their percentage of the NWFP’s total
population.)

These financial issues were often ambiguous since they involved the ma-
nipulation of statistics. They did not, therefore, evoke the same sort of vis-
ceral reaction among the minorities as the removal of certain subjects from
the province’s educational curriculum. Sir Abdul Qaiyum ordered in March
1933 that the Sanskrit post in Peshawar Government High School be abol-
ished, explaining that the decision had been pending when he became min-
ister and that he had endorsed it only after determining that a sufficient num-
ber of students were not interested in the subject to warrant its
continuation.”> Mehr Chand Khanna, nonetheless, accused him of turning
the school into a Muslim institution and attacking ‘‘Hindu culture of which
Sanskrit is the main foundation.’**

The Sanskrit dispute was a dress rehearsal for a much more bitter contro-
versy. As part of an effort to rationalize the province’s school system, an ad-
ministrative circular was issued in October 1935, making Urdu or English
the mandatory language of instruction from the third standard in govern-

19. Figures computed from statistics in LCD, Vol. IX, No. 3, 11/3/35, pp. 79-83.
20. LCD, Vol. I11, No. 5, 3/17/33, p. 233; and No. 11, 3/25/33, pp. 781 and 794.
21. LCD, Val. III, No. 5, 3/17/33, pp. 242; and No. 7, 3/20/33, pp. 506-7.

22. LCD, Vol. VIIH, No. 2, 3/6/35, p. 24.

23. LCD, Vol. III, No. 11, 3/25/33, p. 794.

24, lbid.
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ment-aided schools for girls. A transition period of five years was allowed,
after which any school not complying would forfeit government support.
Non-Muslims denounced the order since it prevented education in Hindi
and Gurmukhi, even though it had been unanimously recommended by a
committee which included two minority MLCs and did not bar the teaching
of Hindi and Gurmukhi as second languages. A similar order, moreover, had
already been implemented in boys’ schools without protest.?> The circular
hardly seemed, therefore, to warrant the reaction it provoked. But to the
non-Muslims, it symbolized their sense of having been victimized by re-
forms and their fears that the future would only get worse. Ganpatrai, a
Frontier Hindu serving as the Secretary of the All-India Hindu Makasabha,
expressed their feelings in an open letter to the government:

This is, to say the least, the climax of Muslim communalism which has
overwhelmed the administration of the Frontier Province under the
present regime ever since the reforms were unceremoniously intro-
duced during the Round Table Conferences. These memoranda fore-
cast the fate of the Hindu and Sikh minorities in that Province when
full Provincial Autonomy will be introduced under the new Govern-
ment of India Act.”

Having turned the circular into the embodiment of their grievances and
fears, the minorities’ fight for its rescission became bitter and uncompro-
mising. A Hindi-Gurmukhi Defence Committee was formed under the
leadership of the minority MLCs, which orchestrated a flood of protests and
petitions from Frontier groups, messages of support from organizations in
the rest of India, deputations, marches, and Aartals. All the minority MLCs
boycotted the legislature beginning in the fall of 1935 on the grounds that
the circular was “‘a grave menace and a direct challenge to our religion and
culture . . . [and] will constitute an intellectual oppression of the worst
kind."?’

The campaign provided an outlet for the minorities’ pent-up frustrations
and feelings of victimization, but on balance, it contributed to the very force
they feared, Muslim hostility. Most politically aware Muslims, including
Frontier Congressmen, were antagonized by the issue. They suspected, as
the Khyber Mail stated, that the protest had a more sinister objective than the
mere withdrawal of the circular:

It appears that the real struggle is not between Urdu and Hindi a.n.d
Gurmukhi. . .. It is rather a political struggle against the much criti-
cised reforms to which the Hindu and Sikh minority in the NWF Prov-

25. Lahore Tribune, 10/25/35 and 11/13/35: and Khyber Mail, 1/5/36.

26. Lahore Tribunme, 10/30/36. .
27. LCD, Vol. IX, No. 1, 11/4/35, p. 15. For a description of the agitation, see Obhrai,

op. cit., pp. 266-71.
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ince do not yet seem to have reconciled themselves. They fought tooth
and nail against the introduction of the first installment of reforms and
succeeded in obtaining privileges to which their population strength
did not give them a right. ... Now perhaps they want to repeat their
experiment on the eve of the advent of Provincial Autonomy.?®

For its part, the government considered the protest an irrational outburst
over a routine bureaucratic measure and refused to make any concessions.”’
The circular, therefore, remained in effect until politics intervened in 1937
when Sir Abdul Qaiyum rescinded the order in return for minority support
for a ministry he had formed under the new Government of India Act.”

When jobs and education were not at issue, economics injected commun-
alism into the legislature’s proceedings. The two sides found themselves in
an adversarial relationship since the province’s agriculturists were almost all
Muslim while non-Muslims were mainly traders and moneylenders. Meas-
ures beneficial to one community commonly carried costs for the other, even
when the connection was not intended. For instance, Muslim MLCs offered
a non-official resolution in October 1932, calling for a 50 percent remission
in the land revenue.’' The minorities opposed the motion for fear that the
government would compensate for the lost revenue by raising the income and
excise taxes which fell disproportionately on their communities.

The most heated exchanges over economic issues occurred over three
bills the administration introduced in 1934 to protect agriculturists from
moneylenders and give them debt relief.>* The Usurious Loans Amendment
Bill fixed a ceiling of interest which varied from 12 to 25 percent. The Reg-
ulation of Accounts Bill required moneylenders to send their debtors clear
statements of what they owned at regular intervals. The Redemption of
Mortgages Bill provided for the summary settlement of mortgages of less
than Rs. 1,000 on holdings of less than thirty acres.

These bills were the focus of a yearlong communal debate before they
were finally passed in March 1935. Although they strongly supported the
measures, many Muslims considered them too modest. Mau/vi Nur Bakhsh,
for example, introduced a non-official resolution in March 1934 to “rescue
zamindars from village moneylenders.”” He told the council:

They [moneylenders] don’t advance money to earn simple interest only.
They don’t even care for the early recovery of their advances. In ad-
vancing money, their chief object is to get him [the zamindar] cntanglefj
in such an extent that he may not be able to disengage from th_le
clutches for generations. . . . What should be done to assist the zamin-

28. Khyber Mail, 1/19/36.

29. Lakore Tribune, 11/13/35.

30. 1bid., 11/12/36 and 7/4/37.

31. LCD, Vol. II, No. 4, 10/18/32.

32. LCD, Vol. V, No. 2, 3/7/34, pp. 84-86.
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dars? There is no remedy excepting cancellation of all previous loans.**
Non-Muslims condemned the bills for allegedly making a scapegoat out of
an already oppressed minority business community.** They argued that the
repeal of the Punjab Land Alienation Act, which prohibited the transfer of
land to non-agriculturists, would much more effectively aid agriculturists,
restore their credit, and drive down interest rates since Hindu and Sikh mo-
neylenders would then be able to accept property as collateral for loans. Such
a step would also be morally defensible, they contended, since it would re-
store the non-Muslims’ right to own land instead of punishing them for con-
ditions which were not their fault.*

The Revival of the Frontier Congress and the
1937 Elections

From 1934, the reemergence of the Frontier Congress increasingly di-
verted public interest away from the Legislative Council. Since the party
remained technically illegal, the speed and manner in which it reasserted
itself depended upon the government’s good will. The provincial authorities
slowly, and only with considerable misgivings, relaxed their restrictions on
the party in the interest of securing its cooperation in the new reforms
granted under the 1935 Government of India Act. Thus, the three years be-
fore the 1937 elections were characterized by the Congress probing to deter-
mine, exploit, and expand the imprecisely defined limits on its activities,
while the authorities closely monitored its efforts to ensure that it did not
exceed what they regarded as proper political bounds.

Tempted by the vacuum created by the government's suppression of civil
disobedience, a group of Peshawar city nationalists, led by Pir Bakhsh,
briefly bid in the spring of 1934 for the party power they had lost in 1931
Their attempted coup failed when Gandhi declared that no new organiza-
tion would be formed without Abdul Ghaffar Khan’s consent.’® Leadership
passed in his absence to his recently freed lieutenants who acted with great
caution to avoid renewed repression. Instead of reconstructing a formal
party organization, they initially worked informally and under the cover of
non-political causes to reestablish the network of political ties which had
made the Khudai Khidmatgars so formidable.

When the government ignored these low-keyed activities, they decided to
test its receptivity to a more formal party effort in September 1934 by put-
ting up a candidate for a bye-election to the Legislative Council in Dera Is-

33. LCD, Vol. V, No. 7, 3/13/34, pp. 310-12.
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mail Khan.?” The election officer rejected his papers because he had been
imprisoned in 1932, but the provincial government reversed the decision in
keeping with its policy of encouraging Congress participation in constitu-
tional politics. Although the party refused to resume campaigning, its lead-
ers found the episode encouraging since it established that Congress candi-
dates would be tolerated in future elections. They, therefore, went ahead
with plans, formulated in August 1934 at the first meeting of provincial lead-
ers since 1931, to contest the provincial seat to the Central Legislative As-
sembly. Dr. Khan Sahib, the party’s candidate, could not campaign in per-
son since he had been barred on his release from prison in late August from
entering the NWFP. The Frontier Congress was also hampered by its ambig-
uous legal standing which prevented it from mounting an open and orga-
nized campaign. Nonetheless, Khan Sahib decisively defeated his two op-
ponents in the November 1934 polling—Seth Ram Das Bagai, who ran on
the Hindu Mahasabha ticket, and Raja Haidar Zaman Khan, who stood as a
Muslim alternative to the Congress at Sir Abdul Qaiyum’s request. His vic-
tory was due largely to his party’s popularity, but parajamba also played a
part.”® Many Khans who had no sympathy for the Congress nonetheless sup-
ported him out of a greater dislike for Sir Abdul Qaiyum.

Due to his elected status, the government permitted Khan Sahib to return
to the NWFP in May 1935, wour the province, and address meetings spon-
sored by the Congress. These were precedents which the party interpreted
as meaning that it could begin to work openly again as long as its activities
remained temperate. Backed by his brother’s prestige and a commission
from the High Command, Khan Sahib ended the party’s decentralized man-
agement and informal organization. He called for the creation of *‘Parlia-
mentary Boards” from the local to the provincial level, ostensibly to prepare
for the elections to the new provincial assembly planned under the 1935
Government of India Act. In actuality, these boards were intended to per-
form all the functions of Congress Committees, only under a different name
since the FPCC was still illegal. A Provincial Parliamentary Board was
formed in Utmanzai on November 10, 1935, and District Boards were orga-
nized in every district by 1936; but few subordinate boards were ever estab-
lished, except in Peshawar.™

The Provincial Parliamentary Board used local body elections in 1936 to
test its new organization. When all seven of its candidates for the Mardan
Municipal Committee were defeated in February, the board abandoned the

37. Lakhore Tribune, 9/15/34 and 9/19/34. .

38. Allah Bakhsh Yusaf, Siyasiyat-i-Sarkad ke Intiqgai Manazil (Karachi: Muhammad Ali
Educational Society, 1972), pp. 25-26. For the election results, see Lakore Tribune, 11/18/34.

39. The Province Parliamentary Board consisted of Muhammad Ramzan Khan (DIK),
President; Ram Singh (Bannu), Secretary; Pir Shahinshah (Kohar); Dr. Khan Sahib (Pesh-
awar); Amir Muhammad Khan (Mardan); and Mehdi Zaman Khan (Hazara). Mardan sub-
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strategy of restricting its nominations to men with nationalist credentials.*
Thereafter, it sought to broaden its base by attracting influential non-Con-
gressmen in localities where the party was not strong. This approach was
rewarded in October with victories in twenty-cight of the thirty-five seats on
the Peshawar District Board.*' It subsequently became the basis for select-
ing candidates to the new Provincial Assembly.

Under the 1935 Government of India Act, dyarchy was replaced by provin-
cial autonomy. The governors remained the provincial chief executives, but
all provincial subjects were transferred to ministers who served at the will
of popularly elected assemblies. The NWFP was given the same reforms as
other provinces, although the governor, in his capacity as the Agent to the
Governor-General, still retained sole control over tribal policy. Elections for
a fifty-man provincial assembly (thirty-eight Muslims, nine Hindus, and
three Sikhs) were scheduled for February 1937. Franchise requirements were
significantly lowered, swelling the electorate to a quarter million voters, or
about 14 percent of the population.*

The Provincial Parliamentary Board formed a three-man subcommittee
of Khan Sahib, Qazi Attaullah, and Ram Singh in November 1936 to dis-
pense Congress tickets. They chose thirty-eight candidates, of whom thirty
were Muslim and the remaining eight were Hindu.* In twelve constituen-
cies where they could not find a strong candidate, the Congress ran no one
rather than dissipate its resources. These included all three Sikh and both
landlord constituencies, while another three were in Hazara where the parcty
had always been weak. The election officer rejected the papers of the par-
ty’s nominees in two constituencies in Mardan (which had been made a sep-
arate district in 1937), and the party itself suspended its campaign in two
more—one Muslim and one Hindu—although too late to remove its can-
didates from the ballot.** Thus, the Congress had only thirty-four active
candidates in twenty-seven of the thirty-eight Muslim constituencies and
seven of the nine Hindu constituencies.

Twenty-two of the Congress’ nominees were longstanding party members
and had been imprisoned in the 1932 civil disobedience campaign. In addi-
tion to Dr. Khan Sahib, these included many of the founders of the Afghan
Jirga and Frontier Congress as well as their most prominent organizers in
each district.*> Another four nominees had been prominent in the Afghan
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Jirga or Congress in 1930 but had resigned during the factional conflict be-
tween the two parties in 1931.* Finally, ten nominees who had had little or
no previous association with the party were given tickets because they were
stronger candidates than any Congressmen in their constituencies. Two, for
example, were MLCs from wealthy Pakhtun families, while another two
were related to the sajjada nishin of Rajuya, an influential pirin the southern
part of Hazara."’

Among the party’s Muslim nominees, even those with strong nationalist
credentials tended to be distinguished as well by belonging to the Pakhtun
landed elite. The Afghan Jirga-Congress movement had, from its inception,
been controlled by junior Khans, men from influential families but not the
most senior in their tribe or locality. The Congress candidates in 1937 typi-
cally came from the same background. For example, Aréaé Abdul Ghafur
Khan, the fiery nationalist organizer in Peshawar, belonged to a collateral
branch of the hereditary chiefs of the Khalil tribe, while Amir Muhammad
Khan, the Congress leader in Mardan, was a cousin of the Khan of Hoti, one
of the two hereditary chiefs of the Kamalzai Mandanr Yusafzai.*® Even a man
like Abdul Aziz Khan, whom the British dismissed as insignificant because
he was not wealthy, belonged to a family of social influence —a junior branch
of the Zaida Khans who were the dominant family among the Aba Khel Man-
danr Yusafzai, the largest tribal group in his Mardan constituency.”

The Congress officially started its election campaign in November 1935
with the formation of the Provincial Parliamentary Board. Its leaders were
cautious at first, and their meetings were small, infrequent, and temperate
in tone.*® When the government did not seem to take notice, they convened
larger gatherings and in the spring started to revive the practices of wearing
red uniforms and marching in military formation. Their rhetoric also grew
more bold, harkening back to themes they had emphasized in 1930-31. They
once more began to refer to British rule as slavery which people had to resist
at all costs and to denounce the province’s Khans as reactionary, exploita-
tive, and anti-national. Mixed in with these condemnations were promises
of dramatic changes if the Congress won—of greater political freedom and
a reshaping of the province’s economy. Some speakers even went so far as to

PCC President in 1931; Muhammad Aslam Khan, the district commander of the Khudai
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promise that the large Khani estates would be broken up and the land dis-
tributed among their tenants.”!

The authorities monitored the party’s campaign with rising apprehension
but initially hesitated to intervene for fear of turning people against the elec-
tions. They finally reacted in the summer of 1936 when the Congress called
for a mass meeting on July 3rd. Political gatherings were banned in Peshawar
Valley under Section 144 of the Criminal Procedure Code, and the Deputy
Commissioner summoned party leaders to his office to warn them that the
government would not tolerate the revival of Khudai Khidmatgar tactics. ™ At
almost the same time, Abdul Ghaffar Khan, on his release from prison in
Bombay on June 26th, was barred from the NWFP and Punjab because pro-
vincial authorities feared he would make peaceful elections impossible by
creating a ‘‘quasi-Fascist movement’’ given to ‘‘fanaticism, intimidation and
violence.””>® When these measures failed to restrain the Congress, the gov-
ernment prosecuted some of its campaign workers and asked the central gov-
ernment in September for permission to take even sterner measures. The
Home Secretary of the Government of India turned down the request. He
doubted there were any legal grounds for further prosecutions, and more im-
portant, he feared a hardline policy would embarrass the government
throughout India.** The provincial authorities, therefore, had to confine
themselves to issuing another warning, an action which had no appreciable
effect on the Congress’ campaign.

The Frontier Congress faced stiff opposition in both the Muslim and non-
Muslim constituencies. Its main adversaries among the minoritics banded
together in the Hindu-Sikh Nationalist Party on November 11, 1936.°° The
new party was a loose electoral coalition with no organizational base of its
own. It drew its support from those segments of minority opinion which re-
garded the NWFP’s communal problems as the election’s paramount issue.
Its members tended to be wealthy, conservative businessmen and profes-
sionals whose political sympathies lay with the province’s Hindu and Sikh
Sabhas. They viewed all Muslims, Congress and non-Congress, as inher-
ently untrustworthy. In their estimation, the majority community would use
the wide powers granted by the 1935 Government of India Act for communal
ends, just as they believed it had manipulated the more limited reforms of 1932.

The Hindu-Sikh Nationalists believed that the minorities’ only hope lay
in presenting a united front in the new assembly.*® If no Muslim group could

51. Gol File 24/11/36. Enclosure A. Note on Congress Parliamentarv Board's speeches
during 1936,

52. FR7/36(1).

53. Gol File 24/11/36. Series 11. Memorandum 1713-PC/684(112) P.S., Part 1, 5/6/36. A.].
Hopkinson to Home Department.

54. Gol File 40/3/36. Letter 40/3/36-Pol., 9/21/36. M.G. Hallet ro A.J. Hopkinson.

55. Obhrai, op. cir., p. 308. Lahore Tribune, 11/12/36. See Rittenberg, op. cer., Appendix
I1 for the men it chose as nominees.

56. Interviews with Amir Chand Bombwal and G.D. Khera.



138 Ethnicity, Nationalism, and the Pakhtuns

form a government on its own, they intended to barter their votes for ironclad
communal guarantees, and even if a purely Muslim ministry were created,
they still believed that as long as they were united, it could not ignore them
without risking conflict with the governor who had a special responsibility
to look after the interests of minorities under the 1935 Act. The party, there-
fore, ran candidates in every Hindu and Sikh constituency except one where
it supported an independent.”’ lIts strategy, however, was defeated by the
lack of consensus among the minorities. All Hindus and Sikhs did not accept
its hostile view of Muslims or see the need for the unity toward which it
logically pointed. A sizeable segment of opinion was swayed by nationalist
sentiments and sided with the Congress. Even those who shared the new
party’s political views did not necessarily concede its claim to be the sole
legitimate representative of their communities. Dissident Singh Sabhas ran
candidates for all three Sikh seats; men with Sanatan Dharm affiliations ran
in seven Hindu constituencies; and individuals personally at odds with the
party’s leaders ran as independents or threw their support to other non-Con-
gress candidates.’®

The Congress’ opponents in the rural Muslim constituencies were pre-
dominantly Khans who relied upon family ties, factional alignments, and
tribal affiliations to win electoral support. As a consequence, their sense of
shared interests was exceedingly weak. Sixty-six Khans stood as candidates
in thirty-five constituencies, testimony in itself to their disunity.*® They and
their supporters were so fragmented by enmities and intrigues that many
found the thought of a Congress government more tolerable than the success
of each other. As Sir Ralph Griffith observed: “One Khan at enmity with
another will do all in his power to spoil the chances of success of his en-
emy.”®® Two loose blocs of Khans did emerge during the campaign, but per-
sonal hostilities prevented their cooperation.®” One group, primarily from
Hazara, united behind Sir Abdul Qaiyum. His past disdain for the Khani
class and his modest family origins made him anathema to the Khans who
coalesced around Nawab Sir Muhammad Akbar Khan, the Khan of Hotl.
The two blocs were temporarily reconciled in December 1936, but within a
month the rapprochement unraveled, in large part, as Griffith explained,
because Sir Abdul Qaiyum “‘continued to back Red Shirt candidates who
happen to be opposed to individuals of the Khanate class personally obnox-
ious to him.’*

The election campaign also marked the Muslim League’s first serious
foray into Frontier politics. It had attempted to start a provincial branch as
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carly as 1934, but without success since it could not find a constituency.®’
The Congress had preempted the one organized Muslim body in the coun-
tryside and the most appealing issue, Pakhtun nationalism, while the non-
Congress Khans had seen little to be gained from abandoning their political
individualism. Thus, the League modestly concentrated in 1936 on gaining
a foothold among the province’s urban Muslim intelligentsia. Muhammad
Ali Jinnah named Pir Bakhsh and Malik Khuda Bakhsh of the Azad Party,
and Allah Bakhsh Yusafi and Rahim Bakhsh Ghaznavi of the Peshawar Khi-
lafat Committee to the All-India Muslim League Parliamentary Board in
May.** Neither party, however, was capable of serving as the nucleus for a
Provincial Muslim League. The Khilafat Committee was moribund, while
the Azad Party was a legislative coalition whose sole justification had been
to act as a surrogate for the Frontier Congress while it was banned. Every
effort to expand its organization had been stymied by the Congress which
ate away at its membership until it was little more than an urban rump of
two. In addition, Pir Bakhsh and the Khilafatists were bitterly at odds due
to factional disputes within Peshawar city politics.®’

Jinnah spent a week in Peshawar in October 1936 in an attempt to salvage
something from the elections. He unsuccessfully sought both an association
with the Frontier Congress and the support of Sir Abdul Qaiyum before set-
tling upon an eighteen-man Parliamentary Board with Pir Bakhsh as con-
venor.® Jinnah weighted its membership in favor of urban politicians, es-
pecially Peshawaris, out of recognition that the League would have little
influence for the time being among the rural 85 percent of the province.
Nearly half of its members were chosen without their consent, an indication
that its creation was largely a face-saving exercise. The board, in fact, never
functioned. Six of its members joined the Congress and another four ran for
the assembly as independents.®” Even Pir Baksh and Malik Khuda Bakhsh
found the Azad Party label preferable to the League.

Polling took place between February 1 and February 10, 1937, with
179,529 people, or 72.8 percent of the electorate, voting. Turnout was high-
est in the rural Muslim constituencies and lowest among the Sikhs. The
Congress won nineteen seats, while the Hindu-Sikh Nationalists captured
six and the Azad Party two. The remaining twenty-three successful candi-
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dates had no party affiliation.®® These results showed that the Frontier Con-
gress had overestimated its popularity while undervaluing the abiding
strength of the traditional loyalties on which its opponents drew. Both of its
urban candidates lost, a reflection of the province’s rural-urban dichotomy.
In Peshawar and Mardan, the party won all ten of the seats it contested and
would have taken the other two had its nominees not been disqualified.
Even there, however, family and faction influenced the outcome of the vot-
ing. Five of the successful Congressmen belonged to junior branches of the
dominant families in their tribes, and three of them defeated their tarburs.*®
Three others were also members of prominent families in their tribes, while
a fourth belonged to a clan of influential Mians.”® In the rest of the province,
where tribal and factional loyalties were much stronger, the Congress was
victorious in only one-third of the fifteen seats it contested. It captured one
seat each in Kohat, Bannu, and Dera Ismail Khan, but five of its top leaders
in those districts were defeated in close races in which factional or religious
issues rather than nationalism proved decisive.”’ Ironically, the party did
better in non-Pakhtun Hazara, capitalizing on unique religious factors to
win two seats.”’ The Hindu and Sikh results exposed the sharp philosoph-
ical split among the minorities. The Hindu-Sikh Nationalists’ contention
that they represented minority opinion was seriously weakened when it won
only six seats, but the Frontier Congress could hardly substantiate its coun-
terclaim that the minorities had confidence in its communal impartiality, for
it managed to capture only four.”

While less conclusive than they had hoped, the election results left Con-
gressmen optimistic that they would be asked to form the first popular min-
istry in the history of the Frontier Province. They were the largest party in
the new assembly and the only organized one among its Muslim majority.
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Sir George Cunningham, the new governor, however, held all the suspicions
of British officials about their party and perfunctorily dismissed their
claims, even though the situation among the other members of the Legisla-
tive Assembly (MLAs) was, in his own words, ‘“‘chaotic.”’ The Frontier
Congress could not force him to reconsider by putting together a legislative
majority of its own because of the equivocation of the Congress Working
Committee over whether to accept office.”* The Working Committee did not
make any decision until March 26th, by which time Cunningham had
helped to wield the non-Congress ML As into a coalition. Then, it came out
against forming ministries because the Viceroy would not promise that the
governors would not use their special powers under the Government of India
Act to overturn ministerial decision.

Shortly after the elections, Sir Abdul Qaiyum managed to bring fourteen
MLAs together to form the United Muslim Nationalist Party, despite the ex-
istence of serious personal and factional disputes among them. Six Hazara
MLAs formed the Democratic Party for the sole purpose of obtaining a min-
istership, while the two Azad representatives and one other Muslhim re-
mained independent. Even with direct help from the governor, Qaiyum
managed to lure only two of the Democrats into his party in the ensuing
months.”® Cunningham, nonetheless, asked him to form a ministry on
March 16th and then ordered the officers in the permanent administration to
lobby for support on its behalf. He told them that ‘‘any official who did not
help the ministerial party was being disloyal to me.”””” When Qaiyum failed
to form a coalition with the Hindu-Sikh Nationalists, the governor mediated
a settlement; and when the entire, shaky enterprise threatened to collapse
over who should be a minister and how their portfolios should be divided, he
arbitrated among the conflicting claims.”™

A weak ministry of Sir Abdul Qaiyvum, Saadullah Khan, and Mehr Chand
Khanna was sworn in on April 1st, but before the assembly could meet, de-
fections reduced its supporters to a minority of twenty-one. Cunningham,
therefore, confined the first legislative session to a two-day ceremonial gath-
ering.” No official legislation was considered, and four adjournment reso-
lutions and a no-confidence motion were ruled out of order by either Cun-
ningham or his appointee as acting assembly speaker, Abdul Majid Khan.
The only business the assembly conducted was the election of parliamen-
tary officers. The Congress sponsored non-Congressmen to solidify the anti-
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ministerial forces. Conscious of its weakness, the ruling coalition did not
oppose Malik Khuda Bakhsh for Speaker; but it ran Malik-ur-Rahman Ki-
yani for Deputy Speaker against Muhammad Sarwar Khan (Democrat) and
lost by twenty-nine votes to nineteen, thereby exposing its inability to con-
trol the assembly without the governor’s help.®

Qaiyum was unable to timprove his position in the five months before the
next assembly session, even with the active assistance of Cunningham and
the permanent administration.®' By September, moreover, the impasse be-
tween the Congress and the Viceroy over the formation of ministers had
been resolved, leaving the Frontier Congress free to consolidate its anti-min-
isterial coalition into a governing majority of its own. On September 3rd, the
Congress passed a no-confidence motion against Sir Abdul Qaiyum, twenty-
seven votes to twenty-two, with the support of four Democrats, two ex-
Hindu-Sikh Nationalists, and two independents. Four days later, Dr. Khan
Sahib formed a ministry which included Qazi Attaullah and Bhanju Ram
Gandhti of the Congress and Muhammad Abbas Khan of the Democrats.

Since the sole justification for Qaiyum’s coalition had been to share power,
it quickly disintegrated after he fell. The Hindu-Sikh Nationalists wel-
comed the new government: “‘With its antecedents of sacrifice, service and
fair play, the Congress Party, we feel, can be safely relied on to protect the
rights and interests of minorities.”®” Ishar Das Sahni, Khanna’s rival in the
Hindu-Sikh Nationalists, and five United Muslim Nationalists formed the
Nationalist Party and promised to support the Congress’ constructive pro-
grams.” Two deaths, including Qaiyum’s, and two successful election pe-
titions further depleted the non-Congress ranks. The Congress won three
of the four resulting bye-elections and gained another vote when a United
Muslim Nationalist switched sides.®® Thus, by the time the assembly recon-
vened in March 1938, thirty-one MLAs sat on the government benches—
twenty-four Congressmen (including two ex-Hindu-Sikh Nationalists), four
Democrats, and three independents. The opposition consisted of eight
United Muslim Nationalists, six Nationalists, and four Hindu-Sikh Nation-
alists. Subsequently, the opposition Muslims coalesced into the Frontier
Muslim League, and Ishar Das Sahni returned to his old party.

The Congress never lost the upper hand in the assembly before resigning
of its own volition in November 1939. Its position was in jeopardy in the fall
1938 and spring 1939 sessions, but Khan Sahib averted defeat on both occa-
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sions by reasserting party discipline among the Congress MLAs and offset-
ting desertions by non-Congress supporters through new accommodations
with opposition members.** More important, the opposition was too divided
to offer a realistic alternative. A bitter communal atmosphere precluded any
agreement between Muslims and minorities; Khans and urban politicians
were at odds; and the Khans themselves were fragmented by factional and
personal enmities. Many simply concluded in the manner of Saadullah
Khan, the Muslim League leader, that ‘“‘the Opposition was not cohesive
enough to make it worthwhile trying to turn out Congress.”*

The First Khan Sahib Ministry

Once in office, the Frontier Congress did not challenge the existing gov-
ernmental structure as the authorities had feared, not even the laws which it
had once anathematized as pillars of British imperial repression.®” Its min-
isters, in fact, tried to add to the government’s powers to deal with com-
munal violence. They passed the Goondas Bill in September 1939 which al-
lowed precautionary externment from the province, in camera trials, and the
denial of legal assistance and the right of appeal to the accused.® The main
objective of the Khan Sahib ministry was to alter the political balance
within Frontier society by dismantling the informal system of alliances the
British had used to govern the region. The British had frozen Pakhtun so-
ciety into a mold in which their allies, the senior Khans, retained an ascend-
ant position even after they had lost their social legitimacy. This had been
the major reason why their rivals within the Pakhtuns’ landed elite had
joined the Khudai Khidmatgars in the first place. On coming to power, the
Congress systematically set out to strip the senior Khans of their powers and
perquisites and to transfer the government’s patronage and support to its
own Khani supporters.

The ministry first abolished the position of Honorary Magistrate, through
which the British had invested a select group of non-officials, mainly Khans,
with judicial powers. Next to go were the last nominated seats on the local
governmental bodies, positions which had usually been filled by pro-govern-
ment Khans.*® The Khans lost still another instrument of power when the
ministry terminated the naubati chaukidari system under which every vil-
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lager, except government employees, had to take turns as an unpaid night
watchman or provide a replacement. The system had long been a source of
popular resentment since the dominant senior Khans had turned the watch-
men into unpaid personal retainers.” In the land revenue administration,
the ministers abolished the position of zai/dar, an intermediary employed in
parts of Peshawar and Dera Ismail Khan. They also gave serious thought to
replacing the province’s 7,425 Jambardars, who collected the land revenue,
performed minor police duties, and acted as official village headmen, with
government officials.”" The ministry regarded the /zmbardars, who were ap-
pointed on a hereditary basis from among the leading men in each village
ward, as politically hostile to the Congress, a perception which was largely
accurate given the /ambardars’ former dependency on the British for their
position and the fact that /ambardars who had actively favored the Congress
in 1930-31 had been removed from office. Their position was saved only by
the ministers’ fear of disrupting revenue collection and by the governor’s
strong objections to their elimination.”?

In making these reforms, the ministry was not acting strictly out of polit-
ical motives. These measures all contributed to greater government effi-
ciency and fairness.” Nonetheless, their impact was primarily political in
that they eliminated some of the institutions the senior Khans had formerly
used to maintain their dominance in Pakhtun society and, more important,
signalled that the old order was changing.

Khan Sahib’s government also struck at the economic benefits the British
had given their Khani supporters. Besides zaé/dari fees, it wiped out all but
seventy-five of the province’s 700 zgmindari inams (revenue grants given in
return for a variety of services) and suspended the practice of nominating
sons and relations of influential Khans to administrative jobs.** In March
1938, the Congress passed the Teri Dues Regulations Repealing Bill to abol-
ish a 1902 act legitimizing the Nawab of Teri’s right to collect cesses totalling
more than Rs. 12,000 per annum from the people of Teri Zehsi/ (Kohat).”
The bill also ended 4ag talugdari, an assessment levied in recognition of the
Nawab’s superior proprietary rights to the zeAsi/. Cunningham originally felt
the ministers had exceeded their authority in passing the bill, but they m
sisted that they would resign if he denied it certification.’® A compromise
was finally reached in July 1938 to revise the bill to eliminate the cesses,
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which were the people’s main grievance, and to leave 4agq talugdari, which
was the governor’s primary concern, untouched.

In handling their administrative responsibilities, the ministers also made
no attempt to hide their favoritism toward their own supporters. They gave
party members preferential treatment in the distribution of patronage jobs,
permits for firearms, and faccavs (agricultural improvement) loans and allo-
cated public works money with an eye toward their advantage. In granting
revenue remissions in Peshawar Valley in March 1938, they put an acreage
limit on who was entitled to relief which effectively excluded many of the
senior Khans who tended to have larger landholdings.®” Critics repeatedly
accused the ministers of favoring their supporters and punishing their op-
ponents in the press in the placement of government ads, a lucrative, and for
many papers, crucial source of revenue.”® In addition, Khan Sahib and his
colleagues commonly expedited bureaucratic action on requests and com-
plaints of Congressmen while acting with less aclarity on the problems of
their rivals.”® More generally, by relying upon Congress Khans for advice and
help in the countryside, the ministry signalled that they, rather than the sen-
ior Khans, had become the privileged intermediaries between the people
and the government.

The ministry most seriously threatened the senior Khans by exploiting
the province’s agrarian unrest. Tenant problems plagued most landlords to
some degree, but they were most serious on the larger estates, owned, in
the main, by non-Congress Khans. By 1930, the old patron-client ties be-
tween the big landlords and their tenants had been replaced in many areas
by a contractual, economic relationship in which the former tried to extract
as much rent as possible without providing any of the reciprocal services
which had once made their demands acceptable to their dependents. The
tenantry retaliated by withholding rents, challenging their landlords’ rights
to the land, and supporting the Congress. As Cunningham explained:

... for many years they [the Khans] have been striking too hard a bar-
gain with their tenants and have made no effort to earn their affection
or respect. They have, in consequence, lost their following and the dis-
content of their tenants has been exploited by political organisations.'®

While individuals in the Congress also fit this pattern, the problems of the
Congress Khans, as a whole, were not as severe since they had retained
many of the attributes of traditional patrons rather than seeking to maximize
their economic profits.
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Landlord-tenant relations became even more tense after the 1937 elec-
tions. The Frontier Congress had raised expectations during the campaign
by promising everything from the cancellation of existing arrears in rent to
the redistribution of the land to those who tilled it.'" Party leaders, in fact,
never favored structural reforms in land ownership since that would have
been ruinous for the entire Khani class, including themselves. Instead, they
sought to manipulate tenants’ grievances in a selective manner designed to
consolidate their support among the lower classes while hurting only the
non-Congress Khans. Since the tenantry was pro-Congress, it seemed pos-
sible at first to minimize the problems of the Congress Khans through party
adjudication while aggravating those of their opponents through governmen-
tal action and a strident anti-Khani rhetoric.

During their first year in office, the ministers, especially Qazi Attaullah,
could be counted on to support tenants in any conflict with their landlords.
This encouraged many tenants to neglect their obligations to their Khans
and to give the resulting disputes a political coloration. The situation be-
came most acute in Charsadda Zésé/, with its longstanding problems be-
tween the Muhammadzai landlords and Mohmand tenants. By May 1938,
non-Congress Khans were realizing as little as 25 percent of their rents in
comparison to 80 percent or more in previous years.'”” They felt unable,
moreover, to retaliate with evictions because of the government’s hostility.
In the one instance where a Muslim League landlord actually tried, Con-
gress leaders intervened to frustrate him.'®

In the midst of this growing unrest, the ministry pushed the Agricultural
Debtors’ Relief Bill through the assembly in the fall of 1938. Hindus and
Sikhs, including those in the Congress, unanimously opposed the bill be-
cause it hurt their communities’ interests as moneylenders.'* Outwardly at
least, Muslim opinion was just as solidly in favor of its passage. These re-
actions led people to view the bill in strictly communal terms, whereas it
was, in fact, carefully crafted to further the Congress’ campaign against the
senior Khans as well. The main provision cancelled loans incurred by agri-
culturists before October 1, 1937. This, in itself, hurt many of the senior
Khans who were actively engaged in moneylending. Additionally, “agricul-
turist”” was defined in such a way as to exclude the largest landlords of the
NWFP, most of whom were senior Khans, from the benefit of the bill.'” Fi-
nally, the bill contained a clause discharging rent arrears incurred by tenants
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before October 1, 1937. This provision also disproportionately hurt the senior
Khans, even those who qualified under the bill’s definition as agriculturists.
Provided that a landlord’s tenants were not too far behind in payment, his
loss in rents was offset by his own debt relief. This was the case for most
Congress Khans since their party had used its influence with the tenants to
ensure that they did not seriously fall behind in the payment of their rents.
The non-Congress Khans, in contrast, lost the right to significant amounts
of rent from tenants who had fallen into arrears, in large measure as a result
of the Frontier Congress’ deliberate encouragement.'®

The Agricultural Debtors Relief Bill marked the high point of the Frontier
Congress’ pro-tenant policy, for party leaders had come to realize by its pas-
sage that there was no airtight formula for limiting 4isan disputes to non-
Congress estates. Congress Khans also had restive tenants, many of whom
were encouraged to press their own grievances by the success with which
other tenants defied their landlords. Again, this was most true in Charsadda
and Mardan Zzksils, the party’s core regions.'”” The Congress Khans who
were affected put class interests above party needs and pressed the ministry
for action to curb tenant demands. The ministers also became disenchanted
because agrarian unrest threatened revenue collection.'® The Khans who
had difficulty in collecting their rents tended to fall behind in their revenue
payments, and many other landowners followed suit in the generally unset-
tled atmosphere generated by the agrarian disputes. By September 1938,
revenue receipts were four lakhs below normal, and in Peshawar alone, al-
most 60 percent of the land revenue and water rates for the summer crop was
outstanding.'®” The ministers at first wanted to use force only against the
big landlords, but the magnitude of the financial crisis ultimately compelled
them to apply coercive measures against Khans and tenants alike.'™

The change in their policy became apparent with an agitation in Mardan
against the Nawaé of Toru, whom Cunningham called a *‘notoriously bad
landlord.”'"" In July 1938, he had resumed lands from tenants who were in
default in the village of Ghalladher. When the tenants, with support from
the Congress Socialists, tried to cultivate their old fields, the police arrested
them for trespassing, thereby touching off a two-month saryagraka cam-
paign. Khan Sahib tried to find a peaceful solution, while party leaders or-
dered the Congressmen involved to abandon the agitation. When those steps
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failed, the party censured the Socialists, and Khan Sahib broke the agitation
by force.''? Similar firmness was displayed in June 1939 when Mohmand
tenants at Muftiabad 1in Charsadda 7e4s:/ resisted eviction. Abdul Ghaffar
Khan denounced the #isans for wanting ‘‘to tear the [Pakhtun] nation into
pieces,” and Khan Sahib ordered the arrest of the tenants and their Congress
supporters, including his own son, Obeidullah Khan.'"?

The Reorganization of the Frontier Congress

The change in the ministers’ policies on agrarian issues did not mean that
the campaign of the Frontier Congress against its Khani opponents stopped.
The non-Congress Khans not only had to worry about the continued hostil-
ity of the government but also about the Congress’ powerful party organi-
zation. While the ministry was unfriendly, it was at least removed from daily
village life. The party organization, in contrast, had a network of local
branches identified with their rivals, and the resources the Congress Khans
obtained from the party-—money, allies, and prestige—gave them as much
of an edge in village politics as the more remote support they received from
the ministry.

While the Frontier Congress had been able to organize on a limited scale
since 1934, its efforts had been hampered until August 22, 1937, when Sir
Abdul Qaiyum lifted all restrictions on its political activities and allowed
Abdul Ghaffar Khan to return to the province.'"* These measures removed
the lid on years of pent-up political energies. For some party partisans, they
created an opportunity to renew working for nationalist goals; for others, a
chance to use the party to pursue personal ambitions or factional interests.
For all, they signalled the enthusiastic return to the political arena. The Pro-
vincial and District Parliamentary Boards, which were created to contest the
elections, were converted into Congress Committees; new party branches
were formed from the zesi/ down to the local level; and the Khudai Khid-
matgars were revived as the party’s volunteers. By early 1938, the Frontier
Congress had built a party organization which Cunningham felt was “prac-
tically unassailable in the rural areas.”’'" Primary village branches num-
bered 386 by March, in contrast to 81 a year before. Approximately 20,000
Khudai Khidmatgars had been enlisted in the same period, and by June,
their numbers doubled or tripled again.''® The number of dues-paying Con-
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Table 7: Congress Membership in 1938 and 1939'"

Congress Percent of Total Membership per

Members Membership 1,000 Inkabitants
District 1938 1939 1938 1939 1938 1939
Hazara 1,148 1,720 6.25 722 1.44 213
Mardan 7,562 6,008 41.09 25.21 12.76 11.86
Peshawar 7,000 9,351 38.04 39.32 8.22 10.99
Kohat 1,353 1,794 7.35 752 4.68 6.17
Bannu 600 3,568 3.26 14.95 2.03 12.06
D. 1. Khan 730 945 4.01 3.95 2.45 KRV

gressmen was also substantial, although considerably fewer than the Khudai
Khidmatgars— 18,398 in 1938 and 23,815 in 1939"®*—partly because the
Khudai Khidmatgars had no dues and partly because they were a Pakhtun
movement while the Congress was seen as having alien origins.

As Table 7 indicates, the party revived most quickly in Peshawar Valley
where it had always been strongest and where the rudiments of an organi-
zation had survived the years of government repression. Peshawar and Mar-
dan provided four-fifths of the party’s members in 1938 and had the highest
ratio of members to district population. By the next year, the party had
measurably improved its position in Bannu and Kohat, but the Valley still
accounted for two-thirds of all Congressmen. Membership figures also in-
dicate that the Frontier Congress remained a party of Pakhtuns. Not only
was recruitment weakest in the non-Pakhtun districts of Hazara and Dera
Ismail Khan, but within those districts, Tank and Mansehra, the #Asi/s with
the largest number of Pakhtuns, accounted for a disproportionate share of
the party’s members. "’

The Frontier Congress also retained its decidedly rural complexion after
1937. In 1938, 27 percent of dues-paying Congressmen lived in towns and in
1939, 31 percent.'?* When the membership of the Khudai Khidmatgars, who
were overwhelmingly recruited from the countryside, is included, those fig-
ures drop well below the urban percentage in the province’s population.'”’
A disproportionate number of urban Congressmen were Hindu, and many of
its urban Muslim members were Pakhtuns who had migrated to the towns
in search of work.'?? Thus, the party continued to display a decided inability

117. AICC File G-46, 1938; and File G-54, 1939.

118. Ibid.

119. /bid.

120. Assuming that the number of Khudai Khidmatgars was at least 40,000, the percent-
age of urban members in the movement, as a whole, was no more than 6.8 percent in 1938
and 11.5 percent in 1939. Computed from 7bid.

121. Computed from sbid.

122. /bid. and interviews with G. D. Khera and Mian Jafar Shah.



150 Eshnicsty, Nationalism, and the Pakhtuns

to win support from the non-Pakhtun Muslims who formed the great major-
ity of the NWFP’s urban Muslim population.

The Frontier Congress developed three striking organizational character-
istics after its revival which it would retain for the rest of the independence
movement. It was dominated by Abdul Ghaffar Khan, even though he held
no official position in the Provincial Congress Committee (PCC). The Khu-
dai Khidmatgars maintained a high degree of autonomy from the regular
side of the party, and finally, the party, as a whole, enjoyed a semi-autono-
mous status within the Indian National Congress.

Abdul Ghaffar Khan’s power rested on two institutional bases. First, he con-
trolled the Khudai Khidmatgars, the more popular wing of the party.'** Second,
he served as a member of the All-India Congress Working Committee. Con-
gress leaders routinely deferred to him on questions relating to the Frontier and
framed their orders to the PCC in accordance with his wishes. They also gave
him discretionary authority over the major portion of the financial subsidy they
gave the provincial party. Since the Frontier Congress depended on that subsidy
for the greater part of its finances, Abdul Ghaffar Khan, as Cunningham ob-
served, could “call the tune as he pays the pipers.”'** Ultimately, however, his
ascendancy rested on his unmatched popularity among the Pakhtuns. His com-
manding character evoked strong personal loyalties from Pakhtuns throughout
the NWFP, especially since he increasingly emphasized his role as a moral
leader rather than as a politician. Other party leaders, by comparison, were men
of less imposing stature, who had local power bases but did not command a
wider following in their own right.

Although factionalism was endemic in the Frontier Congress, it rarely in-
volved Abdul Ghaffar Khan. The only serious challenge to his position came
from Ghulam Muhammad Khan of Lundkhwar, a Khan among the Baizai Khat-
taks of Mardan District, who served as the PCC President in 1938.'% There
was no ideological basis for the rift, no burning issues to divide the two men.
The conflict was purely a struggle for power in which Ghulam Muhammad,
who lacked the influence and prestige of Abdul Ghaffar Khan, was badly mis-
matched. Despite his position as the official head of the Frontier Congress,
Ghulam Muhammad could count on the votes of only about one-third of the
members of the PCC, and most of his supporters were urban politicians or so-
cialist dissidents. In short, he failed to attract serious support from the key
party figures who dominated its organization in the countryside.'”

Ghulam Muhammad alienated Abdul Ghaffar Khan and other party leaders
by unsuccessfully asserting his right as PCC President to issue binding
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orders to the Khudai Khidmatgars and the Khan Sahib ministry.'?” In retal-
iation, he was denied reelection in January 1939 as PCC President and
passed over in the selection of the NWFP’s representatives to the All-India
Congress Committee (AICC). His fight with the established powers in the
party, however, did not end with these defeats, for he allied himself with
Subhas Chandra Bose, the Congress President in 1938-39, and turned his
faction into the Frontier Forward Bloc.'?® This tied him to the losing side in
the factional struggle taking place in the Congress’ central councils. When
Bose resigned in April 1939, Ghulam Muhammad’s last source of influence
within the party disappeared.

The Frontier Forward Bloc attacked the party’s leaders over economic is-
sues in the months that followed in an effort to compensate for its lack of
organizational power by winning over the membership at large. The PCC
countered by amending its constitution on September 25th to prohibit the
formation of any party within the Frontier Congress except the Khudai Khid-
matgars.'?® Party leaders intended to use the amendment to justify disband-
ing the Frontier Forward Bloc and expelling Ghulam Muhammad, but the
political crisis created by the start of World War II intervened. In the interest
of party unity, they embraced Ghulam Muhammad as one of their own on
the understanding that he would cease to challenge their authority. None-
theless, they were careful to exclude Ghulam Muhammad from any position
of power within the party organization, and one year later, they finally re-
voked his membership in the Congress on the grounds he had started once
more to criticize their leadership.'*°

The Frontier Congress after 1937 showed the same organizational dichot-
omy that had characterized it in 1931. The Khudai Khidmatgars, who were
theoretically the party’s volunteers, constituted an autonomous body paral-
lel to the regular party structure."' Their officers sat on the Congress Com-
mittees coinciding with their territorial responsibilities, and cooperative re-
lations were further assured by the frequently close family ties between the
leaders of the two sides of the party.'*? However, the volunteers did not re-
ceive their orders from the Congress Committees. The Frontier Congress
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constitution stated: ‘“The Khudai Khidmatgar party which exists in the
province shall obey the orders of the Congress (AICC) for the achievement
of the Congress objectives, but it will be independent in its manage-
ment.”’'** In practical terms, this clause vested sole control in Abdul Ghaffar
Khan since he was the arbiter of Frontier affairs in the AICC. The Working
Committee also guaranteed his authority by channeling its subsidy to the
volunteers directly through him without reference to the PCC.

The Khudai Khidmatgars were organized in a quasi-military fashion,"
Abdul Ghaffar Khan held no rank but set policy and appointed their official
head, the Sa/ar-i-Azam. (To reinforce his personal authority, he initially
reappointed Rab Nawaz Khan, his maternal nephew, to that position.) The
Khudai Khidmatgars’ organizational chart laid out a well-ordered hierarchy
with a fixed ratio of officers at every level of its organization. On paper, each
district was headed by a Nazb Salar (deputy commander) and subdivided
into successively smaller units commanded by generals, colonels, and ma-
jors. At the village level, or #andi (village ward) if membership were large
enough, the Khudai Khidmatgars were supposed to be headed by captains,
with a set number of lieutenants, NCO’s, and ordinary volunteers under
them. In practice, the organization of the volunteers barely approximated
this model. Recruitment was haphazard; membership varied widely from re-
gion to region and over time; and officers at every grade tended to appropri-
ate higher ranks than they deserved. Discipline was never as strong as the
by-laws demanded, and many individuals’ involvement consisted of little
more than periodically putting on a red uniform for party meetings. These
shortcomings notwithstanding, the Khudai Khidmatgars were the most pow-
erful force in Frontier politics, for they had no rivals in terms of their num-
bers, popularity, or ability to mobilize large numbers of people on short or-
der.

Because ‘‘Khudai Khidmatgar’” was a more familiar and popular name,
party leaders tended to use it instead of the Congress label. Over wide areas
of the NWFP, in fact, the Congress Committees were called civil jirgas, as
if they were merely an adjunct of the Khudai Khidmatgars.'*® The prefer-
ence for an indigenous name reflected the party’s unique position in the In-
dian National Congress. As Ghulam Muhammad Khan explained:

A gulf exists between the Congress and the Khudai Khidmatgar move-
ment, and they are not one. In this connection Khan Abdul Ghaffar
Khan.. . . has gone so far as to state that they are not Congressmen l?ut
have an alliance with the Congress and could sever their relations with
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the Congress at any time as they liked.'*

The support of the Frontier was an increasingly valuable asset to the Con-
gress as the rest of India polarized along communal lines; yet its strength
there depended on its ties to the provincial party and not on its own popu-
larity. Congress leaders, therefore, allowed the Frontier Congress much
wider latitude than other provincial parties. As long as it abided by their de-
cisions on vital political questions concerning India as a whole, they were
ready, though by no means pleased, to let it function without strict super-
vision and pursue its regional brand of nationalism. The FPCC not only
acted without their prior approval on many provincial matters but often
without even keeping them informed.'*” It also took liberties with the Con-
gress constitution, such as when it unilaterally raised the number of its
AICC members and delegates to the annual Congress session in 1938 or
chose its 1938 and 1939 AICC representatives in a manner contrary to party
rules.”*® Both actions in 1938 won the High Command’s grudging indul-
gence, but Subhas Chandra Bose insisted upon new elections of AICC
members in 1939 because his ally, Ghulam Muhammad Khan, had been de-
nied a fair chance at one of the positions. Even then, it took months of cor-
respondence and a threat to bar the Frontier’s representatives from the AICC
before the PCC complied.'”’

The Frontier ministry also demanded and received special treatment, as
Sir Arthur Parsons, the NWFP’s acting governor, explained to the Viceroy
in September 1939: “In the past Congress headquarters had always given
him [Khan Sahib] and his party much more rope than other Ministries.””'*
Khan Sahib enjoyed this freedom because he was answerable to provincial
colleagues rather than all-India leaders. This allowed him to pursue policies
with which the High Command was, at times, openly dissatisfied."*'

The Founding of the Frontier Muslim League

The Frontier Congress offered a sharp contrast in the late 1930’s to the
Frontier Muslim League, which was weak, disorganized, and without an ap-
pealing ideology. The Frontier League's activities, shape, and very exis-
tence were not so much of its own making as a reaction to its rival. The lat-
ter’s policies spawned the Frontier League and defined the pool of its
potential members—the groups which were alienated or simply ignored by
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the Congress. They also determined the issues it espoused and the tactics
it adopted. The growth of the Frontier League, in short, was not an inde-
pendent phenomenon but a response to its more powerful rival.

The League’s first venture into the NWFP in the 1937 election campaign
had produced no lasting results. It established a foothold in the province
only after Sir Abdul Qaiyum, the most prominent public figure outside the
Frontier Congress, and the non-Congress Khans changed their attitude to-
ward it. Sir Abdul Qaiyum did not publicly embrace the League while he
was Chief Minister, but he covertly encouraged its development in hopes
that it would help to stem the Congress’ rising popularity.'*’ Partly in re-
sponse to his request, a small group of #/ema and urban politicians from Ha-
zara gathered in Abbottabad on September 3, 1937, to form a *‘Frontier Mus-
lim League.” They chose Mau/ana Muhammad Shuaib as their President
and Qazi Abdul Hakim as General-Secretary. The organizational meeting
was timed to coincide with the opening of the fall session of the Legislative
Assembly, which was also meeting in Abbottabad and whose first order of
business was scheduled to be a no-confidence motion against Sir Abdul Qai-
yum’s ministry.

The founders of the new party were self-appointed men who, with few
exceptions, possessed neither political influence nor prominent social stat-
ure. As a consequence, the Khans in the United Muslim Nationalists who
independently gravitated to the League after the fall of Qaiyum's ministry
were unprepared to accept their leadership. To avoid the appearance of con-
flict with the Abbottabad ‘‘League,’ the Khans, in cooperation with some
urban professionals and businessmen in Peshawar city, formed only a Dis-
trict Muslim League at a meeting on October 23, 1937 Mirza Salim Khan
was elected President and Muhammad Ismail Ghaznavi General-Secre-
tary.'*® The two Leagues reached a compromise in Nowshera on November
3, 1937 They were both disbanded, and a new provincial council was formed
with Maulana Muhammad Shuaib as President, Mian Ziauddin and Saadul-
lah Khan, who belonged to the Peshawar party, as the Vice-Presidents, and
Muhammad Ismail Ghaznavi as the General-Secretary.'** The compromise
disguised the Peshawaris’ control of the party, which was inevitable in view
of their much greater social stature and political strength. Most of the Ab-
bottabad group came to terms with them, but Shuaib refused to accept the
role of a figurehead. He tried to assert his presidential authority but suc-
ceeded only in isolating himself within the provincial council, which cen-
sured him in June 1938 and then stripped him of his office six months
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later.'*® When Saadullah Khan was named as President in his place, the
eclipse of the ‘““Abbottabad League’ was complete.

The new Provincial Muslim League quickly evolved into an umbrella or-
ganization for the non-Congress Khans who found their old, contentious
brand of political individualism a liability once their rivals assumed control
of the government. Their first response to the Khan Sahib ministry had
been to expect the British to restore the old order in which they had acted
as the government’s surrogates and received its patronage.'*® Once it be-
came apparent that the governor would not turn back the clock, the senior
Khans turned to the League. Cunningham would later write:

The Congress attitude toward the Khans was also largely the cause of
the revival of the Muslim League, at the expense of Congress. . ..
when some of the anti-Khan measures were taking shape, it was clear
that the Muslim League was becoming popular among the Khanate,
even among those old-fashioned Khans who had hitherto hardly known
the name of the League. They saw in it their main bulwark against the
attacks of the Congress. . .. '’

The League’s organization was created piecemeal. Khans on the provin-
cial council persuaded other Khans to build the party in their respective re-
gions through kin ties, factional associations, and social contacts.'*® The
League’s organization over much of the province consequently was a patch-
work of alliances among Khans. In Peshawar ZzAss/, for example, the League
was controlled among the Mohmands by their hereditary chiefs, the Landi
Arbabs; among the Khalils by the senior branch of the Tehkal Arbabs, the
titular heads of the tribes; and among the Daudzais by the Babuzai Khans.
These families cooperated to control the Ze4si/ League, presided over the
District League, and were influential in the Provincial League.'* A similar
pattern occurred in Bannu where the party was led by two powerful fami-
lies—the senior branch of the Bannuchi Maliks of Bazar Ahmad Khan, who
had historically been among the most influential families in their tribe, and
the chiefs of the Sperka Wazirs, who considered themselves the leaders of all
Wazirs in the district.'*

'To compete with the Khudai Khidmatgars, the League tried to absorb the
Khaksars who had developed a strong quasi-military organization in the
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Frontier. Estimates of their numbers in the NWFP ranged as high as 3,000,
with most of their members belonging to the province’s towns.'' Although
the two organizations shared an antipathy to the Congress, the League’s
hope that the Khaksars would provide a shortcut to a disciplined body of vol-
unteers never materialized because their founder, A/ama Inayatullah Mash-
rigi, was not prepared to see his movement subordinated to another organi-
zation.'** Even the possibility that they might cooperate disappeared in
1939 when Mashriqi turned on the League with a venom which he had pre-
viously reserved for the Congress.

The Frontier League drew its strongest support from the province’s non-
Pakhtun regions—1its towns and Hazara—where the Congress’ rural, Pakh-
tun character was a handicap. The Frontier Congress had capitalized on the
good will which existed for 1t after the 1937 elections to gain some support
in those areas, but within a year, the alliances it had made collapsed due to
the feeling that the Khan Sahib ministry was showing overt favoritism to the
Pakhtun countryside. In Hazara, there was also strong disapproval of its
anti-Khani policies among a Khani elite whose authority and prestige re-
mained strong.'*> The alienation of the towns was symbolized by the shift
of Pir Bakhsh and Abdur Rab Nishtar, the Peshawar city MLAs, to the op-
position."** The Hazara Democrats, with the exception of Muhammad Ab-
bas Khan who was unwilling to quit the ministry, also broke with the Con-
gress; the two Congress ML As from Hazara publicly protested against what
they regarded as ministerial discrimination against their district; and the
Hazara District Congress passed a no-confidence motion against the minis-
try."”> This shift in non-Pakhtun political sentiment enabled the Muslim
League to establish effective party units in the NWFP's towns by World
War I1 and to acquire a base in Hazara which the Congress never challenged.

Power in the NWFP, however, belonged to whoever represented the Pakh-
tun countryside, and there the Muslim League could not compete with the
Congress. The League attracted few Pakhtun organizers with a competence
approaching that of the Congress workers. The party was disdainfully called
the ‘‘Motor League” or ‘‘Calling League,” even among its own adherents,
because its leaders seemed to spend their time visiting one another instead
of engaging in serious party work. "'
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The League’s dependence on the senior Khans guaranteed it some Pakh-
tun support since each of them brought with him his core group of personal
retainers and factional followers. Most, however, did not make the transition
from tribal chief to political organizer. They lacked the requisite skills and
experience, and usually did not have the inclination since they had not
joined the League for ideological reasons but to obtain tactical backing
against the Congress. They retained a parochial orientation, which focused
on the affairs of their tribe and locality and placed personal and factional
interests ahead of party needs. They commonly refused to abide by party
directives when they felt that the power or status of other Khans in the
League would be enhanced as a result. Some simply rebelled against the
idea of party discipline since it ran contrary to their Pzékto which made po-
litical independence and equality with others a matter of honor.'”” Even
within the realm of tribal politics, the senior Khans were no longer a match
for their rivals in the Congress.'*® By the start of the 1930s, they had already
lost their social legitimacy, and their factional strength had declined dra-
matically. Once the Congress assumed office, the last prop on which their
influence had rested—government support—was removed, leaving them,
and by extension, their new party, with only the onus of having once been
the close associates of the Frontier’s imperial rulers.

The leaders of the All-India Muslim League did little to aid their party in
the Frontier. They made a gesture of support at the League’s Calcutta ses-
sion in April 1938 by passing a resolution calling on Muslims *‘to combat the
Congress anti-Muslim activity in the Frontier Province,’'*® and they occa-
sionally sent celebrated Muslim figures, such as Mau/ana Shaukat Ali, to the
province to drum up enthusiasm for the party. Otherwise, the central leaders
gave the Frontier League only general guidance, and more important, they
provided it with little financial support despite repeated pleas from provin-
cial leaders.'®® Thus, the Frontier League was forced to rely for funding on
membership dues and the generosity of local donors, neither of which
proved substantial. This left the party at a severe financial disadvantage to
the Frontier Congress which received a large and regular subsidy from its
all-India allies.'®

Another major cause for the Frontier League’s ineffectiveness was its lack
of a coherent party program. Beyond resorting to communal propaganda, it
had no policy other than to react opportunistically to the initiatives of the
Congress government. When the ministry introduced measures beneficial to
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Muslims, the League would accuse it of not being bold enough. Its legisla-
tive leaders, for instance, publicly advocated a much stronger version of the
Agricultural Debtors’ Relief Bill, even while they privately complained that
it hurt their interests as Khans.'®> When the ministry took forceful measures
to curb crime, party spokesmen denounced it for betraying its promise to
protect personal liberties and for resorting to policies and police tactics
which were more repressive than anything the British had ever employed.
Aurangzeb Khan, the party’s leader in the assembly, expressed a recurrent
party refrain during an adjournment motion in March 1938:

Repression in any form is to be condemned and more especially when
a Government that has got on its programme the protection of civil lib-
erties. If repression comes from that Government, it is all the more de-
plorable. We were told and we all expected that with the ushering in of
this popular Government. . . a new heaven and earth would be brought
about. We wished them God speed. But to my painful regret, I have to
state on the floor of this House—what to talk of a new heaven and
earth—even the old heaven and earth are nowhere by such repressive
policy.'®

The Peshawar District League even voted to start civil disobedience against
the Goondas Bill in October 1939 on the grounds that the Congress was re-
sorting to fascism in an effort to destroy its opponents.'®* (It did not have to
carry through on its threat because the Congress government resigned the
next month.)

To compensate for its lack of a positive program, the party placed a heavy
reliance upon religious appeals. The Provincial Chief Secretary, Ambrose
Dundas, noted in March 1938: “The speeches reported have contained no
policy and no argument and have in about every case had no other theme but
that Congress is a Hindu organisation and that no true Muslim ought to ally
with it.’'® League newspapers assumed a similar approach with articles
purporting to show that ‘‘the Congress . . . has plans for Ram Raj in their
hearts’ and that the members of the Frontier Congress were traitors to Islam
who were furthering the Hindus’ anti-Muslim designs in return for power
and personal gain.'®

The League attempted to exploit any activity or indiscretion of the Fron-
tier Congress which could lend substance to these charges. Its members
tried to use visits by Gandhi and Nehru to the NWFP to show that the party
was subject to Hindu control.'®” They juxtaposed spinning, a classic Con-
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gress symbol, with the Pakhtuns’ martial values in an attempt to insinuate
that the Congress wanted to emasculate the people of the Frontier and re-
duce them to doing women’s work. '*® They extracted propaganda value from
the title of “‘Frontier Gandhi’’ which Hindus had given Abdul Ghaffar Khan,
suggesting that he had become so Hinduized that he took pride in being a
“nagli [imitation] Gandhi.*'*®

The League concentrated in particular on the policies of the Khan Sahib
government. Its spokesmen denounced the ministers, and especially Bhanju
Ram Gandhi, for showing Hindus and Sikhs undue preference in govern-
ment appointments, dismissing Muslims from their jobs without cause, and
tolerating injustices against Muslim civil servants by their Hindu supe-
riors.'”® They alleged that the ministry was slighting Muslims in the distri-
bution of government scholarships, and when it withdrew textbooks by the
Anjuman-1-Himayat-i-Islam from government schools, the newspaper, Sar-
had, reported that it had removed Islamic history from the curriculum and
replaced the name of the Prophet with ‘‘Rama Chandra.””'”' Whenever com-
munal violence occurred, Leaguers invariably came to the defense of Mus-
lims, blamed the tensions on Hindu prejudices, and found in the govern-
ment’s efforts to restore peace a bias in favor of the minorities.'”

The League’s communal rhetoric, however, was unfruitful in the late
1930s, for its basic charge against its opponents was belied by their attitudes
and actions. Islam was so integral a part of the Pakhtuns’ ethos that it was
natural for Frontier Congressmen to use Islamic symbols and rhetoric. The
very name ‘‘Khudai Khidmatgar” carried a religious meaning—Servants of
God—and its objectives included service to Islam as well as the Pakhtuns.
Its leaders’ speeches were laced with religious allusions. Abdul Ghaffar
Khan even justified the seemingly un-Islamic idea of non-violence in reli-
gious terms:

Non-violence is not a new creed to a Muslim though Mahatma Gandhi
has revived it when it was forgotten. It was followed by the Prophet all
the time he was in Mecca, persecuted for his faith in one God. It has
been followed by other Muslims, who had wished to throw off the yoke

of Oppression.'”

The party’s policies also lent little substance to the charge that it was be-
traying Islam or favoring non-Muslims. Party leaders were careful to main-
tain their autonomy from the Indian National Congress and paid due atten-

168. Sarhad, 7/22/38.
169. Ibid., 2/25/39. Also see ibid., 6/21/38.
170. 16id., 10/15/37, 2/17/38, 7/3/38, 2/126/39, and 2/27/39.

171. 16id.. 4/6/39.
172. For example, see GR/40. No. 15, 11/23/37; and LAD, Vol. 5, No. 2, 3/18/38, p. 130.

173. Quoted in C.F. Andrews, The Challenge of the North-West Frontier (London: George Al-
len and Ungqin, 1937), pp. 88-89.



160  Ethnicity, Nationalism, and the Pakhtuns

tion to issues with religious implications. 'The Khan Sahib ministry, for
example, introduced Islamic texts into the school curriculum, amended the
laws governing gwgaf to improve their management, and passed a bill re-
stricting printing and merchandizing of the Quran to Muslims. On occasion,
party leaders even fought the League on its own terms by suggesting that
theirs was the more Islamic party.'’

More fundamentally, the League’s propaganda rested on the inappro-
priate premise that people in the North-West Frontier Province identified
themselves primarily by their religion rather than their ethnicity. To a large
extent, the League had no choice in the matter since the Frontier Congress
had defined itself as the party of Pakhtun interests, while the League drew
its adherents from the province’s non-Pakhtuns and senior Khans whose past
connections with the British made them suspect in Pakhtun eyes. Under
these circumstances, it made little sense for the League to compete for
Pakhtuns’ ethnic allegiance. The late 1930s, on the other hand, witnessed
growing Muslim-Hindu tensions throughout India which raised the possi-
bility that a communal appeal might overcome the Pakhtuns’ ethnocent-
rism. Communal relations, however, had not deteriorated to the point where
Pakhtuns were ready to abandon their ethnic priorities, and as long as that
remained true, the League would find it difficult to compete with the Con-
gress in the North-West Frontier.

Communal Politics During the Khan Sahib
Ministry

In July 1935, the Shahidganj mosque was demolished in Lahore to make
room for a Sikh gurdwara. The ensuing controversy dragged on for years and
adversely affected communal relations in the NWFP as well as the Pun-
jab.'” Closer to home, and more seriously, Musammat Ram Kaur, a minor
Hindu girl in Bannu, eloped with her Muslim lover in March 1936, con-
verted to Islam, and took the name of Islam Bibi.'’® Her parents instituted
legal proceedings which led to her husband’s arrest and a six-month judicial
dispute which ended in their regaining custody of her. These events inau-
gurated a period of rising communal tensions which heightened the minor-
ities sense of personal and political insecurity and colored party politics in
the Frontier.

Shortly after the Islam Bibi case reached the courts, Haji Mirza Ali Khan,
a religious recluse among the Tori Khel Wazirs, who was better known as the
Fagir of Ipi, raised a /ashkar of Daurs which momentarily threatened to in-
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vade Bannu District. When the courts returned her to her parents, he began
to preach against the government again, this time among his own tribe. Two
brigades of troops marched into the Khaisora Valley, the Fagir's headquar-
ters, where they were engaged in a two-day battle by his adherents in late
November 1936. The Fagsr of Ipi subsequently retreated deeper into Wazir-
istan where he rallied elements of the Wazirs, Mahsuds, and Bhittanis in a
tribal war against the government which assumed the shape of a regular mil-
itary campaign in 1937. The government employed 40,000 troops to quell
the tribesmen, incurred almost 1,000 casualties, spent £1,500,000, and still
managed to secure only an uneasy and fragile truce in Waziristan during the
rest of the decade.'”’

As had happened in all previous conflicts in Waziristan, tribal gangs also
attacked settlements in Bannu, Dera Ismail Khan, and Kohat Districts.
There were only thirteen attacks on the settled districts in 1936-37; but as
the army pacified Waziristan, the Fagirof Ipi’s adherents diverted their ener-
gies into raiding which minimized the risk of a direct confrontation with the
military. Between October 1937 and April 1939 alone, 233 raids caused prop-
erty losses estimated at Rs. 40,000,000 and led to almost one hundred kid-
nappings.'’® The worst single raid occurred on July 23, 1938, when a /ashkar
attacked the town of Bannu, killed twelve people, wounded twenty-five,
kidnapped twenty, and looted or destroyed property estimated at four lakhs
of rupees.'”

The raids were directed principally at the religious minorities who, as the
province’s main traders and moneylenders, were a more enticing target than
the Muslims and a safer one since Muslims were bound by their code of
honor to assist their clansmen in case of attack. Traditionally, the minorities’
major, though by no means infallible, source of protection had been the
naik-hamsaya relationship. '™ A Hindu or Sikh acknowledged himself a 4am-
saya (dependent) of a powerful Pakhtun Khan, and received the protection
of his nai# (patron) in return. By the late 1930s, this relationship had broken
down in the southern districts under the impact of economic changes. With
their increasing wealth, many Hindus and Sikhs no longer sought protection
since it carried the onus of dependency, vet Pakhtun Khans were often un-
willing to defend them without it.'®' The Congress’ anti-Khani policies also
increased the minorities’ vulnerability. As Cunningham observed:

... the Khans were surly and resentful at the attitude of the Ministry
towards them and at the blows which had been dealt at their pockets
and prestige. They consequently saw no reason why they should take
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any particularly active part in helping to combat crime.'®

For their part, the ordinary villagers tended to sympathize with the tribes-
men. Thus, intelligence about impending raids dried up; the Frontier Con-
stabulary and army received little assistance in tracking down the tribal
gangs; and the minorities had to worry about their neighbors joining the
raiders rather than helping them to defend themselves.

When a rash of raids made their sense of insecurity acute, the minorities
in isolated villages sought refuge in the district towns. In 1938 alone, an es-
timated one-third of the minority population in Bannu was displaced in this
manner.'® The towns, however, were not the havens they were assumed to
be. Communal relations there were already strained, and the migrants only
made a tense situation more volatile with their suspicions and complaints.
In Dera Ismail Khan, the “‘influx of additional, highly-strung Hindus from
the outlying areas’ helped, as Cunningham recounted, to turn a dispute
over the slaughter of a cow on /4 into a communal riot on February 2, 1939."
As was usually the case, the minorities suffered the greatest losses in the
fighting and found that their position became even more insecure than be-
fore as a result of the bitterness the riot engendered.

The Muslim League sought to capitalize on the NWFP’s communal trou-
bles by giving its unswerving support to the Muslim side in every communal
incident, regardless of who was at fault. Its rhetoric, as a result, tended to
enflame communal animosities and, according to government reports, oc-
casionally led directly to violence, such as the murder of two Sikhs in Mayar
village in Mardan District in February 1938 and the random stabbing of mi-
norities in Peshawar city early the following year.'®

As much as they were alarmed by the Muslim League, the minorities felt
only a little better about the Frontier Congress. Neither of the two political
camps into which the province’s Hindus and Sikhs were divided were
pleased with Khan Sahib’s ministry. Those who had opted for a party of
their own found confirmation for their mistrust of the Congress in the min-
istry’s record, while many of those who had thought that their security lay
in working within the Congress were disillusioned by what they perceived
as its communal bias. For example, Dr. C.C. Ghosh, a founding member of
the Frontier Congress, later wrote to V.C. Savarkar that the Frontier Hindus
“had placed them[selves] under Muslim majority which dominates the Red
Shirt organisation here . . . Congress (Red Shirt) attitude during the Con-
gress Ministry days towards the minorities was most tyrannous.” '™

The minorities complained that the ministry did not adequately protect
them from tribal raids or take sufficiently strong punitive measures against
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their Muslim neighbors whom they believed aided the tribesmen.'®” They
also thought it was squeezing them out of government employment, al-
though the percentages on communal representation in the services did not
lend credence to their suspicions,'™ and they took strong exception to two
pieces of economic legislation, the Agricultural Debtors’ Relief Bill and Ag-
ricultural Markets Produce Bill, which hurt their interests as moneylenders
and traders. Mehr Chand Khanna expressed the general feelings of his com-
patriots when he call the two bills doses of poison which made a mockery of
the Congress’ election pledge that no one would suffer economically from its
policies because of their religion.'® A combination of governmental deci-
sions even convinced some Hindus and Sikhs that the Frontier Congress was
acting out of an Islamic bias which threatened their culture and religion.'”

The Frontier Congress, in sum, seemed to the minorities to be committed
to policies which favored Muslims at their expense, and even the Congress’
predominantly Hindu all-India High Command appeared unable to actas a
brake upon it. On the other hand, the strategy of relying on a separate party
which would use its strength in the legislative assembly to obtain written
guarantees had failed with the fall of Sir Abdul Qaiyum’s government. The
Congress did not need the Hindu-Sikh Nationalists’ support, and the Mus-
lim League did not want it. The only strategy left to the minorities was the
weak and futile one of protest and appeal —rto the ministry, the PCC, Abdul
Ghaffar Khan, the AICC, and the permanent administration. Thus, at the
end of Khan Sahib’s tenure of office in November 1939, a solution to their
political dilemma appeared as distant as at its start. It would not materialize
until the advent of a Muslim League ministry in 1943 forced a reevaluation
of their attitude toward the Frontier Congress.
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WARTIME POLITICS, 1939-1945

World War II cut short the Frontier Congress’ brief regime. Dr. Khan Sa-
hib had hoped to stay in office as late as October even if the Working Com-
mittee forced the other Congress ministries to resign, but in the end, he
could not stand apart from the rest of the party on an issue of the magnitude
of the war.' On November 7, 1939, he called a special assembly session,
passed the Congress’ resolution against the war, and tendered his resigna-
tion. Muhammad Ali Jinnah immediately urged Aurangzeb Khan, the Pro-
vincial League leader, to form a coalition at any cost to show that the NWFP
accepted their party as the authoritative representative of India’s Muslims,’
but communal antagonism and factionalism among the non-Congress Mus-
lims prevented him from doing so. Cunningham, therefore, assumed control
of the provincial administration under Section 93 of the 1935 Government of
India Act. Under renewed pressure from Jinnah, the Frontier League made
a more concerted attempt to create a ministry at the beginning of 1940. Lord
Linlithgow urged Cunningham to help and had Sir Henry Craik, the Gov-
ernor of the Punjab, discreetly ask Sir Sikandar Hayat Khan to lend his as-
sistance.” But, as Cunningham predicted, no ministry could be formed be-
cause there were ‘‘too many selfish ambitions and private feuds’’ among the
non-Congress MLAs.*

During Khan Sahib’s tenure, provincial politics had centered around the
efforts of the Frontier Congress to alter the balance in the province’s tradi-
tional polity. With the war, the party’s assault on its Khani rivals abated, and
its focus reverted to dismantling the British imperial system. Since their in-
terests were no longer directly threatened, the Khans who dominated the
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Frontier Muslim League lacked the incentive to maintain their party activi-
ties at the same pitch as before. Many reverted to their old style of politics
and sought to reestablish a privileged relationship with the government.’
Cunningham, however, rejected every proposal which artificially enhanced
the powers of the Khans since he was determined not to repeat the mistake
of 1930 and create a source of popular discontent on which the Congress
could capitalize.®

World War I underscored the parochialism of the NWFP. While the Con-
gress’ confrontation with the British threw other provinces into turmoil, the
Frontier remained quiet. The issues that agitated the rest of India simply
seemed less urgent or even irrelevant to the province, including most of its
Congressmen. Yet the Frontier Congress was compelled by party ties to stay
in step with its allies. In the process, it fell out of tune with local sentiments
with the result that its popularity was temporarily eclipsed. The Frontier
Congress was called on twice to join agitations devised by the all-India
party: the individual safyagraka campaign, which was started in September
1940; and the Quit India Movement, which was launched in August 1942,
Both times, it joined in late, acted indecisively, and experienced failure.

The arrest of ten Congress MLAs in the Quit India Movement allowed
Aurangzeb Khan to form a Muslim League ministry in May 1943 and govern
the province until March 1945. As soon as he came to power, the personal
feuds and factionalism which had plagued his party from the start resur-
faced. He was threatened by defections within the assembly and challenged
by opponents in the provincial party organization. In order to survive, he
opportunistically used his ministerial power to pacify wavering MLAs and
keep his supporters happy. His manipulation of power was so blatant that
within a year of assuming office he had disillusioned the general public and
major segments of his party. Factional strife within the party intensified as a
result, forcing the central League leadership to intervene. But its cffort's to
rebuild the party failed when the reorganization became one more arena into
which Aurangzeb Khan's supporters and opponents extended their bitteran-
imosities.

The Congress Agitations of 1940 and 1942

The genesis of individual civil disobedience lay in the failure of thc? Con-
gress to negotiate a suitable political trade-off with the Viceroy for its co-
operation in the war. The party decided at Ramgarh in March 1940 to resort
to civil disobedience and gave Gandhi sole responsibility for directing tbc
campaign. In July, the Working Committee suspended that decision in
hopes of reaching an accommodation with the government, only to reverse
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itself again two months later when a new impasse developed. Gandhi de-
cided on individual, rather than mass, safyagraka over the right to preach
against the war. He ordered select individuals to court arrest by shouting
anti-war slogans beginning on October 17th.

Gandhi did not choose any satyagrakis from the NWFP. Instead, he en-
trusted responsibility for the Frontier to Abdul Ghaffar Khan who prevari-
cated because of objections to the campaign within the PCC.’ Slogan-shout-
ing by twenty select leaders was finally targeted for December 14th. Notices
were sent to the Deputy Commissioners specifying times and places, and
meetings were held to whip up popular anticipation. But beneath the public
appearances, party leaders, including many of the anointed satyagrahis, re-
mained unconvinced of the efficacy of the campaign. Four days before it be-
gan, Cunningham wrote in his diary:

It seems clear now that none of them have their hearts in it, and if left
to themselves many of them will not persevere with thetr slogan-shout-
ing more than a day or two. We decided, therefore, not to arrest anyone
straight-away, unless a demonstration is anticipated, and to judge each
case by the actual effect it is likely to have.*

The satyagrahis started on schedule, shouting the approved slogans
against the war. Some made only a gesture at breaking the law. For example,
the ex-Finance Minister, Bhanju Ram Gandhi, “‘only came out on to the
steps of his house, shouted the slogan once or twice and then retreated in-
doors.”® Two satyagrahis, including the PCC General-Secretary, Abdul Qai-
yum Khan Swathi, were arrested in Hazara, but elsewhere the police simply
told them to disperse or took them home.'® The Government of India ob-
jected to Cunningham’s leniency, but he resisted its demand for sterner
measures on the grounds that arrests would create political martyrs who
would give impetus to a campaign which had no chance of otherwise suc-
ceeding." Slogan-shouting dwindled away by Christmas as the satyagrahis
saw that they were only evoking bemusement and derision. Gandhi declared
a Christmas truce which was extended in the NWFP until after /d-uz-Zuha
in the first week of January. Subsequently, a few men half-heartedly re-
sumed slogan-shouting until the end of the month and then stopped. Abdul
Ghaffar Khan tried a new tack in March by sending Khudai Khidmatgars to
shout slogans in their villages. The public’s response was so negligible that
the next month he gave up and called a halt to individual satyagraha alto-
gether.
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The Frontier Congress’ paltry efforts were partially obscured in 1940 by
the failure of the campaign throughout India. During the Quit India Move-
ment of 1942, it had no such cover. The Working Committee once again en-
trusted Abdul Ghaffar Khan with responsibility for the Frontier. In late July,
he tried to stir up excitement by announcing that he would send Khudai
Khidmatgars to the tribal areas to urge the people not to indulge in raiding
once civil disobedience began. Cunningham saw no need to stop the emis-
saries because propaganda by mu/laks and tribal maliks had already turned
the tribesmen against the Congress. '’ The Khudai Khidmatgars met a hos-
tile reception everywhere they went. The Mohmands and Afridis warned
them not to come to their territory, while the ma/iks in Malakand forced
them to turn back. Elsewhere, they received the barest reception commen-
surate with the Pakhtun value of me/mastia (hospitality).

Cunningham also assumed a mild stance toward the rest of the agitation.
He felt confident that the Congress ‘‘would get little sympathy here, and
that Abdul Ghaffar Khan was not likely to get much support if he preached
the Congress case.”'* He sought at all costs to avoid arrests which might
force a confrontation and arouse hostility ‘‘not only among Abdul Ghaffar
Khan’s Red Shirt followers but among a considerable section of otherwise
friendly opinion.”'* Moreover, he regarded the Frontier leaders as the prov-
ince’s best protection against the agitation turning violent. In fact, they did
keep the campaign peaceful, deflecting all pressure from Congress extre-
mists within and outside the province to redirect it into sabotage. "’

Cunningham’s policy was received with deep misgivings by the Govern-
ment of India.'® Before the agitation began, the Viceroy and Home Depart-
ment urged him to adopt their hardline policy of arresting everyone capable
of leading a mass movement as soon as the AICC ratified the call for civil
disobedience. After August 8th, they redoubled their pressure, broadly
hinting that unless he acted firmly, Cunningham would be held solely re-
sponsible for any problems which might develop in the Frontier. Events,
however, proved that his confidence, and not the Government of India’s ap-
prehensions, was warranted. .

No action was taken against the Frontier Congress on August 9th, leaving
it the only PCC in India that was not outlawed. This caught party leaders by
surprise because they had assumed that the government would take preemp-
tive measures, thereby handing them an issue.'” They temporized at first,
holding public meetings and organizing a partial 4arta/ on August 10th to
keep up appearances while searching for a coherent policy. They also started
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small-scale picketing of liquor stores which the authorities condoned on the
theory that it *‘is a useful safety valve as it troubles nobody and saves the
face of Congress.”'® The PCC met on August 16th but could reach no deci-
sion other than to leave the matter to Abdul Ghaffar Khan. He, in turn, de-
cided to go on tour to gauge public feelings before starting civil disobedi-
ence in earnest.

A more definite program was charted at a second PCC meeting on August
28th.” Picketing of schools began on September 1st, with some property
damage occurring in the towns of Mardan and Charsadda. Attempts were
also made to organize student Aarzals, but these met with minimal success
after the first day. Only in Bannu, where the picketers blocked access to
school buildings, did the authorities respond with arrests, detaining 439
people in all. Public meetings were also intensified, with the peak coming
on September 4th when a declaration of independence was read throughout
the province. The Khudai Khidmatgars began to talk about occupying gov-
ernment offices, and Congress leaders warned on September 13th that they
would shut down the courts, but neither threat materialized. In spite of all
their activity and rhetoric, party workers had failed to generate a sufficient
level of public interest to sustain a civil disobedience campaign. The agita-
tion dwindled after September 13th, and Ramzan conveniently intervened
to serve as an excuse for inactivity. Even the protests at the schools were
halted by the end of the month in deference to public opinion.

Under pressure from Indian National Congress sources, Abdul Ghaffar
Khan ended the lull in the agitation on October 5th.?* Large groups of Khu-
dai Khidmatgars from the countryside, numbering up to 750 in Peshawar and
300 in Mardan, picketed the district courts for six consecutive days before
suspending their activities for /& on October 10th. Smaller crowds also ap-
peared in Kohat for two days. At first, the police only detained the picketers
for the day, but their activities attracted crowds which clashed with the po-
lice, most seriously in Mardan where three people were killed and thirteen
wounded on October 10th. When picketing resumed on October 19th, there-
fore, the government modified its tactics and started selectively arresting
Congress organizers. The largest number detained in any single district was
only 131 in Mardan. Abdul Ghaffar Khan was arrested on October 27th.
Cunningham would have preferred to have left him free since his detention
gave the Khudai Khidmatgars an issue, but he had left the authorities no
choice by defying a ban on his entry into Mardan District.*' To forestall trou-
ble, twenty-three Khudai Khidmatgar leaders from Charsadda were rounded

18. PJ8/605. Collection 117-C-27-F. No. 5941. Telegram, 8/17/42. Governor. NWFP. to
Secretary of State.
19. FR8/42(I1). Also see FR9/42(1) and CD. 9/13/42.

20. CP/5. Part I, pp. 22-23. .
21. CP/5, Part 11, pp. 22. Also see FR10/42(1), FR10/42(11), and P]8/627. Collection 117-

C-27Q. No. 3765, p. 6.
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up after his arrest in the last major sweep of Frontier Congress leaders.

The government siphoned away the remaining force of the agitation by
starting to jail picketers in later October rather than merely holding them for
a day.”’ By then, the agitation was confined to Peshawar city and the town of
Mardan. The first day’s arrests ended serious picketing in Mardan. In Pesh-
awar, the number of picketers fell to about ten a day by mid-November, and
they no longer approached the courts, presenting themselves at police head-
quarters instead. The government arrested each new group of protestors but
did not try to stop the routine altogether. Cunningham wrote in retrospect,
“We let it go on because Dr. Khan Sahib and other Congress leaders here
could use this as an answer to pressure from down-country to take a more
active part against the Government.'*® The charade continued in a spas-
modic manner until April 1943 when the Frontier Congress leaders called it
off on their own accord.

General Sir Claude Auchinleck said that Sir George Cunningham’s han-
dling of the Quit India Movement was worth two Army Corps.* There is no
doubt that his tactful policy minimized the disruptive impact of the cam-
paign; however, he was able to use finesse rather than force only because
conditions already existed which made its failure probable. During the Khan
Sahib ministry, the Frontier Congress had possessed sufficient autonomy to
act independent of, and even contrary to, the High Command’s wishes on
many questions. The war, in contrast, raised issues which were so vital to
the Congress that its leaders expected the Frontier party to abide by their
decisions, no matter how individualistically it implemented them. This left
the Frontier Congressmen prey to the vagaries of all-India political negotia-
tions in which they had little part. Time and again, they had to adjust to
policy shifts about which they had not been forewarned and which they did
not always like. Their relationship with the High Command was further
confused by Abdu! Ghaffar Khan, who temporarily resigned from the Work-
ing Committee twice when it adopted policies contrary to Gandh_i's
wishes.?® The end-result was that the Frontier Congress often acted equiv-
ocally, contrary to the best judgment of its leaders, or not at all.

Even when the High Command issued clear orders, the party tended to
act indecisively because the war was popular in the NWFP. Economically,
the war brought prosperity to the Frontier after the hard time of the 1930s.
Agricultural prices rose, and employment opportunities expanded as the
province’s contingent in the army grew almost fivefold from 8,828 t0

22. P]8/627. Collection 117-C-27Q. No. 3765, p. 6.

23. CP/5, p. 24.

24. Norvall Mitchell, Sir George Cunningham (Edinburgh: Blackwood and Sons, 1968), p-
162.

25. D.G. Tendulkar, Abdu/ Ghaffar Kkhan (Bombay: Popular Prakashan, 1967). pp- 326-
38 and 343.
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41,201.% Politically, the two years of self-rule under the 1935 India Act had
blunted anti-British feelings so that the government no longer appeared as
an obstacle in the way of local aspirations. With the heavy recruitment into
the army and an intensive propaganda campaign which equated the war with
the defense of Islam, the people of the Frontier adopted the British cause as
their own.

Even most Congressmen did not oppose the war out of deep-seated con-
viction. Many made no pretense of complying with party policy, as Khan Sa-
hib recognized when he told Cunningham in May 1940 that while he did not
think any Congressmen would serve on committees set up to assist in the
war mobilization, ‘‘they would be ready to perform any task allotted to them
by those Committees, with a view to preserving the peace and good order
of the Province.”?’ Leaders like Khan Sahib and Ali Gul Khan, the PCC
President, were caught in a more difficult position. They too sympathized
with the British, but party policy dictated that they appear to be against the
war. The contradiction between their inner feelings and public posture was
so transparent that when they were called on to lead the campaigns of 1940
and 1942, people remained unconvinced of their sincerity. As Cunningham
noted during the individual safyagraka campaign, “Itis. .. commonly be-
lieved that Congress leaders, with the possible exception of A.G.K., are
really in secret concord with Government.”’*® There appeared to be good
grounds for these suspicions. Some party leaders remained in regular con-
tact with government officials and extended to them some cooperation even
when relations were most strained. Cunningham, for instance, felt he could
take a vacation in August 1942 in spite of the Quit India agitation because
of private assurances from the PCC President: ‘‘Sikandar [Mirza] told me
that Ali Gul Khan had said that he would see things did not boil up enough
to make me curtail my trip to Kashmir.’®® Clearly, the passions which
marked the unrest in 1930-1932 were absent during World War I1I.

The government helped foster the Frontier’s positive attitude on the war
by secretly enlisting on its side influential mullahs, maulanas, and sajjada
nishins in both the settled districts and tribal area.>® Few men of any reli-
gious consequence stood aloof. The Fagsr of Ipi was a major exception, but
some of his lieutenants took up war propaganda as did many other men who
were publicly perceived as anti-British. In return for liberal subsidies, reli-
gious figures preached that Great Britain's enemies were also the enemies of

26. MIL14/234 and MI1.14/236. Including the Frontier Corps and Levies which operated
in the tribal area, the total in the military on January 1, 1942, was 57,599.

27. CD, 5/30/40.

28. CD, 12/24/40.

29. CD, 8/28/42. Khan Sahib was a frequent dinner and bridge guest of the governor.
seeing him even while the Congress was conducting civil disobedience.

30. See CP/3 for a detailed description of how this was done.
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Islam. Similar propaganda was disseminated by the province’s press, which
was also heavily subsidized.’' Two parallel networks were used to recruit the
religious leaders.> Khan Bahadur Quli Khan started the first in August 1939
on the request of Sir Arthur Parsons, the acting governor. His primary suc-
cess was in convincing the members of the Jamiar-ul-Ulema-i-Sarkad, who
were almost professionally anti-British, to preach that the interests of Islam
and Great Britain were identical. Cunningham directed the second network
himself until August 1941 when he turned it over to military intelligence. He
worked primarily through the Deputy Commissioners and Political Agents
who, in turn, employed influential and largely apolitical, private citizens.

A rare unanimity was created in religious circles which gave the wara
powerful sanction. Religious figures initially concentrated their attacks on
the “‘bolsheviks’ who had long been held in disfavor in the Frontier for their
atheism and their treatment of Central Asian Muslims. The Germans were
denounced first for their association with the Russians and then for being
anti-religious themselves. When the alignments in the war changed, the
propaganda was suitably redirected. Italians were condemned as no longer
ahl-i-kitab and the Japanese as but parast (idol worshippers). The Russians’
religious attitudes were played down, and the English alliance with them
was justified as expedient politics.™

It required little prompting to turn these polemics against the Congress.
Frontier Congressmen encountered a barrage of denunciations which de-
scribed them as actively in league with the anti-religious Fascists or simply
labeled them as Aafirs for opposing a war in which Islam had a stake.* The
more actively the Congress engaged in anti-war work, the heavier the prop-
aganda against it became. Months before the Quit India Movement opened,
religious figures throughout the Frontier started to sharpen their attacks.
Once the agitation began, a spate of farwas were issued condemning it; the
Jamiar-ul-Ulema-i-Sarkad disseminated tracts which Cunningham called
“all good anti-Congress, anti-Japanese and [anti-]Axis stuff,” and the Mus-
lim press almost universally denounced the Congress for trying to create 2
Hindu Ra; in collusion with the Axis powers.* _

The anti-Congress propaganda was reinforced by personal attacks on its
leaders. Abdul Ghaffar Khan had made no attempt to disguise his admira-
tion for Gandhi, emulating him in ways which ran counter to Pakhtun va}-
ues. He propagated char#kha (spinning) which Pakhtuns considered women s
work, and in an effort to create an awareness of cleanliness, swept village
streets, an activity which was viewed as beneath the dignity of a Khan. HC
also established a Khudai Khidmatgar center at Sardaryab in Peshawar Dis-

31. CP/3a, p. 4.
32. CP/3b.
33. CD, 7/1/41.

34. See CP/3a for samples of the anti-Congress propaganda.
35. CP/3c and FR9/42(I).
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trict which his enemies compared to Gandhi's ashram. Al-Falak, for in-
stance, editorialized:

The Frontier Gandhi, Abdul Ghaffar Khan, to give Hindu education
and to make Pakhtuns true £afirs, has opened an gshram in the Frontier
in which instruction on the Gita and Vedas will be given. Muslims will
be enlightened with Hindu education. Lessons in the Hindu style of
praying and the true education of Gandhi’s askram will be taught.*

More detrimental were the marriages of Abdul Ghaffar Khan’s son to a
Parsi and Khan Sahib’s daughter to a Christian. The former excited disap-
proval but no major public outcry since it was assumed that women in inter-
faith marriages adopt the religion of their husbands. For that very reason, the
marriage of Khan Sahib’s daughter, Miriam, in May 1942 was blown into a
major political issue. Although Miriam’s mother was Christian and English,
people felt Khan Sahib was allowing a Muslim woman to leave the Islamic
fold. The anti-Congress press used the marriage as a springboard for a gen-
eral denunciation of Khan Sahib and his brother. The K#yber Ma:/ wrote in a

relatively restrained manner:

The episode of Miss Khan Sahib’s engagement to a non-Muslim may
well establish the Khan Brothers’ claim to enlightened nationalism, but
its outcome leaves no doubt regarding the fact that the Muslim public
expects its leaders to live up to MUSLIM ideals. Certain circles in this
country are in the habit of proclaiming loudly that a man’s private life
is entirely his own and has nothing to do with his public activities. The
Pathans have, however, shown that so far as they are concerned this doc-
trine is mere trash.”’

Other papers made much more virulent attacks.®® Khan Sahib temporarily
resigned from the party, and Abdul Ghaffar Khan disassociated himself
from the marriage. Nonetheless, their personal reputations suffered, and
their party lost considerable public support. As late as July 1942, Cun-
ningham cited the marriage as a major reason why he did not expect much
public enthusiasm for the Quit India Movement.*

External factors aside, the Frontier Congress was severely sapped during
the early war years by factionalism which was a legacy from its days in power.
Departure from office had produced a momentary spirit of accommodation
among the feuding groups; but as time passed without a clear-cut policy and
as ambivalence about opposing the war rose, infighting broke out with re-

36. Al-Falah, 7/3/42.
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newed intensity throughout the party organization.*® Ghulam Muhammad
Khan renewed his feud with the PCC majority until it expelled him from
the party in November 1940. Mian Jafar Shah and Ardab Abdul Ghafur re-
signed as PCC President and General-Secretary in July 1940 in a dispute
over party policy. Two years later, A7bab Abdul Ghafur revived the Afghan
Jirga as a proponent of militant Pakhtun nationalism and became a bitter foe
of Abdul Ghaffar Khan and Dr. Khan Sahib, whom he denounced as apos-
tates and servants of the Hindus.*' When Abdul Ghaffar Khan temporarily
resigned from the Congress Working Committee in July 1940, some Khudai
Khidmatgars felt that they should abolish the Congress Committee hier-
archy and reassert their independence from their all-India allies. The PCC
fought the idea until Abdul Ghaffar Khan resolved the issue in its favor by
rejoining the Working Committee in September. Just as that dispute ended,
Rab Nawaz Khan resigned as the Khudai Khidmatgars’ commander *‘on the
grounds that he is merely a puppet Sa/ar-i-Azam and that the non-violence
clause introduced in the movement was contrary to Islamic principles and
Afghan traditions.’*

All these factors—the failure to mount a credible anti-war movement, the
war’s popularity, the anti-nationalist religious propaganda, the attacks on the
personal behavior of the Khan brothers, and the factionalism—combined to
produce a dramatic slump in the Frontier Congress’ popularity which can be
most readily seen from membership statistics. The number of primary Con-
gressmen fell from 23,815 in 1939 to 10,902 by March 1941. Later figures are
not available, but there is no reason to assume that the decline was reversed
before 1943. While all of the districts contributed to the decrease, the south-
ern three showing the greatest percentage decline (see Table 8). A similar
drop occurred among the Khudai Khidmatgars, but its precise dimensions
are unclear since accurate membership rolls were not kept.

The Aurangzeb Khan Ministry

Immediately after the Quit India Movement began, the ‘‘obvious propa-
ganda advantage’ prompted Lord Linlithgow once more to urge Cun-
ningham to explore the possibility of a non-Congress ministry.” Cun-
ningham, however, considered the Muslim MLAs too divided by jealousies
to make the enterprise worthwhile. Aurangzeb Khan, the presumptive Pre-
mier, initially concurred, calling any coalition he might put together a

40. Sce FR4/40(11), FR5/40(1), FR7/40(1), FR8/40(11), and FR11/40(II). Also GR/44.
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Table 8: Congress Membership in 1939 and 19414

District 1939 1941 % Change
Hazara 1,720 604 -65%
Mardan 6,008 4,641 ~-23%
Peshawar 9,351 4,004 ~-23%
Kohat 1,794 409 ~-77 %
Bannu 3,568 452 - 87 %
Dera Ismail Khan 954 152 - B4 %

“‘bathroom majority’’—one so precarious it would disappear whenever a
member went to the toilet.** He revised his opinion in January 1943 after the
assembly’s membership had been reduced to thirty-four by the arrest of ten
Congress MLAs and the death, resignation, or disbarment of six others.
Even though he started with a block of sixteen Muslim supporters, the for-
mation of his ministry turned into an arduous, drawn out process. The dis-
sension among the League representatives reemerged as soon as there was a
prize to fight over, while the minority MLAs refused to negotiate because
their leader, Mehr Chand Khanna, was away on a trip to Canada.*

Cunningham had reservations about the calibre of the League leaders. He
told the Viceroy in January 1943:

... although Congress stock has fallen very heavily in the last year or
so, this does not mean that the prestige of the Muslim League has
risen. Aurangzeb Khan and his friends are looked upon generally, as an
Indian friend of mine put it, as being out for the ‘loaves and the fish!
Opinion does not credit them with any motives of public service.’

He also had strong doubts about the durability of a League government and
feared that a short-lived ministry of mediocre talent might reflect badly on
the government as a whole and resuscitate the Congress agitation. Due to
these misgivings and the experience of having failed to promote a non-Con-
gress ministry in 1937, Cunningham told Aurangzeb Khan that he had to
have written commitments from enough MLAs to give him a majority in the
assembly even if the representatives who were in jail were released before
he would be allowed to form a government.*

Both the League and the Congress had solid blocs of supporters in the
assembly, but there was a group equally as large which, if not actually up for
the highest bidder, gave the impression that it was. In March, Aurangzeb
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Khan listed three Congressmen as converts and another eight, some of them
by all appearances staunch partymen, as possibilities. He also expressed
hope about seven non-Congress MLAs, including three minority represen-
tatives.” The situation did not stabilize until May, by which time he had
commitments from twenty MLAs and expected another two or three to join
him once a ministry was formed. Cunningham relaxed the eatlier require-
ments he had imposed on Aurangzeb Khan and accepted that assessment,
noting in addition that two Congressmen had promised to stay neutral.”* On
May 25th, he swore in a cabinet consisting of four Muslims and a Sikh, Sar-
dar Ajit Singh.

The formation of the League ministry finally resolved the divisions
among the religious minorities over political strategy. The broad outline of
their dilemma was the same as before the war, but the political environment
had qualitatively changed. The minorities’ maneuverability had been re-
duced, while their perception that they needed protection had acquired
greater urgency due to the Muslim League’s advocacy of Islamic separa-
tism. The minorities had three options: to cooperate as a separate party with
the Muslim League; to do the same with the Congress; or to merge wholly
with the Congress. In the end, most agreed on the third alternative. Only a
segment of the Sikh community continued to opt for a separate party, the
Akali Dal, and to try to work with the League. A few Hindus, such as Dr.
C.C. Ghosh, were so disillusioned with the Congress that they wished to
retain a separate political identity, but they were in a small minority. Most
were convinced that the growing communal polarization of India’s politics
left them with no viable alternative to joining the Frontier Congress. The
key individual in this decision was Mehr Chand Khanna, who had emerged
as the dominant Hindu politician in the NWFP.

Aurangzeb Khan believed at one point that he had the support of at least
three minority MLAs, but in the end, only Ajit Singh joined him.*' The rest
reneged after Khanna, on his return to Peshawar in early May, refused to
cooperate with the League. He declared, according to his newspaper Sar-
hadi Samachar, that the League ‘‘stands for the vivisection of Mother India”
and the minorities would be committing suicide by working with it.”* Even
Ajit Singh seemed likely to back away when the Akali Dal leader, Master
Tara Singh, opposed the alliance; but V.C. Savarkar, the Hindu Mahasabha
President, interceded to obtain the Dal’s consent.*® Savarkar believed that
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cooperation with the League on carefully delineated terms would restrain
the League, give the Mahasabha access to power, and enhance its position
in the Hindu community vis-a-vis the Congress. In the face of Khanna’s op-
position, he could not implement his policy through his own party, so he
encouraged Ajit Singh and the Akali Dal to enter into a pact with the
League.

The personal slight Khanna felt as a result of Savarkar’s actions reinforced
the ideological impetus which was propelling him toward a rapprochement
with the Congress.** He had started to come to terms with the Frontier Con-
gress even before leaving for Canada in November 1942. After Aurangzeb
Khan took office, he became the secretary of its Parliamentary Party. He,
nonetheless, did not break completely with his past associates, for he appar-
ently still had some doubts about the Congress’ reliability.”® He remained a
member of the Mahasabha and even attended its Working Committee meet-
ing in December 1943. Whatever doubts he may have initially felt were dis-
pelled as he established close working relations with the Congress leaders,
especially Dr. Khan Sahib. Within two vears, his political conversion was
complete. Ignoring requests from the Mahasabha’s General-Secretary to re-
vive the party’s Frontier branch, he finally repudiated his party membership
in October 1945.°¢

The Frontier Congress needed to make few adjustments to accommodate
the minorities since their fears about the League left them with no choice
but to trust its promises of communal impartiality. Congress leaders, there-
fore, did not have to make major changes in their party programs, to offer
commitments on future policy, or to give anyone other than Khanna an im-
portant party post. They merely had to reiterate their pledge to promote
communal harmony and to show by their actions that their intentions were
genuine.

Even with the support of only one minority MLA, Aurangzeb Khan gov-
erned the province for two vears. His ministry, however, rested upon an un-
stable assembly majority which was in constant danger of disintegrating.
The League controlled the assembly only by keeping ten Congress MLAs
in prison, and even then, it was so vitiated by internal feuds that Aurangzeb
Khan continuously had to readjust his policies to mollify wavering support-
ers. His ministry survived for as long as it did only because there was no
possible alternative. While the war lasted, the Frontier Congress was pre-
vented by party policy from replacing it, and Cunningham refused to coun-
tenance a government of independents which relied upon tacit Congress
support.*’
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Aurangzeb Khan’s first actions as Chief Minister were a harbinger of the
opportunism which would bring his government into disrepute.*® He re-
quested that the 1943 budget authorized during governor’s rule be allowed
to stand. Cunningham refused because the 1935 India Act stated that a
budget adopted under Section 93 automatically lapsed with a new ministry.
Aurangzeb Khan then pleaded for an assembly delay until August when bye-
elections were scheduled in six constituencies. This time Cunningham re-
lented, even though that meant the province was technically being run with-
out a valid budget.

Aurangzeb Khan needed the extra time to shore up a coalition that was
already crumbling. He had enlarged his cabinet to five ministers and an
equal number of Parliamentary Secretaries in order to satisfy the numerous
demands for office, only to raise dissension with his choice of its personnel.
Even his own appointment was not universally accepted. Saadullah Khan,
who had been an aspirant for the Premiership, started to intrigue against
him within weeks after the ministry was formed.*® Dissension also cropped
up over his distribution of League tickets for the assembly bye-elections. In
Dera Ismail Khan, for instance, his choice for one constituency split the
District League into two, temporarily alienated Newabzada Muhammad
Saed Khan, MLA from Tank, and gave his tarbur, Asadullah Jan Khan,
MLA from Kulachi, an excuse to defect to the opposition.*’

In spite of these internal problems, the ministry’s public standing mo-
mentarily improved. In the bye-elections in August, two Congressmen were
elected unopposed to Hindu seats, but the League won all four Muslim
seats, including two in the Khudai Khidmatgars’ rural stronghold of Pesha-
war Valley. The results produced a sense of euphoria among Leaguers and
the hopeful feeling that the Congress’ grip on the province had finally been
broken. A writer for Dawn triumphally proclaimed:

The Sage of Wardha may have tamed the stage-managed Frontier lion
[Abdul Ghaffar Khan] who guzzled from the pail of the classical goat,
but not the Islamic dynamism whose ever resplendent upsurge proved
beyond his competency to control. The Frontier stands today as the bas-
tion of Islam, unconquerable and inviolate, sanctified by the extinction
of the treacherous fifth column.®'

There were however, more mundane reasons for the League’s success. Two
of its victories were in urban, heavily non-Pakhtun constituencies where the
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Congress was not strong. The League had selected its candidates for the ru-
ral seats from the dominant families of the constituencies, while the Con-
gress had chosen men who did not even belong to their main tribes.* More-
over, since its ministry was at stake, the Frontier League made an intensive
effort in the bye-elections, diverting government resources into the cam-
paign and calling upon an array of outside party figures for help. The Con-
gress, in contrast, first refused to contest the bye-elections, and even after
the PCC reversed itself, the Khudai Khidmatgars still withheld their assist-
ance.®’

Despite the electoral victories, party dissension, *‘the result of petty con-
siderations, nearly all of them pure self-interest or pique,** left the minis-
try’s survival in doubt. Congress leaders wooed the disgruntled MLAs by
hinting that they would support a ministry of independents. Cunningham,
however, frustrated their designs by indicating that he would not ask defec-
tors who did not command a majority in their own right to form a govern-
ment. Since the alternative was governor’s rule, the dissidents remained
with the League, and the Congress boycotted the legislative session which
started on August 17th.®® Still, only twenty-three members were present
when it opened, a comfortable margin out of the thirty-eight who could have
attended, but a minority if the ten jailed MLLAs were included.

Their failure to command a majority and party disunity preoccupied the
ministers for the rest of their tenure. In the struggle to survive, they tem-
porized, acted for short-term gain, and misused their powers on a scale that
alienated former well-wishers and plaved into the hands of the Congress.
The ministers manipulated administrative appointments, selectively dis-
tributed licenses and permits, discriminated in allocating government
funds, interfered in police investigations, and tried to tamper with the ju-
dicial process.®® The Khan Sahib government had engaged in similar actions
but never so openly or on so widespread a scale. Even major segments in
their own party were antagonized. The Khyber Mas/ protested:

... the rule there (NWFP) seems to be: Evervone for himself and the
devil take the hind-most. Corruption with a Capital C is writ large on
the face of the Frontier administration and almost everybody who has
anything to do with the administrative machinery there bothers about

62. In the Khalil constituency in Peshawar District, the League’s candidate was Nawab-
zada Sher Ali Khan, the titular chief of the Khalil tribe. while the Congress nominec was
Muhammad Ibrahim Khan of Jhagra who was not a Khalil. For the Suddam seat in Mardan,
the League chose Muhammad Ayub Khan, a member of the Mir Babu Khel Khans, the dom-
inant Mandanr Yusafzai family in the area. His opponent was Sa4iézada Khurshid Ahmad, a
descendent of a holy man who belonged to a different branch of the Mandanr Yusafzais.
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just one thing—how best to feather his own nest.®’

The ministers acted out of the need to please their supporters rather than
for personal gain. The Frontier League depended upon Khans who had little
ideological loyalty to their party. They had joined it for the tactical advantage
to be gained against their rivals in the Congress and saw in the new ministry
an opportunity to recoup the privileges Khan Sahib had stripped away from
them. As Cunningham explained to the Viceroy: ‘“Many of them gave their
support to Aurangzeb merely for what they might be able to make out of
it.”*® Unable to rely on party sentiment, Aurangzeb Khan and his colleagues
had to placate them with patronage, even at the expense of their own repu-
tations.

Much of the ministry’s unpopularity derived from its handling of the pri-
mary public problems of its ttime—commodity scarcities and rising prices.
The war had distorted normal market conditions as early as 1939, but the
effects had been manageable until 1943. Almost simultaneous with the
League’s accession to office, the stresses that had been building up since
1939 brought about a full blown crisis which lasted for the rest of the war and
beyond. Prices of food grains and other goods rose drastically, and even at
the higher rates, they were often unavailable. In the first half of June, for
example, rice prices increased 30 percent and in the second half of the
month wheat by 75 percent.®” The situation called for comprehensive con-
trols: fixed prices, rationing, regulation of imports and exports from the
province, compulsory requisitioning of produce, and mandatory specifica-
tion of crop acreage.

Since different parts of the province were affected by the scarcities in dif-
ferent ways, the ministers were bound to alienate some groups no matter
what steps they took. Most rural areas, which produced a surplus of food,
benefited from the high prices accompanying the shortage. The major ex-
ception was Hazara, which depended on imports from Mardan and the Pun-
jab. Urban areas, particularly Peshawar city, suffered from chronic shortages
and soaring prices. The government’s problem, then, was to maximize food
grain production, transfer the rural surplus to deficit regions, and make up
the remaining shortfall, which approached 60,000 tons annually, with im-
ports.”® The first two steps entailed coercing zamindars to act contrary to
their own interests. Limits had to be placed on sugarcane acreage in 1?44
because the high price of sugar encouraged farmers to expand its cultivation
at the expense of food grains. Price controls were instituted to curb the soar-
ing costs of agricultural goods, and when zamindars retaliated by withhold-
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68. GR/44. No. 5, 3/9/44.

69. FR6/43(1) and FR6/43(11). For information on the economic situation during the war,
sec the Fortnightly Reports and Governor’s Reports for 1943-45.

70. LAD, Vol. 10, No. 3, 3/12/45, p. 47.



Wartime Politics, 1939-1945 181

ing stocks or channelling them into the black market, the government issued
anti-hoarding orders, requisitioning all stocks above 150 maunds.”’

This situation helped the Frontier Congress recover from the Quit India
debacle since it pitted the interests of the predominantly non-Pakhtun
towns and Hazara against the Pakhtun agricultural areas which contained
the party’s natural constituency. Predictably, therefore, Congressmen cham-
pioned the cause of the food-producing areas. They condemned all control
measures and even advised villagers not to surrender their produce when
compulsory procurement began.’> While shoring up its position among the
Pakhtuns, the party’s aggressive opposition to the controls curiously
aroused little hostility in the non-Pakhtun, deficit areas. Resentment in the
towns and Hazara were directed primarily against the League due to the
manner in which it dealt with the crisis.

The ministry was not solely to blame for the inadequacies in the govern-
ment’s rationing system. The crisis had caught the provincial bureaucracy
unprepared, and the central government was often slow to meet the
NWFP’s deficiency in food grains. The ministers, nonetheless, bore the
brunt of public criticism because they permitted flagrant injustices to de-
velop in the controls in their continuing effort to secure their tenuous hold
on office. They used the allocation of scarce commodities to pay off sup-
porters and turned a blind eye when their appointees as rationing adminis-
trators exploited their powers for personal and factional ends. These abuses
particularly alienated members of the League itself who were concentrated
in the deficit areas and tended, therefore, to suffer more from the resulting
hardships than their political opponents in the Congress.

The ministry’s reputation also suffered from its reluctance to release the
imprisoned Congress MLAs. It freed all but 135 of the NWFP’s remaining
1,400 political prisoners within two months after the assembly adjourned in
August 1943.” The ten MLAs, however, were still in jail when the legisla-
ture reconvened in March 1944 because dissension within the League’s par-
liamentary party had once more endangered Aurangzeb Khan’s position to
the point where he feared that the release of even one might tip the balance
in the assembly against him.” To free them all would have guaranteed de-
feat even if none of the League's MLAs defected. Once the legislature ad-
journed, Cunningham told Aurangzeb Khan that the detention of the MLAs
no longer served any security purpose and that he could not tolerate the
League undemocratically clinging to office.”* Aurangzeb Khan still procras-
tinated, searching for a means to ensure that the MLAs did not rejoin the
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Congress after being freed. In May, Cunningham wrote in his diary:

Having promised me about 10 days ago that he had actually released 4
of the Congress MLLAs, he has now, I have learnt, said that he was keep-
ing them on parole in order to get an agreement out of them and may
send them back again. I told him I would refuse to agree to a further
‘““cat and mouse” policy like this. He showed me the draft agreement
he was trying to get out of them; a ridiculous agreement offering them
as a ‘“‘People’s Party,” a rather vague chance of being allowed to start
some cooperative stores!”®

Four MLAs were finally freed in late July after they signed an undertaking
not to vote against the ministry at the next session; one more was freed in
August.

The ministry handed the Congress a new issue in October by recom-
mending that the autumn legislative session be cancelled, ostensibly be-
cause there was no business to transact. It was widely recognized that Au-
rangzeb Khan’s real motive was to avoid the growing likelihood of defeat.”
The Congress Parliamentary Party sent the governor a petition in November
signed by twenty ML As which asked that the assembly be called to discuss
a no-confidence motion. Cunningham refused, a decision the Congress
leaders seem to have expected and desired.” There was no urgency to their
demand, for they were not entirely confident that they had the votes to topple
Aurangzeb Khan, and even if they did, they were not in a position to resume
office since the Congress still opposed the war effort. Therefore, the gover-
nor’s refusal allowed them to score an easy propaganda victory, to posc as
the champions of democracy and to brand the League as a creature of the
British, without risking defeat in the assembly.

By the time the legislature did meet again in March 1945, two more Con-
gress ML As had been released, and a number of Muslim League dissidents
had decided to vote against their government. More important, the Frontier
Congress was finally able to resume office, for the war was coming to an qu-
Throughout the war, Khan Sahib had made little pretense about his ambi-
tion to return to power as soon as political conditions in India permitted,
and most of the other party leaders shared his desire by 1945. Gandhi bowed
to their wishes and made an exception to the Congress’ opposition to hold-
ing office while the war continued. He told a delegation of party leaders from
the Frontier in February 1945 that they should act according to their own
judgment, thereby emphasizing once again the unique position of the Fron-
tier Congress within the party.”

76. CD, 5/27/44.

77. CP/5, Part 11, p. 30.

78. GR/44. No. 21, 11/23/44.

79. Labkore Tribune, 3/15/45. Also GR/45. No. 2, 3/23/4S.



Wartime Politics, 1939-1945 183

On March 12, 1945, the Frontier Congress passed a no-confidence motion
in the assembly by a vote of twenty-four to eighteen with two abstentions.®
Two days later, Khan Sahib accepted Cunningham’s invitation to resume of-
fice. The margin of difference in the no-confidence vote was provided by
five Muslim League MLAs, the most influential of whom was Saadullah
Khan. He had differed with the ministers on some policy issues, but the
primary cause for his defection was his rivalry with Aurangzeb Khan, which
had turned into a personal vendetta after the police had searched his home
and violated the purda# of his women.®'

The dissension in the League’s Parliamentary Party was mirrored in the
party at large. Aurangzeb Khan came into conflict with organizational lead-
ers as soon as he assumed power. Many party officers were upset by his re-
fusal to consult them on governmental decisions, while others grew uneasy
with his record in office. In addition, Saadullah Khan used his influence in
the party organization in pursuit of his personal feud with the Chief Minis-
ter. These dissident elements passed a no-confidence motion against the
ministry at a Provincial League Council meeting on October 24, 1943.% Au-
rangzeb Khan convinced the council to rescind its resolution by promising
to attend to his detractors’ grievances, but instead, he sought to protect him-
self from future embarrassment by gaining control of the party machinery.
The Provincial Council split into two camps, with Mian Ziauddin, its Gen-
eral-Secretary, leading the ministerial supporters and Bakht Jamal Khan, its
President, their opponents. Jinnah tried to mediate between the two sides
at the League’s annual session in December 1943, but his efforts failed.*
The faction-fighting continued until the organizational elections in August
1944, when Aurangzeb Khan's group elected Taj Ali Khan of Bannu as the
President of the Frontier Muslim League.

Ousted from power within the party, the anti-ministerialists shifted their
attention to a new front. Two months before the organizational elections, the
All-India Muslim League Council, over Aurangzeb Khan’s strenuous objec-
tions, had ordered its Committee of Action to conduct a full-scale investi-
gation into the state of the Frontier League.® After a two-week tour of the
NWEFP, the committee concluded that the provincial party organization re-
quired a thorough overhauling. Liaqat Ali Khan summed up the views of the
committee’s members when he wrote its president that *‘things are in a ter-
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rible mess here and unless immoderate steps can be devised and taken, the
Muslim League will suffer a setback from which it will be very difficult to
recover.”’® The Committee of Action decided that the dissension within the
provincial party made it imperative that it exercise direct control over the
reorganization. It entrusted the job to one of its members, Qazi Isa, a Pakh-
tun from Baluchistan, who started by cancelling the membership of every-
one in the Frontier League in October. He then toured the province, reen-
listing members and reestablishing primary party branches. On April 15,
1945, the Committee of Action liquidated the old party structure and or-
dered Qazi Isa to proceed with new organizational elections. In June, he
appointed a provincial board and a4 4oc committees for each district and
Peshawar city to assist in the elections and handle routine party affairs until
permanent bodies were formed.

The Committee of Action’s initial decision in June 1944 encouraged the
anti-ministerial forces to think that Qazi Isa would be sympathetic to their
point of view since it implied dissatisfaction with Aurangzeb Khan’s leader-
ship. Once they lost the party elections in August 1944, the reorganization
became the only possible avenue through which they could regain control of
the party machinery. At first, they individually tried to persuade Qazi Isa to
push through reforms which would enhance their position vis-a-vis their ri-
vals. Then, the anti-ministerialists in Peshawar city formed the “‘Progres-
sive Muslim League” in January 1945 to act as a pressure group. In June
1945, they regrouped into the Khudam-i-Muslim League, allying themselves
with dissidents in other districts.”

Aurangzeb Khan’s enemies also exploited the defeat of his ministry in
their effort to influence Qazi Isa. The Provincial League Council considered
two motions in March 1945 condemning the ex-Ministers for corruption anfi
a multitude of other sins. The second passed on March 26th after the anti-
ministerialists, led by Saadullah Khan, physically disrupted the Council;g
proceedings and caused its pro-ministerial majority to walk out in protest.
Subsequently, no attempt was made to maintain even a superficial sc_m-
blance of party harmony. The anti-ministerialists conducted an unremitting
propaganda campaign against their opponents in the press, demanding that
the former ministers and their supporters be expelled from the League for
destroying its organization and ruining its reputation.

Qazi Isa’s plans for reorganizing the party deepened the split in the party
rather than healing it. To complete his assignment, he needed the assistance
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of provincial party workers. He chose to rely on the existing office-bearers,
who were primarily members of Aurangzeb Khan’s faction. As early as the
start of 1945, this aroused the suspicions of the anti-ministerialists. Their
mistrust hardened into open hostility with the a4 Aoc committees Qazi Isa
appointed in June 1945 to run the party’s new organizational elections. Out
of the ten members on the Central Advisory Board besides himself, Qazi Isa
had appointed only two members from their group.*® Three others were
neutrals, while the remaining five were the top leaders of their opponents’
faction. The composition of the District Boards showed a similar weightage
in favor of the ministerialists. The KAudam-1-Muslim League turned on

Qazi Isa, complaining to Jinnah:

When the League Ministry was dissolved, we endeavoured hard to or-
ganize the League in Peshawar City as well as in the rural area. In June
1945 Qazi Mohd Isa was deputed by the High Command for organizing
the League. We.. . . placed before him the entire position and pointed
out that if we could place the situation under the right leadership of
League workers, the Congress and all its tactics would be finished once
for all. But to our bad luck, he did not agree with our proposals . . . he
announced the names of Temporary League Committees and inserted
even those men on account of whom the Public has a strong current of
hatred and contempt against the League. . . . He went away placing the
League command only in those hands who had no sympathy with the
League, but for their own reputation and selfishness had been in
League from the last few years.*

Nothing came of their complaint except Qazi Isa’s condemnation which in-
creased their opposition to his party reforms.

The organizational elections ordered by the Committee of Action were
never held. They were indefinitely postponed in the summer of 1945 so that
the party could concentrate on the forthcoming campaign for the provincial
assembly. What was left of Qazi Isa’s reorganization was an a4 Aoc structure
which was only a cosmetic change from the old jerrybuilt, faction-ridden or-
ganization. The same people continued in the party with the same authority
pursuing the same factional disputes. The only difference was the institu-
tional setting within which they operated. Real party reforms had to await
the February 1946 elections, which provided the Frontier League with a new
leadership untainted by the factionalism of the war years.
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THE RISE OF COMMUNALISM IN
FRONTIER POLITICS, 1945-1946

Once the war in Europe ended, events on the all-India stage determined
the direction and tempo of Frontier politics. Lord Wavell convened a confer-
ence in Simla in June 1945 to discuss a possible interim government for In-
dia. After the talks collapsed over the question of who represented India’s
Muslims, he scheduled new legislative elections for February 1946 to deter-
mine the relative strength of the Indian National Congress and Muslim
League. While the voters divided along communal lines in the rest of India,
the Congress emerged as the clear winner in the North-West Frontier due to
1ts superior campaign organization, greater party unity, voter preference for
its ideology of ethnic nationalism, and greater backing from the Pakhtuns’
landed elite.

The election results turned the NWFP into an anomaly which plagued
the efforts of the British Cabinet Mission to resolve India’s Hindu-Muslim
impasse. Frontier Congress leaders objected to the Cabinet Mission’s plan
for fear that the Muslim League would be able to negate their electoral vic-
tory and infringe upon the rights of the Pakhtuns by subjugating them to the
wishes of the more numerous Punjabis. All-India Congress leaders, who
found the plan unacceptable for other reasons, used those objections to help
undermine the compromise proposed by the Cabinet Mission and thereby
created a political deadlock which finally gave way to violence.

As India’s communal conflict grew more embittered in 1946, the Muslim
League rapidly acquired popularity in the Frontier. Integral to its new-found
strength was the widespread support it received from the province’s reli-
gious leaders, and especially its sajfada nishins. Additionally, once India ex-
ploded into violence in August 1946, the League’s warning of *‘Islam in dan-
ger” assumed a credibility and urgency in Pakhtun eyes it had previously
lacked, and its call for Pakistan acquired a powerful attraction. Together,
these factors triggered a variant on the Pakhtuns’ traditional response to cri-
sis by which they temporarily set aside their mutual enmities to unite under
spiritual leaders in the interest of a higher, religious cause.
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The 1946 Elections

The Frontier Muslim League had been reduced to a state of paralysis in
the spring of 1945 by the failure of its ministry and rampant factionalism.
The conference at Simla and the announcement of elections helped distract
attention from the party’s past and made its communal ideology seem more
credible than before. Equally important, those events brought new organi-
zational talent into its ranks. The most influential of the new leaders were
the Pir of Manki, who emerged as the party’s dominant personality over the
next two years, and Abdul Qaiyum Khan, who became its legislative
spokesman. These men were also representative of the two main sources of
leadership on which the party would henceforth depend. Along with the Psr
of Manki, the League recruited other religious leaders, including many of
the Frontier’s sajjada nishins. In addition to Abdul Qaiyum, numerous other
politicians joined the League after World War II. Some of them were former
Congressmen, while others were influential men who had previously been
uninvolved in politics.

Amin-ul-Hasnat, the fourth Pir of Manki, was a model of what a sayjada
nishin should be.' As the descendant of a renowned saint, he was widely be-
lieved to have a powerful aura of bzrata. He enhanced that reputation with
his piety, moral righteousness, and attentiveness to the needs of those who
sought his spiritual intercession. His authority can be measured in two
ways. First, as the guardian of the ziarat of the original pir in the village of
Manki in Nowshera Z24si/, Peshawar, he was the living recipient of the de-
votions people made at it. The shrine attracted a steady stream of suppli-
cants from the region around Peshawar Valley, and on the occasion of his
ancestor’s «rs, drew large crowds of pilgrims from all over the northern Fron-
tier and northwest Punjab. Second, the Pir of Manki had an extensive net-
work of disciples who were bound to him through the piri-muridi relation-
ship. These disciples, who were reputed to number in the tens of thousands,
were concentrated mainly in Peshawar Valley and the surrounding tribal
areas.’ .

The Pir of Manki proved to be an ideal leader for the Frontier League. His
saintly reputation gave a religious validation to its ideology, while the prac-
tical skills he displayed as a sajjada nishin—his administrative abilities, gift
for proselvtizing, and tireless energy—were a welcomed addition to a party
which had suffered from a lack of organizational talent. The Pir of Manki's
emergence as the party’s leader occurred gradually. He had opposed the
Congress as early as the Quit India Movement, but he had abstained from

1. Even Congress leaders, who criticized his politics, considered him a rcligious.man :c
yond reproach. Interviews with Mian Jafar Shah, Abdul Akbar Khan, and Sayyid Ashiq
Shah.

2. Estimates of his following reach twenty /akhs. Al-Falak, 9/120/46. Al-Jamiat Sarhad es-
timated them at seven Jakhs. Al-Jamiat Sarkad, 12/4/46.
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public activity until the Simla Conference convinced him that Indian poli-
tics had acquired an important religious dimension.* Even then, he main-
tained a certain distance from the League, campaigning on its behalf during
the elections, but independent of its provincial organization. In doing so, he
acted much more as the sajjada nishin he was than the accomplished politi-
cian he would become. As a close associate has suggested, he was still dis-
interested in the mundane internal affairs of the Frontier League and wanted
solely to promote its ideology, which he found far nobler than the quarrel-
some and often compromising behavior of its leaders.*

The Pir of Manki’s first priority was to enlist the province’s religious elite
behind the demand for Pakistan. He created a new organization in October
1945, the Anmjuman-us-Asfia, which reputedly included over sixty sajada
nishins and other prominent clerics.” The organization was actually more
symbolic of the growing interest among the Frontier’s sajjada nishins in the
League’s goals than the vehicle through which they were mobilized. Most
of the sajjada nishins who worked for the League did so outside of any formal
organization by individually utilizing their religious authority and influence
in rural society in a traditional manner. The Anjuman-us-Asfia also exempli-
fied the essentially religious motivation behind their involvement in politics.
At the founding meeting, the members declared that their sole objective was
the realization of an Islamic state and resolved that they would assist the
League in the elections only if it promised to enforce the Shariah as the law
of Pakistan. In November, the Pir of Manki announced that Jinnah had ac-
cepted these conditions and that all Muslims should treat the elections as
part of a sihad to achieve Pakistan.®

Independent of the Pir of Manki, Maulana Shakirullah of Nowshera and
like-minded maulanas also tried to mobilize religious leaders behind the
League. They primarily worked to bring the Frontier’s ulema together in a
single, pro-Muslim League association. Numerous bodies had claimed the
title of Jumiat-ul-Ulema-i-Sarkad since the first one was formed in 1927. The
one on-going organization with that name was affiliated with the pro-Con-
gress Jamiat-ul-Ulema-i-Hind and represented the wlema who had main-
tained a working alliance with the Frontier Congress since the 1930 civil dis-
obedience movement. Maulana Shakirullah united the w/ema who were
sympathetic to the League into a competing Jamiat-ul-Ulema-i-Sarkad in
1944 and affiliated it with Maulana Shabbir Ahmad Usmani’s Jamsat-ul-
Ulema-i-Islam.’

The new Jamiar-ul-Ulema played a less significant role in the growth of the
League than the Pir of Manki and the other sajjada nishins. In part, its ef-

Al-Jamiat Sarkad, 6/26/45.
Interview with Amin Jan Khan of Landi.
Al-Jamiat Sarkad, 10/17/45.
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Sayyid Sultan Muhammad Shah, General-Secretary of the Jamiar-ul-Ulema-i-Sarkad.
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fectiveness was diminished by its inability to achieve its stated goal. The
League continued to face major opposition within the ranks of the Frontier
ulema from men of Congress persuasion who shared a strong skepticism
about the commitment of the League’s leaders to Islam and the creation of
an Islamic state. India’s communal troubles, moreover, still seemed distant
to the NWFP in 1945 and the Frontier Congress no less a Muslim party than
the League. Thus, many of the #/ema saw no need, as yet, to change their
political allegiances.

More fundamentally, the influence of the new Jamiar-ul-Ulema was lim-
ited by the nature of the u/ema’s position in Frontier society.® While individ-
ual maulanas were highly respected, as a group they lacked the venerated
status accorded to sajjada nishins. Sajjada nishins also had strong ties to the
landed elite and filled an important structural role in tribal politics which
made them effective power brokers among Pakhtuns. Most #/ema, in con-
trast, were urban based and had few ties into the rural social structure. Fi-
nally, subtle but important differences existed in the messages of the w/ema
and sajjada nishins. Both called for the creation of Pakistan, but the u/ema
insisted that they would have to regulate the new state if it were to be truly
Islamic. Some Pakhtuns regarded this as an attack on the existing social or-
der since it would have meant transferring power from their own hands to
men they considered their inferiors.’ The sajfada nishins’ vision of Pakistan
involved a much less radical departure from the status quo. As David Gil-
martin has observed for their counterparts in the Punjab:

The thrust of their concern has always been to influence the political
leaders and their followers to regulate their lives according to religious
injunctions. . . . The idea of a state in the hands of such [secular] lead-
ers was for them perfectly natural, for in the establishment of such a
state based on the Shariat, they could see the projection of their local
religious work into a larger political arena.'®

Abdul Qaiyum Khan, in contrast to the Psr of Manki, rose to power l?y
securing a succession of key posts in a period when the party’s leadership
was in flux. He had been elected to the Central Assembly on the Congress
ticket to replace Dr. Khan Sahib in 1938 and had served as the party’s dep-
uty leader in the Assembly until 1945. By the end of the war, he had fallen
out with the Frontier Congress leaders, partly on personal grounds and partl}:
because he had been associated with Bhulabbhai Desai, the Congress
leader in the Assembly, who had fallen into disfavor in late 1944 for negoti-
ating with Liaqat Ali Khan for an interim Congress-Muslim League govern-
ment after the war. After prolonged secret negotiations, Qaiyum joined the

8. See supra, Chapter 2 for the role of ulema and sajjada niskins in Pakhtun socicty.
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League on August 16, 1945, just days before the Viceroy ordered new elec-
tions.'' Although he did not bring a large following with him, he possessed
attributes which immediately propelled him into prominence in the Frontier
Muslim League. He was the highest Frontier Congressman to date to switch
parties, and while he had held little real power in the Congress, his position
had given him public prominence and extensive experience in legislative
politics. In addition, as a newcomer, he was not associated with any faction
in the Frontier League. These factors gave him an edge over other party
leaders which first became apparent when the League geared up its election
campaign.

In early October, the League’s Central Parliamentary Board appointed
three provincial committees: the Selection Board to choose candidates, the
Election Board to manage the campaign, and the Finance Board to collect
funds.'? The first was the only committee with genuine power and, in fact,
the only one actually to function. The impact of its decisions extended well
beyond the elections to the later evolution of the party’s leadership. Most of
the old leaders of the Frontier Muslim League were excluded from the
board, having been discredited by their past performance in directing the
party. The members of the board were either new to the party or old district
workers who were untainted by the associations which disqualified their for-
mer colleagues. The Nawab of Mamdot, an outsider from the Punjab, was
selected as its president and Abdul Qaiyum as its convenor. Arbab Abdul
Ghafur was included as part of an agreement by which the Afghan Jirga, a
party of former Congress dissidents, joined the League.” The other six
members were chosen to ensure every district of representation: Psr of Za-
kori (Dera Ismail Khan), Habibullah Khan (Bannu), Malik-ur-Rahman Ki-
yani (Kohat), Ardab Nur Muhammad Khan (Peshawar), Sohbat Khan (Mar-
dan), and Jalaluddin (Hazara).

The Selection Board’s influence over the distribution of tickets varied
from one constituency to another. In some, it deferred to a single, dominant
figure or tribal jirga.'* In many others, however, more than one influential
man sought the League's nomination, leaving the board to make a final de-
cision. In every case save one, Abdul Qaiyum’s rivals for party leadership
were denied party tickets, although in three cases the Central Parliamentary
Board overturned the decision.'® The one exception was Abdur Rab Nish-

. A/-Jamiat Sarkad, 8/22/45.

12. ML/193. No. 8. Proceedings of the 13th Mecting of the Committec of Action.
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13. Interview with Sher Bahadur Khan; and Kéyber Mas/, 10/5/45.
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Rehbar Mardan, 12/21/45.



192 Ethnicsty, Nationalism, and the Pakhtuns

tar, whose standing in the party was too strong to be excluded from its elec-
toral slate. Nonetheless, before obtaining a ticket, he had to defeat several
challengers, including the Peshawar City League President, Fida Muham-
mad Khan, who had Qaiyum’s covert support.'® Although the board’s deci-
sions benefited Qaiyum, they were not due solely to his talents for intrigue,
as his rivals subsequently claimed. Other factors complicated the selection
procedures. Party sentiment favored denying Aurangzeb Khan a ticket; Saa-
dullah Khan, Mian Ziauddin, and others were hurt by their past factional
ties; and some prominent politicians, such as Muhammad Ramzan Khan, an
ex-PCC President from Dera Ismail Khan, were passed over in favor of men
with less political experience but stronger tribal credentials.

The conflict at the top of the party’s slate was not unique. Disappoint-
ment over the choice of candidates led to disunity among party workers at ali
levels and to the alienation of party supporters whose tribal stature made
their backing indispensable to the League. Many disgruntled aspirants sat
out the elections, ran as independents, or threw their support to candidates
opposing the League, including Congressmen. In Kohat district, for exam-
ple, defections cut into the League's strength in at least three out of the four
constituencies. Pir Sayyid Jalal, the Chief Parliamentary Secretary in Au-
rangzeb Khan’s ministry, resigned from the party on being denied a ticket."”
In the Khattak areas Sir Olaf Caroe, who became the governor of the NWFP
just after the elections, later recounted:

. .. the well-known Pir of Makhad . . . lives just on the Punjab side of
the Indus but has a large number of disciples in the Kohat District of
this Province. As his nominee did not get the Muslim League ticket in
Kohat, he instructed his disciples to vote Congress, and it was mainly
due to this that Congress got in in at least one constituency in that Dis-
trict.'®

Dissension was also rampant elsewhere in the province. Unhappy ticket
seekers bolted the party to stand as independents or third-party candidates
in six constituencies in Hazara, while other prominent party workers in the
district turned against the party because they could not reconcile them-
selves to the leadership of Jalaluddin, the League’s strong-minded boss 1n
Hazara.'” In Peshawar, the Afghan Jirga’s alliance with the party proved
short-lived once the Selection Board gave it only one nomination rather than

16. Interviews with Fida Muhammad Khan and Mian Ziauddin.

17. Tarjuman-i-Sarkad, 1/5/46.
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ernment. Erland Jansson, India, Pakistan or Pakhtunistan (Uppsala: Studia Historica Upsa-
lensia, No. 11, 1981), pp. 258-259.

19. For examples, see A/-Falah, 1/4/46 and 2/1/46; Al-Jamiat Sarkad, 12/26/45; and Khyber
Mail, 2/15/46.
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the three or four its leader, Aréab Abdul Ghafur, felt it deserved.? Leading
Khattak Khans in Nowshera refused to support the League when their own
preference was passed over to accommodate the choice of the Pirof Manki.?'
Peshawar city dissidents bitterly opposed Nishtar and were unhappy with
Qaiyum. The League lost the support of the powerful Ghazni Khan Mar-
wats in Bannu when Faizullah Khan, their leader, was denied a ticket, while
in Dera Ismail Khan the selection of two members of the Alizai Pakhtun
Nawabs prompted prominent leaders from numerically larger tribes in their
constituencies to support their opponents.*’

Defections cut the size of the League’s vote in Hazara but hurt the party
in only one constituency, Upper Pakhli, where the Congress candidate won
with the help of Atai Muhammad Khan who had represented the area in the
old legislative assembly as a member of the Muslim League.?’ Elsewhere,
however, they provided the margins by which a number of its candidates lost.
Caroe later commented on the difference:

[ am at present on tour in the Hazara District and it is interesting to see
how different these people are from Pathans....almost all the
M.L.As. from this District are local Khans and they seem to be able to
sink their family quarrels to a large extent when they come down to pol-
itics. The inability of Pathans to do this is one of the chief reasons for
the success of Congress in the Pathan parts of the Province.**

In addition to party disunity, the League suffered in the NWFP from its
ideological claim to be the sole representative of India’s Muslims. The party
was trapped by its pretensions into fighting all thirty-eight of the province’s
Muslim seats, even though the most optimistic prognoses conceded some to
be hopeless. Frontier League leaders were confident that the issue of Paki-
stan and their opponents’ ties to the Congress were all they needed to win a
decisive victory in the election. Their optimism did not seem out of place
in the first months of the campaign. The party attracted many Congress de-
fectors and previously apolitical men, a process which Cunningham viewed
as “‘symptomatic of a steadily increasing antipathy between the more highly
educated Muslims and Hindus.”** But then the growth of communal feeling
slowed, and the League found that, with an organization and treasury infe-
rior to those of its rival, it had spread its resources dangerously thin.
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The party had no real machinery with which to conduct its campaign. Its
provincial organization was a facade, incapable of functioning, let alone
competing with the Frontier Congress’ strong party apparatus. As a result,
even some of the League’s backers doubted that the party would fare as well
as its leaders expected. A/-Jamiat Sarkad acted as a frequent Cassandra, be-
ginning in September when the electoral rolls in the province were revised:

Since this work [enrollment of voters] needs organization and the Mus-
lim League organization in the Frontier Province is non-existent be-
cause during its period of government its lamp [the ministry] reduced
its house to dust and ashes, now Congress workers have a golden oppor-
tunity.?

The boards which had been specially created to direct the party's campaign
fared no better.?” Attempts by the Election Board to frame an electoral strat-
egy never extended beyond generalities, while Mian Ziauddin, the convenor
of the Finance Board, complained that it was futile to expect the party’s
wealthy Khani supporters to think beyond the narrow confines of their own
constituencies.

In the absence of a coordinated party effort, the League had to depend
upon the influence and connections of its nominees. Only Muhammad Ak-
bar Khan Khadim received a ticket in spite of an ordinary socio-economic
background, and he, in effect, was put up as a sacrificial candidate against
Dr. Khan Sahib. The rest of the party’s list of candidates reads like a selec-
tion from the province's wealthiest, most aristocratic families.”® Eight were
the titular heads of their tribes, and a ninth, Arfg6 Muhammad Sharif Khan,
was nominated because his nephew, Arbab Nur Muhammad Khan, the chief
of the Bara Mohmands, was too young to stand. For example, Nawab Sir Mu-
hammad Akbar Khan, the Khan of Hoti, was the wealthiest man in the prov-
ince. Nawab Qutbuddin Khan was the descendant of the pre-British rulers
of Tank and one of the province’s major jagirdars. Muhammad Farid Khan
was the chief of the Palal Tanaolis in Hazara and the maternal grandson of
the ruler of the state of Amb.? Two other candidates were the sons of hered-
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itary mawabs; another thirteen belonged to prominent families of Khans in
the dominant tribes in their constituencies; four more were wealthy, high-
status members of numerically smaller tribes; and two belonged to families
of sajjada nishins.>

With their personal followings, gunds ties, wealth, and high social stand-
ing, these candidates partially compensated for the League’s organizational
weaknesses; but the senior Khans were no substitute for an efficient cam-
paign organization in the face of the well-run and financially well-off Fron-
tier Congress, especially since they had lost their once dominant position in
Frontier society. Discredited by their departure from Khani norms, their
standing had slipped badly since their Khani rivals and the lower classes had
first openly challenged their authority in 1930. This left the League vulner-
able to attack on factional grounds wholly unrelated to nationalist issues. As
Cunningham observed: *‘. .. the Congress deliberately appeal to the less
well-to-do, over whom the bigger Khans (most of them on the Muslim
League side) are more and more losing their hold in most Districts.”"'

The Congress followed a different electoral strategy from the League,
nominating candidates for only those seats where its prospects justified a
campaign.*” The party contested all twelve minority seats. The Akali Dal
ran against it in the three Sikh constituencies, but its nominees were un-
opposed for seven Hindu seats and had only nominal opposition in an
eighth. Out of the thirty-eight Muslim constituencies, the party ran candi-
dates in only twenty-seven, most of them in Pakhtun areas.” It contested
cighteen of twenty rural seats in Peshawar, Mardan, Kohat, and Bannu,
avoiding only the Marwat constituencies in Bannu where it had the backing
of neither of the gundis which dominated tribal politics. It nominated two
men in Dera Ismail Khan, one of them in the predominantly Pakhtun zeAss/
of Tank, while three of its five nominees in Hazara ran in Mansehra Z2Ass/
where the influence of Pakhtun culture was strongest.

Wherever the Congress name was a handicap, the party looked for non-
Congress allies who stood a better chance of winning. Its pragmatism was
most evident in the heavily non-Pakhtun areas of Dera Ismail Khan where it
deferred to two sitting MLAs with great wealth and high traditional status:
Nawabsada Allah Nawaz Khan, the son of the Nawaé of Dera Ismail Khan;
and Asadullah Jan Khan, the chief of the Gandapur tribe, who had been a
member of the Muslim League until 1944.>* Both ran under the Islamic la-
bel of the Jamiat-ul-Ulema-i-Hind to counteract the League’s communal
propaganda. In parts of Hazara and the NWFP Towns constituency where
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31. GR/46. No. 4, 2/27/46.
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the electorates were predominantly non-Pakhtun, the Congress backed in-
dependents or Ahrars. Finally, in the double constituency of Peshawar city,
where every voter cast two ballots, the Congress ran only one candidate and
told its supporters to vote for him twice. Party leaders also encouraged two
third-party candidates in the constituency, even though the more popular of
them, the Khaksar nominee, was vitriolic in his criticism of the Congress.”

The Congress depended less heavily than the League on candidates with
influential family and tribal ties, a possibility made feasible by its extensive
grassroots organization. The party’s selections in Peshawar Valley were in-
dicative of the varied background of its nominees.>® Manfatullah Khan, who
ran in a Mardan constituency, came from an ordinary Khattak family, while
Sayyid Yakub Shah, who stood for a seat in Peshawar, was both a non-Pakh-
tun and a2 man of modest means. More typically, the party chose its candi-
dates from the Valley’s landed elite: for example, Arbab Abdur Rahman be-
longed to a junior branch of the family which was the titular head of the
Daudzai tribe; Mian Jafar Shah was a relative of one of the more influential
sajjada nishin in the Frontier and the son of a wealthy contractor; and Mu-
hammad Zarin Khan was a member of a leading Khani family among the Bai-
zai Khattaks of Mardan.

The Congress nominees were chosen through a two-part procedure.
First, the Tappa Congress Committees suggested possible candidates. In
most cases, their endorsement was tantamount to nomination, although the
final decision rested with a six-man subcommittee of the Provincial Working
Committee. At its October 1945 meeting, the PCC ritually reaffirmed Ab-
dul Ghaffar Khan’s supreme authority by proposing that he take over com-
plete control of the campaign. He turned down the offer, although he did
influence the choice of nominees to ensure that Khudai Khidmatgar leaders
were strongly represented on the Congress slate.*” In contrast to the expe-
rience of the League, the Congress’ distribution of tickets created little
party dissension of any consequence. Two party members stood as indepen-
dents while a few others defected to the League, but with the exception of
the Bara Mohmand constituency (Peshawar), their loss did not affect the out-
come of the elections.>”

Both parties exploited local economic issues during the campaign. The
League blamed the Khan Sahib government for the shortages resulting from

35. Interviews with Muhammad Yahya Jan and Abdul Akbar Khan.

36. Rittenberg, op. cir., Appendix 11

37. Lahore Tribune, 10/2/45, The Khudai Khidmatgar’s Sa/ar-i-Azam, Amin Jan Khan, \yas
given a ticket, as were three of their Naib Salars, or district chiefs; and one commanding
general of a tehsil.

38. Qazi Attaullah lost the constituency by 398 votes. Rerurns Showing rhe Results of Elec-
tions 1o the Central Assembly and the Provincial Legislatures in 1945-46 (Delhi: Manager, Gov-
ernment of India Press, 1948), Statement I1. Also see A/-Jamiar Sarkad, 10/24/45 and
11/7/45.



The Rise of Communalism in Frontier Politics, 1945-1946 197

the war and accused it of corruption and political favoritism in rationing es-
sential commodities. Congress leaders retaliated with denunciations of the
misdeeds of Aurangzeb Khan’s government and claimed that they had re-
formed the grossly unjust system of rationing which they had inherited from
the League. Their ministry also adjusted its policies with an eye toward
winning votes. Cunningham observed:

Congress are showing signs of nervousness about the elections. The
cancellation of the increase in water rates was a bid for popularity in
Peshawar and Mardan Districts. In Hazara, the Ministry has now post-
poned the increase in land revenue assessment proposed in the Settle-
ment Report. In other smaller matters, they have done things with an
eye to pleasing or soothing the electorate.™

While economic questions influenced the races in individual constituen-
cies, they were not the central issues around which the elections revolved.
The campaign revealed in the sharpest possible terms the ideological differ-
ences between the two parties. The League tied its fortunes to its vision of
Pakistan, while the Frontier Congress relied upon its distinctive brand of
ethnic nationalism.

The League reduced the elections to the black and white generalities of
Pakistan versus Aékand (undivided) Hindustan, and Muslim independence
versus Hindu domination. Jinnah himself toured the province in November
1945 with the message: ‘‘Every vote in favor of Muslim League candidates
means Pakistan. Every vote against Muslim League candidates means
Hindu Raj. That is the only choice and the only issue before us.”*’ His the-
sis was echoed by provincial party workers. The Prrof Manki's Anjuman-us-
Asfia, for example, turned voting for the League into a religious duty:

From the standpoint of the Skariah there is, in reality, only one party for
a Muslim. He should give his vote to the representative of the Muslim
League. To give a vote to the Hindu Congress or any other party is
treachery against Islam and conflicts with the unanimous opinion of the
ulema.*'

Every other issue in the elections was tied into this grand dichotomy. Fron-
tier Congressmen were portrayed as Hindu agents bent on enslaving the
Pakhtuns. A/-Falak cautioned:

.. . you should prove your attachment to Islam by making the Muslim
League candidate . . . successful. Others who demand your vote are
either the bought slaves of the Hindu party or enemies of Indian Mus-

lims appearing in Islamic garb. Work for the honor of the faith and do
not accept slavery to the Hindus.*

39. GR/45. No. 16, 10/23/45. For example, see Jansson, op. cit., pp. 258-59.
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The Hindus, especially Mehr Chand Khanna, were pictured as the real
powers in the Frontier Congress, while Abdul Ghaffar Khan and his lieuten-
ants were presented either as having been deluded by Hindu flattery or,
worse, as having sacrificed Muslim honor for personal gain.* League leaders
also dissected the record of the Khan Sahib ministry to show that it was anti-
Muslim. They pointed to numerous cases, many of them manufactured or
taken out of context, in the areas of commodity controls, permits, adminis-
trative appointments, and education to prove that the ministry was system-
atically oppressing Muslims to satisfy Hindus.*

The Frontier Congress also spoke of freedom and slavery but gave those
terms a different meaning. Its campaigners countered the League’s religious
communalism by emphasizing that their party, which they identified as the
Khudai Khidmatgars rather than the Congress, was the national movement
of the Pakhtuns and by presenting the real issue of the elections as Pakhtun
independence from British imperialism. Abdul Ghaffar Khan told audi-
ences:

I have not come to beg votes because these votes and the assemblies
are not worth a penny to me. I have brought a message of friendship and
good will to achieve the freedom for which you fought for years. The
decision to contest these elections was taken only so that this course
would further the struggle for freedom. We are not fighting our brethren
in the country. We are fighting British imperialism. . . . I visualize its
days in this country as numbered provided you unite and stand as one
Pakhtun nation. We are as good as any other nation—rather, more brave
and more hospitable. Stand united as one Pakhtun race.*

Congress leaders gave *‘freedom”” still another meaning by claiming to de-
fend the Pakhtun nation against an exploitative Khani elite. When they
spoke of Khans, they did not mean everyone who deserved the title, since
many of them were Khans themselves. Instead, they redefined the term, as
they had throughout the nationalist period, to refer only to the province’s
senior Khans who supported the League. At times, their rhetoric had a rad-
ical coloring, such as when they promised to expropriate the Khans’ land and
distribute it to the lower classes.* More commonly, it was phrased in an old
and familiar way. They argued that the Khans, jagirdars, and title-holders
were more interested in their own advancement than in the Pakhtuns’ na-
tional cause; that in the past they had betrayed the nation to the British im-
perialists out of personal greed; and that they were continuing to do so by
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contesting the elections against the Pakhtuns’ nationalist party on the spu-
rious platform of religion. Abdul Ghaffar Khan wrote in Pakhtun in January

1946:

... we have opposed British imperialism and for this reason their
friends have always disliked us. Today we are accused of being friends
of the Hindus and taking bribes from them, but I will remind you about
the past when we have no relations with Hindus. We came to the field
of politics in 1919. We rejected the black laws of the Rowlatt Act, but
these people opposed us. At the time of Hijrat, which was led by Mu-
hammad Al and Shaukat Ali, these people did not like the idea. When
the Khilafat Committee, a purely Islamic party, was formed, who ac-
cepted its demand that the British should abandon Arabia? Who came
forward at that time, we or these Khans and nawabs? . . .

When Muhammad Ali announced non-cooperation, who left the serv-
ice of the Government? These people with fat stomachs or us? I remem-
ber the late Mian Hamid Gul who abandoned a pension and his title,
but the other Khans and jagirdars continued to stick to their friends, the
British. . ..

Again, when people, instigated by the British, rebelled against
Amanullah Khan, who sympathized with him? He and Nadir Khan
were given both financial and physical help by us, the poor people,
while these Khans, the great lovers of Islam, remained silent. . . . If vou
believe we did all this out of a love of Islam, then how are we selfish?
And how have these Khans, who have always served the British, be-
come the selfless lovers of Islam?

On whose sacrifices have these assemblies and councils, which have
served the poor people and alleviated their burden, been formed?
These Khans opposed these institutions because they promised some
help to the poor and the Khans thought they would jeopardize theirown
position.

I am surprised that some of the poor believe these Khans, nawabs,
and arbabs served Islam and are the sympathizers of the poor.*’

Since the Frontier Muslim League was closely associated with the senior
Khans, Congressmen were, by extension, also attacking that party and cast-
ing doubts on the sincerity of its Islamic appeal. They often took their ar-
gument a step further and asserted that the issue of Pakistan itself was a
British concoction rather than a genuine demand.*

While the elections did not hinge exclusively on ideology, the Frontier
Congress’ appeal did give it a decided advantage. Insulated from India’s
communal problems by distance and a population in their own region which

47. Pakhrun, 1/9/46.
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was 93 percent Muslim, Pakhtuns found the League’s warnings unconvinc-
ing. Cunningham calculated that its propaganda “‘is not really an intelligible
war cry to 90 percent of . . . [its] hearers. To the average Pakhtun villagers in
these parts, the suggestion that there could be such a thing as Hindu dom-
ination is only laughable.”** The Pakhtuns’ ethnic loyalties, moreover, were
stronger than their communal consciousness. After the elections, Caroe rea-
soned: ‘“‘If the Muslim League up here had had the sense to substitute Pa-
thanistan for Pakistan, they would certainly have done a good deal better."®
The League, however, could not have followed his advice because the Fron-
tier Congress had preempted the issue of Pakhtun nationalism. By doing so,
it had protected itself from any religiously based challenge unless and until
a crisis developed that would make the differences between Pakhtuns and
other Muslims less important than their common faith. It was not that Pakh-
tuns enthusiastically embraced the Indian National Congress’ vision of a un-
ified India with a strong central government. If anything, they expected
strong constitutional safeguards, much like those the League had de-
manded before adopting the Pakistan resolution. Rather, most favored the
Frontier Congress because they believed it faithfully reflected their ethnic
interests.

Beneath the grand political issues of the campaign lay a substratum of pa-
rajamba. At one point, Cunningham went so far as to contend that the “elec-
tions in the Province. .. are being fought not on any kind of party pro-
gramme . . . but on grounds of personal faction-feeling.””' He was, of
course, overstating the case, as he recognized himself. Nonetheless, tradi-
tional rivalries significantly influenced the contest in every constituency,
and in many, their impact was decisive. In six constituencies, for example,
the primary or sole contestants were cousins; gunds alignments influenced
the choice of candidates in at least five; and tribal divisions were critical in
another seven.** The importance of parajamba was even more profound than
is apparent from an examination of the electoral candidates. It affected every
constituency to some degree since men and factions commonly supported
one party for the simple reason that their enemies backed the other. Caroe
later wrote: ‘‘It is only necessary for the League to put up a Khan fora seat
for the rest of the Khan's relatives to vote Congress or to abstain from voting
altogether.”®® The reverse was also a common occurrence.

Factionalism produced a confusion of political alliances in some areas
which is inexplicable if party labels alone are considered. The best example
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is provided by the three constituencies in Mansehra %4si/ in Hazara.** Khan
Bahadur Ali Gohar Khan ran as a Khaksar in Mansehra North after the
League ticket was given to Muhammad Abbas Khan. The two men be-
longed to the two leading families of Mansehra town and were bitter political
foes. Also, their respective clans, the Jahangiri and Khan Khel Swathis,
were at odds with each other. In Lower Pakhli, Ali Gohar Khan of Dotar, a
Jahangiri Khan, was the League candidate. His family had close marriage
ties to his namesake in Mansehra, so its members worked for the League in
their own constituency but against it in Mansehra North. Ali Gohar Khan of
Mansehra reciprocated. Atai Muhammad Khan, the leading Jahangiri Khan
in Upper Pakhli, broke with the League to back the Congress in his own
constituency. He, nonetheless, favored the Jahangiris standing for the other
two seats—one a Leaguer and the other a Khaksar.

With the revision of the electoral rolls in 1945, over 20 percent of the prov-
ince’s population was registered to vote, a figure which included few women
but practically every adult male.*® Polling took place between January 26
and February 14, 1946. The Congress won eleven of the twelve minority con-
stituencies, losing only to the Akali Dal in Peshawar. The party also cap-
tured nineteen of the twenty-seven Muslim seats it contested, while its al-
lies in Dera Ismail Khan, the Jamiat-ul-Ulema-i-Hind, won two more. The
Muslim League was victorious in the remaining seventeen Muslim seats.™

The Congress’ victory among the Pakhtuns was decisive. The party did
not contest two of the twenty-one rural, territorial constituencies in the
Pakhtun region encompassing Peshawar, Mardan, Kohat, and Bannu Dis-
tricts, and Tank 224ss¢/ of Dera Ismail Khan. It won sixteen of the remaining
nineteen and lost the other three by slender margins.*” It also lost the land-
lord seat in Peshawar Valley. In aggregate, the party garnered 51.90 percent
of the vote in the twenty-two Pakhtun constituencies and 57.71 percent in
the twenty it contested. The figures for the Muslim League were 39.40 and
37.43 percent respectively.*

The League, on the other hand, emerged as the representative of the
province’s non-Pakhtun Muslims. It won eight of the nine seats in Hazara
District, two of the three urban seats, and both landlord seats. Since a Ha-
zara resident won in each of the latter two categories, that district’s total con-
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tingent in the League’s legislative party was ten out of seventeen.® The
race in the double constituency in Peshawar city had the greatest bearing on
the party’s future. Officially, the League instructed its supporters to cast
one ballot each for Nishtar and Qaiyum. Nishtar, however, lost votes due to
his role in the Aurangzeb Khan government, while Qaiyum, due to the
closeness of the race, urged his supporters to give him both of their votes.*
As a result, Qaiyum placed second in the voting, edging out the Khaksar
candidate, while Nishtar ran a poor fourth. This outcome left Qaiyum the
logical leader of the League’s assembly party, a base which he would parlay
into the premiership of the province after independence.

The final alignment in the new assembly found thirty Congressmen sup-
ported by the two Jamiat-ul-Ulema-i-Hind MLAs. The party could also
count on the vote of the Akali Dal representative in any clash with the
League. The new cabinet consisted of Dr. Khan Sahib as Premier, Qazi At-
taullah, Muhammad Yahya Jan, and Mehr Chand Khanna. Its composition
underscored both the dominance of Abdul Ghaffar Khan’s family in the
party and the continuing importance of kin and marriage ties in Pakhtun
politics. Caroe regarded it as ‘‘rather a queer body:”

... with the exception of the Hindu Member, Mehr Chand Khanna, it
is a family affair, Qazi Attaullah’s daughter having been married to one
of Abdul Ghaffar Khan’s younger sons and Yahya Jan, the new Minister,
being married to one of Abdul Ghaffar Khan’s daughters. The family
complexion is made even more apparent by the election of Abdul
Ghani, another of Abdul Ghaffar Khan's sons, to represent the Province
in the Central Assembly.®'

The Congress held only one legislative session in 1946 which primarily
served as a forum in which each side kept up the propaganda of the election
campaign.® They argued over language, with Congressmen insisting on
Pashtu while the League pressed equally hard for Urdu. They traded accu-
sations over rationing. The League’s MLAs charged the ministry with par-
tisanship in distributing essential commodities, and Congressmen retorted
that the League was only sore at losing the corrupt advantages it had enjoyed
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under Aurangzeb Khan. Leaguers used every opportunity, no matter how
implausible, to charge the Congress with conspiring to establish a Hindu
raj. For their part, Congress MLAs projected themselves as the champions
of the Pakhtuns and the poor against the British and their henchmen in the
Muslim League. None of this rhetoric was new or memorable, nor did it have
a major impact on the course of provincial politics, for the assembly was
overshadowed by events occurring outside its halls.

The Cabinet Mission Plan

The British government announced on February 19, 1946 that a special
delegation of three cabinet ministers would go to India to seek a solution to
its constitutional problems. The trio arrived in New Delhi on March 24th
and plunged into extended negotiations with India’s political leaders. Their
talks culminated with a conference in Simla in early May at which it became
apparent that the gap between the Congress and Muslim League was too
wide to be bridged by direct bargaining. On May 16th, therefore, the min-
isters proposed a compromise of their own which they hoped would lay the
basis for a future Indian constitution and clear the way for an interim central
government.

Their plan called for a decentralized, three-tiered system of government
consisting of provinces, groups, and a central, or union, government.* The
princely states would revert to an independent status and negotiate their fu-
ture association with the union. The center would deal only with foreign
affairs, defense, and communication, with all other powers vesting in the
provinces. The authority of the union government was further restricted by
requiring that any legislation with significant communal implications could
be passed only if a majority of both Muslim and Hindu representatives in
the central assembly supported it. The provinces would “be free to form
groups with executives and legislatures, and each group could determine
the provincial subjects to be taken in common.”** The proposed groups
were ‘A" —Madras, Bombay, Central Provinces, Orissa, United Provinces,
and Bihar; *‘B”’—Punjab, NWFP, and Sind; and *‘C”’ —Bengal and Assam.

The details of these constitutional arrangements were to be worked out
by a Constituent Assembly whose composition reflected party strengths in
the provincial assemblies and included representatives of the princely states.
After a preliminary meeting of the whole, the representatives of British In-
dia were to divide into their respective groups to decide on provincial and
group constitutions. The assemblv would then reconvene to write a union
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constitution. Once the new constitution had been implemented, the prov-
inces would have the right to leave their groups, should their legislatures so
decide. The entire constitution was to be reconsidered at ten-year intervals.

The Cabinet Mission’s plan was complex, cumbersome, and ambiguous.
To make it work would have required a cooperative spirit among India’s po-
litical leaders whose very absence had forced the ministers to produce their
extraordinary document in the first place. The compromise proposals satis-
fied no one entirely but proved to be more acceptable to the Muslim League
since they more nearly approximated its demands. Congress leaders were
never reconciled to the decentralization of power, the communal veto, and
the possibility of provincial secession contained in the plan. Ultimately,
they destroyed it as a possible compromise by refusing to be bound by the
very restrictions which made it tolerable to the League.

The Congress’ public objections, however, focused primarily on a proce-
dural issue, albeit one with far-reaching implications. The ministers had
been vague in their May 16th statement on whether the initial grouping
would be mandatory. The Congress insisted that the decision should be left
to the discretion of the provincial legislatures, on the grounds that it would
otherwise be ‘‘inconsistent with the freedom promised the Provinces,” and
its leaders adhered to this position even on being informed that its interpre-
tation ‘‘did not express the intent of the Delegation.”®> League leaders took
the opposite view that grouping had to be compulsory. To allow provinces to
opt out of the groups in advance would have removed the main element of
the plan that made it acceptable to their party—that it contained the
“seeds’ of Pakistan in Groups B and C. That, however, was precisely what
the Congress envisioned, as Nehru frankly told the press on July 10th:

The big probability is, from any approach to the question, there will be
no grouping. Obviously section A will decide against grouping. Speak-
ing in betting language, there is a four to one chance of the North-West
Frontier Province deciding against grouping. Then group B collap_scs-
It is highly likely that Bengal and Assam will decide against grouping,
although I would not like to say what the initial decision may bt‘:.Sll?Cc
itis evenly balanced. But I can say with every assurance and conviction
that there is going to be finally no grouping there, because Assam will
not tolerate it under any circumstances whatsoever.*®

With grouping destroyed, the possibility once more arose of creating 4
united India with a much stronger center than the Cabinet Mission pro-
posed. Thus, Congress leaders raised strong objections to coercing the
NWFP and Assam into any group to which their elected officials did not
wish to belong.
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Unlike the Congress High Command, the Frontier Congress did not take
issue with the decentralization envisioned in the Cabinet Mission’s plan. Its
leaders objected solely to compulsory grouping, or rather to the Frontier
Province being included in Group B. They were fearful that the League,
with its strength in the Punjab and Sind, would have a majority among the
group’s representatives and would push through a group constitution disad-
vantageous to their party. Grouping also potentially represented an obstacle
in the way of achieving one of their most basic objectives. Officially, the
Frontier Congress had never precisely defined what it foresaw for the Frontier
region after independence, but its leaders were firmly wedded to the idea
that the NWFP and tribal areas should enjoy the maximum possible auton-
omy. Thus, in his initial response to the Cabinet Mission’s plan, Abdul
Ghaffar Khan told the press on May 21st:

Great stress was laid by the Muslim League on self-determination and
on autonomy. The Congress has agreed to the fullest autonomy and
even to a large extent of self-determination. It is curious that now the
Muslim League stands for compulsion of certain provinces joining
groups whether they want to or not. Surely, this is the negation of self-
determination. Provinces must, of course, cooperate together, but this
must be done with their own free will or goodwill.®’

Frontier Congressmen claimed their right to autonomy on the basis of the
Pakhtuns’ unique identity. Modifying a statement by Jinnah to serve his own
purposes, Allah Nawaz Khan, the President of the Provincial Assembly, de-
clared:

Pathans and Punjabis are two major nations by any definition or test of
a nation, and the idea and very thought of grouping the NWFP with the
Punjabis is revolting to the Pathan mind. We are a nation of three mil-
lion, and what is more, we, the Frontier Pathans, are a body of people
with our own distinctive culture, civilization, language, literature, art
and architecture, names and nomenclature, sense of values and propor-
tion, legal and moral codes, customs and calendar, history and tradi-
tions, and aptitudes and ambitions. In short, we have our own distinc-
tive outlook on life and by all canons of international law a Pathan is

quite separate from a Punjabi.®®

As his statement suggests, the Frontier Congress also pandered to the chau-
vinistic side of the Pakhtuns’ sense of ethnic pride. Pakhtuns had particu-
larly strong biases against their immediate neighbors, the Punjabis, which
party leaders blatantly manipulated by speaking about Punjabi imperialism
and Punjabi contempt for Pakhtuns.®
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The Frontier League responded by emphasizing the Pakhtuns’ religious
identity. Its members asserted that the NWFP could not stand alone and had
to join some group—if not the ““Islamic” Group B, than Group A with its
overwhelming Hindu majority. A press statement by Abdul Qaiyum Khan in
June summed up the League’s position:

Khan Abdul Ghaffar Khan has lately toured the southern districts of the
N.W.F. Province where he has been chanting a hymn of hate by rousing
Pathans against the domination of Punjabi Muslims. . .. He conveni-
ently forgets that if there is danger of 16 million Punjab Muslims dom-
inating the six million Pathans in the tribal areas, NWFP and Baluchis-
tan, the danger of domination by the Hindu group is much more real as
their population is something like 100 times the population of this prov-
ince. . . . Before setting up the Government of North-West Pakistan
[Group B] we will see to it that Pathan interests are adequately and sat-
isfactorily protected and that our province has a real say in the affairs of
the Pakistan Government. The bogey of Punjabi domination has no
foundation and the war-cry raised by Khan Abdul Ghaffar Khan is due
to the fact that his own political existence is now being increasingly
threatened from all sides.”®

Stripped of its hyperbole, one element in Qaiyum’s statement was accu-
rate. The leaders of the Frontier Congress were worried about the future and
subtly shifting their political emphasis in response to the growing possibi!-
ity of partition. They had always argued for Pakhtun regionalism but previ-
ously had spoken of the Frontier as part of India. In 1946, they downgraded
references to India and devoted their attention more to discussing the future
of the Pakhtuns. In fact, a direct correlation can made between India’s po-
litical climate and the party’s emphasis on Pakhtun autonomy: the greater
the chance of Pakistan, the more militant the Frontier Congress’ brand of
regional autonomy would become.

The Reorganization of the Frontier
Muslim League

The election results showed that there was little hope of the League’s Is-
lamic ideology overcoming the Frontier Congress’ ethnic appeal in the ab-
sence of a functioning party organization. That lesson was reinforced by the
rapid expansion of the Frontier Congress in 1945-46. The party had 24,215
primary members by March 1946, more than three times the number en-
rolled during World War I1. They were marshalled into a grassroots organt-
zation of formidable depth. An incomplete PCC report lists forty-four Halga
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Congress Committees and 886 Primary (Village) Congress Committees.”’
In addition, the party, by the most conservative government estimate, had
no less than 8,000 Khudai Khidmatgar volunteers at its command.”

After consulting with a select group of provincial leaders in Delhi, the All-
India Muslim League’s Committee of Action named a forty-man Organiz-
ing Committee in April 1946 to overhaul the Frontier League.” The new
committee constituted tacit recognition that Qazi Isa’s reorganization had
failed, since it was instructed to repeat the tasks he had supposedly com-
pleted—to enroll new party members, establish League branches through-
out the province, and conduct new party elections.

The committee’s appointment completed the transformation of the pro-
vincial party’s leadership. With the exception of Abdur Rab Nishtar, the
men who had previously controlled it were pushed aside. Some, like Mian
Ziauddin, dropped out of politics altogether; others, like Aurangzeb Khan
and Bakht Jamal Khan, accepted much diminished roles. The new leaders
came from three sources. Some, such as Jalaluddin, Mohabbat Ali Khan,
and Malik Damsaz Khan, emerged from the ranks of the party’s district or-
ganizations. Many others, such as the committee’s chairman, Samin Jan
Khan, were former Congressmen. They were especially numerous in Pesh-
awar Valley where the League was weakest vis-a-vis the Congress.”* Most of
them had only joined the League after the war, but their newness was over-
looked because they possessed skills the party desperately needed. Finally,
the committee drew on men from a younger generation who had little prior
political experience but strong tribal credentials. They were exemplified by
Muhammad Ali Khan, the committee’s twenty-three year old secretary, and
Arbab Nur Muhammad, its twenty-two year old treasurer, who was the he-
reditary chief of the Bara Mohmands. The Pir of Manki did not join the Or-
ganizing Committee, even though he was acknowledged as the dominant
figure in the Frontier League’s leadership. He chose, instead, to act as the
party’s guiding spirit without holding any official title, much in the manner
Abdul Ghaffar Khan presided over the Frontier Congress.

The Organizing Committee divided responsibility for rebuilding the
party in each district among its members and created two three-man sub-
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committees to aid them.”* In addition, the Pir of Manki toured extensively
throughout the province, often in the company of an entourage of League
leaders. At a meeting in Peshawar city on May 1st, the Organizing Commit-
tee appointed Rab Nawaz Khan, the former Sa/ar-i-Azam of the Khudai
Khidmatgars and Abdul Ghaffar Khan’s nephew, to command the party's
razakars (volunteers). Numerous quasi-military units calling themselves
“National Guards’’ already existed as adjuncts to local branches of the Fron-
tier League. Rab Nawaz Khan was instructed to mold them into a single,
cohesive body which would act as the party’s equivalent to the Khudai Khid-
matgars.’® He was shortly replaced by Faiz Muhammad Khan, a member of
the Daudzai Khans of Babuzai, who, in turn, gave way in November 1946 to
Muhammad Ayub Khan of the Hoti-Mardan family, who directed the raza-
#ars until independence.

Sajjada nishins other than the Pir of Manki played a major role in the re-
vitalization of the Frontier Muslim League. Their political involvement,
which was already noticeable during the election campaign, intensified as
India’s communal impasse hardened, and especially once negotiations gave
way to rioting in August 1946. By the end of the year, a high percentage of
the NWFP’s sajjada nishins were actively working for the League. The party
was also helped by sajjada niskins from the Punjab, such as the Pirs of
Taunsa, Makhad, and Sial, who had numerous disciples across the Indus
River.”” While some sajjada nishins, such as the Pir of Zakori, assumed high
positions within the Frontier League, most continued to work outside the
party. Their efforts were typified by the Abbundzada of Karbogha in Kohat
who simply added political proselytizing to his normal religious activities.”
He most effectively served the party by instructing his murids to join it and
by speaking in its favor wherever he went on the frequent tours he made to
keep in touch with his disciples.

Attracted into politics by what they perceived as serious religious issues,
the sajjada nishins imparted, in turn, a religious legitimation to the League
and its goal of Pakistan. Of equal importance, as Frontier politics became
communally charged, they once more filled their traditional, structural role
as unifiers in Pakhtun society in times of crisis. Their support for the MU§-
lim League facilitated its evolution from merely a political party into a reli-
giously inspired movement in which Pakhtuns could temporarily suspend
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their normal worldly concerns and factional disputes and unite under saintly
leadership in the name of Islam.

The Organizing Committee never completed its assigned task. Before
party elections could be held, the League’s High Command abandoned po-
litical negotiations for direct action in August 1946 and appointed Provincial
Committees of Action to assume the duties of the Provincial Leagues.” The
Frontier Committee of Action, chaired by the Pir of Manki, confirmed the
officers of the Organizing Committee in equivalent ranks in the provincial
party and appointed officers for subordinate party branches. With these
steps, the reorganization of the Frontier Muslim League ended. It did not
fully achieve its objectives, for in many parts of the province the party re-
mained little more than a patchwork of a4 Aoc bodies directed by senior
Khans. Yet, despite its deficiencies, the organizational efforts of 1946 ade-
quately met the requirements of the Frontier Muslim League. Due to the
deterioration of Hindu-Muslim relations in the rest of India, the League did
not need a tightly run organization to win support in the Fronuer. All it re-
quired was a sufficiently sound party structure to allow it to channel the up-
surge in communal feeling into coordinated activity, and this had been cre-
ated by the time riots in other parts of India diverted the party away from
organizational questions.

Communal Rioting and Frontier Politics

The Muslim League had agreed to the Cabinet Mission’s proposals in
early June, but its leaders reconsidered when the AICC formally expressed
reservations on July 7th that negated their essential clauses. In a subsequent
press conference, Nehru effectively repudiated the entire scheme by stating
that the Congress was committed to going to the Constituent Assembly and
nothing more.*® The All-India Muslim League Council reacted by with-
drawing its approval of the plan at a special meeting on July 27th-29th and
passing a resolution which declared in part:

. . . whereas recent events have shown that power politics and not justice
and fair play are the deciding factors in Indian affairs . . . the Council of
the All-India Muslim League is convinced now that the time has come
for the Muslim nation to resort to Direct Action to achieve Pakistan, to
assert their just rights, to vindicate their honour and to get rid of the
present British slavery and the contemplated future Caste-Hindu dom-

ination.®
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Jinnah then dramatically told the Council: ““This day we bid goodbye to
constitutional methods. . . . Today we have also forged a pistol and are in a
position to use it.’*

In spite of the bellicose rhetoric, nothing drastic was immediately in-
tended. The League merely planned to hold meetings throughout India on
August 16th and have its members renounce whatever titles the government
had conferred upon them. But Calcutta exploded into three days of com-
munal rioting which left thousands dead or injured. The Great Calcutta
Killing set off a succession of bloody disorders in Bombay in September,
Noakhalt in October, and Bihar and the eastern part of the United Provinces
in November. At the all-India level, this sequence of unprecedented com-
munal violence destroyed the last faint hopes for a political settlement that
stopped short of partition. In the North-West Frontier Province, it accom-
plished in a few short months what the League had failed to achieve through
years of work—a massive swing in public opinion away from the Frontier
Congress and its ethnic nationalism in favor of Pakistan.

The Frontier Congress’ strength had started to erode even before the riot-
ing began. Every week, a few more of its members transferred their alle-
giances to the Muslim League. Some, no doubt, switched out of political
opportunism or after losing out in factional struggles within the Congress,
while others were alienated by the Khan Sahib government, and particularly
its rationing policies.® Many, however, were swept up by the growing com-
munal polarization of India, and all, regardless of their motives, represented
their conversion as stemming from religious convictions. Yet, as long as In-
dia’s communal conflict was confined to words, the Frontier Congress was
protected by the Pakhtuns’ strong ethnocentrism and by the widely held
perception that it was an autonomous Pakhtun party committed to advanc-
ing their ethnic interests. The Pakhtuns’ provincialism was finally shattered
when the deadlock at the bargaining table gave way to bloodshed in the
streets. As the rioting reached a level unparalleled in India’s troubled com-
munal history, the contradiction between the Pakhtuns’ religious and polit-
ical loyalties became acute. Their sense of ethnic uniqueness did not Qis-
appear, but it was superseded temporarily by a religious awareness which
led them to give their primary allegiance to their Muslim identity for the
duration of the crisis. '

League leaders ensured that the disorders received the maximum pubh(?-
ity in the Frontier in order to sustain the sense of crisis at the highest possi-
ble pitch. They flooded the province with stories of Hindu atrocities, sent
investigative teams to the disturbed areas, and brought Muslim eyewit-
nesses and victims from the riot areas to the NWFP Their propaganda
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stressed that the riots proved that the Hindus were bent on destroying Is-
lamic culture in India and physically exterminating Muslims. In the face of
this danger, they argued, Pakhtuns had to give up their unnatural alliance
with the Indian National Congress and join the struggle for Pakistan. The
riots in Bombay and Bihar were exploited with an especially telling effect,
the first because many of the victims were Pakhtuns and the second because
of the sheer magnitude of the death and destruction that was involved.

The trouble in Bombay consisted of random stabbings rather than large-
scale mob violence. Nonetheless, it received particular attention in the
Frontier because Bombay contained a large number of Pakhtuns, most of
them transient laborers who regularly traveled back and forth between the
city and the Frontier.”® Once the stabbings began, they sent back descrip-
tions of their situation to the Muslim League’s newspapers in the NWFP
which were designed to arouse the Pakhtuns’ sense of ethnic honor. Part of
one account in A/-Jamiat Sarhad, for example, read:

Though the Pakhtuns did not take any part in the opening of the
Hindu-Muslim riots in Bombay on September 1st, a great number of
them were killed later on. The police also helped in killing them in fac-
tories, nearby villages, and on the main streets. The situation went to
the extent that while burying them we could not distinguish among
their limbs, and some bodies were buried with a lesser or greater num-
ber of arms and legs.*

In late September, a delegation returned to Peshawar to plead their case in
person. In response, the Frontier League sent a committee under Bakht Ja-
mal Khan to Bombay to investigate the conditions of the Pakhtuns residing
there. The committee’s report described the Pakhtuns’ suffering in graphic
detail and accused the Bombay Congress government of aiding the Hindu
assailants."™ Provincial party workers, in turn, used its conclusions to sup-
port the contention that the Hindus of Bombay had embarked on a campaign
of genocide against the Pakhtuns in the city."

In Bihar, rioting began on October 25th after a 4arval/ called in sympathy
for the Hindus of Noakhali. It rapidly escalated into disturbances which the
Government of India declared: *‘For ferocity, barbarity and size, seem to
have surpassed all communal or political outbursts in recent Indian his-
tory.”* After only one month, official estimates put the number of dead at
5,000 and the number of Muslim refugees at over 120,000.™ League esti-
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mates were much higher. The leaders of the Frontier League focused on the
plight of the Biharis almost to the exclusion of other events in India for the
rest of the year, due to a genuine sense of compassion for fellow Muslims
and an awareness of the political capital they could earn among the Pakhtuns
from the defenselessness and suffering of the Biharis. They sent three med-
ical missions consisting of doctors and party volunteers to fan out through
the affected region to aid Muslims. Besides offering help and comfort, the
members of these missions wrote articles for the NWFP press in which they
painted gruesome pictures of murder, torture, rape, arson, and the desecra-
tion of everything Muslims held sacred.”® Many returned to describe what
they had seen at public meetings, displaying objects picked up in Bihar to
dramatize the destruction—blood-stained clothing, torn pages of the
Quran, and in one case, a skull of an alleged Muslim victim.”' Their ac-
counts were corroborated by Bihari Muslims who were brought to the prov-
ince especially for propaganda purposes.

In the midst of the communal riots, Nehru decided to visit the Frontier in
October. A Congress-dominated interim central government had been
formed the previous month in which Nehru, as the member for foreign af-
fairs, was responsible for the tribal areas. Ostensibly, his trip was under-
taken in his official capacity, but party motives lay behind his decision. As
Caroe has suggested, he also wished to enhance the Congress’ standing by
showing that it controlled the strategic and sensitive subject of border se-
curity.”” Additionally, Abul Kalam Azad has written:

... Jawaharlal was receiving official reports that a large section of the
people in the Frontier were against Congress and the Khan brothers.
Local officers repeatedly said that the Congress had largely lost local
support and that the people had transferred their loyalty from the Con-
gress to the League. Jawaharlal was of the view that these reports were
not correct and were fabricated by British officers who were against
Congress. Lord Wavell did not agree with Jawaharlal, though he did not
either accept the official reports, in toto. His view was that the Front}er
was almost equally divided between the Khan brothers and the Muslim
League. The impressions in Congress circles was that the ovcrwhclrp-
ing majority of the people were with the Khan brothers. Jawaharlal sngld
that he would tour the Frontier and assess the situation for himself.

The trip was made against the advice of Gandhi, Azad, and thcr hi_gh
Congress leaders who felt it might provoke a reaction in the Frontier which

90. For examples, see A/-Jamiat Sarhad, 11/3/45; and A/-Falak, 11/8/46 and 11/29/46. Also
see Muhammad Yusaf, ‘‘Mazlumin Bihar ki Ankhon Dekhi Kihani, Un ki Zabani,” Khatun,
8/14/73. pp. 5-6.

91. FPakhtun, 3/9/47 and Lakore Tribune, 1/10/47,

92. Interview with Sir Olaf Caroe.

93. Abul Kalam Azad, /ndia Wins Freedom (New Delhi: Orient Longmans, 1959). pp- 151-
52.
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would hurt their party locally and throughout the rest of India as well.* The
Viceroy and Frontier administration were also against the idea. Caroe flew to
Delhi to try to dissuade Nehru:

I told him that he would undermine the influence of my ministers and
heighten communalism. I said that if he wanted the Frontier to join a
united India peacefully, he should bide his time and that if he still in-
sisted on going, he should do so on a nonpartisan basis by taking with
him Muslim League members.”

For the leaders of the Frontier Congress, the visit was a gamble. A suc-
cessful trip would have dispelled any doubts the High Command might have
had about their popularity and would have strengthened their position lo-
cally by demonstrating their influence with the party in charge of Frontier
affairs in the central government. They also sought access through Nehru to
the tribal territories from which they had hitherto been barred. On the other
hand, the risks involved in the trip were considerable. A hostile reaction to
Nehru would undermine the party’s standing locally, in the central councils
of the Congress, and in the estimation of the British. Recognizing this, the
Frontier League set out to whip up public opinion in both the settled dis-
tricts and tribal areas in the weeks preceding Nehru's visit. The Pir of
Manki was particularly active, touring the tribal region around Peshawar Val-
ley with the message that the tribesmen had to unite against the Hindu
Congress and preserve their freedom by joining the jihad for Pakistan.”

Nehru’s visit turned out to be a fiasco for the Frontier Congress.*” He was
greeted in Peshawar on October 16th by a mammoth, hostile demonstration
mounted by the Muslim League. The next day, he embarked on a series of
disastrous trips to the tribal agencies. The Wazirs shot at his plane and con-
fronted him in an angry jirga. The Afridis refused to see him and stoned his
party. He by-passed the Mohmands due to intelligence of possible trouble
and went to Malakand instead where his party was attacked again; Abdul
Ghaffar Khan was hit by stones; shots were fired; and Khan Sahib had to
draw a pistol to disperse a menacing crowd.

Caroe reported that the demonstrations in the Khyber and Malakand were
organized by the League.’® The advantages to the party were obvious and
sufficiently compelling to cause its provincial leaders to make a concerted

effort to arouse the tribesmen. They would not, however, have been as suc-
-_
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cessful as they were if the tribesmen had not already been upset by India’s
communal problems and uneasy about their own future. The rioting in India
had created strong tribal animosities toward Hindus and the Congress. The
sentiments expressed by a /irga of Wazirs and Daurs during Nehru's visit
typified the common feeling. They told him that they sympathized with
those ““who repeat the word Bismillak” and threatened to retaliate against
those who were persecuting their Muslim brethren in India.’® While their
religion led them to sympathize with the Muslim League, most tribesmen,
as the same yzrga informed Nehru, wished to remain independent. They did
not want to be ruled by anyone—the British, League, Pakhtuns from the
settled districts, and, above all, the Congress which stood for Hindu domi-
nation in their minds. Nehru’s visit suggested to the tribesmen that the Brit-
ish might well be replaced by the Hindus with independence, an outcome
which had hitherto seemed remote and implausible. As Caroe put it, it
seemed like the coming of a second Birbal.'®

Nehru's visit aside, India’s troubles upset the communal peace in the
Frontier. This too was to the League’s advantage, since any violence within
the province reinforced local feelings of solidarity with the rest of India’s
Muslims. Even before August 1946, the party had added to the growing com-
munal tensions in the region with its persistent charge that Hindus were us-
ing the Congress’ control of the NWFP government to exploit Muslims.
Once the rioting began, they added the allegation that the minorities were
stockpiling arms with the ministers’ connivance.'”’ More seriously, the
League’s dissemination of accounts of Hindu atrocities encouraged the de-
sire to extract revenge for the wrongs suffered by Muslims elsewhere on the
Frontier’s minorities. Some party spokesmen even urged their followers to
answer violence with violence. A/-Jamiat Sarhad editorialized: *“The oply
way to stop these anti-Muslim riots is for all Muslims to unite and organize
and prove to the Hindus that the blood of every Muslim will be definitely
avenged.’'”

Communal tensions in the Frontier became so serious by the autumn of
1946 that the minorities started to seek refuge in flight.'® In late Septem-
ber, many Hindus and Sikhs left the rural areas of Peshawar for the safety of
the district’s towns. Similar migrations occurred from villages in Mardan,
Hazara, and the tribal state of Swat in November. In the south, some Hindus
quit Tank for Dera Ismail Khan city in December, while many others left
the Frontier altogether.

99. PS12/2300. Collection 23/60. No. 42, 10/19/46. .
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In spite of these scares, the province managed to escape the pattern of
violence experienced elsewhere in India until December 8th when Black
Mountain tribesmen raided two border villages in Hazara, burnt their ba-
zars, and killed or abducted their Hindus and Sikhs.'™ The province's
Chief Secretary reported: ‘“The raids were well organized and instigated by
Mullahs working on fanatical tribes in retaliation for events in Bihar."'** Ad-
ditionally, the tribesmen believed that Hindu and Sikh merchants in the
border villages were holding back badly needed supplies of cloth and other
scarce goods for sale on the black market. For the rest of the month, the
tribal raiders roamed at will throughout the border areas of Mansehra TeAss/,
receiving help from some of the local Muslims.

In January 1947, the trouble spread to the mountainous regions of Abbot-
tabad %é4ss/, producing similar scenes of violence. The government deployed
police, Frontier Constabulary, and a full army division to deal with the cri-
sis, arming them with sweeping authority by promulgating an emergency or-
dinance. Bad weather and the inaccessibility of the mountain regions of the
district impaired the government’s effort to end the violence and protect the
minorities until late January. By then, more than 10,000 Hindus and Sikhs
had been driven from their homes; fifty-five people had been killed; and
another 108 were missing and presumed dead.'® True communal peace,
moreover, was never restored in Hazara. Before the emotions aroused by the
violence could subside, the Muslim League started civil disobedience
against the Khan Sahib ministry which threw Hazara, along with the rest of
the province, into communal turmoil until independence.

104. Lakore Tribune, 12/13/46.
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THE TRIUMPH OF THE MUSLIM
LEAGUE, 1947

By 1947, the election results of the previous year were no longer an accu-
rate gauge of public opinion. Political sympathies had shifted, but there was
no institutional way for the change to be reflected in the provincial assembly.
The Muslim League could call for Dr. Khan Sahib’s resignation, but with
its solid majority in the assembly, the Frontier Congress could not be ex-
pected to surrender willingly its control of the provincial government. Since
the Muslim League had no legal recourse, it resorted to extraconstitutional
means to displace the Frontier Congress. It launched an agitation which
brought the normal operations of government to a halt, touched off a wave of
communal violence, and encouraged tribal raiding into the southern dis-
tricts.

With its ministry paralyzed by the agitation and its leaders convinced of
British enmity, the Frontier Congress embarked upon a new tack to win back
public support. It adopted more aggressive political tactics and a more mil-
itant ethnic rhetoric focusing on the demand for Pakhtunistan. These steps
failed, however, to arrest the decline in its popularity, for in the crisis at-
mosphere of the day, most people in the province gave their loyalties to their
religious identity. Equally important, the League’s agitation convinced the
British and the Indian National Congress that there would be no peace in
the Frontier and, hence, no transfer of power in India without a further test
of public opinion in the NWFP. Lord Mountbatten conducted a series of del-
icate negotiations in which Congress leaders gradually abandoned their
Frontier allies. To the satisfaction of everyone but the Frontier Congress, a
compromise was eventually reached with the June 3rd partition plan which
included a referendum on whether the NWFP should join India or Pakistan.
The referendum produced a strong verdict in favor of Pakistan, resolving the
immediate question of the disposition of the Frontier. It left, however, an
inheritance of political divisions and ill will to the new state.

The Direct Action Campaign

The leaders of the Frontier Muslim League had seriously discussed the
idea of civil disobedience as early as autumn 1946, both among themselves

217



218 Ethnicity, Nationalism, and the Pakhtuns

and with the all-India High Command which indicated that it wanted to see
the Khan Sahib government toppled.' With the new year and particularly
the start of the League’s movement against the government of Khizr Hayat
Khan in the Punjab on January 24th, provincial leaders actively began to
look for an excuse for a confrontation. At the start of February, the party’s
executive council decided to challenge the ministry over Hazara. It ap-
pointed a ‘“‘war committee’’ with the Pir of Manki at its head and ordered
“‘all the [League] committees of the province to keep an army of mujahidin
[warriors for the faith] ready to undertake civil disobedience against the Ha-
zara Safety Ordinance.” The start of the campaign was temporarily post-
poned in order to contest a bye-election in Mardan in mid-February. The
League won the seat but by a narrow margin which demonstrated that,
among Pakhtuns at least, the Frontier Congress retained significant sup-
port.” Once the polling was over, the final restraint on the League was lifted.
Seven days later it started direct action on the first available pretext.

A pregnant Sikh woman had been abducted in January from her village in
Hazara and her family murdered. She was then forcibly converted to Islam
and married to a Muslim. The police rescued her in early February, and
Khan Sahib brought her to Peshawar where he kept her in his own home.
Although she told a magistrate in the presence of her new husband on Feb-
ruary 18th that she wanted to go back to her own people, the rumor quickly
spread that Khan Sahib had coerced her into reverting to the Sikh religion.
The next day, according to the Pakiszan Times, Khan Sahib satisfied a dele-
gation of League leaders, including Abdul Qaiyum, that ‘‘no kind of com-
pulsion or coercion had been used.’* Nonetheless, the party distorted the
incident into a justification for a confrontation. Its version of the case was
summarized by A/-Jamiat Sarkad:

Recently, a non-Muslim woman openly declared in the main mosque
of Abbottabad that she had changed her religion and heartily accepted
Islam. She spent a month with her Muslim husband when she was taken
away by the government. She made a clear statement before the Deputy
Commissioner that she was a Muslim and the person concerned was her
lawful husband. This statement, however, was not recorded. Then she
was kept in the Haripur jail, and even there she made the same state-
ment.

1. Interviews with Muhammad Ali Khan, Abdul Qaiyum Khan, Aréaé Nur Muhammad,
and Mian Abdullah Shah.

2. Al-Jamiat Sarhad, 2/22/47

3. The League won by 588 votes out of 17,294, only a slight improvement over 1946 when
it captured the seat by 169 votes out of 16,539. Khyber Mail, 2/21/47. Returns Showing the Re-
sults of Elections to the Central Legislative Assembly and the Provincial Legislatures in 1945-46
{Delhi: Manager, Government of India Press, 1948), Statement I1. )

4. The paper went on to say: “The tension has considerably lessened after the mecting
between the Premier and the Muslim League leaders.”’ Pakistan Times, 2/120/47.
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Eventually, Dr. Khan Sahib called her to his home where she re-
peated the same story. He was obviously not satisfied with her plea and
sent her to the house of his driver for a week. During this period no
Muslim was permitted to see her, while Hindus and Sikhs visited her
frequently. They threatened that if she did not reconvert, her husband
would be killed and she would be accused of his murder. At last, she
was so tortured and terrified that she said she was converted to Islam by
force and was no longer a Muslim. And then she was handed over to the

Sikhs.®

While the Sikh woman served as the immediate pretext for civil disobe-
dience, she was quickly replaced as the League’s *‘cause celebre’ by the
broader issue of civil and religious liberties. On February 20th, a procession
was taken out in Mardan in defiance of Section 144 of the Criminal Proce-
dure Code to protest the ‘‘reconversion.” The protesters were dispersed,
and Abdul Qaiyum was arrested along with two prominent party workers
from Mardan. Whether by coincidence or design, the procession gave the
Provincial League Council, which was scheduled that evening to discuss
plans for a campaign to restore civil liberties, something concrete to seize
upon. Added urgency was provided the same day when Clement Attlee, the
British Prime Minister, announced to Parliament that India would be given
independence by June 1948 and that his government would relinquish power
as it saw fit if Indians could not agree upon a constitution.

The Council issued a sweeping indictment of the Congress ministry:

. . . the Congress Government have deliberately embarked on a policy
of crushing the Muslim League organisation and its legitimate consti-
tutional activities; . . . in pursuance of that policy the Congress Govern-
ment have been deliberately suppressing civil liberties in every possible
manner as evidenced by the unnecessary and uncalled for promulgation
in Hazara of the medieval and black laws; and . . . the Government have
intentionally been encroaching on the Muslim religious rights as has
been evidenced by the recent high-handed and unjustified action of the
Ministry in enforcing apostasy on a Muslim convert under duress. . . . °

It went on to demand that the government immediately halt its ““‘unjustified”
policies and appointed a Provincial War Council to go underground to “‘carry
on the struggle which has been forced upon them by the Government in a
strictly non-communal manner.””’

Mian Abdullah Shah, the Peshawar District League President, who had
served as one of the Afghan Jirga’s underground leaders in 1930, was chosen
as the War Council’s president. Two other members, Sher Bahadur Khan and

5. Al-Jamiar Sarkad, 2/30/47.
6. Pakistan Times, 2/22/47.
7. 1bid.
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Mian Muhammad Shah, both with experience in the 1930 agitation, man-
aged to avoid arrest throughout the campaign.® These three were aided dur-
ing the first month by the Pir of Manki whom the Congress government did
not detain until March 28th on Caroe’s advice for fear of arousing his murids,
especially those in the tribal area. While he was free, the Pir of Manki
toured the province and tribal areas, rallying public support for the agitation
and advising local Leaguers on its conduct. Also advising the War Council
was the shadowy figure of Major Khurshid Anwar, the Naib Salar-i-Ala of the
All-India Muslim League National Guard, who came to the NWFP from the
Punjab on February 28th and remained until April 24th. For the most part,
though, he operated separately from the War Council, most notably organ-
izing cells to plant bombs and commit other acts of sabotage.’

The leaders of the All-India Muslim League maintained only sporadic
correspondence with their Frontier workers during the campaign. Direct
consultations were even more infrequent, consisting of occasional trips by
provincial leaders to Dethi and periodic missions by central leaders, most
importantly Abdur Rab Nishtar, to the Frontier. Thus, the High Command
realistically could play only an advisory role, leaving the provincial party
with almost complete freedom in the daily conduct of the agitation."

The Provincial War Council was no more able to control district workers
than the High Command was able to regulate its own activities. The Coun-
cil directed the agitation in Peshawar city where it was based but left the
campaign outside the city to district leaders and confined its supervision to
periodically sending one of its members or a surrogate on tour to advise
them. At its February 20th meeting, the Provincial League Council ap-
pointed some of its members as ‘‘dictators’ for the campaign in their re-
spective districts.'' The War Council also directed some individuals to act
as underground organizers, as did the different District Muslim Leagues.
Many other men went underground on their own, often to form autonomous
cells whose activities could only be minimally controlled from above. Ad-
ditionally, the Zenana (Women's) Muslim League in each district functioned
autonomously from the male side of the party.'*

With this confusion of leadership, direct action was necessarily de.cclj-
tralized. Greater coordination, however, was not needed. The campaign's

8. The identities of the rest of the War Council are unclear since party records have been
destroyed or lost. Most of the party leaders agree that Bakht Jamal Khan was on¢ member,
a point substantiated by his memoirs. Bakhrt Jamal Khan, Meri Dastan-i-Hayat, 1?00'1268
(Unpublished memoirs. Collection of Aziz Javed). Sher Bahadur Khan suggested in an 10
terview that Ghulam Muhammad Khan and Ibrahim Khan of Jhagra were two others.

9. PJ8/660. Collection 117-C-68-A. Pol. 8145. Telegram 186/CB-5/29/47. Governor to Sec-
retary of State. .

10. Interviews with Mian Abdullah Shah, Sher Bahadur Khan, and Muhammad Al_l K'han.

11. Interviews with Malik-ur-Rahman Kiyani, Habibullah Khan, Muhammad Ali Khan,
and Jalaluddin.

12. See infra, pp. 222-225.
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immediate objective was to throw the province into turmoil, and this was
readily achieved through a loosely structured agitation conducted by local
party units with a minimum of centralized direction. The League thor-
oughly disrupted normality and order, and before it finished, packed the jails
with over 6,000 political prisoners.'* By mid-April, the province’s Chief Sec-
retary, A.N. Mitchell, wrote:

... things cannot go on as they are. The strain on the administration is
too great, and in many respects it has already begun to cease to func-
tion, such as if the province were the scene of a war. ... "

Following the initial demonstration in Mardan, civil disobedience spread
to Peshawar city where a large crowd, estimated at over 5,000, forced its way
through the cantonment’s barbed-wire gates on February 21st, broke two
police cordons, fought off tear gas, and reached and ransacked Khan Sahib’s
garden. Direct action in the rest of the province began by the end of the
month. The early phase of the campaign was characterized by noisy but
mostly peaceful demonstrations in the form of processions, picketing, and
the blocking of railway tracks. A few Hindu and Sikh shops were looted in
Peshawar city, but otherwise, violence was limited to isolated, minor dam-
age to railway lines and telegraph wires.'* The authorities broke up the dem-
onstrations with /azki charges as well as tear gas and made sweeping arrests
which rounded up most of the well-known figures in the Frontier Muslim
League within three weeks.

The agitation was confined to the province’s urban centers where it re-
ceived enthusiastic support from the largely non-Pakhtun population. The
rural areas remained quiet, in part because of the continuing strength of the
Frontier Congress. Additionally, since direct action was a calculated effort to
influence the British to include the Frontier in Pakistan, the League inten-
tionally focused its campaign on the towns where the government’s admin-
istrative machinery and its British personnel were concentrated. By doing so,
it managed to create a heightened but somewhat misleading impression of
popular opposition to the Frontier Congress, as Mitchell acknowledged.
While the countryside was not the scene of protest, it was involved in the
campaign. League organizers, most notably the Pir of Manki, toured the
villages to mobilize public opinion behind their campaign and funnelled a
steady stream of volunteers into the towns every day to protest and court
arrest.

Within two weeks, the League had unsettled the NWFP to the point that
British officials questioned the viability of the Congress ministry.'” Those
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doubts increased after March 10th when the nature of direct action qualita-
tively changed. Demonstrations intensified and took on destructive dimen-
sions. Women not only joined the agitation but assumed a major role in its
conduct due to the ministry’s reluctance to act against them. The League
embarked upon a campaign of sabotage against government facilities, roads,
and communication lines. Finally, the NWFP exploded into a fury of com-
munal violence under the influence of events in the Punjab, the passions
generated by direct action, and deliberate planning by the Frontier Muslim
League. Together, these factors turned the League's campaign into a crip-
pling upheaval with which the authorities could not contend.

In contrast to the first phase of direct action, during which they had kept
the crowds within relatively peaceful bounds, party leaders encouraged their
supporters to adopt much more militant and destructive tactics after March
10¢h.'® Demonstrators invaded and vandalized government offices, at-
tempted to break into jails and police stations, occupied railroad stations
where they destroyed records and issued free train tickets, closed schools
with sit-ins, and damaged court buildings. Party workers did not cease their
protests on being arrested. They turned the overcrowded jails into addi-
tional fronts by resisting regulations and conducting demonstrations. In the
most serious incident, an attempt to free condemned criminals in Peshawar
Central Jail on May 19th touched off two days of prison rioting and forced
the authorities to call in the military to restore order.'” The League also ex-
tended its protests to the countryside for the first time in May.?’ Crowds in
Mardan District broke into rural government offices, burnt land revenue and
irrigation records, and destroyed furniture in PW.D. (Public Works Depart-
ment) Rest Houses. In Peshawar District, demonstrations were even con-
ducted in the Khudai Khidmatgar strongholds of Charsadda and Utmanzal,
an indication that the Muslim League had acquired sufficient strength t‘O
challenge its political opponents on their home territory, the province's
Pakhtun villages.

Much of the League's campaign after March 10th was conducted by
women, a new and unusual feature in Frontier politics. Frontier Muslims,
and especially Pakhtuns, had a highly conservative attitude about the place
of women, as illustrated by the Pashtu proverb, ‘‘For the woman, either the
house or the grave.”?' While economic necessity forced many women t0
work, the ideal was for them to maintain strict purdak within the confines of
their homes in seclusion from all men but their closest relatives. A woman

18. Interviews with Mian Abdullah Shah and Sher Bahadur Khan. For a daily account of
the agitation, see the government’s communiques in the Lakore Tribune.
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5/26/47.

21. Akbar S. Ahmed, Maraloona (Peshawar: Pakistan Academy for Rural Development.
1973), p. 44.
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could wield great influence within her family, but even there her position
was circumscribed to ensure male dominance. Due to these social stric-
tures, women had virtually no freedom in normal times to engage in politics.
But 1947 was hardly an ordinary year. Direct action produced an upheaval
which temporarily liberated them from the restraints which customarily gov-
erned their lives.

The first major procession of women was organized in Abbottabad in early
March by Begum Kamaluddin. She led a second march in Peshawar city on
March 10th and three days later chaired a meeting which resuscitated a mor-
ibund Frontier Zenana (Women’s) Muslim League and committed it to work-
ing actively in the direct action campaign.?’ The new party inflated its im-
portance by calling itself a provincial body. Its officers and twenty-three
woman Working Committee were all residents of Peshawar city and with a
few exceptions, most notably Begum Qazi Mir Ahmad, its new president,
non-Pakhtuns.?* The ‘‘provincial” council exercised little, if any, authority
over the other districts where local women organized and ran separate Zen-
ana Leagues. Those bodies were also composed almost entirely of urban
women, few of whom were Pakhtun. None were able to penetrate into the
countryside where the conservative influence of custom prevailed.

The Zenana Leagues loosely coordinated their efforts with the male side
of the party. On occasion, the women marched in processions with the men,
but more often, they operated on their own in deference to the customary
separation of the sexes. Direct contact between the female and male party
leaders was also minimal, due to the constraints of purda. Usually, instruc-
tions and information passed back and forth through the male relatives of the
women leaders.” The regular party officials would broadly indicate what
they wanted the women to do, but except when joint demonstrations were
organized, they left the Zenana League free to carry out their own plans.
The women kept the male leaders informed of their intentions and abided
by the general guidelines they received, but they resisted any effort to reg-
ulate their activities more closely.?’

Paradoxically, women enjoyed greater freedom during the agitation than
men as a result of the social conservatism that had curtailed their previous
involvement in politics. To protect one’s women, both in the sense of guard-
ing their physical well-being and reputations, is central to a Pakhtun’s
Pakhto, or code of honor. By extension, his honor is affected by the way he
acts towards women outside his family. If he brings a woman into disrepute,

22. Register Ruadad. Muslim League Subcommittee KAavatin. Part 11, pp. 3-5. Part I,
PP. 1-2 contains a list of its officers. For further information, see the chapters on the Frontier
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24. Interviews with Zari Sarfaraz, Sherin Wahab, Mian Abdullah Shah, and Sher Bahadur
Khan.

25. Register Ruadad. Part 1, p. 10.



224 Ethnicsty, Nationalism, and the Pakhtuns

he will not only incur the enmity of her male relatives but also public odium.,
The Khan Sahib ministry, therefore, was caught in a cultural trap by the
women demonstrators. To respond with force risked offending Pakhtun cul-
tural sensibilities, while handling them gently was likely to make the agita-
tion more difficult to contain.

The ministers opted for dealing leniently with the women, despite the in-
herent drawbacks to that decision. When they marched in procession with
men, women were liable to be dispersed with /azhis or tear gas; otherwise,
the ministers’ policy was to avoid arresting them and to use coercion only as
a last resort.’® Police linked arms to block the women’s processions, and
when their lines were broken, they retreated and reformed their passive bar-
riers. If the women reached government offices, officials tried to persuade
them to leave or ignored them; and if all else failed, the offices were closed
up for the day. Only when all other means had been exhausted and the
women threatened vital government installations, such as the jails or police
stations, were the police ordered to use their lathis ¥

The advantage of this approach in the eyes of the ministers was that it did
not antagonize their party’s supporters by infringing on customary taboos.
There was even a partially redeeming feature to allowing the women to en-
gage in activities which were not tolerated from men. Their conduct so com-
pletely flaunted traditional Pakhtun mores that the Congress used it for
propaganda purposes, deriding the Muslim League for letting their women
act in a shameful, unwomanly manner. Abdul Hanan Bijli, a Congress sup-
porter, satirized the League in a poem which reflected the sentiment of
many Pakhtuns:

You have clung to the excuse of Pakistan;

You have brought out your ladies;

You must be ashamed, my dear Khans;

You have abased the honor of your Pakhtun nation.”®

On balance, however, the freedom the women enjoyed worked to the dis-
advantage of the Frontier Congress since they sustained direct action ata
high level of intensity once arrests, /azki charges, tear gas, and incrcasmz%
government surveillance took their toll on the male members of the party.
Recognizing the government’s dilemma, the League shifted increasing re-
sponsibility for its campaign to its female workers. In Peshawar city, for.cx-
ample, women in burgas took out almost daily demonstrations, stormed Into
the Secretariat, forced their way through the outer gates of the central jﬂ!l,
beset police stations, and invaded government schools. They broke into rail-
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road offices where they distributed free ‘‘Pakistan tickets’ and delayed
trains by blocking the tracks. It was in the course of attempting to impede a
train on April 15th that the only serious injuries of women occurred. Five
had to be hospitalized, while another forty suffered minor injuries after they
sat down on the tracks too abruptly for the engine driver to stop.

Only a small portion of the violence in the direct action campaign was
committed by crowds of demonstrators. From the beginning of the agitation,
important segments within the Frontier Muslim League had argued for sab-
otage against government facilities and attacks upon the minorities. One of
the earliest and strongest proponents was Major Khurshid Anwar who
brought a supply of explosives to the province and instructed party workers
on how to manufacture homemade bombs.*® He found a receptive audience
among many of the party’s rank-and-file, such that its leaders would have
had difficulty preventing violence had they so desired. As it was, they were
readily convinced by March 10th of the political efficacy of violence.® Di-
rect action had already taxed the police and administration to their limit.
Party leaders hoped that communal disorders and sabotage would destroy
what little effectiveness they retained, cause a general breakdown in law-
and-order, and thereby convince the British to remove the Khan Sahib min-
istry from office. Moreover, the risks of such a campaign seemed minimal,
since the government’s resources were stretched too thin to retaliate effec-
tively against more violent forms of protest. Thus, while the Provincial War
Council and other high-ranking League officials continued after March 10th
to issue appeals to their followers to remain peaceful, they were only engag-
ing in public posturing.*’ They acquiesced to and helped organize a clan-
destine campaign of sabotage and bombing. More seriously, they encour-
aged and, in some instances, actually instigated a wave of communal
disorders which caused deaths, injuries, widespread property damage, and
the exodus of a majority of the province’s Hindus and Sikhs.

The League’s sabotage and bombings were amateurish by the standards
of terrorist movements in the twentieth century. They were directed at prop-
erty rather than people and intended more to create an impression of unrest
than to do real harm. There were no attacks on government personnel per se.
The Hindus and Sikhs in the administration faced danger, but only because
of their religion and not their jobs. Muslim and British officers were safe
throughout the campaign since the League did not want to antagonize
either. Muslims in the Frontier Congress were also safe, for the potential
costs, both political and personal, were too great and the likely returns too
small to warrant an assault on them. Had any been injured, the Pakhtuns’
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social code would have required their relatives to seek revenge, thereby cre-
ating blood enmities which would have continued long after the Frontier's
political future had been decided. Any such attacks, moreover, would have
solidified the Frontier Congress’ hold on the loyalties of its supporters and
roused it to a more aggressive, even violent, opposition to the League. As it
was, Frontier Congressmen were already openly carrying arms as if to dare
their opponents to a test of strength.>® The League’s saboteurs, therefore,
were careful not to hurt anyone who might retaliate and precipitate blood-
shed between the two parties.

The primary targets of the League’s saboteurs were the province’s com-
munication and transportation systems.>* Bombs were planted on roads and
railroad bridges, along tracks, and in railroad quarters. Usually, they were
discovered and defused, and even those that did explode caused only minor
damage. Telegraph and telephone wires were cut, poles uprooted, and office
equipment smashed. On occasion, the damage to the communication lines
was sufficient to cut towns off temporarily from the outside. As the agitation
progressed, directed sabotage was augmented by the random explosion of
bombs, especially in Peshawar city, which were meant to contribute to the
general atmosphere of unrest prevailing in the province rather than damage
any government installation or injure anyone in specific.”

As a form of violence, sabotage of this type was overshadowed by the com-
munal disorders the League’s campaign touched off. Relations between the
Frontier’s religious communities had been peaceful, though strained, during
the first three weeks of direct action, even in Hazara which had not yet re-
covered from the violence of the previous two months. Beneath this calm,
however, tensions were building toward an explosion. The initial spark was
supplied by the Punjab, where heavy rioting broke out after the resignation
of Khizr Hayat Khan on March 5th. Law-and-order quickly collapsed in
Haripur Z¢Asi/ of Hazara, which was culturally as well as geographically an
extension of the Punjab plain. Before the month was over, the rest of the
district followed Haripur into the communal maelstrom. The Punjab riots
also enflamed communal antagonisms elsewhere in the NWFP, but the in-
cident that precipitated violence was local in origin. The Frontier Muslim
League mobilized a large procession in Peshawar city on March 10th in an
effort to disrupt the start of the provincial assembly. The demonstrators
clashed with police and army troops at a bridge between the city and can-
tonment, leaving two dead and fifteen injured. They then retreated to the
city where they broke up into angry, roving gangs which sought out Hindus
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and Sikhs. Mitchell explained:

... they turned their anger against Hindus and Sikhs, partly because
of the very bad communal rioting in the Punjab, which had roused feel-
ings here; partly because they regarded the firing as an attack by the
Congress party, which is represented as a Hindu party, on the Muslims.
Then and on subsequent days about twenty-five Hindus and Sikhs had
been stabbed or shot in the city and cantonment.*

Henceforth, attacks on Hindus and Sikhs became an integral part of direct
action. League leaders continued to issue appeals to keep the agitation non-
violent, but their actual behavior contradicted their public statements. Parcy
officials from the War Council down to the local level not only tolerated the
disturbances but actually helped plan many of them.?’

Communal violence was confined in March primarily to Hazara and Pesh-
awar Districts. Animosity toward the minorities was universally felt, but the
rest of the province was quiet except for a few stabbings in Bannu, Mardan,
and Kohat.*® In Peshawar Valley, only Peshawar Zz4s:/ was seriously affected,
and in its rural areas, the trouble was minimized by the partial evacuation
of Hindus and Sikhs, frequent military patrolling, and the Frontier Con-
gress’ moderating influence. Peshawar city witnessed a week of random
stabbings, bombings, and scattered incendiarism before the police and mil-
itary restored a semblance of order. Even then, tensions remained so high
that the city’s normal commercial and administrative activities could not re-
sume. The ministry responded by importing over 10,000 Khudai Khidmat-
gars from the countryside on March 19th in hopes both of quieting the city
and impressing the British with their party’s capacity to counter the
League’s campaign. Far from helping, the move added to the strained at-
mosphere in the city, since its largely non-Pakhtun Muslim inhabitants bit-
terly opposed the Congress. Muslim shops suspended business under the
League’s directions, and minority merchants were intimidated into also re-
maining closed.>® After a momentary lull, violence also picked up again,
forcing the ministry to withdraw the Khudai Khidmatgars and impose a
twenty-four hour curfew on the city on April 6th.

Hazara experienced much more serious trouble because of its close affin-
ities with the northern Punjab where devastating riots were taking place. Ad-
ditionally, the Frontier Congress could not help dampen animosities because

36. MP. Letter to Mrs. M.A. Mitchell, 3/16/47. For an account of the clash between the
police and crowd, see FR3/47(1) and Civil and Military Gazerte, 3/14/47.

37. Interviews with Mian Abdullah Shah, Sher Bahadur Khan, and Muhammad Ramzan
Khan.

38. MP Letter to Mrs. M. A. Mitchell, 3/16/47. For the disorders in Peshawar Valley, see
the government communiques in Lakore Tribune between 3/14/47 and 4/6/47.

39. PJ8/660. Collection 117-C-68-A. Pol. 7069. Telegram CA/26 (4913), 3/19/47. Governor

to Viceroy. Also see FR4/47(1).



228 Ethnicity, Nationalism, and the Pakhtuns

it had very little influence among Hazara’s non-Pakhtun population. The
disorders were not localized to any one part of Hazara, and the total number
of casualties was much higher than in Peshawar.*® The initial incident oc-
curred in Haripur 7é4s:/ when a party of minority evacuees was ambushed on
March 12th. The next day, Muslims killed forty-seven Hindus and Sikhs in
village Chajian and set fire to the bazar in village Kotnajibullah. Violence
spread to the rest of the district within days and reached a peak on March
21st when Muslims looted and burnt the main bazar in the town of Man-
schra. A complete breakdown of order was averted only because army troops
were already in place due to the disorders of December and January. The
authorities maintained ‘‘the most rigid control in all the towns,”*' set up
road blocks to prevent the free flow of rioters, evacuated large numbers of
Hindus and Sikhs from the district, and fired on crowds when they appeared
out of hand.

The center of communal disorder moved south in April. Violence contin-
ued in Hazara but at an endemic level until rioting ravaged the town of Na-
wanshehr on June 3rd. Similarly, while disturbances occurred throughout
Peshawar Valley during the rest of the spring, they moderated in intensity,
primarily because of the Congress’ counterefforts in the area. In Kohat city,
in contrast, tensions had become acute by the end of March. The Khudai
Khidmatgars tried to undertake a peace effort similar to the one in Peshawar
city on March 27th, only to be routed by a hostile Muslim League crowd.”
An outbreak of looting, arson, and murder followed which drove a large part
of the city’s minorities from their homes.

Communal violence climaxed with ten days of rioting in Dera Ismail
Khan in April. Like Hazara, that district was oriented more toward the Pun-
jab, of which it was a geographic and cultural extension, than the rest of the
NWFP. Its inhabitants, therefore, were adversely influenced by severe riot-
ing in nearby Multan, just as the people of Hazara had been affected by the
violence in neighboring Rawalpindi. In addition, the Frontier Congress was
weak in the district and unable to moderate communal relations. On the eve-
ning of April 14th, local League leaders aroused a large public meeting gath-
ered in Dera Ismail Khan city with a call for violence against its minorities.
Muhammad Ramzan Khan, the District ‘‘Dictator,” went so far as to urge
his listeners to sack the Hindu-controlled business section of town.* The
next morning random attacks began on Hindu homes and stores and quickly
escalated into rioting and arson which raged out of control for two days. The
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trouble spread to Tank on April 17th where “fires. . . burnt out practicaily
the whole town owing to strong winds’’ and to Kulachi on April 22nd.** Nu-
merous smaller outbursts occurred in the villages, and Mahsuds and Bhi-
tanis from the tribal territory added to the strife and unrest by sending raid-
ing parties which roamed virtually at will throughout the district for ten
days.*

By April 25th, when the military finally restored a semblance of order, 121
people had been killed, and almost all of the 16,000 minorities living in rural
Dera Ismail Khan, plus thousands more from its towns, had fled the prov-
ince or collected in refugee camps in Dera Ismail Khan city.*® The economic
toll was also extremely heavy. Mitchell reported:

The damage in Dera Ismail Khan City is estimated to be of the value
of nearly rupees one crore; while the town of Tank has very largely
ceased to exist. .. it is no exaggeration to say that the effects on com-
merce also imply economic calamity to the district and the adjacent
Tribal Areas not only through the destruction of property and goods but
also through the emigration of many thousands of those upon whom
commerce depended.*’

The effects of the riots extended into Bannu as well. According to Mitchell,

The neighbouring District of Bannu, being forewarned, has so far es-
caped similar tragedies. But the City has remained in a constant state
of anxiety behind locked gates with commercial and Government busi-
ness almost at a standstill. Tribal gangs had constantly menaced the
City and the smaller towns of the district and worse might have oc-
curred but for a prompt action of the political authorities in North Wa-
ziristan in arresting on April 24th 400 Mahsuds who were on their way

to the plains for mischief.*

Throughout the rest of the province, the riots heightened communal ten-
sions and contributed to an ever-increasing exodus of Hindus and Sikhs
from their homes. An estimated 60 percent of the minorities in Peshawar,
Mardan, Kohat, and Bannu Districts had left the NWFP by mid-May, and
the percentages for Hazara and Dera Ismail Khan were even higher.*’
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Communal violence continued during May but at a much reduced level,
as though the convulsions in Dera Ismail Khan had temporarily sated pas-
sions. One crucial reason for the relative improvement was that the League's
attitude changed when it became apparent at the end of April that Lord
Mountbatten, the new Viceroy, would insist on new elections or a referen-
dum before deciding the NWFP’s future.> With that concession, the party
no longer needed to push the agitation to extremes. Jinnah, who had issued
an appeal for peace with Gandhi on April 15th, sent orders to the Provincial
War Council that the violence should end, and he repeated those instruc-
tions to a delegation of provincial leaders which conferred with him in Delhi
at the start of May.>’ The provincial leaders henceforth tried to discourage
communal violence, but it was a mark both of the involvement of non-par-
tymen and of the agitation’s decentralized nature that while violence tailed
off, it did not end, nor did the participation of members of the Muslim
League in it.

The Frontier Congress’ Response to Direct
Action

The Frontier Congress government was neither systematic nor severe in
dealing with direct action. It did not resort to preemptive detention and
even delayed arresting some men despite clear evidence of their political ac-
tivities. League leaders enjoyed considerable freedom of movement
throughout the campaign. Surveillance and the risk of arrest were greatest
in the towns, the focal points of the agitation, but even there, party leaders
did not need to take strict precautions.>” In the countryside, they moved
about, held meetings, recruited volunteers, and planned demonstrations
with only a modicum of care. Thus, the League retained the initiative dur-
ing the campaign, while the government confined itself to reacting on an ad
hoc basis to each new demonstration and outburst of communal violence.
Mitchell complained: ““The ministry does not seem to have a long term pol-
icy for dealing with the situation other than hanging on grimly from day to
day and hoping to tire the other side out.”> .

The leniency of the ministry can be explained in part by the political _dl-
lemma it faced.’® Party leaders were fearful that a harsher, more repressive
policy would alienate the public, and especially the core of supporters they
still retained. If that were to happen, the restoration of order would be of
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little value since their bargaining position in the negotiations over the Fron-
tier's future would be undermined, as would their popularity after indepen-
dence.

Beyond these political calculations, the British, for their own reasons, im-
posed restraints on the ministry. As long as direct action continued, Caroe
and Lord Mountbatten agreed that the government had no choice but to en-
force the law. However, the level of repression they were prepared to sanc-
tion was limited since they did not want to complicate India’s overall politi-
cal deadlock by antagonizing All-India Muslim League leaders over the
Frontier. In fact, with a view toward easing the all-India problem, both
urged the Frontier Congress to adopt a more conciliatory policy and to end
the confrontation through compromise.®> Far from accepting this advice,
party leaders took it as proof of British hostility to their government. Hence,
as the agitation progressed, relations between the ministry and permanent
administration deteriorated into recriminations and suspicions which de-
moralized both sides. Eventually, Khan Sahib and his colleagues openly ac-
cused British officers, and especially Caroe, of aiding the League. At their
behest, Indian National Congress leaders began in mid-March to demand
that Caroe be replaced.

The Congress ministers were equally convinced, and with good reason,
that they could not count on many Muslim officers in the provincial admin-
istration. In the very first demonstration in Peshawar on February 2lst, the
police disobeyed orders to fire on the crowd. In Caroe’s estimation, this in-
cident was not only ‘‘proof of police demoralization’ but evidence that al-
ready ‘‘all Mohammadan Government servants, except a few at the very top,
are disloyal in their hearts to a regime which represents in their eves Hindu
domination.””*” During the campaign that followed, some officials went be-
yond passively resisting ministerial orders. Thev passed on intelligence to
the League, helped to hide its leaders and facilitate their movements, served
as conduits for party communications, and even covertly participated in its
campaign of sabotage and communal violence.*

Since its ministry could not end the agitation, the Frontier Congress had
to adjust its own tactics and find new means with which to recoup its polit-
ical strength. This became particularly imperative once negotiations in New
Delhi pointed to the likelihood of a further electoral contest in the province.
Party leaders responded with greater militancy. One of the movement's cu-
riosities in the minds of contemporary observers had always been the Pakh-
tuns’ support for Gandhian ideas. Abdul Ghaffar Khan was a close personal

55. GR/47. Pol. 7072. D.O. GH-27, 3/8/47; and PO/433. No. 4, 4/24/47.

56. P)8/660. Collection 117-C-68-A. Letter. 3/19/47. Lord Wavell to Secretary of State.
PO/433. No. 5 and 6.

57. GR/47 Pol. 6774. D.O. GH-21, 2/22/47.

58. Interviews with Sher Bahadur Khan, Mian Abdullah Shan, and Amin Jan Khan of

Landi.



232 Ethnicity, Nationalism, and the Pakhtuns

disciple of Gandhi, and the Khudai Khidmatgars had included a pledge of
non-violence in their by-laws. As direct action gained momentum, however,
party members reverted to a more traditional Pakhtun posture. In increasing
numbers, they showed up at meetings or paraded through the province’s vil-
lages with arms. They also began to discharge their weapons randomly in
the air. At first, party leaders only tacitly encouraged this trend, but in time,
they too spoke in vague but menacing terms about using force. To back up
their threat, they formed the Za/mai Pakhktun which repudiated non-violence
in favor of “‘armed defence against violence and terrorism.*

The idea of the Za/mai Pakhtun had been raised as early as the start of
March, but its actual formation was put off until it became clear that the
British intended to hold a referendum in the NWFP. At the start of May,
Amir Muhammad Khan, the FPCC President, announced its creation under
the leadership of Abdul Ghani Khan, Abdul Ghaffar Khan’s son and the
Frontier’s representative in the Central Assembly. The Za/mai Pakhtun did
not attract many members, despite Ghani Khan’s claims to the contrary, but
those who did join were highly visible with their guns and military para-
phernalia. One indication of their prominence was that the League felt com-
pelled to form a rival armed body, the Ghazi Pakhtun.®

While the Frontier Congress adopted a more martial posture, its mem-
bers, like those in the Muslim League, were extremely cautious about pro-
voking an armed conflict. They hoped to win public support by appearing
to be more aggressive, to intimidate their opponents, and to pressure the
British; but they shied away from an actual fight. Thus, confrontations with
the League were reduced to ritualistic but harmless expressions of hostility
whose value for both parties lay in their symbolism. The annual celebration
of the 1930 Takar ‘‘massacre” in Mardan District serves as a good example.
Caroe recounted:

This year the League decided to participate in the show as well and
crowds of about 3000 or 4000 (nearly half of these were armed) col-
lected on either side. The district authorities played the game in per-
suading the Congress to hold their meeting in the morning and the
League to hold theirs in the afternoon, thus bearing out the point that
these people are more interested in posturing than in setting at one an-
other.”!

The appearance of armed Khudai Khidmatgars was part of a more general
increase in the level of Congress activity. Initially, the party had left the task
of dealing with the direct action campaign to its ministry. Abdul Ghaffar
Khan even went to Bihar to work for communal peace for three mOl_Itl}S an’d
did not return to the province until the middle of April. Once the ministry s
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ineffectiveness became apparent, party leaders actively organized public
meetings, and the Khudai Khidmatgars started to tour the province’s vil-
lages.

In their attempt to win back popular support, Congress leaders de-
nounced the League for conducting a campaign of lawlessness against a
democratically elected government, for stirring up religious fanaticism, and
for committing communal atrocities which were a stain on the honor of the
Frontier Province.®* Additionally, they resorted to the time-honored party
practice of representing themselves as the defenders of the masses against a
reactionary feudal elite which was intent on exploiting India’s political crisis
for its own selfish ends. For example, Qazi Attaullah, the Revenue Minister,
told one meeting:

The Muslim League movement in the Frontier is nothing but an organ-
ised attempt on the part of big landlords and nawabs, parasitic pirs and
mullahs, who have hoarded enormous wealth and accumulated large es-
tates to deprive the poorer classes of their legitimate rights and seize
power on the day the Britishers quit India.*’

This line of attack was not confined to rhetoric alone. The party fitfully tried
to organize a ‘‘no rent’’ campaign against the large Khans in parts of Mar-
dan, Kohat, and Hazara, claiming that there was no need to pay since its
ministry planned to enact legislation fundamentally altering landlord-tenant
relations.®® Previous anti-landlord campaigns had almost invariably elicited
interest. This one, however, failed because of the public preoccupation with
India’s political crisis and because the League’s identification with the sen-
ior Khans had been blurred in the preceding two years by an influx of new
members from other segments of Frontier society.

The centerpiece of the Frontier Congress’ new strategy was to retreat into
greater ethnic militancy, to slough off its damaging alliance with the Con-
gress and face the League purely as the champions of Pakhtun interests.
This too was a technique the party had used in the past time and again to
shore up its popularity. Symbolic of the move, its leaders ceased to call their
party the Congress, using ‘‘Khudai Khidmatgar” instead.

Party rhetoric sought to exploit the anti-Punjabi biases which went hand
in hand with the Pakhtuns’ ethnic pride. A recurrent theme in the speeches
of party leaders was that Pakistan was merely another name for Punjabi ex-
ploitation. Qazi Attaullah, for instance, told the press:

We had a connection with the Punjab. .. but unfortunately our last
memories are not happy, and it appears to me as if the Punjab element
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again wants to dominate over us secretly by appealing to the masses in the
name of religion.®

More positively, party leaders embraced the vague but attractive concept
of Pakhtunistan as their new political goal. Initially, the demand for Pakh-
tunistan was not a call for separatism. The party used it as no more than a
shorthand for the right to join India or Pakistan while retaining complete in-
ternal autonomy.®® Thus, in terms of its actual content, the idea barely dif-
fered from the party’s previous goals. The change was tactical, with the de-
mand for autonomy being repackaged under a new, more appealing label. By
mid-April, party leaders stopped talking about mere autonomy, substituting
in its place a demand for sovereignty. But even at this point, they were not
advocating a totally independent state. As Khan Sahib explained to the
press: **. .. a small state like NWFP cannot but associate itself with others
for defense and other purposes.”’®” Even hardliners like Qazi Attaullah con-
curred:

First of all we want to have an independent sovereign state of Pathans
and then we will visualise a joint jirgah (council) of [the] whole Pathan
nation which will ultimately negotiate on equal footing either with Hin-
dustan or Pakistan, whichever offers us better terms.®®

The party did not abandon this position for complete separatism until Lord
Mountbatten’s partition plan forced them to do so.

Mountbatten’s Partition Plan and the North-
West Frontier Province

Lord Louis Mountbatten arrived in New Delhi as the new Viceroy on
March 22nd and immediately initiated a period of intensive political discus-
sions which culminated on June 3rd with the announcement of a plan to par-
tition India and advance the date of independence from June 1948 to August
15, 1947. The North-West Frontier Province formed an important topic in
those negotiations, one which complicated his attempts to reach a settle-
ment to India’s political crisis. At one point, in fact, he wrote that the Prov-
ince “‘is the greatest danger spot in India and the bone of contention be-
tween Congress and Muslim League.”® Mountbatten had to deal with three
parties on the Frontier. While the All-India Muslim League and its provin-
cial branch were united in wanting to see the region included in Pakistan,
the interests of the Indian National Congress and Frontier Congress, despite
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their common name, diverged as the negotiations progressed. In the early
stages, Nehru and his colleagues vigorously backed their Frontier allies, but
once they accepted partition, support for Pakhtun nationalism conflicted
with their desire to see power transferred as quickly as possible to a unified
state in the territories inherited by India. Thus, the Indian National Con-
gress agreed in the end to a compromise which was acceptable to the British
and Muslim League but not to their Pakhtun allies.

As far back as Nehru’s visit to the Frontier in October 1946, Sir Olaf Caroe
had accepted the League’s position that it, and not the Congress, repre-
sented local political feelings and that there would be no peace until the
Frontier's government reflected that fact. At the start of direct action, he
wrote to Lord Wavell:

I am afraid we shall never be able to achieve any sort of stability with
the present unnatural Government, and this is sad, for the personalities
of my Ministers are much above the run of anyone which could be pro-
duced by other parties.”

With few exceptions, his subordinates shared his views. Mitchell, on taking
over as Chief Secretary, was more cautious in assessing the relative strength
of the two parties:

Facts conceded by members of the Congress party . . . are that all large
towns and Hazara district are now Muslim League sympathisers, active
or otherwise. . . . One opinion, from a person whose opinion is entitled
to respect was to the effect that D.I. Khan and Bannu would show a
Muslim League majority, the rural areas of Peshawar and Mardan a
Congress majority, with Kohat doubtful but inclined to the Muslim
League.”

Nonetheless, he too concluded that decisive measures were required to end
the existing, unsatisfactory situation.

The conviction that something had to be done was based on the belief that
conditions would only get worse as long as the Congress clung to office, for
it lacked the public support needed to bring direct action to a halt on its own
terms. Mitchell also warned that the police and administrative personnel
were too exhausted to cope with the situation much longer.”? Compounding
the sense of crisis, British officers feared that the disorders would spill across
the administrative border into the tribal areas where sentiment overwhelm-
ingly favored the Muslim League. While tribal elders tried to keep their
people out of the conflict, many influential individuals actively spoke out for
the party, and sirgas all along the border threatened to intervene on its be-
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half.”* Although tribal involvement assumed serious proportions only in
Dera Ismail Khan, Mitchell nevertheless expressed the general consensus
among his colleagues when he wrote:

I'sec the possibility of tribal inroads on a large scale culminating in gen-

eral war. It happened in 1897 and to a less extent 1916 and 1919, and

there i1s nothing inherently improbable in the same thing happening
- 74

again.

Caroe and his subordinates believed that new elections would restore or-
der by bringing the provincial government in line with public opinion. The
Frontier Congress flatly rejected that proposal when Caroe made it to the
provincial cabinet in early March.” Caroe, nonetheless, forcefully argued
for elections to Lord Ismay, whom Mountbatten sent to the Frontier Province
within a week after taking over as Viceroy, and in subsequent correspond-
ence with the Viceroy himself. He also told both that ““‘the best way to do
this would probably be to dismiss the Ministry, dissolve the House, and for
the Governor to take powers under Section 93.”7° At a Governors’ Confer-
ence in Delhi on April 15-16, he made a personal appeal to Mountbatten for
an announcement ‘‘straight away, rather than at a later stage,” on the grounds
that the province ‘‘was liable to ‘drop to bits’ at any moment’’ and he “‘would
rather risk any disturbances the elections themselves might bring.””’

Lord Mountbatten did not rely exclusively on the Governor for informa-
tion, seeking out opposing views from Congress leaders and other sources.
Nonetheless, within his first three weeks in India, he too had concluded that
Section 93 and new elections were desirable. He also accepted Caroe’s as-
sessment that the Muslim League had greater popular support in the Fron-
tier than the Congress.” He did not act immediately, however, due to the
wider ramifications such a step might have had. By mid-April, he had a sense
of how to resolve the Indian deadlock:

In the first place, I am convinced that we have to make up our mmds
some way or the other in the very near future if we are to avert civil war
and the risk of a complete breakdown of the administration. . .. Sec-
ondly, I have very slender hopes of getting acceptance of the Cabinet
Mission plan, and I am very much afraid that partition may prove to be
the only possible alternative.””
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With this decided, his problem was one of formulating a partition plan and
coaxing both the League and Congress into quickly accepting it. He, there-
fore, could not afford to jeopardize his relations with either party by taking
unilateral action on the Frontier, and as he noted on first hearing of Caroe'’s

proposal, it was ‘‘clearly a big and difficult move which mightinfuriate Con-

gress.”®

Mountbatten raised the idea of new elections at a meeting after the Gov-
ernors’ Conference which included Nehru, Liaqat Ali Khan, and Caroe. As
expected, Nehru objected, both because ‘‘he thought it would appear that
the Provincial Government’s hand had been forced by the agitation’ and be-
cause the Frontier Congress had not had a chance to present its case.” Khan
Sahib, therefore, was summoned to Delhi to confer with the Viceroy, Caroe,
and Nehru on April 18th. Nehru conceded in principal at that meeting that
a further test of the public will would have to be made in the NWFP, and
Khan Sahib agreed to release those political prisoners not charged with vi-
olence as a first step toward a compromise to end direct action. For his part,
Mountbatten agreed, as he later told Jinnah, that *‘I could not be party to
surrendering to any form of violence’ even though it was his unspoken con-
viction that *‘fresh elections will be necessary in due course.’™™

Mountbatten was still thinking in terms of Governor's Rule and a general
election when he went to Peshawar on April 28th to assess the situation for
himself. Instead of relaxing over ‘‘a nice quiet lunch” after his arrival, he
found himself, in the words of his Press Secretary, Alan Campbell-Johnson,
“‘confronting a situation of crisis bordering on panic.””® The Muslim League
had assembled a large crowd, estimated at between 50,000 and 100,000
strong, which threatened to storm into the cantonment to see the Viceroyv.
To avert a clash with security forces, Mountbatten and his wife went to the
crowd instead. Campbell-Johnson recalled:

We climbed up the railway embankment close to the historic Bala His-
sar Fort and looked down upon a vast concourse gathered at Cun-
ningham Park and stretching into distant fields. There was much ges-
ticulation and the waving of innumerable butillegal green flags with the
white crescent of Pakistan, accompanied by a steady chant of Pakistan
““Zindabad.” . . . For nearly half an hour Mountbatten, in his khaki bush
shirt, and Lady Mountbatten, also in a bush shirt, stood waving to a
crowd. . . . Any sort of speech was out of the question.™
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This episode made a strong impression on Mountbatten and helped confirm,
as he later recounted, his view that the NWFP would join Pakistan.*

Afterwards, Mountbatten returned to Government House where he met
with the provincial cabinet. He later wrote to London:

The Ministry, of course, was violently opposed to my ordering fresh
elections, but I warned them that I should require to know whether
they had a mandate from their people before I could possibly decide
who was to inherit the Province. . . . I also warned them I should prob-
ably go into Section 93 for at least two months beforehand to ensure that
the elections were fair.*

Next, he met a deputation of leaders from the Frontier Muslim League (in-
cluding six on parole from jail) which demanded that he impose Governor’s
Rule immediately and order fresh elections. Although he had spoken to the
ministers of precisely these steps, he replied: *“...I could not possible
vield to duress and . . . so long as they were trying to overthrow the present
Provincial Government by violence, that Government must have my sup-
port.”*” The Frontier League, however, knew from all-India party sources
that the Viceroy was inclined to accept its demands. To push him into acting,
its Provincial Council, which was reunited in Peshawar jail, adopted an in-
transigent resolution on May 1st, scorning an offer of amnesty by Khan Sa-
hib and vowing to continue direct action until he was ousted and fresh elec-
tions were ordered. Their decision received Jinnah’s public support on
May 7th.

On May 2nd, in fact, Mountbatten sent a draft of a partition plan to Lon-
don that included general elections in the North-West Frontier Province un-
der a Section 93 Government.®” Within two days, however, he was force.d by
the Congress’ reaction to change his mind. In a series of public and private
messages, Congress leaders conveyed their intense objection to t.he pro-
posal, warned of possible trouble in the Frontier, and most ominously,
hinted that they might upset the entire negotiations on India’s future over
the issue. The Hindustan Times, for instance, reported on the basis of au-
thoritative sources:

The Congress Working Committee has made the Frontier qucstlodq a
test case. It has been made clear to the Viceroy that any proposal to dis-
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miss the Frontier Ministry and hold fresh elections will make the Con-
gress change its entire attitude toward the British Government.™

Taking these warnings seriously, Mountbatten abandoned the idea of elec-
tions for a simple referendum on which successor state the NWFP should
join. The referendum would be run by permanent officials rather than the
provincial government to ensure its fairness, but the Khan Sahib ministry
would be left in office.”

The League accepted this alternative, despite initial suspicions raised by
the omission of Governor’s Rule, since it guaranteed a further test of the
public will under an impartial authority. A referendum, in fact, had certain
attractions for the party. It eliminated the weightage the minorities enjoved
in the provincial assembly and assured that the decision would not be
clouded by factional and tribal considerations, as would have happened in an
election of representatives to the legislature.’” The Frontier Congress, in
contrast, found the new proposal as objectionable as the old. Party leaders
saw little chance of winning either an election or referendum. They wanted
to postpone any polling until after the Indian and Pakistani Constituent As-
semblies had drafted their constitutions.” This would permit them to fight
the League on concrete proposals about the Frontier's future, grounds
which were much more conducive to their ethnic appeal than the emotion-
ally charged atmosphere of the spring of 1947. Moreover. it would take time
to frame the two constitutions. In the interim, the Frontier Congress would
remain in power, have time to recoup its political strength, and possibly
even find a way to circumvent the referendum altogether.

The referendum offered a face-saving compromise for the Indian National
Congress. Having resigned themselves to partition, Congress leaders no
longer regarded the Frontier as a vital interest, especially since some, Sardar
Patel and Abul Kalam Azad for example, doubted that the Frontier Congress
was still 2 match for the League.® They, therefore, were looking for a way
to remove the Frontier as an impediment to the speedy transfer of power
without seeming to surrender to the League. The attraction of Mountbat-
ten’s new plan was that it appeared to give in to neither of the League’s key
demands—the ouster of the Khan Sahib ministry and new elections. At the
same time, since they had already agreed that some sort of further vote was
necessary, Congress leaders could publicly, at least, insist that they were not
bowing to pressure from the League by agreeing to a referendum. Once
Mountbatten made the substitution, therefore, the Congress continued to
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support the Frontier Congress but in a more restrained manner, no longer
making an overall settlement contingent on further concessions on the Fron-
tier. Nehru presented the Frontier Congress’ case against a referendum to
the Viceroy on at least two occasions, but in a manner which indicated that
the Congress was much more receptive to the idea than its allies. Signifi-
cantly, even while he urged that the referendum be delayed, he reaffirmed
his commitment to it in principle:

As I have told you, I am in agreement with the idea that the will of the
people in the Frontier Province should be consulted before final deci-
sions in regard to the position of the Province are taken. But it is very
important when this is done and in what context.”

With the decision on a referendum made, the only question left was its
terms. If the choice were limited to Pakistan and India, Frontier Congress
leaders saw their defeat as inevitable; if independence were an option, they
saw some chance of winning.’® Thus, they pushed Pakhtunistan during May
with one eye on convincing the Viceroy that only the more broadly defined
referendum would accurately indicate the political wishes of the province
and the other on regaining the popular support necessary to win it. Mount-
batten favored the more narrow terms on the grounds that an independent
Frontier was not economically viable and that Afghan irredentism might be
aroused.”” Nonetheless, the very nature of his first plan introduced the pos-
sibility of independence. Part of the partition announcement being drafted
in London stated:

His Majesty’s Government are satisfied that the most practical proce-
dure in the time available is to enable different parts of India to dcci.dc,
though representatives chosen for the purpose, whether their constitu-
tions shall be framed:

a) in collaboration with the existing [Indian] Constituent Assembly;

b) jointly with other parts of India; or

c) separately.”

To be consistent, the Secretary of State at one point prepared the paragraph
on the NWFP to read that if a referendum on Pakistan and India showed that
“‘a majority of those voting favor the partition of British India, a general glec-
tion will be held and representatives will be appointed by the new Legisla-
tive Council to choose between options (b) and (c).””” Because Mountbat-
ten objected, the wording on the Frontier Province was narrowed by
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eliminating the third option. The general operative paragraph, however, re-
mained unchanged, leaving an ambiguity which the Frontier Congress
might have tried to exploit. Even that opportunity was lost, however, as a
result of the Congress’ reaction to the central principle of the plan.

On a “hunch,” Mountbatten showed Nehru his plan on May 10th and re-
ceived in return a scathing denunciation. He had assumed that all the prov-
inces would join one state or the other, but his plan did not compel them to
do so. Recent events, such as demands for a separate Sikhistan and negoti-
ations among some Bengali Congress and Muslim League leaders for a
united, independent state, were enough to make the idea of sovereignty de-
volving to the provinces intolerable to Nehru. Even before consulting his col-
leagues, he gave Mountbatten his reaction to the proposals:

Not only do they menace India but also they endanger the future rela-
tion between Britain and India. Instead of producing any sense of cer-
tainty, security and stability, they would encourage disruptive tenden-
cies everywhere and chaos and weakness. . . . The proposals start with
the rejection of an Indian Union as the successor to power and invite
the claims of large numbers of the succession States who are permitted
to unite if they so wish in two or more States. . . . His Majesty’s Gov-
ernment should be left in no doubt as to the total unacceptability of and
opposition to both these proposals and the approach made in them, and
also to the consequences which are bound to follow if His Majesty’s
Government were to persist in them. . .. It appears to me that the in-
evitable and obvious consequences of the proposals and the approach in
them are (a) to invite the Balkanisation of India, (b) to provoke certain
civil conflict and to add to violence and disorder, (c) to a further break-
down of the central authority which alone can prevent the chaos that is

growing, (d) to demoralise the army, the police and the Central Ser-

vices. '

V.P. Menon, the Reforms Commissioner, hastily drafted a new plan which
eliminated Nehru’s fears by removing the option of independence for the
provinces and transferring authority to two successor states only. In doing
so, he removed the Frontier Congress’ last hope of retaining control of the
NWFP

When the Congress Working Committee accepted the redrafted plan on
June 2nd, it tried to reintroduce the option of independence into the refer-
endum in the NWFP. The request was intended less as a serious proposition
than as a last gesture to show that the High Command had exhausted every
avenue of recourse on behalf of the Frontier Congress. Its members were rec-
onciled to partition. They considered Mountbatten’s proposals the best
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available under the circumstances and were not prepared to press the ques-
tion of the Frontier to the point of jeopardizing the entire plan. Thus, when
Mountbatten objected that the Congress could not reasonably revive for one
province a principle it had previously rejected for all, the party withdrew its
suggestion,'”

Frontier Congressmen reacted to the referendum with bitterness, even
though they had known it was coming. Abdul Ghaffar Khan told the Working
Committee: ‘““We Pathans stood by you and had undergone great sacrifice for
attaining freedom, but you have now deserted us and thrown us to the

wolves.”'” Their immediate inclination was to reject the plan out of hand,
as Abdul Ghaffar Khan explained:

We shall not agree to hold [the] referendum because we had decisively
won the elections on the issue of Hindustan versus Pakistan and pro-
claimed the Pakhtun view on it to the world. Now as India has disown-
ed us, why should we have a referendum on Hindustan and Pakistan?
Let it be on Pakhtunistan or Pakistan.'®

A PCC-Khudai Khidmatgar meeting in Peshawar on June 11th-12th, how-
ever, split over whether to try to have the terms of the referendum changed
or to boycott it, concede Pakistan, and fight for the party’s objectives within
the new state. The meeting ended by authorizing Abdul Ghaffar Khan to act
as he thought best.'”

Abdul Ghaffar Khan spent the next week in Dethi in fruitless consulta-
tions with Congress and League leaders. He received little help from the
High Command, other than Gandhi who expressed his personal sympathies
but was as unwilling as the other Congress leaders to jeopardize the partition
agreement. The Working Committee favored contesting the referendum as
it existed; Nehru even believed it could be won. When Abdul Ghaffar Khan
refused to consider that suggestion at its June 16th meeting, the Committ‘ec
absolved itself of further responsibility for the Frontier, leaving the provin-
cial party to decide upon its own policy.'® While refusing to agree to 2
broadening of the terms of the referendum, the League was ready to explore
the possibility of a settlement that would reconcile the Frontier Congress to
Pakistan. Abdul Ghaffar Khan, however, asked for concessions which Jinnah
found unacceptable: assurances that the NWFP would be given internal au-
tonomy within Pakistan, including exclusive control of all tribal matters, an_d
that the province and tribal areas could opt out of the new state if its consti-
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tution was unacceptable to their people.'® Since these conditions would
have unnecessarily undermined the new state, there was never any chance
of their being accepted, as some PCC leaders themselves recognized.'"’
Their only effect was to leave the League all the more determined to have
the referendum held on the terms announced by Mountbatten.

Abdul Ghaffar Khan reported his failure to the PCC and Khudai Khid-
matgar leaders in Bannu on June 21st-22nd. They decided in response to
boycott the referendum and officially adopted complete independence as
their party’s objective for the first time. They resolved ‘‘that a free Pathan
state of all the Pakhtuns be established. The constitution of the state will
be framed on the basis of Islamic conceptions of democracy, equality and
social justice.”’'®® The party’s leaders, however, were not irrevocably com-
mitting themselves to a free Pakhtun state with this resolution. Within six
months after independence, they would reinterpret the idea of Pakhtunistan
to mean that the NWFP should be an autonomous unit within Pakistan.'®
Essentially, they were making yet another tactical shift. By refusing to con-
test the referendum, they conceded the inevitability of Pakistan. By recast-
ing their aims in the language of extreme ethnic nationalism, they were
trying to lay the foundations for their revival within the new state.

Although the boycott reduced the referendum to a formality, the voting
was still preceded by a lively campaign. Frontier Congress leaders encour-
aged people to stay away from the polls in the hopes of a low turnout which
would strengthen their own position and minimize the legitimacy of Paki-
stan. The League conducted an even more energetic campaign. Its workers
represented the referendum as an event with great religious import, telling
the public it had the chance to create a truly Islamic society. At its most ex-
treme, their propaganda equated a vote for India with heresy.'"* The League
dismissed Pakhtunistan as the effort of an un-Islamic clique to cling to
power and the boycott as a last Hindu attempt to harm Muslims. At the same
time, they felt compelled to address the substance of the Frontier Congress’
demand by trying to convince Pakhtuns that the NWFP was too small to
survive on its own and by assuring them of autonomy, in some unspecified
form, within Pakistan.'"

Direction of the referendum was entrusted to British army officers, who
were invested with police and administrative powers under a special ordi-
nance and supported by 17,000 soldiers.'"? Civilians were included only in
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the lower echelons of the referendum machinery and only under the close
supervision of army personnel. The ministry was excluded entirely to en-
sure that no interested party unfairly influenced the outcome of the polling,
Sir Olaf Caroe went on leave due to the Congress’ allegations against him,
even though Mountbatten regarded them as unfounded, and Lieutenant-
General Sir Rob Lockhart replaced him as governor.

The results of the referendum were made public on July 20th. Only 50.99
percent of the 572,798 eligible voters cast ballots. Pakistan received 289,244
votes, or 50.49 percent of the electorate, while 2,874 voted for India.'” At
first glance, these figures suggest that the Frontier Congress’ boycott evoked
a widespread response. A closer examination of the results in comparison
with those for the 1946 elections argues for the opposite conclusion, that the
boycott was ineffectual and the NWFP overwhelmingly favored Pakistan. At
the same time, however, they showed that the Frontier Congress still re-
tained strong support in Peshawar Valley.

The 1946 electoral rolls had been adopted without amendment for the ref-
erendum, even though they were out of date and included some people who
had died or moved out of their constituency. Additionally, some voters un-
doubtedly stayed home on polling day simply because the Congress had con-
ceded the outcome and they saw no need to vote. Nonetheless, the percent-
age of those voting was off only 11.20 percent from 1946, and Hindus and
Sikhs accounted for over one-third of that decline.''* The minorities, who
formed 13.9 percent of the electorate, could have been expected to boycott
the referendum under any circumstances. As it was, a majority of them had
fled the province during the turmoil of the preceding eight months and were
in no position to vote. Thus, the real issue concerns the response of the
Muslim electorate and, more specifically, the eligible Pakhtun voters. Dr.
Khan Sahib, a seasoned observer of the Frontier political scene, had
summed up the situation before the results were known:

In the last election about 63% of the total votes were cast. . . . There-
fore, if the League polls in this referendum more than 50 percent of the
votes cast on the basis of 63 percent of total electorate voting, I will be
morally bound to resign.'"

By his definition, as Tables 9a and 9b show, the Muslim League scored a
spectacular victory in the referendum.

The turnout in the Muslim constituencies fell by only 8.03 percent from
1946.'"* The 288,350 votes for Pakistan represented 8717 percent O_f the
Muslim electorate voting in 1946. That figure was 109.87 percent higher
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than the 146,235 total votes the Muslim League received in 1946 and 111.46
percent higher than the 145,139 votes for the Congress and its Jamiat-ul-
Ulema-i-Hind allies. In the twenty-one territorial constituencies dominated
by Pakhtuns, turnout dropped by 22.31 percent, suggesting some continued
strength on the part of the Frontier Congress. Nonetheless, Pakhtuns sided
with the other Muslim voters in the province. The 86,003 votes for Pakistan
represented 68.18 percent of those voting in the same constituencies in 1946,
exceeded total Muslim League votes in that election by 72.84 percent, and
was 31.57 percent greater than the votes for the Congress and Jamiat-ul-
Ulema-1-Hind. Constituency results show how widespread the shift in party
strength actually was. The non-Pakhtun turnout was significantly up in Ha-
zara, Dera Ismail Khan, and the urban areas. While there was some decline
in the numbers voting in Bannu and Kohat, the two districts swung heavily
in favor of Pakistan. In Bannu, the votes for Pakistan equalled 86.54 percent
of those voting in 1946 and in Kohat 94.24 percent. The Frontier Congress
could muster support for its boycott only in rural Peshawar and Mardan
where the turnout fell in all twelve constituencies and in seven by amounts
ranging from 32.1 to 57.2 percent. Nonetheless, votes for Pakistan exceeded
the 1946 Congress vote in half of the Valley’s constituencies, and the aggre-
gate figures for the two districts suggest that the two parties were almost
evenly balanced in what had been the heartland of the Frontier Congress.'"’

Viewing the events of 1947 from the vantage point of the province he had
once governed, Sir Olaf Caroe later wrote that Mountbatten’s entire parti-
tion plan hung in the balance until the referendum.''® While he may have
exaggerated the region’s importance, it certainly was true that the League
would have settled for nothing less than its inclusion in Pakistan. To ensure
that end, it had abandoned constitutional methods, thrown the province into
turmoil, and condoned communal violence. Yet the party had no other
choice, for the British might not have acceded to its wishes without the pres-
sure of its extralegal tactics. The NWFP did not have a comparable impor-
tance for the Indian National Congress once the party accepted partition. In
fact, its leaders shared the League’s interest in seeing the referendum held.
With demands for separatism cropping up in other parts of India, the option
of independence in the Frontier would have set a dangerous precedent for the
new state of India. The referendum’s real losers were the Pakhtun nation-
alists who had cast their lot with the Congress. Following the vote, they
faced an uncertain future in a state in which their enemies held power and
they labored under the suspicion of disloyalty.

117. See Table 10
118. Olaf Caroe, “The End of British India,” Round Table, no. 237, 1/70, p. 62.



Table 9a: Results of the 1946 Elections!'!®

Total Mushm Congress
Votes Percent League Percent of & JUHT Percent of
Constituency Electorate Cast Voting Votes Electorate Votes Electorate
Muslim
Urban 80,556 50,567 62.77 23,055 28.62 11,241 13.95
Rural

Hazara 109,762 61,508 54.03 29,378 26.77 7,686 7.00

Peshawar 97,088 70,726 72.85 25,853 26.63 43,316 44.62

Mardan 86,777 63,601 73.33 23,162 26.69 35,443 40.84

Kohat 52,020 34,176 65.70 13,922 26.76 19,860 38.18

Bannu 51,080 38,289 75.00 17,592 34.44 9,405 18.41

Dera Ismail Khan 45,642 31,896 69.88 12,466 27.31 17,741 38.87

Total 442,369 300,196 67.86 122,373 27.66 133,451 30.17
Total territorial seats 522,925 350,763 67.07 145,428 27.81 144,692 27.67
Landlord 1,836 1,359 73.75 807 43.95 447 24.34
Total Muslim 524,761 352,117 67.10 146,235 27.87 145,139 27.66
Hindu

Urban 21,117 9,748 46.16 — — 7,512 35.57

Rural 35,521 — — — — — —

Total 56,638 9,748 17.21 — — 7,512 13.26
Sikh 23,164 14,124 60.97 — — 7,598 32.80
Total Minority 79,802 23,872 29.91 — — 15,110 18.93
TOTAL 604,563 375,989 62.19 146,235 24.19 160,249 26.51
PAKHTUN* 301,527 218,023 72.31 86,003 28.52 112,982 37.47

* 21 rural constituencies, including all those in Peshawar, Mardan, Kohat, and Bannu plus Tank 7e#sé/ in Dera Ismail Khan
t Jamiat-ul-Ulema-i-Hind

119. Tables 9a and 9b are derived from the figures in Returns Showing the Results of Elections to the Central Legisiative Assembly and the Provincial Legislatures
in 194546 (Delhi: Manager, Government of India Press, 1948) and R/3/1/151.



Table 9b: Results of the 1947 Referendum

Percent of Percent of
Total Percent of Muslim Congress
Votes Percent Votes for  Percent of Total Votes  League Votes & JUHET Votes  Votes for
Constituency Electorate Cast Voting _Pakistan___ Electorate _in 19467 in 19461 in 19461 India
Muslim
Urban *50,627 35,942 70.99 35,680 70.48 112.28 246.26 505.23 262
Rural
Hazara 109,762 83,656 76.22 83,269 75.86 135.38 283.4 1083.39 g7
Peshawar 97,088 40,470 41.68 39,902 41.10 56.42 154.34 92.12 568
Mardan 86,777 36,062 41.56 34,852 40.16 54.80 150.48 98.33 1,210
Kohat 52,020 32,323 62.14 32,207 61.91 94.24 231.34 162.17 116
Bannu 51,080 33,282 65.16 33,137 64.87 86.54 188.36 352.33 145
Dera Ismail Khan 45,642 29,461 64.55 29,303 64.20 91.87 235.06 165.17 158
Total 442,369 255,254 57.70 252,670 57.12 84.17 206.48 189.34 2,584
Total Muslim *492,996 291,196 59.07 288,350 58.49 87.17 209.87 211.46 2,846
Total Minority 79,802 922 1.16 894 1.12 3.75 — 5.92 28
TOTAL 572,798 292,118 50.99 289,244 50.50 81.20 208.76 190.49 2,874
PAKHTUN®** 301,527 150,731 50.00 148,649 49.30 68.18 172.84 131.57 2,082

* The difference between the 1946 and referendum electorates arose due to two changes in the voting.
1) In 1946, each voter in Peshawar city could cast two votes; in 1947, they cast only one.
2) In 1946, a small number of rural Muslims voted twice: in their regular constituency and in special landlord constituencies. In 1947,
there was no voting in the latter.
** These figures are for the same 21 rural constituencies used in Table 9a.

t Due to the differences in the electorates, the votes in 1946 and the referendum are not directly comparable. These percentages, therefore,
have been computed by comparing the percentage of the clectorate voting for Pakistan in 1947 with the percentage in 1946 of the clectorate
voting, of the electorate voting for the Muslim L.eague, and of the electorate voting for the Congress and Jamiar-ul-Ulema-i-Hind.

t Jamial-ul-Ulema-i-Hind



Table 10: Voting in the 1946 Elections and 1947 Referendum in Peshawar Valley'”’

1946 Referendum Decrease
Vores Percent Vores Percent In In Percent
Conststuency Cast Voting Cast Voting Votes Voring
Peshawar District
Bara Mohmands 9,364 70.4 7,401 55.7 1,963 14.7
Khalil 7,335 78.7 4,362 46.6 2,993 32.1
Hashtnagar North 7,703 82.3 3,499 37.5 4,204 44.8
Hashtnagar South 9,591 72.0 2,769 20.6 6,822 51.4
Doaba-Daudzai 11,484 82.0 3,469 24.8 8,015 57.2
Nowshera South 13,881 66.0 10,778 51.1 3,103 14.9
Nowshera North 11,348 67.6 8,192 48.9 3,156 18.7
Total 70,726 72.9 40,470 41.7 30,256 31.2
Mardan District
Baizai 14,418 69.0 9,502 50.2 4916 18.8
Kamalzai 16,539 65.9 12,082 48.2 4,457 17.7
Utmannama 9,718 73.8 4,917 37.5 4,801 36.3
Razzar 9,977 76.6 3,546 27.3 6,431 49.3
Amazai 12,949 78.0 6,015 36.3 6,934 41.7
Total 63,601 73.3 36,062 41.6 27,539 31.7
Total for the Valley 134,327 73.1 76,532 41.6 57,795 31.5

120. Ibid.
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CONCLUSION

In the decade before independence, the Muslim League faced strong op-
position in the North-West Frontier Province from powerful ethnic forces
whose particularistic interests stood in the way of the party’s goal of com-
munal solidarity. It was not that Pakhtuns devalued their religion; rather, Is-
lam was subsumed within a much narrower ethnic definition which set them
off from other peoples, regardless of religion. A belief in a common descent,
myths which connected them with both the Prophet Muhammad and an-
cient Biblical kings, their segmentary tribal organization, language, code of
values, and pool of distinctive cultural attributes had for centuries given
them a sense of being different and special. In combination with a history
as the dominant group in the Frontier, these attributes fostered an ethnic
pride and self-confidence which often gave way to chauvinism. One need
only look at their proverbs to see the premium they placed on their unique
identity and the demanding code of personal conduct to which they insisted
one had to conform in order to retain his honor as a Pakhtun.

Predictably, therefore, Frontier politics in the twentieth century were
dominated by ethnic issues in contradiction to what appeared to be the com-
munal norm elsewhere in India. What is not straightforward are the political
alignments which resulted: the Indian National Congress became the party
of Pakhtun interests, while the Muslim League urged them to transcend
their ethnic loyalties in the interest of Islamic unity. Religious loyalties and
ethnicity were not intrinsically in conflict in the NWFP. In fact, to the ex-
tent that Pakhtuns had any political associations with other Indians before
the late 1920s, they were affiliated with Muslims, primarily in the Khilafat
movement. Ideology alone, therefore, cannot account for the intense com-
petition between the proponents of Pakhtun and Muslim nationalism which,
under one guise or another, has been at the center of Frontier politics since
the 1930s. That was the product of the way in which party politics evolved

in interaction with the Pakhtuns’ traditional tribal life.
By their own accounts, Pakhtuns first moved into the region of the NWFP

in the fifteenth century. They quickly acquired a monopoly over the land
and created a society in which they exercised almost exclusive control over
public affairs. Non-Pakhtuns were relegated to the status of landless depen-
dents, and to the extent that they took part in politics at all, they did so as

249
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clients of their Pakhtun patrons. The Pakhtuns were organized into a hier-
archy of patrilineal descent groups which determined residence, defined
landholding patterns, and structured social and political relationships.
While other types of disputes occurred, the greatest likelihood of conflict
within this system existed among close relatives and particularly patrilineal
first cousins, the archetypal Pakhtun rivals. These conflicts were formalized
into a series of local factions which were central to traditional political life.
Leadership was provided by Khans who combined control of significant
amounts of land with powerful personalities and the skills necessary to at-
tract and retain political followers.

The Pakhtuns’ dominance of public life carried over into the indepen-
dence movement. The Frontier Congress was run by members of the landed
Pakhtun elite, while the rural lower classes were relegated, for the most
part, to the party’s rank-and-file. The Frontier Muslim League conformed
less closely to this pattern since it drew significant support from the non-
Pakhtun towns and Hazara. In the rural areas of the central districts, how-
ever, its organization was controlled just as strongly by prominent Pakhtun
Khans. The Pakhtuns’ factional alignments also strongly influenced nation-
alist affiliations and party structures. As a rule, rival groupings joined op-
posing parties. Factions and local party branches were virtually indistin-
guishable in many areas, and the Khans who dominated the former also
directed the latter. At higher levels of provincial political life as well, Con-
gress and League leaders were commonly from rival families and in more
than a few instances, were close patrilineal cousins.

The alignment of party and faction did not occur in a random manner.
The changes British rule produced in the eighty years before 1930 ensured
that the Frontier Congress became the party of the junior Pakhtun Khans
and the Frontier League the organization of their senior Khani rivals. The
British displayed a perceptive understanding of the fluid nature of Pakhtun
politics in their ethnographies and histories of the Frontier. As administra-
tors, however, they followed policies which froze Pakhtun society into an ar-
tificial mold in the twentieth century. With limited resources of their own,
the British were forced to use members of the landed elite to maintain con-
trol over the countryside. In exchange for patronage and privileges, their
surrogates policed the province’s villages, helped collect the land revenue,
and in general, served as a prop for colonial rule. The men to whom the Brit-
ish turned were, most commonly, senior Khans—the wealthier and In th_c
early years of colonial rule, the more influential individuals in their locali-
ties.

The system of Khani alliances worked quite well until World War I, not
because the Khans were the natural leaders of society, as some British came
to believe, but because they exhibited the qualities of leadership cxpcctc.d
by the rest of Pakhtun society. By the 1920s, however, social and economic
changes had started to undermine their authority. An array of public works
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projects and the intrusion of the market economy had produced a marked
rise in the overall prosperity of the NWFP, but the new wealth was not
shared equally by all its inhabitants. Landownership, and with it, the bene-
fits which accrued from the commercialization of agriculture, were concen-
trated in the hands of a small elite, and especially the Khans on whom the
government depended. These economic changes had far-reaching social
consequences. Most significantly, wealth and governmental backing re-
placed personal dynamism as the basis for the senior Khans’ power in Fron-
tier society.

The senior Khans antagonized the rest of Pakhtun society by departing
from the traditional model of leadership. Membership in their factions de-
clined, and their authority came under attack from their rivals, the junior
Pakhtun Khans. Their growing isolation and inability to act effectively as
the government’s surrogates first became apparent after World War I with
the ferment created by the Third Afghan War, and the Hijrat and Khilafat
movements. Recognizing that the old methods of governing had lost their
utility, the Chief Commissioner, Sir Hamilton Grant, urgently pressed for
the extension of the Montagu-Chelmsford reforms to the NWFP. Before
they could be implemented, however, he retired, and his successor, Sir John
Maffey, took a drastically different approach to the Frontier’s problems. Maf-
fey assumed that the senior Khans still enjoved widespread legitimacy as the
leaders of Frontier society. He, therefore, set out to rebuild their authority,
instead of broadening the government’s base of support by granting reforms
or seeking new allies from among the junior Khans.

Maffey’s policy succeeded in buying another decade of political quiet,
but at the cost of driving most of the province’s junior Khans, smallholding
Pakhtun majority, and lower class non-Pakhtuns into the Congress-Khudai
Khidmatgar agitation in 1930-31. The Frontier had a long list of grievances
by then, such as the lack of reforms, the civil war in Afghanistan in which
the British were suspected of having had a hand, and the hardships caused
by the depression; but Pakhtuns were primarily antagonized by the British
reliance upon an outmoded system of social control which artificially
propped up the senior Khans at the expense of everyone else.

Maffey’s policy also ensured that once civil disobedience began, it would
be difficult to suppress. Having lost their legitimacy, the senior Khans were
incapable of controlling the countryside in the face of serious unrest without
the active assistance of the police and military. In the spring of 1930, how-
ever, the government was temporarily unable to give them the help they
needed, thereby rendering them useless as instruments of control in pre-
cisely the sort of situation for which the British had maintained them at such
a price.

The agitation of 1930 was concentrated in Peshawar and Bannu Districts.
The outer districts of Hazara and Dera Ismail Khan, with their large non-
Pakhtun populations, were barely disturbed, while Kohat was the only
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Pakhtun district to be pacified without difficulty. The campaign attracted
strong non-Pakhtun support in both Peshawar and Bannu from urban activ-
ists who vigorously participated for reasons of their own. The bitter anti-
British feelings aroused by the agitation, and especially by the Peshawar
riots of April 23rd, which was the single most dramatic event in the Frontier’s
nationalist history, drove them into a common front with the rural move-
ment, temporarily obscuring the very real differences and animosities which
existed between town and countryside in the NWFP. In rural Peshawar and
Bannu, the repudiation of British rule was even more intense and sustained.
The ordinary operations of government came to a standstill for three months
and more as the authorities lost control over wide stretches of territory. Along
the border, moreover, tribesmen were induced by sympathy for the nation-
alists to take up arms against the government. In Waziristan, hostilities were
confined to the tribal areas, but the tribesmen around Peshawar actually in-
vaded the district. Most seriously, the Afridis twice reached the outskirts of
Peshawar city, forcing the Viceroy to declare martial law in the district in
August 1930.

The severity of civil disobedience caught the government by surprise.
Having misjudged both the depth of popular discontent and the strength of
their allies, the authorities had failed to make adequate contingency plans to
deal with the campaign. As a consequence, the province was not brought
under full control before August, and even then, a strong undercurrent of
popular hostility remained. The British drew two lessons from this experi-
ence. Realizing that they could no longer rely exclusively upon the senior
Khans, they pressed for political reforms in the hopes of redirecting popular
aspirations into constitutional channels. Additionally, they concluded thatin
future confrontations only preemptive action against the nationalists could
prevent serious political unrest. Thus, after political controls were lifted in
March 1931 with the Gandhi-Irwin Pact, the provincial authorities carefully
prepared for what they regarded as the inevitable resumption of political
hostilities.

This two-pronged strategy proved effective when civil disobedience re-
sumed at the end of 1931, despite the strong support the nationalists had re-
cruited during the intervening year and the powerful organization they had
developed. After months of intelligence gathering and planning, the govern-
ment cracked down decisively before the agitation could gain momentum
and quickly reestablished its authority throughout the province. While civil
disobedience officially continued until March 1934, it was reduced to little
more than an ineffectual, symbolic protest within its first six weeks. The
prospect of reforms also contributed to the ease with which the national‘ists
were suppressed by providing an alternative outlet for political energies.
Most notably, it ensured that members of the province’s urban intelligent-
sia, who had been estranged from the rural movement in 1931 by personal
and ethnic differences, remained neutral in the conflict and turned their at-
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tention to legislative politics instead.

While the ferment of 1930-32 was fueled by local issues and organized by
indigenous forces, it was part of a larger, all-India movement. Due to the
compatibility of their political goals, the Pakhtun nationalists entered into
an informal cooperation with the Indian National Congress even before the
first civil disobedience campaign began. In August 1931, their relationship
was formalized with the transformation of the Afghan Jirga into the Frontier
Congress. This alliance endured for the next sixteen years due to the mu-
tual benefits the two sides derived from it. For the Congress, the support of
the Pakhtuns strengthened its position vis-a-vis the British and improved its
standing in India’s communal politics. The Khudai Khidmatgars, in turn,
received the backing of India’s strongest political organization on terms
which did not compromise their ethnic aspirations. Congress leaders always
allowed their Frontier allies much greater latitude than other Provincial Con-
gress Committees and tolerated their regional brand of nationalism.

The local orientation, as well as the autonomy of the Frontier Congress was
clearly evident after it formed a ministry in September 1937. The party de-
ferred to the Congress’ High Command on all-India matters, as though they
were of little moment. In contrast, it zealously pursued its own policies on
provincial issues, and in those matters, carefully maintained its autonomy
from its Congress allies. The Khan Sahib government systematically used
its powers to promote the interests of its constituents, favoring Pakhtuns over
non-Pakhtuns and the junior Khans over their senior rivals. Simultaneously,
the Frontier Congress’ revitalized party organization attacked the position
of its opponents at the village level. By the time Khan Sahib resigned in No-
vember 1939, the combination of these forces had materially altered the so-
cial balance in Pakhtun society and the complexion of Frontier politics. The
remnants of the informal alliance system the British had used to administer
the province were dismantled to the detriment of the senior Khans, rectify-
ing at last the grievances which had driven the junior Khans and their sup-
porters into the Congress-Khudai Khidmatgar movement.

The parochialism of Frontier politics was also underscored by the failure
of the Quit India Movement in the province. Unlike the agitations of the
carly 1930s, the campaign of 1942 did not seriously affect the NWFP be-
cause it focused on issues with little appeal to the Pakhtuns. The reforms
of the Khan Sahib ministry had satisfied their most pressing demands
against the British, while the war itself was popular in the Frontier. The
Congress’ campaign, therefore, was viewed with disapproval in the prov-
ince, even among the bulk of its party members. Thus, when the Fronm.:r
Congress leaders were forced by their alliance to join the agitation, they did
so equivocally, knowing full well that they would elicit little publip support.

The Frontier Congress preempted the single most potent politlcz}l cause
in the NWFP by espousing Pakhtun interests; by gaining the allcglanc'e of
the junior Khans, it absorbed the most dynamic elements in the province
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into 1ts ranks. Thus, when the Muslim League started to organize in the
North-West Frontier, it was at a severe disadvantage. In fact, the party was
effectively excluded from the province until September 1937 by the Frontier
Congress’ popularity. It did not take root until the policies of the Khan Sahib
government alienated non-Pakhtun Muslims and forced the senior Khans to
unite behind the League. While responsible for its overall political preem-
inence in the province, the Frontier Congress’ ethnic nationalism geograph-
ically limited its appeal to the rural areas of the central districts. The party
never firmly established itself among the non-Pakhtuns of Dera Ismail
Khan, Hazara, and the Frontier’s towns. Aroused by the party’s obvious fa-
voritism toward Pakhtuns, those people turned to the Muslim League dur-
ing the years of the first Khan Sahib ministry. For their part, the senior
Khans joined the League out of the realization that they no longer could af-
ford to pursue their individualistic style of politics in the face of the govern-
ment’s concerted attack on their interests. They needed a defender, and
whatever its shortcomings, the L.eague was the best available. At its incep-
tion, therefore, the Frontier League assumed a character which, much to its
detriment, it would retain until the final, tumultuous year before indepen-
dence. It was a coalition of non-Pakhtun Muslims and senior Pakhtun Khans
who had banded together principally to defend personal interests. Its lead-
ership was weak, its organization inadequate, and its membership divided
by debilitating factionalism. In addition, the senior Khans on whom it de-
pended carried the onus in the popular mind of having once been the favor-
ites of the British.

Inseparable from the Frontier League’s organizational weakness was its
choice of ideology. Since the Congress monopolized the ethnic appeal, it
made little sense for the party to compete for the Pakhtuns’ ethnic loyalties.
Instead, it challenged them with a communal rhetoric which demanded of
Pakhtuns that they subordinate their ethnic concerns to the needs of the
Indo-Muslim community as a whole. Before the crisis of 1946-47, however,
the call for Muslim solidarity made little headway in the face of the Pakh-
tuns’ ethnocentrism, in no small part because they were largely unaffected
by the fears other Muslims in India held about their future. As long as ex-
ternal events did not upset that sense of security, the Frontier Congress had
a greater attraction for them. It championed their ethnic interests, while the
League seemed to reject their claim to a unique identity by insisting that
they were part of a larger, homogeneous community defined by Islam.

For nine years, then, the Frontier League remained weak, disorganized,
and wedded to an ineffective rhetoric. The nadir came with the elections of
February 1946, by which time politics elsewhere in India had polarizccli to
the point that the League captured over 92 percent of all Muslim seats. In

1. Computed from Returns Showing the Results of Elections to the Central Legislariw.AsstmNy
and the Provincial Legislatures in 1945-46 (Delhi: Manager, Government of India Press,
1948).
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the North-West Frontier, in contrast, it managed to win only seventeen out
of thirty-eight seats, and only six of those were in Pakhtun constituencies.
Eighteen months later, however, the people of the Frontier overwhelmingly
favored the League and the creation of Pakistan. So rapid and decisive a
shift in the political climate cannot be explained in ordinary political terms.
In fact, as long as it was politics as usual, the League could not compete
with the more vigorous Frontier Congress. The key to its triumph lay else-
where, in a time-honored mechanism within Pakhtun society which the
communal crisis of 1946-47 triggered once more.

One of the serious problems traditionally facing Pakhtuns was how, in the
face of their deep-seated factional divisions, to unite when their collective
clan or tribal interests were threatened. Lineage solidarity was one answer,
but it was not entirely dependable given the intensity of their mutual enmi-
ties. Throughout their history, therefore, Pakhtuns had turned to their reli-
gion and its interpreters in times when they needed to combine for their
common good. Islam provided an inspiration for Pakhtuns, a way of con-
ducting their lives which was nobler than their tribal customs. Whenever,
therefore, a conflict could plausibly be portrayed as involving a religious is-
sue, the normal rules of their political lives could be set aside, their factional
divisions transcended, and even their sense of ethnic separateness tempo-
rarily muted. Such situations invariably thrust charismatic men, believed to
possess special spiritual powers, into positions of leadership. With a repu-
tation for holiness and a seeming indifference to Pakhtuns’ worldly con-
cerns, those individuals were able, in an emotionally charged atmosphere,
to unite Pakhtuns much more effectively than tribal leaders who were for-
ever open to the suspicion of exploiting the crisis for personal ends.

A variant of this pattern recurred in 1946-47. As communal relations else-
where in India degenerated into rioting and bloodshed, Pakhtuns temporar-
ily subordinated their ethnic loyalties to their Muslim identity and trans-
ferred their political allegiance to the Muslim League. Aided by the
wholesale support of the province’s u/ema and sajjada nishins, the party was
transformed from an ordinary political organization into a vehicle for a reli-
giously sanctioned political crusade with strong millenial overtones.

While the inspiration behind the League’s success transcended normal
political concerns, the practicalities of bringing the NWFP into Pakistan re-
mained: the 1946 elections had solidly entrenched the Frontier Congress in
power. With no legal means to achieve its objectives, the League had to
launch a direct action campaign in February 1947 to break the hold of its
rival and convince the imperial authorities that the people of the province
favored Pakistan. The agitation threw the NWFP into political turmoil and
touched off widespread communal violence which persuaded Lord Mount-
batten of the necessity of holding a referendum to determine the wishcs‘of
the people of the province. That step was strongly opposed by the Frontier
Congress, but its objections were swept aside, for the League would not end
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its campaign or any other terms, and the Indian National Congress, having
accepted partition, was no longer willing to hold up the transfer of power on
behalf of its allies.

The July referendum resolved the immediate problem of the North-West
Frontier Province’s disposition after independence, but it did not eliminate
the underlying political issues of the preceding two decades. Independence
was not grected on August 15th with a new spirit of unity. The conflicts of
the nationalist period were simply reformulated to fit the new context of Pak-
istan. Until the Pakistan government suppressed the Khudai Khidmatgar
movement in July 1948, the political contest between the former Congress-
men and Muslim League continued unabated, with each side appealing to
the province’s inhabitants in much the same manner as before. Even the
drastic step of outlawing the Khudai Khidmatgars and arresting their leaders
did not fundamentally alter the nature of Frontier politics. Every time polit-
ical restrictions were eased in succeeding decades, issues, alignments, and
personalities remarkably similar to those in the independence movement
reemerged.? This is not surprising, for the Pakhtuns’ ethnic loyalties and
their social organization have continued to endure and, in turn, have given
provincial politics a stability which has survived the periodic upheavals in
Pakistani politics since independence.

2. See Stephen Rittenberg, “‘Continuities in Borderland Politics,” in Ainslie Embree,
ed., Pakistan's Western Borderlands. The Transformation of a Political Order (Durham: Carolina
Academic Press, 1977), pp. 67-84.



GLOSSARY

This is a selected list of those important terms which appear more than
once or twice in the text. Other Pashtu and Urdu words are defined in
parentheses within the text.

anjuman
alim
astanadar
azad
baiat
baraka
Jatwa
gundi
hamsaya
hartal
hijrat
husra
inam
Jagir
jagirdar
Jthad
Jirga
kafir
kamin
kandi
khel
kisan
lambardar
lashkar
mugahid
murid
nang
nawab

Pakhto
Pakhtunwali
parajamba

association, society

man learned in Islamic religious sciences
individual with inherited spiritual status

free, independent

vow of spiritual allegiance given by a murid to his pir
spiritual power of a holy man

decree by a learned religious figure

Pakhtun faction

(lit.: one who shares shade); client, dependent
strike

religiously motivated exodus

men’s house

cash grant bestowed by the government

land grant bestowed by the government

one who holds a sagir

struggle for the faith; war against non-Muslims
Pakhtun tribal council; party

heretic, non-believer

landless menial laborer

village ward

lineage; clan or smaller subdivision of a tribe
peasant

village revenue official

tribal army

warrior for the faith

religious disciple

honor

(lit.: deputy, governor); honorific title bestowed by the

government; may be held for life or hereditarily
shortened form of Pakhtunwali

Pakhtun’s system of values

factionalism

257
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pir

razakar
sajfada nishin

salar
Salar-i-Azam
satyagraha
shariat
tarbur

tarburwali

lappa

tehsil
ulema
urs
wesh
zenana

ztarat

astanadar from a Pakhtun background; also applied
generically to any hereditary spiritual leader

volunteer

(lit.: one who sits on a prayer carpet); hereditary religious
leader; successor to leadership of a z7grar and order of sufi
devotees

general, commander

Commander in Chief

Gandhian non-violent civil disobedience movement
Islamic law

(lit.: first cousin); enemy anong one’s close patrilineal
cousins

rivalry between patrilineal cousins

traditionally, the area inhabited by a major Pakhtun clan;
under the British, an administrative division of a feAss/
largest administrative subdivision within a district

plural of a/im

(lit.: marriage with God); death anniversary of a holy man
periodic redistribution of land

women’s quarters; used to refer to something associated
with women

tomb of a holy man
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